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Corporate Information

DEEN
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Chairman’s Statement

EFEHWE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board") of directors (the “Directors”) of CR
Construction Group Holdings Limited (the “Company” and together with
its subsidiaries, the “Group”), | am pleased to present to the shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”) the annual report of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Reporting Period").

The Group's revenue for the year was approximately HK$5.4 billion and
the profit attributable to owners of the Company was approximately
HK$71.9 million. In terms of construction business, the Group has been
awarded 15 new projects in 2023 and the aggregate original contract sum
of newly awarded projects was approximately HK$6.0 billion. During the
Reporting Period, the Group not only continued to strengthen its business
in the United Kingdom and Malaysia markets, but has also been awarded
a number of mega projects in the Hong Kong market, including schools,
industrial and commercial projects and public housing development. In
particular, the Sha Tin data centre development project, a project newly
awarded to the Group, set a new record for individual engineering contract
value of the Group.

At the same time, the Group also made an important breakthrough
with the successful acquisition of Zhejiang Construction Investment
Environment Engineering Company Limited (“ZCIEE"), which enabled
the Group's venture into the field of green business and expanded its
business segments to areas such as environmentally friendly construction,
environmental improvement, and sewage and reclaimed water treatment.
During the Reporting Period, in terms of the environment operation
business, the Group had 17 projects on hand with an aggregate original
contract sum of approximately HK$0.3 billion. In particular, ZCIEE undertook
the Qinglan Park project in Damaiyu Subdistrict in Yuhuan City, which was
its first project undertaken in relation to soil remediation and restoration,
opening up new horizons for business growth. The Group’s construction
business has continued to enhance its diversification, and the overall
development momentum has been favourable.
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Chairman’s Statement

EEHWE

The Group has refined its project management and adopted a series of
effective measures to further enhance the Company’s brand impact. We
place great attention to the safety of our staff to ensure that projects could
be carried out smoothly. As a result, the projects performed well in terms
of quality, safety and environmental protection, winning a number of
honours and is highly recognised in the industry. For construction projects,
the Group was awarded the Most Outstanding Award for Construction
Engineering Services of the Year at the HKCT Business Awards 2023 held by
the Hong Kong Commercial Times. In addition, the Group has received the
Hong Kong Construction Association (HKCA) Proactive Safety Contractor
Award at the HKCA Construction Safety Award Ceremony 2023; while the
Kwun Tong Town Centre Comprehensive Development Project, the Jockey
Club Institute of Healthcare Development Project at Sheung Shing Street
Campus of Hong Kong Metropolitan University and the Conversion of
Office into Bio Laboratory at Building 6W of Hong Kong Science Park, all of
which are projects undertaken by the Group, have won accolades at the
2023 Qianjiang Cup of Zhejiang Provincial Construction Project (Overseas
Projects). As for environmental protection projects, ZCIEE was recognised
as a High-tech Enterprise in Zhejiang Province for its research and
development centre and was awarded the Quality Management Innovation
Award by the Xihu District Government.

On the other hand, the Group has always placed great emphasis on
technological innovation and technology, and has been actively integrating
the application of technology with project management to enhance
site safety supervision. Our self-developed “CR Smart Site Safety System”
(tentative name) has integrated various systems, including environmental
sensors, Enertainers, gate monitoring systems, Building Information
Modeling (BIM), artificial intelligence-based safety monitoring systems
and loT system. Managerial staffs can comprehensively and in real-time
monitor the construction site through a mobile and web portal. The Group
has implemented smart helmets in certain construction sites, with Radio
Frequency Identification (RFID) tags incorporated to them. Once equipped,
not only can the smart helmets detect the heart rate, blood pressure, and
body temperature of site workers, as well as provide real-time location
tracking, they can also correspond with the heavy machines equipped with
RFID sensors on the site. If any workers enter unauthorised restricted areas,
the alarm system will be triggered, ensuring safety for workers. The above
scientific and technological research and development achievements and
awards are the results of our team’s unwavering efforts demonstrated
through continuous testing and practice, reflecting our professional
competence in project management and awareness in safety responsibility.
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Chairman’s Statement

EFEHWE

Looking ahead to 2024, with the Hong Kong Government's recent
announcement of the abolishment of all demand-side management
measures for the property market and the further promotion of large-scale
development projects, including the “Northern Metropolis” and the “Kau
Yi Chau Artificial Islands” reclamation project, it is expected that the total
amount of building construction works in the Hong Kong market will
continue to rise, and the construction sector will be presented with new
opportunities for development. On the other hand, the structural shortage
of construction workers and wage increases have led to rising project costs,
which have put considerable pressure on business operations.

Facing both challenges and opportunities in the market, the Group will
continue to adhere to its core strategic plans and focus on four areas. Firstly,
we will strengthen our talent management by providing diversified and
personalised training programmes and development opportunities for our
staff, with a view to creating a broader and better promotion mechanism
for employees. Secondly, the Group will deepen its diversified development
strategy. On one hand, we will strengthen the research and development
of local technologies and the development of smart site technologies to
promote the improvement of environmental protection technologies
in China and to embrace new development opportunities. On the other
hand, the Group will leverage on the background of its parent company
as a state-owned enterprise, actively introduce the high-quality assets
from its parent company, make full use of various domestic and overseas
resources, and give play to the platform effect of listed companies, so as to
expand the development of upstream and downstream industries through
project investment, mergers and acquisitions, as well as the establishment
of companies in new sectors. Thirdly, the Group will further expand its
presence in overseas markets by not only consolidating and developing its
companies in Malaysia and the United Kingdom, but also assisting ZCIEE
in expanding its business in Hong Kong and overseas. Lastly, the Group
will actively respond to and implement the development blueprint of the
government, including key projects, such as the Northern Metropolis, that
was mentioned in the latest Policy Address. At the same time, the Group will
strengthen the application of smart technologies on construction sites, and
fully support the Hong Kong Government and relevant public institutions
in solving the housing and livelihood problems in Hong Kong, thereby
contributing to the building of a better future for Hong Kong.

Adhering to the above four directions, the Group will continue to uphold
its vision of “becoming a people-oriented and Hong Kong-based enterprise
that propels the construction industry forward”, and will continue to
improve its technologies in order to create a globally competitive
construction enterprise that creates greater value for the Shareholders.
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Chairman’s Statement

EEHWE

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to expressmy K AfEH e ERARE =S HEAKREY
sincere appreciation for the full support and trust of all Shareholders, the & A ¥ #FEET XX BENELESHRE - 2
cooperation and assistance of business partners as well as the efforts and 22 8§ T 2% & » ZA R RAY R  £HR K
diligence of the staff. We will continue to work hand in hand with all of you g% | - T {9 4 48 Bl &= (o 8 F O o - JE 255k

to for excellent results and achieve further success in the future! B BEEBIEES

Mr. Guan Manyu TEFHNTEE
Chairman and Executive Director EEELE

Hong Kong, G

21 March 2024 —E_MFE=R=-+—H
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THER RS

Construction Operations

The Group is one of the leading building contractors in Hong Kong and
principally acts as a main contractor in building construction works and
repair, maintenance, alteration and addition ("‘RMAA") works across the
public and private sectors in Hong Kong, Malaysia and the United Kingdom.

The building construction services provided by the Group primarily consist
of building works for new buildings, including residential, commercial and
industrial buildings, while the Group’s RMAA works include the general
upkeep, maintenance, improvement, refurbishment, alteration and addition
of existing facilities and components of buildings and their surroundings.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 44 projects on hand with an
aggregate original contract sum of approximately HK$27.5 billion, which
includes projects in progress and projects that have been awarded to the
Group but not yet commenced.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had been awarded 15 new projects
with an aggregate original contract sum of approximately HK$6.0 billion
and had completed 19 projects with an aggregate original contract sum of
approximately HK$4.3 billion.

During the Reporting Period, the Group received a total of 53 honours,
including the Group has been awarded the “The Most Outstanding
Construction Engineering Service of the Year” by Hong Kong Commercial
Times; succeeded in being named as a finalist award at the “Green Building
Award 2023 - New Building Category — Completed Project (Commercial)
award" for its “Data Centre Development in Kwai Chung” project; succeeded
in being selected as ‘The 2023 Qianjiang Cup for Quality Engineering
Award’ for its projects including “The Kwun Tong Town Centre residential
development”, Hong Kong Metropolitan University Jockey Club Institute of
Healthcare” and “Hong Kong Science and Technology Park 6W Building”.
During the Reporting Period, the Group has appeared in 873 articles by
media platforms at provincial level and above, namely China Daily, Zhejiang
Satellite TV and SingTao Daily.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THERWRE S

Environmental Operations

The acquisition of ZCIEE in May 2023 is expected to further diversify the
Group's business. Leveraging on existing contracts and the network, licences
and qualifications of ZCIEE, the Group can expand and venture into the
environmental improvement and protection related construction services;
and sewage and reclaimed water treatment services. As such, the Group,
since May 2023, is also engaged in construction, rehabilitation and operation
of sewage and reclaimed water treatment plants as well as water distribution
plants and other environmental related facilities and infrastructure in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

The PRC government is committed to addressing environmental
issues, developing ecological conservation and achieving sustainable
development, regulating relevant industries and companies as well
as leading them towards high-quality growth, which was reflected in
ecological and environmental protection guidelines and policies such as
the Urban Waste Sorting and Treatment Facility Development Scheme for
the 14th Five-Year Plan Period and the Urban Waste water Treatment and
Recycling Program for the 14th Five-Year Plan Period. Taking into account
of (i) stable revenue stream contributed by ZCIEE and its subsidiaries
as seen from its historical combined financial performance; (ii) the PRC
government’s commitment in environmental industry; and (iii) the
expected stable demand of environmental improvement and protection
related services in the PRC, the Group is optimistic about the cash flow and
profitability of the Group in environmental improvement and protection
related construction services; and sewage and reclaimed water treatment
services.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 17 projects on hand with an
aggregate original contract sum of approximately HK$0.3 billion.

During the Reporting Period, the global and Hong Kong economies were in a
phase of recovery, and the progress of construction bidding gradually returned
to pre-pandemic levels.

Subsequent to 31 December 2023, the Group has been further awarded
4 new projects relating to 3 building construction works contracts with
original contract sum of approximately HK$96.4 million and 1 RMAA works
contract an with original contract sum of approximately HK$599.0 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THER RS

The Group has also placed significant emphasis on technological innovation
to enhance its core competitiveness in the construction industry. The total
expenditure for research and development was approximately HK$17.5
million. Our self-developed “CR Smart Site Safety System” (tentative name)
has integrated various systems, including environmental sensors, Enertainers,
gate monitoring systems, Building Information Modeling (BIM), artificial
intelligence-based safety monitoring systems and IoT system. Managerial
staffs can comprehensively and in real-time monitor the construction site
through a mobile and web portal, ensuring the safety of construction
activities. At the same time, the Group implements smart helmets in certain
construction sites, which can detect the heart rate, blood pressure, and body
temperature of site workers, as well as provide real-time location tracking.
These smart helmets also incorporate Radio Frequency Identification (RFID)
tags for correspondence with the heavy machines equipped with RFID
sensors on the site. If any workers enter unauthorised restricted areas, the
alarm system will be triggered, ensuring safety for workers.

As construction digitalisation continues to accelerate, the Group is
keeping pace with the industry by adopting more digital tools to enhance
management and construction safety, aligning with the government'’s
development of smart site.

In addition, ZCIEE collaborates with various universities for technological
research. This includes conducting research and development of the
technology for rural wastewater treatment with Zhejiang University of
Technology, as well as conducting research on fly ash melting technology in
partnership with Zhejiang Gongshang University. These research outcomes
contribute to enhancing the technological level of the environmental industry.

The outlook for 2024 should remain stable. The government has recently
announced in the Hong Kong Budget 2024-2025 that they have cancelled
all demand-side management measures for residential properties,
namely the Special Stamp Duty (SSD), Buyer's Stamp Duty (BSD), and New
Residential Stamp Duty (NRSD). Additionally, with ongoing projects in new
development areas like the Northern Metropolis, they are anticipated to
have a positive impact on our Group's business. However, the Group will
still face challenges such as talent shortages in the construction industry.
To address these challenges, the Group will enhance the utilisation of the
Labour Importation Scheme for the Construction Sector, continuing to
dedicate efforts to seek out new and potential construction opportunities
for profitable growth. Additionally, leveraging our industry experience and
expertise, our Group is keen to explore suitable business opportunities in
the construction sector both locally and overseas.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THERWRE S

In an effort to serve our commitment to creating shareholder value and
driving sustainable growth, the Group will continuously pursue more
construction business opportunities.

There are certain risks relating to the Group's operations which could
harm its business, financial conditions and operating results. Some of the
relatively material risks relating to the Group are summarised as follows:

Business risks

(0)

(i)

(iv)

the Group's revenue is mainly derived from projects which are not
recurrent in nature and we are subject to the risks associated with
competitive tendering process. There is no guarantee on the Group's
continuous success in project tenders or quotation and the Group's
sustainability and financial performance may be materially and
adversely affected;

the Group operates under various registration, licenses and
certifications and the loss of or failure to obtain or renew any or all of
these registrations, licenses and/or certifications could materially and
adversely affect the Group’s business;

the Group determined the tender price based on the estimate
construction time and costs which may deviate from the actual
implementation of a project due to cost overruns and/or other
related construction risks; and

failure to maintain safe construction sites and/or implement our
safety management system may lead to the occurrence of personal
injuries, property damages, fatal accidents or suspension of relevant
licenses to operate.

Industry and market risks

U]

(i)

12

the construction industry is highly competitive. There are a significant
number of industry players who provide similar services as ours; and

all of the Group’s revenue was derived from projects located in the
PRC, Hong Kong, Malaysia and the United Kingdom. If the PRC, Hong
Kong, Malaysia and the United Kingdom experiences any adverse
economic conditions due to events beyond our control, such as
a local economic downturn, natural disasters, contagious disease
outbreaks, terrorist attacks, or if the local authorities adopt regulations
that place additional restrictions or burdens on the construction or
environmental industry in general, the Group's overall business and
results of operations may be materially and adversely affected.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THER RS

During the Reporting Period, for management purpose, the Group has
2 reportable segments, construction operations which comprised of
the provision of building construction services and repair, maintenance,
addition and alteration ("RMAA”") works in Hong Kong, Malaysia and the
United Kingdom; and the environmental operations business in the PRC.
Details of the segmental information of the Group is disclosed in note 5 to
the financial statements.

Revenue

The total revenue of the Group decreased by approximately HK$963.8
million or approximately 15.0% from approximately HK$6,409.4 million for
the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately HK$5,445.6 million for
the Reporting Period.

Construction Operations

. Building Construction Works

The revenue generated from the building construction works
decreased by approximately HK$292.3 million or approximately
5.9% from approximately HK$4,995.3 million for the year ended
31 December 2022 to approximately HK$4,703.0 million for the
Reporting Period. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in
revenue generated from newer projects and existing projects to the
Group during the Reporting Period.

. RMAA Works
The revenue generated from the RMAA works decreased by
approximately HK$742.6 million or approximately 58.4% from
approximately HKS$1,271.3 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 to approximately HK$528.7 million for the Reporting Period. The
decrease was mainly attributable to existing projects were closed to
completion during the Reporting Period.

Environmental Operations

The revenue generated from the environmental operations increased by
approximately HK$71.1 million or approximately 49.8% from approximately
HKS$142.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately
HK$213.9 million for the Reporting Period. The increase was mainly
attributable to increase in revenue from new and existing projects from
construction and rehabilitation services during the Reporting Period.

RBEHE AEEME AEEBEMER
EBOMW DHKERE  FRADREE
CERHUEFEERE REE  RE W2
Koz ([RMAA]) TIEMEEXRT  RAES
BRENRRER - AEEDHERNFS
A B 755 2k MY RES I EE

Iy =
AEBERFZREBEZEZE T -9+ - A
=+t —HIEFEMHL640048 878 TR D
#1963.8H BB L A15.0% 2 MEHEAHLD
544568 BB TT °

BEXK

. BFEEITE
BEFREEATREAZREZHREE_Z
T+ A=t HIFE®NY
49953 BB LM A K2023B 8 E T
B #95.9% % ¥R 45 H B B9 494,703.0 5 8 75
TP T EZRRHERE RN
HERBBEELE AASETRH W=
B e

. RMAAL#E
RMAATRREAZKWEmEE T —_—
F+_A=1+—HILEFENM 27138
BB ILR D #7426 5 B 7T 3 #4958.4%
EREHEOLS8TEEE T - TR
D ETERRRBEEERREHRMEA
BEETT -

BREK

RREBEEZWERBE-_S-__F+=
AZ+—HIEFENN428BEETEMLY
711 B BB T #49.8% % A HAIRM ) 492139
BEBIL - ZIEMIAEZANREMARR
BEEREEREHFHEE RREEENHK

SRR

FEREEHITRERAR - 203FFH 13



Management Discussion and Analysis

THERWRE S

Contract Costs

The Group’s contract costs primarily consisted of subcontracting
costs, material costs, direct staff costs, site overheads and provision for
rectification works and claims. The contract costs of the Group decreased
by approximately HK$1,013.3 million or approximately 16.5% from
approximately HK$6,152.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
approximately HK$5,139.6 million for the Reporting Period. Such decrease
was in line with the decrease in revenue and was mainly attributable to
the decrease in subcontracting costs, material costs, direct staff costs and
site overheads for new and existing projects, which was partially offset by
increase in provision for rectification works and claims, during the Reporting
Period.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The gross profit of the Group increased from approximately HK$256.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately HK$306.0
million for the Reporting Period. The Group's gross profit margin was
approximately 4.0% and 5.6% for each of the two years ended 31 December
2022 and 2023, respectively.

Construction Operations

. Building Construction Works

The gross profit of building construction works was approximately
HK$204.4 million for the Reporting Period, representing an increase
of approximately HK$57.2 million from approximately HK$147.2
million for the year ended 31 December 2022. The gross profit margin
increased from approximately 2.9% for the year ended 31 December
2022 to approximately 4.3% for the Reporting Period. The increase
in gross profit and gross profit margin was mainly due to additional
cost incurred for variation orders for projects during the prior period,
while the respective revenue were only certified during the Reporting
Period.

. RMAA Works

The gross profit of RMAA works was approximately HK$61.7 million
for the Reporting Period, representing a decrease of approximately
HKS$11.7 million from the gross profit of approximately HK$73.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2022. The gross profit
margin increased by approximately 5.9 percentage points from
approximately 5.8% for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
approximately 11.7% for the Reporting Period. The decrease in gross
profit and increase in gross profit margin was mainly due to decrease
in revenue from RMAA works projects with higher gross profit margin
during the Reporting Period.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THER RS

Environmental Operations

The gross profit of environmental operations was approximately HK$39.9
million for the Reporting Period, representing an increase of approximately
HKS$4.0 million from the gross profit of approximately HK$35.9 million for
the year ended 31 December 2022. The gross profit margin decreased by
approximately 6.4 percentage points from approximately 25.1% for the year
ended 31 December 2022 to approximately 18.7% for the Reporting Period.
The increase in the gross profit and decrease in gross profit margin for the
Reporting Period was mainly due to increase in revenue from construction
and rehabilitation services which contributed lower gross profit margin
during the Reporting Period.

Other Income

The other income of the Group increased by approximately HK$4.3 million,
from approximately HK$8.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2022
to approximately HK$13.2 million for the Reporting Period. The increase
was mainly attributable to the insurance compensation received during the
Reporting Period, which was partially offset by the absence of consultancy
services income generated by CR Construction (U.K) Company Limited
during the Reporting Period.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses of the Group increased from approximately
HK$150.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately
HK$173.0 million for the Reporting Period. The increase was mainly due
to the increase in staff costs, research and development expenses, and
professional service fee incurred during the Reporting Period. The increase
in staff costs was mainly attributable to increase in number of staff and
increment of salaries while additional professional service fee was incurred
for the acquisition of ZCIEE during the Reporting Period.

Other Operating Expenses, net

The other operating expenses of the Group decreased by approximately
HK$4.2 million, from approximately HK$12.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 to approximately HK$8.6 million for the Reporting Period.
The decrease was primarily due to the decrease in expected credit losses
provisioning on trade receivables and contract assets according to HKFRS
9 charged to consolidated statement of profit or loss during the Reporting
Period.

Finance Costs

The finance costs of the Group increased from approximately HK$20.3
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately HK$52.6
million for the Reporting Period. The increase was mainly due to the increase
in the Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (HIBOR) on bank loans and
additional borrowings from banks and an intermediate holding company
during the Reporting Period.

RRER

RBEHE BRREBENBL0BES
T BREE_ZE -+ -_A=1+—HIHF
ERER L3598 BAETEML40E8 BB T -
EMEHBEE-_FT-_—_F+-_HA=1+—HL
FE R X251%58 D B6.418 B 9 3 = & B
FE B 4918.7% ° 3R 4 HA RS A9 F) 18 0 & F 7
0 BT REE MBS RS ARSI
Mt RERREREANEEOEFNERIE -

H WA
AEBEEMBEABRBE-_T-__F+-A
=+ —HIEFENNBIBEBITEMNA43A
BEATERESHENNB2BEE AT - %E
M7 EEHNRE AR AMERREEE -
pEHmERARANELRE(ZR)ERQFL
I RRE R RS A BT BB 0 8K o

THREAX
AEBETBEASHAEBEE_ZTS-__F+=A
—t+—BHILEFENDI504F BB TEINE R
HHIEM 730888 T ZEMDEER
RBEHEANE TRA - FERS - KB
EENESERBERIGI - 8 TARAKIEMNE
ZAHERENE T AZEMRFHB EA - tEoh
AR EHEARETERRMEELEBINE
ERBER -

Ht K& FH

AREBEMEERTABE-_S-__F+=
A=+—BItEENN128AEB TR 442
BEEELEREHMOLEEB T - AR
DHEBHAREHBEANRIEFT ST BE RS
HEAERRERZEZRERANEERIE
WREEEBERMBNEHEEBERER

9\0

& A

REBBERARBEE T _—_F+_A4
Z+—BLEFENL2038EE TEINER
SHM M2 6E BB ZWMIBEEH
RIERABEANRTERNESRITRERE
EARKRBITR —EHEZERAAESEN

{j:tﬂfh
B 7

o

FEREEHITRERAR - 203FFH 15



Management Discussion and Analysis

THERWRE S

Income Tax Expense

The income tax expense increased by approximately HK$3.8 million, or
representing approximately 42.7%, from approximately HK$8.9 million for
the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately HK$12.7 million for the
Reporting Period. The increase was mainly due to the utilisation of tax losses
for offsetting against assessable profits during the year ended 31 December
2022. The effective tax rates were approximately 10.9% and 14.9% for each
of the two years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023, respectively.

Net Profit and Adjusted Net Profit

The net profit for the year of the Group decreased by approximately HK$0.7
million, or approximately 1.0%, from approximately HK$72.9 million for
the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately HK$72.2 million for
the Reporting Period. The net profit margin for the two years ended 31

December 2022 and 2023 were approximately 1.1% and 1.3%, respectively.

If excluding the restatement resulted from the acquisition of ZCIEE, the
previously reported net profit and net profit margin of the Group would
amount to approximately HK$56.5 million and 0.9% for the year ended 31
December 2022, respectively.

The Group had a total of 906 employees as at 31 December 2023 (31
December 2022: 883). Total staff costs of the Group (excluding the
Directors’ remuneration) for the Reporting Period were approximately
HKS$464.7 million (2022: approximately HK$419.0 million). If excluding the
restatement resulted from the acquisition of ZCIEE, the Group had a total of
757 employees as at 31 December 2023, and total staff costs of the Group
(excluding the Directors’ remuneration) for the year ended 31 December
2023 were approximately HK$393.5 million. The Group’s remuneration
policies were in line with relevant legislation, market conditions and
the performance of our employees. The salary and benefit level of the
employees of the Group are competitive and individual performance is
rewarded through the Group’s salary, bonus and other cash subsidies
system. The Group conducts review on salary adjustment, discretionary
bonuses and promotions based on the performance of each employee
twice a year. The emoluments of the Directors and the senior management
are decided by the Board with reference to the recommendation from the
remuneration committee of the Company, having considered factors such
as the Group's financial performance and the individual performance of the
Directors, etc.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THER RS

The Company provides introductory training at the time when members of
our staff first join us and thereafter regular on-the-job training, depending
on the staff's role. In addition, it is our policy to provide training to our staff
on an as-needed basis to enhance their technical and industry knowledge.
During the Reporting Period, the Group has not experienced any significant
problems with its employees due to labour disputes nor has it experienced
any difficulty in the recruitment and retention of experienced staff.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) as an incentive to the Directors and eligible employees. No share
option has been granted, exercised, expired or lapsed under the Share
Option Scheme since its adoption and up to the date of this report. The
Company may grant options in respect of up to 50,000,000 Shares (or such
numbers of Shares as shall result from a sub-division or a consolidation of
such 50,000,000 Shares from time to time) to the participants under the
Share Option Scheme. The total number of Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of options granted to any participants (including both
exercised and outstanding options) under the Share Option Scheme or any
other share option schemes of our Company in any 12-month period up to
the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK1.8 cents
(2022: HK1.8 cents) per Share for the Reporting Period. The proposed
dividend will be payable on or before Friday, 26 July 2024, subject to the
approval of the Shareholders at the forthcoming 2024 Annual General
Meeting ("AGM") of the Company to be held on Friday, 21 June 2024.

Acquisition of entire equity interest in ZCIEE

On 31 January 2023, the Company and China Zhejiang Construction
Group (H.K) Limited (the “Seller”), one of the controlling shareholders of
the Company, entered into the share purchase agreement (the “Share
Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to which the Company has conditionally
agreed to acquire and the Seller has conditionally agreed to sell to the
Company the entire equity interest in ZCIEE at the Consideration of
RMB201,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$228,409,090) (the
"Acquisition”). ZCIEE is principally engaged in construction, rehabilitation
and operation of sewage and reclaimed water treatment plants as well
as water distribution plants and other environmental related facilities and
infrastructure in the PRC. Acquisition constituted a major transaction and
connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14 and Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules. For further details of the Acquisition, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 31 January 2023 and 10 February
2023, respectively and the circular of the Company dated 31 March 2023.
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The resolution of the Acquisition was duly passed at the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 28 April 2023. All the conditions
precedent under the Share Purchase Agreement have been fulfilled,
the completion took place on 8 May 2023 and the ZCIEE has become a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and the financial results of the
ZCIEE and its subsidiaries has been consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements of the Company based on the principles of merger
accounting.

The Company considers that the Acquisition represents an opportunity for
the Group to diversify and venture into the environmental improvement
and protection related construction services; and sewage and reclaimed
water treatment services in the PRC, which contributes to the cash flow and
profitability of the Group.

During the Reporting Period, the Group invested approximately HK$8.3
million (2022: approximately HK$12.4 million) on acquisition of property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets. Capital expenditure was
principally funded by internal resources.

The Group had capital commitments of approximately HK$16.2 million as at
31 December 2023 (2022: approximately HK$26.0 million).

Save as disclosed below, the Group had no other contingent liabilities as at
31 December 2023:

(@)  As at 31 December 2023, performance bonds of approximately
HK$1,800.1 million (2022: approximately HK$1,518.0 million) were
given by banks in favour of the Group's customers as security for the
due performance and observance of the Group’s obligation under
the contracts entered into between the Group and their customers. If
the Group fails to provide satisfactory performance to their customers
to whom performance bonds have been given, such customers may
demand the banks to pay to them the sum or sums stipulated in such
demand. The Group will then become liable to compensate such
banks accordingly. The performance bonds will be released upon
completion of the contract work.

At the end of the Reporting Period, the directors do not consider it is
probable that such claim will be made against the Group.
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In the ordinary course of the Group’s construction business, the
Group has been subject to a number of claims due to personal
injuries suffered by employees of the Group or of the Group'’s
subcontractors in accidents arising out of and in the course of their
employment. At the end of the Reporting Period, the directors are of
the opinion that such claims are well covered by insurance and would
not result in any material adverse impact on the financial position or
results and operations of the Group.

The Group operates in the PRC, Hong Kong, Malaysia and the United
Kingdom and most of the transactions are denominated in Renminbi, Hong
Kong Dollars, Malaysian ringgit and Great British Pound. The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the Board
closely monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should that need arise.

As at 31 December 2023, the gearing ratio of the Group, which is calculated
by dividing net debt with equity attributable to equity holders of the
Company plus net debt, was approximately 42.3% (2022: approximately
6.6%). Net debt includes interest-bearing bank borrowings and loans from
an intermediate holding company, less cash and cash equivalents and
restricted bank balance. Capital represents equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Group maintained a healthy liquidity
position, with working capital financed mainly by internal and external
resources.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group reported net current assets of
approximately HK$374.5 million, as compared with approximately HK$618.7
million as at 31 December 2022. As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s cash
and cash equivalents were approximately HK$236.0 million, representing an
increase of approximately HK$77.8 million as compared to approximately
HKS$158.2 million as at 31 December 2022. Analysis of the maturity profile of
the interest-bearing bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2023
and 31 December 2022 is set out in the note 24 to the financial statements.

The Shares of the Company were successfully listed on the Stock Exchange
on 16 October 2019. There has been no change in the capital structure of
the Group since then.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THERWRE S

The Group had interest-bearing bank borrowings of approximately
HKS$415.6 million as at 31 December 2023 (2022: HK$197.2 million). As at 31
December 2023, the Group pledged receivables and contract assets under
service concession arrangements with net book value of HK$174.6 million
(31 December 2022 (restated): HK$44.4 million), and shares of ZCIEE held by
the Group to bank to finance loans in the PRC.

Borrowings were denominated in Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars and
interests on borrowings were mainly charged at floating rate. The Group
did not employ any financial instrument for hedging purpose during the
Reporting Period. However, the Group pays vigilant attention to monitor
interest rate risks and exchange rate risks continuously and cautiously.

The Group continues to manage its financial position carefully and
maintains conservative policies in cash and financial management. The
Group's liquidity and financing requirements are frequently reviewed. The
Board closely monitors the Group's liquidity position to ensure that the
Group can meet its funding requirements for business development.

The Group may from time to time consider appropriate new business
opportunities as and when appropriate, in order to enhance its
Shareholders’ value. Save as disclosed herein, there was no specific plan for
material investments or capital assets as at 31 December 2023.
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Directors and Senior Management

EFAEREERE

Executive Directors

Mr. GUAN Manyu (“Mr. Guan”), aged 46, is the chairman of our Board
and an executive Director. He was appointed as a director of our Company
on 20 July 2017, and was further appointed and designated as an executive
Director and the chairman of our Board on 5 September 2017. He is
responsible for overall business development as well as financial and
strategic planning of our Group.

Mr. Guan has approximately 24 years of experience in the construction
industry. From August 1999 to August 2001, he worked for Zhejiang
Construction Investment Group Co., Ltd. at which his last position was a
foreman. In September 2001, he joined China Zhejiang Construction Group
(H.K) Limited as a project manager and was subsequently promoted to
an assistant manager in March 2002, a deputy manager in March 2003
and a general manager in September 2007. Since April 2015, he has
become the chairman of China Zhejiang Construction Group (H.K.) Limited.
Mr. Guan joined our Group in January 2014 as a director of CR Construction
Company Limited and has been concurrently serving as the chairman of
CR Construction Company Limited since March 2015. He is a director of
CR Construction (Building) Company Limited and CR Construction (U.K)
Company Limited. He is also the chairman and a director of China Zhejiang
Construction Group (H.K\) Limited. He has been the Deputy General
Manager of Zhejiang Construction Investment Group Co., Ltd (stock code:
002761.57) since June 2023.

Mr. Guan obtained a bachelor of civil engineering in construction
engineering from Zhejiang University in the People’s Republic of China
(the "PRC") in June 1999 and a master of science in civil infrastructural
engineering and management from the Hong Kong University of Science
and technology in November 2005.

Mr. Guan was admitted as a 1st class registered constructor (— &zt
M) in specialty of construction engineering in Ministry of Housing and
Urban-Rural Development of the People’s Republic of China (A ZE AR
H AN B A 8% ED) (formerly known as Ministry of Construction
of the People’s Republic of China (1% A R A EFEELEE) in Novernber
2007 and a senior engineer (= & T#2RM) in specialty of construction
engineering in Zhejiang Province Human Resources and Social Security
Department (H1/T & A1 B IRFI+E ZRFEES) in December 2009.

For Mr. Guan'’s interest in the Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong),
please refer to the section headed “Report of the Directors” in this annual
report.
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Directors and Senior Management

EFREREER

Mr. LI Kar Yin (“Mr. Li”), aged 65, is an executive Director and has been
the chief executive officer of the Company since 1 April 2020. He was
appointed as a director of our Company on 20 July 2017, and was further
appointed and designated as an executive Director on 5 September 2017.
He is mainly responsible for overall management of our business operation.

Mr. Li has approximately 41 years of experience in the construction industry.
From July 1982 to January 1988, he worked for Langdon Every and Seah, an
international construction cost consultancy firm, as a quantity surveyor. In
January 1988, he joined our Group as a quantity surveyor of CR Construction
Company Limited and was subsequently promoted to a senior quantity
surveyor in January 1989, an assistant contracts manager in November 1992
and a contracts manager in April 1995. He has become a director of CR
Construction Company Limited since October 2001 and is currently serving
as a managing director of CR Construction Company Limited. He is also a
director of Mount Land Limited and CR Construction (Building) Company
Limited.

Mr. Li obtained a higher diploma in surveying and an advanced higher
diploma in quantity surveying from Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently
known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in November 1981 and
November 1982 respectively. He, through distance learning, obtained a
diploma in surveying (quantity surveying) and a postgraduate diploma in
arbitration from the College of Estate Management (currently known as
the University College of Estate Management) in the United Kingdom in
September 1996 and April 2000 respectively.

Mr. Li was admitted as a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors
in June 1998 and a member of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators in July
2000.

For Mr. Li's interest in the Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong),
please refer to the section headed “Report of the Directors” in this annual
report.
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Directors and Senior Management

EFAEREERE

Mr. CHAN Tak Yiu (“Mr. Chan”), aged 52, is an executive Director. He was
appointed as a director of our Company on 20 July 2017, and was further
appointed and designated as an executive Director on 5 September 2017.
He is mainly responsible for overall management of our business operation.

Mr. Chan has approximately 31 years of experience in the construction
industry. From July 1992 to October 1993 and August 1994 to March
1999, he worked for Crownity Engineering Limited and its subsidiaries
(namely Best Build Construction Co., Ltd. and Besco Engineering Ltd.) at
which his last position was a construction manager. From March 1999 to
January 2002, he worked for Square Construction Company Limited as a
project manager. From January 2002 to May 2009, he worked for Chun
Wo Construction and Engineering Company Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited (stock code:
711), at which his last position was a deputy operation manager. In May
2009, he joined our Group and worked as a senior project manager of CR
Construction Company Limited and was subsequently promoted to a
project operation director and head of technical department concurrently
in January 2012, an assistant general manager in February 2015. Since July
2016, he has been a director of CR Construction Company Limited.

Mr. Chan obtained a bachelor of science in construction management from
South Bank University, London in the United Kingdom in July 1994 and a
master of science in construction management from City University of Hong
Kong in November 2000.

Mr. Chan was admitted as a member of The Australian Institute of Building
in May 2005 and a member of The Chartered Institute of Building in January
2006. Mr. Chan was admitted as a fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of
Construction Managers in April 2015.

For Mr. Chan'’s interest in the Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong),
please refer to the section headed “Report of the Directors” in this annual
report.
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Directors and Senior Management

EFREREER

Non-executive Directors

Mr. YANG Haojiang (“Mr. Yang”), aged 41, is a non-executive Director.
He was appointed as a director of our Company on 20 July 2017, and
was further appointed and designated as a non-executive Director on 5
September 2017. He is mainly responsible for providing strategic advice to
our Group.

Mr. Yang has more than 13 years of experience in the construction industry.
In April 2010, he worked for Zhejiang Construction Investment Group Co.,
Ltd. as a research officer and was subsequently promoted to a senior project
manager in January 2012 and an assistant manager in November 2014.
Since September 2016, he has been serving as a deputy general manager in
China Zhejiang Construction Group (H.K)) Limited.

Mr. Yang obtained a bachelor of information management and information
system ({5 BB 1 E{z 8 & &) from Zhejiang Gongshang University in the
PRCin July 2005 and a master of business administration from University of
Bridgeport in the United States in December 2007.

For Mr. Yang's interest in the Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong),
please refer to the section headed “Report of the Directors” in this annual
report.

Ms. Ding Shaojian (“Ms Ding”), aged 47, is a non-executive Director.
Ms. Ding was appointed as a non-executive director of our Company on
28 March 2023. She is currently a director of China Zhejiang Construction
Group (H.K) Limited (a controlling shareholder of the Company) and
Zhejiang Construction Group (H.K) Holdings Limited (a controlling
shareholder of the Company). She currently works as a senior investment
manager of Investment and Operation Department of the Overseas
Department of Zhejiang Construction Investment Group Company Ltd.

Ms. Ding graduated from Chongging University in 2011 with a Bachelor
degree in Construction Management with the emphasis in Engineering
Cost Management. Ms. Ding obtained the qualification of Registered Senior
Engineer (specialised in Construction Estimation) from Zhejiang Province
Human Resources and Social Security Department in 2017.

Mr. Fan Jingbo (“Mr Fan”), aged 43, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Fan
was appointed as a non-executive director of our Company on 28 March
2023. He is currently the director of China Zhejiang Construction Group
(H.K) Limited (a controlling shareholder of the Company) and Zhejiang
Construction Group (H.K) Holdings Limited (a controlling shareholder of the
Company) respectively. He currently serves as a senior finance manager of
finance management department of the Overseas Department of Zhejiang
Construction Investment Group Company Limited.

Mr. Fan obtained the Bachelor degree in Accountancy from Zhejiang
Gongshang University in 2003 and Bachelor degree in Civil Engineering
from China University of Geosciences in 2013. Mr. Fan was admitted as a
senior accountant by Human Resources and Social Security Department
of Zhejiang Province in 2015. Mr. Fan has obtained First Class Construction
Engineer Registration Certificate issued by Ministry of Housing and
Urban-Rural Development, the People’s Republic of China in 2021 and was
admitted as a senior engineer by Human Resources and Social Security
Department of Zhejiang Province in 2021.
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Directors and Senior Management

EFAEREERE

Independent non-executive Directors

The Honourable TSE Wai Chun Paul JP (“Mr. Tse"”), aged 65, was
appointed as our independent non-executive Director on 17 September
2019. He is chairman of the Remuneration Committee, and a member of
the audit committee and the Nomination Committee. He is responsible for
providing independent judgement on our strategy, performance, resources
and standard of conduct.

Mr. Tse has more than 38 years of experience in the legal field. He has
worked as a barrister from October 1985 to July 1992 and as a solicitor from
July 1992 to the present. From July 1992 to June 1993, he worked for Livasiri
& Co. as an assistant solicitor. From July 1993 to January 1995, he worked
for Terry Yeung & Lai, Solicitors as a consultant. From February 1995 to mid
1997, he worked for Wilfred K. H. Lam & Co. as a consultant. He founded Paul
W. Tse, a solicitors firm in Hong Kong, in October 1997 and is currently a
partner of Paul W. Tse.

Mr. Tse obtained a bachelor of commerce and a bachelor of laws from The
University of New South Wales in Australia in April 1984 and in May 1984,
respectively. He obtained a master of laws in Chinese and comparative
law from The City University of Hong Kong in November 1999 and a
postgraduate certificate in laws from The University of Hong Kong in
September 1985.

Mr. Tse was called to the bar of New South Wales in July 1984. He was
admitted as an advocate and solicitor in Singapore in February 1995. He was
called to the bar in Hong Kong in October 1985. In September 1992, he was
admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong. He was also admitted as an associate
member of The Australian Society of Certified Practising Accountants in
March 1984 and a member of The Chartered Institute of Arbitrators in
December 1999.

Mr. Tse was appointed as a Justice of the Peace by the Government in July
2011 and is currently a member of the Legislative Council of Hong Kong.
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Directors and Senior Management

EFREREER

Mr. LAU Pak Shing (“Mr. Lau”), aged 74, joined the Company as an
independent non-executive Director on 2 July 2021. He is chairman of
the Audit Committee, member of the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee. Mr. Lau had been an executive director and a
deputy managing director of China Resources Enterprise Limited since 1997
and March 2006, respectively before his retirement as the aforementioned
positions with effect from 1 March 2010. He had also been an independent
non-executive director of China Resources Land Limited (stock code: 1109)
and executive directors of several listed companies in Hong Kong.

Mr. Lau graduated from Hong Kong Baptist University (‘HKBU”, formerly
known as Hong Kong Baptist College) and is a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He had also been
the chairman of the executive committee of Hong Kong Cold Storage
Merchants Association Limited for many years. Mr. Lau has more than 40
years of experience in auditing, accounting, corporate finance, properties,
godown and cold storage logistics business. He is currently a member of the
Alumni Committee of the HKBU Foundation.

Mr. HO Man Yiu lvan (“Mr. Ho"), aged 66, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 17 September 2019. He is chairman
of Nomination Committee, and member of the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee. He is responsible for providing independent
judgement on our strategy, performance, resources and standard of
conduct.

Mr. Ho has approximately 39 years of experience in the construction
industry. From 1983 to 1986, he worked for the Housing Department of
HKSAR Government as a graduate architect and later as an architect. From
1986 to 1987, he worked for Kumagai Design Ltd. Architects, Planners &
Engineers as a project architect. From 1987 to 1989, he worked for Kumagai
Gumi (HK) Ltd. at which his last position was a deputy project manager for
the Bank of China Tower project. In September 1988, he served as a co-
founder of Ivanho Architect Limited and, since then, has been serving as a
director.

Mr. Ho obtained a bachelor of arts in architectural studies and a bachelor
of architecture from the University of Hong Kong in November 1981
and November 1983 respectively. He was a vice president of Hong Kong
Institute of Architects from 2017 to 2018 and a vice president (local affairs)
of Hong Kong Institute of Urban Design from 2014 to 2018. He is currently
a member of Harbourfront Commission (HC), chairman of the Hong Kong
Task Force of Harbourfront Commission and the technical advisor (TA) of
Development Bureau for Two-envelope Tender Arrangement for Site 3 of
the New Central Harbourfront.
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Directors and Senior Management

EFAEREERE

Mr. LAI Yuk Fai Stephen JP (“Mr. Lai”), aged 64, joined the Company as
an independent non-executive Director on 28 March 2023. He is member of
the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee, and the Remuneration
Committee.

Mr. Lai has retired from the position of managing director in April 2020 and
has been appointed as a consultant of Rider Levett Bucknall Limited from
April 2020 to March 31, 2023.

Mr. Lai obtained a Bachelor degree in Building Economics and Measurement
from University of Aston, Birmingham, UK in 1984, a Master degree in
E-Commerce for Executives from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
2002, and an Honorary Doctor of Science degree from University of Aston,
Birmingham, UK in 2018. He has been elected as professional associate of
the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors in 1987, a fellow member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors in 2001, and China Registered Cost
Engineer. Mr. Lai is also a member of the Registered Professional Surveyor
(Quantity Surveying Division), Hong Kong. He was a chairman of Quantity
Surveying Division of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors from 2008
to 2009 and the president of The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors from
2012-2013. He is currently a director of Hong Kong Green Building Council.
He was elected as a member of the National Committee of the 13th Xuhui
District, Shanghai of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
in January 2023.
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Senior Management

Mr. PAN Shujie (“Mr. Pan”), aged 59, is a director of CR Construction
Company Limited. Mr. Pan joined our Group in August 2020 and is
concurrently serving as the chief operation officer and deputy general
manager of CR Construction Company Limited. He is mainly responsible for
overseeing the overall operation of the Group.

Mr. Pan has over 36 years of experience in the construction industry.
Mr. Pan worked in China State Construction Group Limited in 1987 and was
seconded to China State Construction International Holdings Limited from
1991 to until mid-2020. From August 2012 to August 2018, Mr. Pan served
as an executive director of China State Construction International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 3311). Since August 2020, he joined our Group and has
been serving as a chief operation officer and deputy general manager of CR
Construction Company Limited.

Mr. Pan graduated from the Southeast University (formerly known as
Nanjing Institute of Technology) and the University of Warwick (UK). He
is a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Engineers and a member of
The Chartered Institute of Building (UK). Mr. Pan has been appointed as a
member of Construction Industry Council by Development Bureau of the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region since 2016.

Ms. CHU Ping (“Ms. Chu"), aged 57, is a director of CR Construction
Company Limited. Ms. Chu joined our Group in January 2014. She is mainly
responsible for overall management of our business operation.

Ms. Chu has approximately 22 years of experience in the construction
industry. In August 2001, she joined China Zhejiang Construction Group
(H.K) Limited as an accounting clerk and was subsequently promoted to
a finance and administration officer in January 2003, a deputy manager
in January 2008 and served as a director of China Zhejiang Construction
Group (H.K) Limited from January 2014 to April 2022. She joined our Group
in January 2014 as a director of CR Construction Company Limited and is
concurrently serving as a deputy managing director of CR Construction
Company Limited.

Ms. Chu, through distance learning, obtained a bachelor of laws from Jinan
University in the PRCin January 2007.
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Directors and Senior Management
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Ms. FANG Xuan (“Ms. Fang”), aged 53, is a director of CR Construction
Company Limited. Ms. Fang has extensive experience in finance and
treasury industry. She joined our Group in August 2019 and is concurrently
serving as a finance director of CR Construction Company Limited. She
worked at Beijing Enterprises Holdings Ltd (At RIZIBR A F)), a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0392.HK), from June
2000 to July 2019, with her last position as a financial accounting manager
of Hong Kong capital finance department. Ms. FANG served as a finance
director at Mingxi Charity Foundation (BREZ A Z5 5% &) from August 2016
to July 2019. Ms. FANG has been serving as a member of the consultative
committee of the Liaison Office of the Association of Certified Public
Accountants of China in Hong Kong (FF B & &tEM 5 & 5T &8 Bt 4%
iz) and a member of the Standing Committee of the Shaanxi Provincial
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
(PR ARBUAE 2 #MRPEE Z B 2) since June 2022 and January
2023, respectively. She currently also serves at The Hong Kong Chinese
Enterprises Association Financial & Accounting Affairs Steering Committee
(BEAEFRCEBESHETEEZES) as the Executive Vice Secretary
General. Ms. FANG has been a member of the Association of International
Accountant (BIFR & 5HEI A ) since June 2015 and a fellow member of
Association of International Accountant since September 2020. She has also
been a member of China Association of Chief Financial Officers (Bl 42 &
STEM173 &) (CACFO) since December 2016 and a member of Hong Kong
Professionals and Senior Executives Association (B/8 5 3 & B RTTH
AB &) since January 2021. Ms. FANG obtained her bachelor's degree
in accounting in October 2006 from University of Bolton (TEFFTEAZ) in
England. She also completed a senior program on public administration
in Tsinghua University (& ZEAX28) in Beijing, the PRC, in August 2022 and
obtained an EMBA degree from the City University of Hong Kong in October
2021. Ms. Fang has been an Independent Non-executive Director of China
Development Bank International Investment Limited (Stock Code: 1062)
since 20 March, 2024.
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Mr. LAW Ming Kin (“Mr. Law”), aged 68, is a director of CR Construction
Company Limited. Mr. Law joined our Group in January 2009. He is mainly
responsible for overall management of our business operation.

Mr. Law has approximately 44 years of experience in the construction
industry. From 1979 to June 1987, he worked for Shui On Construction
Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of SOCAM Development
Limited (stock code: 983), at which his last position was an assistant project
manager. He joined our Group and worked for CR Construction Company
Limited as a site agent from July 1987 to February 1989. From February
1989 to September 1995, he worked for subsidiaries of Tak Wing Group at
which his last position was an acting general manager. From January 1996
to January 2006, he worked for Chun Wo Construction and Engineering
Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Asia Allied Infrastructure
Holdings Limited (stock code: 711), as a senior project manager. From
March 2006 to January 2009, he worked for Paul Y. Construction Ltd.
at which his last position was a contracts manager. In January 2009, he
joined our Group again as a project operation director of CR Construction
Company Limited and was subsequently promoted to an assistant general
manager in February 2015. Since July 2016, he has become a director of CR
Construction Company Limited. Mr. Law obtained a bachelor of science in
civil engineering from The University of Calgary in Canada in June 1979.

Ms. FANG Peizhen (“Ms. Fang”), aged 48, is the project director of the
Company. Ms. Fang is the Chief Engineer of the Zhejiang Construction
Investment Environment Engineering CO., Ltd. Ms. Fang joined
Environment Group in 2015. She is mainly responsible for overseeing the
operation of Zhejiang Construction Environmental Engineering Limited.

Ms. Fang has approximately 25 years of experience in the environmental
engineering industry. From January 2019 to December 2022, she worked
for the key R&D program in Zhejiang Province as a sub-task project leader.
From January 2021 to October 2024, she worked for Zhejiang Province
Construction Research Project as a project manager. From January 2023 to
December 2025, she worked for Zhejiang Province “sharp soldiers” R & D
research and development program projects as a sub-task project leader.

Ms. Fang obtained a master of Chemical Engineering from Sichuan
University, she was admitted as a senior engineer in the PRC. She was
appointed as chairman of the Zhejiang Construction Group Green
Technology Innovation Association. She also obtained the honor of “ten
million projects” in Zhejiang Province and the construction of beautiful
Zhejiang outstanding contribution to individuals.
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Corporate Governance Report
EREQ/WRE

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of the
Company for the Reporting Period.

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. The Company has adopted the
Corporate Governance Code and the Corporate Governance Report (the
"CG Code") contained in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) as its own code of
corporate governance since the Listing Date. The Company has complied
with all applicable code provisions of the CG Code during the Reporting
Period. The Company will continue to review and monitor its corporate
governance practices to ensure compliance with the CG Code.

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Company, oversees
the Company’s strategic decisions and monitors business and performance.
The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for day-to-day
management and operation of the Company to the senior management
of the Company. To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs,
the Board has established three Board committees including the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
of the Company (collectively, the “Board Committees”). The Board has
delegated to the Board Committees responsibilities as set out in their
respective terms of reference.

All Directors have carried out duties in good faith and in compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, and have acted in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance in respect of legal
action against the Directors. The insurance coverage will be reviewed on an
annual basis.

EZeMARZEARFANBERHZLEE

A ©

ARBBORERFSKFEHEEERURE
BRAGE RACKEEREE -BLHHAH
HIAZK - A QBB MR AE S LA A
(TERHRAD SR EEER TR KD
XeEans ((hEERTHDIEREASN
EEREARTR - ARBRBEHE —EET
EEREARTRIETABER TR - A2
AREEEZMERECREARATMR AR
RESTEEERTA

BiE

EXCREARANEEEE  BEEARA
BEARARLEREHFRRE EFECRAA
REAEREREBERTEBARRBEERER
RERENENDRBE /SEEAXARAETE
TEHNER  EEEERU=_EAE=Z8E
BRARFERZES FHEESMES
ZEg (M EEERE]) - EFECRE
FREERBRSEAREREMENEE

SREFAUNCRENTRE LT
FORBIRAR  BRAHARARRERE
B T2 o

ARREARTHRESTLHEENERE
R RRBESEFETES -

ELEEEEIERARAR 2023FF®R 31



Corporate Governance Report

EREIWSE

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separated, and should not be performed by the
same individual.

For the Reporting Period and up to the date of the annual report, the
chairman of the Board is Mr. Guan Manyu and the chief executive officer is
Mr. Li Kar Yin.

The roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer remains separated
with a clear division of responsibilities performed by different individuals
to maintain their independence, accountability, well-balanced power and
authority.

Board Composition

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises three executive
Directors, three non-executive Directors and four independent non-
executive Directors as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. GUAN Manyu (Chairman)

Mr. LI Kar Yin

Ms. CHU Ping (resigned on 28 March 2023)

Mr. LAW Ming Kin (resigned on 28 March 2023)
Mr. CHAN Tak Yiu

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. YANG Haojiang
Ms. DING Shaojian (appointed on 28 March 2023)

Mr. FAN Jingbo (appointed on 28 March 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

The Honourable TSE Wai Chun Paul JP

Mr. HO Man Yiu Ivan

Mr. LAU Pak Shing

Mr. LAl Yuk Fai Stephen JP (appointed on 28 March 2023)

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

During the Reporting Period, the Board has met at all times the
requirements under Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three independent non-executive directors with
at least one independent non-executive director possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise.
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During the Reporting Period, the Company has also complied with Rule
3.10A of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of independent non-
executive directors representing at least one-third of the Board. None of
the Directors have any personal relationship (including financial, business,
family or other material or relevant relationship) with any other Director and
chief executive.

Board diversity policy

The Company believes that the diversity of Board members will be
immensely beneficial for the enhancement of the Company’s performance.
Therefore, the Company has adopted a Board diversity policy which sets out
the approach to achieve a sustainable and balanced development of the
Company and to enhance the quality of performance.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefit of having a diverse
Board to enhance the quality of the Board's performance. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against selection criteria.

Selection and recommendation of candidates will be based on the
nomination procedures and the process and criteria adopted by the
Nomination Committee and a number of perspectives, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, industry
experience, technical and professional skills and/or qualifications,
knowledge, length of services, personal integrity and time commitments
of the proposed candidates. The Company will take into account factors
relating to the Company’s own business model and specific needs from
time to time. The ultimate decision is based on merit and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee has been delegated with the overall
responsibility for implementation, monitoring and periodic review of our
board diversity policy. Any revisions to the policy as recommended by the
Nomination Committee will be submitted to the Board for consideration
and approval.
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Measurable objectives of the Board diversity policy and the
progress on achieving the objectives

The measurable objectives

Objective 1:  Considering candidates for appointment as Directors from
a wide pool of talents taking into account the culture
and educational background, expertise and professional
experience, skills, experience, knowledge, perspectives and
other contributions that would complement the current
needs of the Board.

Objective 2:  Reviewing annually whether the composition and structure

of the Board is suitable for the overall development

strategy of the Group based on its business operation

and the developmental need to propose adjustment and

implementation plans.

Progress on achieving the objectives
Objective 1:  Selection and appointment of the Directors of the Company
should be in compliance with the requirements of the Board
diversity policy and in line with the overall development
strategy of the Group. From the Listing Date, the Nomination
Committee will identify the candidates for directorships and
recommend to the Board according to the Board diversity
policy of the Company for any replacement of Director or
an addition to the Board. The Board would also appoint
suitable candidates for directorship based on the overall
development of the Group and the Board diversity policy of
the Company.
Objective 2:  The Board targets to maintain at least the current level
of female representation. The current arrangement and
structure of the Board of the Company is appropriate for
the development need of the existing business operation
of the Group and is conducive for providing the Company
with extensive valuable advice and supervision on
decision-making. The Company will continually assess
the diversity of the Board and objectively consider the
composition and effectiveness of the Board for the 2023
financial year.

Workforce diversity

The gender ratio of male to female in the workforce (including senior
management) as at 31 December 2023 is 642:264. Building construction
services industry has generally been short of female talents due to social
and culture traditions. The total gender diversity of the Group is balanced
and the Group will continue to maintain the gender diversity in workforce.
For further details of gender ratio and initiatives taken to improve gender
diversity together with the relevant data, please refer to the disclosure in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report.
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All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.
Independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve on the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.

The Company has received written annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of them to be
independent.

Induction and Continuous Professional Development

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary induction and
information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the
Company’s operations and businesses as well as his/her responsibilities
under relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations. The Company also
arranges regular seminars to provide Directors with updates on latest
development and changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and
regulatory requirements from time to time. The Directors are also provided
with regular updates on the Company's performance, position and
prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge
their duties.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
company secretary of the Company has from time to time updated and
provided written training materials relating to the roles, functions and duties
of a director.
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RIBZBERENER  BEFERHRE
RSB

HIF 15

According to the information provided by the Directors, a summary of
training received by the Directors for the Reporting Period is as follows:

Nature of
Continuous
Professional
Development
Programs
BEEXRE
Name of Directors STEIMMEE
Executive Directors HITEF
Mr. GUAN Manyu EmTRE A B,C
Mr. LI Kar Yin FRBEE B,C
Mr. CHAN Tak Yiu BREEIE K 4 AB,C
Ms. Chu Ping (resigned on 28 March 2023) KEZT(RZEZ=F=H =+ /\BEE) B C
Mr. Law Ming Kin (resigned on 28 March 2023) BAAfRSEAE (RMZE=F =A==+ N\BET) B C
Non-executive Directors FHENITESE
Mr. YANG Haojiang BEIILE B C
Ms. DING Shaojian Tzt B.C
Mr. FAN Jingbo SRR A B C
Independent Non-executive Directors BB ITEE
The Honourable TSE Wai Chun Paul JP AEELEE DEg#E) (KF#HL) A C
Mr. HO Man Yiu Ivan A XFESE AB,C
Mr. LAU Pak Shing Gyt ABC
Mr. LAl Yuk Fai Stephen JP FEBE SR (K FEL) A B,C
Notes: et -
A. Attending seminars and/or meetings and/or forums and/or briefings A M e R REE kR wmE kR
AN

=
=

o

B:  Attending training relevant to the Company’s business conducted by lawyers ~ B: 2PNB R RN AR D 7 EEEERNE

W

MEEMEER  EEBRENRET - EHARA
K E AR R 1B eh A BaFT R

(@ Reading materials relevant to corporate governance, director’s duties and ~ C:
responsibilities, Listing Rules and other relevant ordinances
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company. Pursuant to the contract, they agreed to act as executive
Directors for an initial term of three years with effect from the Listing Date.

Each of the non-executive Directors has signed on an appointment letter
with the Company for an initial term of three years with effect from the
Listing Date.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed an
appointment letter with the Company for a term of two years with effect
from 2023.

All the Directors and the Company are required to give three months’
notice in writing to the other party for termination of the service contract/
appointment letter. All the Directors are appointed for a specific term
and subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the amended and
restated memorandum of association of the Company (the “Articles of
Association”).

None of the Directors has a service contract or appointment letter which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association. The Nomination
Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board composition and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-election of
Directors and succession planning for Directors.

In accordance with article 83(2) of the Articles of Association, subject to
the articles and the law, the Company may by ordinary resolution elect any
person to be a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board, or as an
addition to the existing Board.

In accordance with article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, the Board shall
have the power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person
as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition
to the existing Board. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of members after
his appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting and any
Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with article 83(7) of the Articles of Association, the Company
may from time to time in general meeting by ordinary resolution increase
or reduce the number of Directors but so that the number of Directors shall
never be less than two.
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Board Meetings

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings regularly,
at least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly intervals. Notices
of not less than fourteen days are given for all regular Board meetings to
provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters in
the agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board and Board Committee meetings, reasonable notice
is generally given. The agenda and accompanying board papers are
dispatched to the Directors or Board Committee members at least three
days before the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to review
the papers and are adequately prepared for the meetings. When Directors
or Board Committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they will
be advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to
make their views known to the chairman prior to the meeting. Minutes of
meetings are kept by the company secretary with copies circulated to all
Directors for information and records.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committee meetings are
recorded in sufficient detail about the matters considered by the Board
and the Board Committees and the decisions reached, including any
concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meeting and
Board Committee meeting are sent to the Directors for comments within a
reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is held. Minutes of the
Board meetings are open for inspection by Directors.
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For the Reporting Period, the Board held five Board meetings, one annual A REHE EECRITANEET T L:
general meeting and two extraordinary general meetings. The attendance ~ — /XX ERBF KRG K MABREFRIRE -
record of each Director is set out below: EENHFRER

General Meetings/

Extraordinary

Board Meetings General Meetings
Attended/Eligible Attended/Eligible

Directors to attend to attend
EiHiE BE%
BHE &K HERRAE
= HEEEgER BREBAE
Executive Directors HITEFE
Mr. GUAN Manyu (Chairman) EMFLEE(EE) 5/5 33
Mr. LI Kar Yin (Chief Executive Officer) TRERE (TTHAEH) 5/5 3/3
Ms. CHU Ping K¥EZ+
(resigned on 28 March 2023) (R=ZF=Z=F = A=+ VHFF) 2/2 0/0
Mr. LAW Ming Kin BRAREE (R=ZFZ=4F
(resigned on 28 March 2023) =HZ=F/NAFE) 2/2 0/0
Mr. CHAN Tak Yiu BRIEMR ST 5/5 3/3
Non-executive Directors FERITEE
Mr. YANG Haojiang BREIEE 5/5 3/3
Ms. DING Shaojian 'J\AlJzzi
(appointed on 28 March 2023) (RZFZ=ZF=A=—+/HEZT) 3/3 2/2
Mr. FAN Jingbo ,B%/&’f‘ﬁi
(appointed on 28 March 2023) (R=ZF=Z=F =A==+ /AEZF) 3/3 2/2
Independent Non-executive Directors BB ITEE
The Honourable TSE Wai Chun Paul JP - @B & e 4 ((FG&EE) (KF L) 5/5 3/3
Mr. HO Man Yiu Ivan A X FERE 5/5 3/3
Mr. LAU Pak Shing B/ EE 5/5 3/3
Mr. LAl Yuk Fai Stephen JP FBEEE (K FPHL) ( RZF-Z=4F
(appointed on 28 March 2023) ZH=ZFNAEZF) 3/3 2/2

Pursuant to code provision A.2.7 of the CG Code, the chairman should hold 1R ¥E (> 2 & 4T BISFRIE X FEA271E - T

meetings with independent non-executive Directors without the presence  EEFE D EHEME ZTAEH BN T LB

of other Directors at least annually. The Company held 1 meeting on M IEHITEERIT A&7 c AR GIERFL

23 March 2023 in accordance with the CG Code. ¥ERTH O MR-_BE-_=—F="A_+=0%
T—RE&& e

ERELEEEERARAR - 2035F%F 39 NN
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Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”)

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to
the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions. Having made specific enquiries of all the Directors, each of
the Directors has confirmed that he/she has complied with the required
standards as set out in the Model Code for the Reporting Period.

For the Reporting Period, the Company has also adopted its own code
of conduct regarding employees’ securities transactions on terms no less
exacting than the standard set out in the Model Code for the compliance
by its relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished
inside information of the Company in respect of their dealings in the
Company's securities.

Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters of the Company,
including: approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies
and budgets, internal control and risk management systems, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests),
financial information, appointment of Directors and other significant
financial and operational matters. Directors could have recourse to
seek independent professional advice in performing their duties at the
Company's expense and are encouraged to access and to consult with the
Company's senior management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Company
are delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions and
responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has to be
obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions entered into by
the management.

Corporate Governance Function

The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the collective
responsibility of the Directors which includes:

(@)  to review and monitor the Company'’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(c)  todevelop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual applicable to employees and Directors;

(d)  to develop and review the Company'’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board and
report to the Board on matters;
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to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report; and

to review and monitor the Company’s compliance with the
Company's whistleblowing policy.

During the Reporting Period, the Board reviewed the terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee, the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee, the Board diversity policy, the dividend policy, the nomination
policy and the shareholders communication policy of the Company.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises four members, namely Mr. Lau Pak Shing
(Chairman), The Honourable Tse Wai Chun Paul JP, Mr. Ho Man Yiu Ivan
and Mr. LAl Yuk Fai Stephen JP, all of them are independent non-executive
Directors.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

Being primarily responsible for making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the
external auditor, and approving the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor, and considering any questions
of its resignation or dismissal;

Monitoring integrity of the Group’s financial statements, annual
reports and accounts, half year reports and, if prepared for
publication, quarterly reports, and reviewing significant financial
reporting judgments contained in them;

Reviewing the Group'’s financial controls, risk management and
internal control systems; and

Discussing the risk management and internal control systems
with management of the Group to ensure that the management
of the Group has performed its duty to have effective systems.
this discussion should include the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programs and budget of the
Group's accounting and financial reporting function and to rectify any
weaknesses that may be revealed from time to time.
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The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available onthe  F|1%Z& B & 1) 2= M B 42 0 & AT RO B 2 BT AR
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. During the Reporting A RIABIEE R - RBEHM LA EARFRH
Period, and up to the date of this annual report, three meetings of the Audit ~ Hi » B EZE S RTB =S5 Uatwm ik
Committee were held to discuss and consider the following matters: ERIATHEIE:

reviewed with the management and auditor of the Company the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, to discuss
the unaudited interim financial statements for the six months ended
30 June 2023;

planning meeting covering the engagement with external auditor,
and the nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations
before the annual audit commences;

reviewed annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries for the
year ended 31 December 2022 as well as the audit report prepared
by the Company’s auditor relating to accounting issues and major
findings in course of audit;

reviewed the financial reporting system, compliance procedures,
internal control (including the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programs and budget of
the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function), risk
management systems and processes; and

discussed the re-appointment arrangement of the Company’s
auditor and the Board had not deviated from any recommendation
given by the Audit Committee on the selection, appointment,
resignation or dismissal of the Company’s Auditor.

The individual attendance record of each member of the Audit Committee
is set out below:

Directors

RANAEREREBNENEEE
AW B R A RBE =
2-=FAA=+ALAEANKE
B M AE

AEEE REEFERAMABANER
EIMNS L BED - Bt EE REE N
KHREE

EHEARRNKENBRARREBEZ-F
T HF+ A=+ —HLEFENFE
X¥BERARAZBMBEZEEN S
ATEEREARNEEMRENEZRE

BEEUHRERG  AREF - RBEHE
H(EREREERE BIEERKE
B BIFEERARBNEFEER
M mERAE)  RREERGENIESF
&

AWMARABREMONERLHERES
BUYRRHEBEZZESEARAZE
B R BHERBR R E A4
MEREEER -

ERZEGRRESAEMHFECEHINDT -

Attended/Eligible
to attend

aHE,
SEREE

Mr. LAU Pak Shing (Chairman) HE S AE YY) 3/3
The Honourable TSE Wai Chun Paul JP WEEREEGEEZE) (KFHT) 3/3
Mr. HO Man Yiu lvan A FESLAE 3/3
Mr. LAl Yuk Fai Stephen JP FEBEE (KR R=ZF-Z=F=4

(appointed on 28 March 2023) Z+NHEZA) 2/2
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises four members, namely Mr. Ho
Man Yiu Ivan (Chairman), The Honourable Tse Wai Chun Paul JP, Mr. Lau
Pak Shing and Mr. LAl Yuk Fai Stephen JP, all of them are independent
non-executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include the following:

1. Reviewing the structure, size, composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) and diversity (including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, or
professional experience) of the Board at least annually and making
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Group's corporate strategy;

2. Making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re—
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, in
particular the chairman of the Board and the chief executive of the
Group;

3. Identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members of the
Board and selecting or making recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorship; and

4. Assessing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors of the Company and reviewing the independent non-
executive Directors’ annual confirmations on their independence;
and make disclosure of its review results in the corporate governance
report of the Company.

The Nomination Committee assesses the candidate or incumbent on
criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and ability to commit time and
effort to carry out the duties and responsibilities. The recommendations of
the Nomination Committee will then be put to the Board for decision. The
written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee held two  R3FEHifE IRBEZESBITMANLHE ° 12
meetings. The individual attendance record of each member of the HEEEEMEZTANEFREHEIIOT ¢
Nomination Committee meeting is set out below:

Attended/Eligible

to attend
BiiE
Directors EERLEE
Mr. HO Man Yiu (Chairman) RIXEEEE (F/E ) 2/2
Mr. GUAN Manyu (resigned on 28 March 2023) EMFRER-ZF-Z=F=H=F+/HFHE) 1/1
Mr. LI Kar Yin (resigned on 28 March 2023) ZRBLE R -F-=F=H -+ /NHEFE) /1
The Honourable TSE Wai Chun Paul JP HEELEEGDEEZE) (K FT) 2/2
Mr. LAU Pak Shing /K EE 2/2
Mr. LAl Yuk Fai Stephen JP FEEBEE (KTFEL) ( RZF-Z=F=4
(appointed on 28 March 2023) ZFNHEZA) Al
The following is a summary of the work performed by the Nomination 3| A& HRIER E B @ ET TIEANHE
Committee for the Reporting Period: CI
- reviewed size, structure and composition of the Board and made - HEEFE€ A BB LAEAKLEGEE
recommendations to the Board on re-election of Directors; BEEMESSEOHEBEZE
- reviewed the Board diversity policy; - EHEFZTIEEK:
- reviewed the independence of the independent non-executive -  HEIBYIERITESHE L &

Directors; and

- discussed and reviewed the nomination policy. - FwmEkBEHIRZBUR -

Policy on Directors Nomination ESREZBX

The Group adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy’) on 17  AEEBEER=ZT—hLFNA+EHEMRRERS
September 2019, summarised below: B (TRABEE]) - At T -

Objectives BE

The Nomination Committee assists the Board in making recommendations 2R ZEE @M EE e ETEERESH
to the Board on the appointment of Directors and succession planning for 4 {FstElAEFSEHEEEE - B2 HE
Directors. The Nomination Policy provides the key selection criteria and 5B EFEIZE NIRZRE -

principles of the nomination.
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Selection Criteria

When making recommendations regarding the appointment of any
proposed candidate to the Board or re-appointment of any existing
member(s) of the Board, the Nomination Committee shall consider a
variety of factors including without limitation the following in assessing the
suitability of the proposed candidate:

(1) Character and integrity;

(2)  Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills knowledge
and experience that are relevant to the Company's business and
corporate strategy;

(3)  Willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a Board
member;

(4)  The number of existing directorships and other commitments that
may demand the attention of the candidate;

(5)  Requirement for the Board to have independent non-executive
Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the
candidates would be consider independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

(6)  Board diversity policy of the Company and any measurable objectives
adopted by the Nomination Committee for achieving diversity on the
Board; and

(7)  Such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business.

The appointment of any proposed candidate to the Board or re—
appointment of any existing member(s) of the Board shall be made in
accordance with the Articles of Association and other applicable rules and
regulations.
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Nomination Procedures

In general, the Board shall have the ultimate responsibility for all matters
relating to the selection, appointment and re- appointment of Directors.
The process to identity potential candidates for the Board would be
generally as follows:

(1) The Nomination Committee and/or Board identifies potential
candidates based on the selection criteria, possibly with assistance
from external agencies and/or advisors;

(2)  The Nomination Committee and/or the company secretary of the
Company provides the Board with the biographical details and details
of the relationship between the candidate and the Company and/
or Directors, directorships held, skills, and experience other positions
which involve significant time commitment and any other particulars
required by the Listing Rules, the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands and other regulatory requirements for any candidate for
appointment to the Board;

(3)  The Nomination Committee would make recommendations on
the proposed candidate(s) and the terms and conditions of the
appointment to the Board;

(4)  The Nomination Committee should ensure the proposed
candidate(s) will enhance the diversity of the Board, being particularly
mindful of gender balance;

(5)  In the case of the appointment of an independent non-executive
Director, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board obtains all
information in relation proposed Director to allow the Board to
adequately assess the independence of the Director in accordance
with the factors set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, subject to any
amendments as may be made by the Stock Exchange from time to
time; and

(6)  The Board deliberates and decides on the appointment based upon
the recommendation of the Nomination Committee.

For retiring Directors subject to re-election, the Nomination Committee
will review the overall contribution and service to the Company of the
retiring Director including his/her attendance of Board meetings and, where
applicable, general meetings of the Company, the level of participation and
performance on the Board. The Nomination Committee will also review and
determine whether the Director continues to meet the selection criteria and
make recommendations to Shareholders of the Company in respect of the
proposed re-election of Director at the general meeting of the Company.

The Nomination Policy will be reviewed on a regular basis.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises four members, namely The
Honourable Tse Wai Chun Paul JP (Chairman), Mr. Ho Man Yiu lvan, Mr. Lau
Pak Shing and Mr. LAl Yuk Fai Stephen JP, all of them are independent
non-executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include the following:

1. Making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure for all Directors’ and senior management remuneration
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy;

2. Making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management
of the Group, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment. The Remuneration
Committee shall consider salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities, and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group; and

3. Making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors.

The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

For the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting.
The individual attendance record of each member of the Remuneration
Committee meeting is set out below:

FHEESS

REZEemMAKEMEN  BIHEERSEE
(Eg®8) (KFML) (X/F) AIXES
£ BEREERBBELSE (KFEL) -
BEHRBILIFATES -

FMEEE@cET2REBRENUT

. BARFREZREERSREEAED
FMBRRNEE ULRRRIERE
BEZERAENREFHIHFHER BE
FeFEhERRE

2. MEFSFLERAKERENTE
ERERREEEBNFHEE(BREDY
Mz RRESEMNEEES (BRERX
FRIEBBEATERMNOEEE)) #E
Bz FMEZESAEERELQTA
NFS ARANEREEBE - U
RAGKBENE RO 'R - &

3. BMEBTEENFMAEETSHFLE

FEEg cEMBRESENBRIARAR
AR HER] -

REEHE FHZEERT - REF -
MEESEREZEMHELEHIIMT

Attended/Eligible

to attend

BHE

Directors BEREE

The Honourable TSE Wai Chun Paul JP (Chairman) B A (I FE%8) (K¥4t) (£E) 1/1

Mr. LI Kar Yin (resigned on 28 March 2023) FRERER=ZZF=Z=F=A=1/HEF) 1/1

Mr. LAU Pak Shing 2B/ LA 1

Mr. HO Man Yiu Ivan A=A 1/1
Mr. LAl Yuk Fai Stephen JP BBEBEE(KFHL)(RZFZ=F=4

(appointed on 28 March 2023) ZT/VAEZ) 0/0

The following is a summary of the work performed by the Remuneration
Committee for the Reporting Period:

made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration policy
and structure of Directors and senior management;
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assessed performance of executive Directors;

approved specific remuneration packages of all executive Directors
and senior management;

made recommendations to the Board of the remuneration of
non-executive Directors; and

conduct the salary review of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

Details of the remuneration by band of the members of the Board and
senior management of the Company, whose biographies are set out on
pages 21 to 30 of this annual report, for the Reporting Period, are set out
below:

AHEBITESMHRR

BESBATEFREA
CETTSLE

EEEHA

MM TEFNFHREFSRLR
&R

ETHE T =_F+=-_A=+—H
IEFENREBEF R

EENEREEE 2H M

BEHE ARBEFERSAEEEKE
(EEEHENAFRFENEI0E) HEEE D
B B SIS ST

Remuneration band (HKS)

FEE (G8)

0 to 1,000,000

1,000,001 to 2,000,000
2,000,001 to 3,000,000
3,000,001 to 4,000,000

021,000,000
1,000,001 2,000,000
2,000,00123,000,000

Number of Total
Number of Senior Number of
Directors Management individuals
EEZAY SREEEAH #AE
Note (a) Note (b)
it @) Ht 5z b)
9 2 1
1 1 2
1 1 2
1 1 2

1

3,000,001 24,000,000
4,000,001 to 5,000,000 4,000,001 £5,000,000
No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors or past directors
of the Company and the senior management (including five highest paid
individuals) as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office during the year ended 31 December 2023
(2022: nil).

Notes:

(a) The Directors of the Company during the Reporting Period are Mr. Guan
Manyu, Mr. Li Kar Yin, Ms. Chu Ping (resigned on 28 March 2023), Mr. Chan
Tak Yiu, Mr. Law Ming Kin (resigned on 28 March 2023), Mr. Yang Haojiang,
Ms. Ding Shaojian (appointed on 28 March 2023), Mr. Fan Jingbo (appointed
on 28 March 2023), The Honourable Tse Wai Chun Paul JP, Mr. Lau Pak Shing,
Mr. Ho Man Yiu Ivan, and Mr. Lai Yuk Fai Stephen JP (appointed on 28 March
2023).

(b)  The senior management of the Company during the Reporting Period are
Mr. Pan Shujie, Ms. Chu Ping (effective on 28 March 2023), Ms. Fang Xuan,
Mr. Law Ming Kin (effective on 28 March 2023) and Ms. Fang Peizhen (effective
on 28 April 2023).

48  CRConstruction Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023

HE-_T-_=F+-B=+—HIEFE &
EEVEAARAEEXAEEET RS RE
BEE(EPREERAGRS HHMA L)
o EANAREERMAAEERNES
SIEABBEE (ZEZZF &) -

Hit

@) HEHREHM ARTEEEeXREBRRER
FhRAE -FREELE KA¥LT(ZT=Z=
FZA-FTN\BET  BRERLE EH
REE(ZE=F=A=-+N\BBE)
BEILE - Tr8let(ZE-_=4=A
“t+N\BEZE) BHEEEE(CZT-=
ﬁ_ﬁl TNBERT)  WEERELE (L

FeHEB) (KF#HLT) - ZAEKLEE X
nﬁ'aimﬁwﬁﬁ'ai(jtwﬁﬂi)(:é::
FZR-+NBEXRMT) -

) EBREPHH FARFASREBAERE:
BEEHALEE KR (ZEZ=F=A
THNBER)  Hlk L EAREEE(C
Eo=F=ZA-+tNRER ERFMEZLL
(ZBZ=FOA=-tNBEXK) -



Corporate Governance Report
EREQ/WRE

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements for the Reporting Period which give a true and fair view of the
affairs of the Group's and of the Group's results and cash flows.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed
assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which are put to the
Board for approval. The Company provides all members of the Board with
monthly updates on Company's performance, positions and prospects.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the Auditor regarding their reporting responsibilities
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group is set out in the
Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 196 to 205 of this annual report.

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective internal
control and risk management systems in order to safeguard the Group's
assets and its Shareholders’ interests and reviewing their effectiveness on
an annual basis so as to ensure that internal control and risk management
systems in place are adequate. Such systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. The Audit Committee, acting on behalf of
the Board, reviews the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems on an on-going basis and reports to the Board on,
at least, an annual basis. The management is responsible for designing,
implementing and monitoring of the Group’s risk management framework
and internal control system. The Company also has an internal audit
function which primarily carries out the analysis and independent appraisal
of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's risk management and
internal control systems, and reports their findings to the Board on, at least,
an annual basis.

The Group’s internal control system includes a well-established
organizational structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility and
authority. The day-to-day departmental operations are entrusted to
individual department which is accountable for its own conduct and
performance and is required to operate its own department’s business
within the scope of the delegated authority and to implement and strictly
adhere to the strategies and policies set by the Group from time to time.
Each department is also required to keep the Board informed of material
developments of the department’s business and implementation of the
policies and strategies set by the Board on a regular basis so as to identify,
evaluate and manage significant risks in a timely manner.

EZRANEARENBESHE M BHRRZ
A YHAKRBEEHERAKEZXERS
CREEBEQNTHERER -

EEECRAEFSERHEFTENARAHNT
BERMOAMBEFERTEOHARER - AR
EXeMENAFE ARBARAEFEME
RERBBBARFNRE MR EEREN
BHARMER -

EXVTHNBABEAREHARANFEL
BRENFEEARENFHAMRNEME
RTNHARREE -

REMEBAEESREMBRRAREEN
BHE - MR AFREI196E2050 MBI ZH
AR &

EZSREAFR2ME RH A BES K E
BREERG  WREARBNEERHEKR
WAl TEESFEHRENEWIE - A
BARRITHABEHLREREERR BT
R AR E EEEMIFHRAREER
EBERzRER  ERMBERERRALIE
ARHEEMIEBHRE -ERZEE (K
REFQ)FERTASERAREE RAZ
THIRSNAREL =L GFRNEEFGHRE
EEBRER ERLAEERASERERE
EREMABIEGRG - ARF A ANEE
ZRE FTEAFUAKENRREERA
BRI G R 2 T MEANE R TT O AT BB
Vit UELBFRAEFEREHER -

AEENANEFH ZARERE - ETEHNER
Rig ERBATNEEMER - BEEM
MEFZRFERERNBM  HETAMKRR
B UBRERELEALEE FMPINE
o WHITMBEAEE T R AKE AR RER
BiiS MR - RPN AME =S BB EDFT
EBNEARR ALRERAESZS TG
TE HO SR AN B RS B9 15 00 AE BB A8 Y~ AT
REBRBAER

FERESEIZERERAR - 2023FFH 49



Corporate Governance Report
BREQ/WE

In addition, the Company has engaged an independent internal control
adviser to carry out a review on the internal control system and risk
management system of the Group. The review involves all material
monitoring aspects, including but not limited to finance, operation,
compliance and risk management. The adviser has conducted analysis
and independent assessment on the adequacy and the effectiveness of
the internal control system and risk management of the Group, and has
submitted the findings and recommendations to the Audit Committee and
the Board.

The Group is aware of its obligation under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFO"), the Listing Rules and the overriding principle that
inside information should be announced on a timely manner and conducts
its affairs in strict compliance with the applicable laws and regulations
prevailing in Hong Kong. The Group has established disclosure mechanism
regarding the procedures of identifying inside information and preserving
its confidentiality until proper dissemination with the Board’s approval
through the electronic publication systems operated by the Stock Exchange
and the Company. Unauthorised access and use of inside information are
strictly prohibited. Any potential inside information identified by senior
management will be assessed, and where appropriate, will be escalated for
the attention of the Board to resolve on further actions. The Board assesses
the likely impact of any unexpected and significant event and decides
whether the relevant information is considered inside information and
needs to be disclosed as soon as reasonably practicable pursuant to Rules
13.09 and 13.10 of the Listing Rules and the Inside Information Provisions
under Part XIVA of the SFO.

The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control and risk
management systems of the Group for the Reporting Period, to ensure
that a sound system is maintained and operated by the management in
compliance with the agreed procedures and standards. The review covered
all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions. In particular, the Board considered
the resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programs and
budget of the Group's accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions are adequate. The review was conducted through discussions
with the management of the Group, its external and internal auditors and
the assessment performed by the Audit Committee. The Board believes
that the existing risk management and internal control systems are
adequate and effective, in particular, for financial reporting and Listing Rules
compliance as well as for resolving internal control defects (if any).
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The Group adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) on 17
September 2019, summarised below:

The Group is committed to maintaining sufficient resources and flexibility
to meet the Group's financial and operational requirements. At the same
time, the Company continually seeks ways to enhance Shareholders’ value
to ensure sustainable long- term yields for Shareholders.

Under the Dividend Policy, the declaration and payment of dividends
shall be determined or recommended, as appropriate, by the Board at its
absolute discretion after taking into account the Group's financial results,
future prospects and other factors, and subject to limitation of:

M

the Articles of Association of the Company;

(2)  the applicable restrictions and requirements under the laws of the
Cayman Islands;

(3)  actual and expected financial performance of the Group;

(4)  retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the other members of the Group;

(5)  economic conditions and other internal or external factors that may
have impact on the business or financial performance and position of
the Group;

(6)  business strategies of the Group, including future cash commitments
and investment needs to sustain the long-term growth aspect of the
business;

(7)  the current and future operations, liquidity and capital requirement of
the Group;

(8)  statutory and regulatory restrictions; and

(9)  other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

Any final dividends declared by the Company must be approved by an
ordinary resolution of the Shareholders at an annual general meeting and
must not exceed the amount recommended by the Board. The Board may
from time to time pay to the Shareholders such interim and/or special
dividends as it considers to be justified by the profits of the Group.

Under the Cayman Islands Companies Act and the Articles of Association, all
of the Shareholders have equal entitlement to dividends and distributions.
The Board shall have the right to review the Dividend Policy from time to
time as it deems fit according to the financial and business development
requirements of the Group.
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Auditor’'s Remuneration

The remuneration for the audit and non-audit services provided by the
Auditor to the Company for the Reporting Period was approximately as
follows:

Type of Services

PR % %8 5

A G
55 R0 - XM A A B R B R 3
RS H I T

Amount
(HKS)
X
(&)

Audit services EIZRB 4,331,000
Non-audit services related to reporting accountants to report 75 B8 BB R 2 5T AT SL U R =18 O 2R IR)

on the financial information of ZCIEE for the Acquisition EWRMERRYBEERNIEEZRE

(ZCIEE) 500,000
Non-audit services related to tax filing services AR RTS8 IEEZ RS 93,000
Total 5T 4,924,000

Company Secretary

The company secretary supports the chairman, Board and Board
committees by ensuring good information flow and Board policy and
procedures are followed. The company secretary is responsible for ensuring
the proper convening and conducting of the Board and Board Committees
meetings, with the relevant notices, agenda, and the Board and Board
Committees papers being provided to the Directors and the relevant Board
Committees members respectively in a time manner before the meetings.
The company secretary is responsible for keeping minutes of all the Board
and Board Committees meetings. The Board and the Board Committees
minutes are available for inspection by the Directors and the relevant Board
Committees members.

Mr. Lau King Ho (“Mr. Lau”) has been appointed as the Company Secretary
on 16 July 2021. Mr. Lau meets the qualification requirements for company
secretary under Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules. Mr. Lau possesses the requisite
qualification and experience of a company secretary as required under Rule
3.28 of the Listing Rules.

For the Reporting Period, Mr. Lau have undertaken not less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training respectively in compliance with Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules.
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The Company considers that effective communication with the
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding of the Company’s business, performance and strategies.
The Company also recognizes the importance of timely and non-selective
disclosure of information, which will enable Shareholders and investors to
make the informed investment decisions.

The annual general meeting of the Company provides opportunity for the
Shareholders to communicate directly with the Directors. The chairman of
the Company and the chairmen of the Board Committees of the Company
will attend the AGMs to answer Shareholders’ questions. The Company'’s
Auditor will also attend the AGMs to answer questions about the conduct
of the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the
accounting policies and auditor independence.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts
a Shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing
a two-way relationship and communication between the Company
and the Shareholders and maintains a website of the Company at
https://www.cr-construction.com.hk, where up-to-date information on
the Company’s business operations and developments, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information are
available for public access.

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution will
be proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings,
including the election of individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner after each
general meeting.
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Convening of extraordinary general meeting and putting
forward proposals

Shareholders may put forward proposals for consideration at a general
meeting of the Company according to the Articles of Association. In
accordance with article 58 of the Articles of Association, any one or more
members holding as at date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the Company at the
headquarters of the Company in Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding
information of the Shareholder(s), his/her/their contact details and the
proposal regarding any specifying transaction/business and its supporting
documents, to require an extraordinary general meeting of the Company
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months after
the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the procedures are
available on the website of the Company.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about the
Company to the Board could send their enquiries together with his/her/
their contact details, such as postal address, email or fax, either by post or
by email, addressing to the Board or the secretary of the Company at the
headquarters of the Company at Units 3-16, 32/F., Standard Chartered
Tower, Millennium City 1, 388 Kwun Tong Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong
Kong or at ir@czcgl.com.hk.

The Company adopted the amended and restated Memorandum and
Articles of Association of the Company on 17 September 2019, which
took effect on the Listing Date. A copy of the amended and restated
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company is posted on the
Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’s website
at www.cr-construction.com.hk/. During the year ended 31 December
2023, the Company has adopted the second amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association of the Company by special
resolution passed on 23 June 2023 and effective on the same day. Saved
as disclosed, there was no change in the second amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2023.
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CR Construction Group Holdings Limited (the “Company” together with
its subsidiaries, hereinafter referred to as the “Group”, “CR" or we or us)
is delighted to publish the fifth Environmental, Social and Governance
Report (the “Report”’) to summarise the Group's policies, measures, and
performance on the key environmental, social and governance ("ESG")
issues.

Reporting Period

The Report illustrates the overall performance of the Group regarding
the environmental and social aspects annually from 1 January 2023 to 31
December 2023 (the “Reporting Period").

Reporting Scope and Boundary

The Report discloses related policies and initiatives for the core and
material businesses namely provision of (i) building construction services;
and (ii) repair, maintenance, alteration, and addition ("RMAA") works
and services in Hong Kong, the United Kingdom and Malaysia and
Environmental Operation for PRC.

The Report discloses key performance indicators ("KPIs") of the corporate
office ("Office”) and the representative project(s) (“Project(s)”), which
contributed over 80% of the Group's total annual revenue. With regard
to the reporting scope, disclosure of environmental data only covers
operations in Hong Kong and the United Kingdom. While the Report
does not cover all the Group's operations, the Group aims to improve its
internal data collection mechanism and gradually expand the scope of the
disclosure.

Reporting Basis and Principles

The Report is prepared with reference to Global Reporting Initiative (“GRI")
Standards, recommended disclosures of the Task Force on Climate-Related
Financial Disclosures (“TCFD”) on climate-related issues, Sustainability
Development Goals (“SDG” s) and in accordance with the ESG Reporting
Guide (the "ESG Guide") as set out in Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules,
based on the four reporting principles — materiality, quantitative, balance
and consistency:

. “Materiality” Principle:
The Group determines material ESG issues by stakeholder
engagement and materiality assessment. Details are explained in the
section headed “Materiality Assessment”.
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. “Quantitative” Principle:

Information is presented with quantitative measure, whenever
feasible, including information on the standards, methodologies,
assumptions used and provision of comparative data.

. “Balance” Principle:

The Report identifies the achievements and challenges faced by the
Group.

. “Consistency” Principle:

The Report is the fifth ESG Report of the Group. The Report will
use consistent methodologies for meaningful comparisons in the
following years unless improvements in methodology are identified.

The Report has complied with all “comply or explain” provisions and
reported on selected recommended disclosures outlined in the ESG
Reporting Guide.

The information contained herein is sourced from internal documents
and statistics of the Group, as well as the combined control, management
and operations information provided by the subsidiaries in accordance
with the Group's internal management systems. A complete content
index is appended to the last section hereof for quick reference. The
Report is prepared and published in both Chinese and English at the
Stock Exchange's website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company's
website (www.cr-construction.com.hk). In the event of contradiction or
inconsistency between the Chinese version and the English version, the
English version shall prevail.

Review and Approval

The board (the “Board”) of directors of the Company (the “Directors”)
acknowledges its responsibility for ensuring the integrity of the ESG Report
and to the best of their knowledge, this Report addresses all relevant
material issues and topics and fairly presents the ESG performance of the
Group. The Board confirms that it has reviewed and approved the Report on
21 March 2024.

Feedback

The Group respects your view on the Report. Should you have any
opinions or suggestions, you are welcome to share with the Group at
info@czcgl.com.hk.
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Dear Stakeholders,

We are pleased to present our ESG Report of the financial year 2023 (“FY
2023").

We recognise that sustainability is increasingly important for business as the
world today faces challenging issues, including but not limited to climate
change, shortage of natural resources and undermining of human rights.
Expectations for companies to take the initiative on sustainability becomes
more demanding.

To achieve and maintain the highest standards in all aspects of our business
activities, the Group has established social responsibility system with
reference to 1SO 26000:2010 Guidance on social responsibility to oversee
ESG issues that are relevant to the Group. The Group's Corporate Social
Responsibility (“CSR") Policy was established to formalise our sustainability
practices regarding business ethics, workplace health and safety,
environment, community engagement and stakeholder communication
channels. We have set clear short-term and long-term sustainable
development vision and goods to achieve ongoing emission reduction
programs according to government requirements.

The Group implements a risk management framework guided by 1SO
31000:2009 Risk Management to identify and manage any risks to our
business. The Group is committed to ensuring risks are considered
in decision making, understood and managed, with transparency in
decision-making and ongoing risk management processes. We have also
approved and overseen the selection and identification of material ESG
topics by the management. The Board of Directors regularly monitors and
reviews the effectiveness of management, including reviewing the Group’s
ESG performance and adjusting corresponding action plans.
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Based on our core business, we have developed various management
systems to deliver our key performance in areas such as craftsmanship,
health and safety stewardship, environmental and social responsibility, etc.
These management systems have been accredited and under constant
review according to relevant International Standards ISO9001, 1SO45001,
1SO14001, 15026000 and ISO31000 to keep abreast of the market. We have
also installed solar panels in our Project sites as an alternative energy source
to reduce the reliance of non-renewable energy source.

As we continue our sustainability journey, performance indicators and
targets that are material to our business will be progressively added,
providing even more insights in our future reports. We will continue to
strengthen our engagement with key stakeholders and improve our
sustainability efforts and practices, to forge a long-term sustainable
business.

Yours faithfully,
For and on behalf of the Board

Mr. Guan Manyu
Chairman and Executive Director
21 March 2024, Hong Kong
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CR Construction Group Holdings Limited (the “Company” together with
its subsidiaries, hereinafter referred to as the “Group”, “CR" or we or us) was
listed on the Mainboard of the Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited
("HKEx") in October 2019 and is one of Hong Kong's largest building
contractors, falling within the Construction' sector in terms of our industry
nature in Hong Kong.

We primarily act as a main contractor for building construction and RMAA
projects in Hong Kong's public and private sectors. We also serve as a main
contractor in building construction projects in Malaysia and the United
Kingdom.

As a main contractor, we are responsible for (i) overall project management;
(i) developing work plans; (iii) engaging and supervising subcontractors; (iv)
sourcing construction materials; (v) communication and coordination with
our customers and their consultant teams; and (vi) ensuring compliance
with safety, environmental, and other contractual requirements.

With a building experience tracing back to 1967, we have spent over 55
years in the Hong Kong market, allowing us to build a reputation and
consistently produce high-quality, challenging projects for our clients.

The Board is ultimately responsible for the Group’s ESG strategy and
reporting, with the assistance of the ESG Working Group.

! The industry sector of the Group was determined based on the “International
Standard Industrial Classification of All Economic Activities (“ISIC"), Rev.4.
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Board meetings continue to be held annually to review and approve the
Group’s ESG objectives, initiatives, as well as relevant ESG policies and
frameworks. Furthermore, the Board will undertake semi-annual reviews in
coming years to monitor and oversee progress against goals and targets for
tackling climate challenges.

The role of the ESG Working Group is to provide advice to the Board on ESG
issues, oversee the implementation of ESG initiatives, review related policies
and practices, assess the Group's ESG performance, and gather employee
feedback on the Group's ESG visions and strategies, then report the results
to the Board. The Board will be informed of the Group’s environmental
performance, including its environmental impact, once a year, while social
performance will be reported on a monthly basis.
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Oversees the ESG (including
climate-related issues, its risk and opportunities)
strategies, policies, objectives and targets
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Advises and supports the Board on ESG matters
(including climate-related issues, its risk and opportunities), strategies,
policies, overall management and monitoring of ESG performance and targets
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The Board regularly examines and evaluates the Group’s ESG performance,
and the annual ESG report is assessed and approved by the Board.
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United Nations’ Sustainable Development Goals (UN SDGs)
The Group is a supporter of the United Nations’ Sustainable Development
Goals ("SDGs") which aims to tackle climate change and addresses a range

of social needs.

We believe that 14 of the SDGs are relevant to our business operations and

corporate policies, including:
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Stakeholder Engagement Kin&EZH

Stakeholders’ opinions are the solid foundation for the Group’s sustainable ~ # M EHNERRAEBEAIHEEE MKITHN
development and success. Stakeholder engagement helps the Group ~EREEM - FHELXE BN ANEEH R/
develop a business strategy that meets the needs and expectations of & F P E B K KB E KA - HAEREK
stakeholders, enhances the ability to identify risk and strengthens important ~ Bl W ML EEZRE - EE ST FEH
relationships. The Board reviews the effectiveness of the Group's processes A EE ) & 2 B BRE B AR W M 5% S B IR M
on stakeholder engagements and the outcomes of these processes  #& R - NEEE | iﬂT.ﬁﬁ/T\E’JREE JEREERG
annually. The Group communicates with different stakeholders through R4 15 & &8

various channels, as shown below.

Stakeholder Communication Channel

& BERE

Government and regulatory agency . Annual reports, interim reports, ESG reports and other public information
. Supervision and inspection

BREREEHE - FHCPHRE  RR - HERERRSEMEMARAER
. g}— AR &*ﬁg

Shareholder and investor . Annual general meetings and other general meetings of shareholders

Company website
Press releases/announcements
. Annual reports, interim reports, ESG reports and other public information
RERRIREE . Hﬁ%?@iﬁ%&ﬁ@ﬁ&%ﬁ%
- QA
MER RS
F qﬂ,‘%ﬁ#&% CRE R RERME RHMARER
Employee . Training
Meetings
Performance evaluation
Survey
Staff engagement and voluntary activities
. Internal portal
== - A
G5
R
BERAE
I%ﬁi&%l%iﬁ
WH’; R
Customer . Fax, email and telephone
. Meetings
'R - BE -EHKEF

P
i
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Stakeholder Communication Channel
& BERE
Supplier/Subcontractor/Business Partner - Meetings
Site visit
Survey
. Training
s, SEEEEBH - B&
- BHRE
BER#ET
3l
Community and NGOs . CSR programmes and voluntary activities

Sponsorship and donation
ESG Reports

. Social media platforms e.g. Facebook page and LinkedIn page
HERFBFAS - REMEEFEEREILGRY
- EPRBE

RE e RERRE
HZIHEEF S » f0FacebookMLinkednE B

Media . Enquiry mailbox
=i - EWER
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Materiality Assessment EEMHFMG

In preparing our ESG Report, we directly engaged with the above  RREIZE « H e REAHRERE EAEEM
stakeholder groups as part of the materiality assessment process to identify — FH{ERER—3890 @ BRI EEENL HFHEE
and prioritise the issues which have significant impacts on the businessand  B23E7 T8 8 » VAR RIS B 05 M 8 275 %
stakeholders to be covered in this Report. NEBERFZERNZEIL AT -

Process wE

Stage 1 Identification

PEER1 : BB

A selection of ESG issues that may reasonably be considered important for the Group and its stakeholders from various sources, including
listing rules requirement, industry trends and internal policies. 28 issues were identified and grouped into 4 categories: Environment,
Employment and Labour Practices, Operating Practices and Community.

W=D ‘

AT 5l 28 (E = R &

Stage 2 Prioritisation
PEER2 : HEF
Conducted online surveys to rate the importance of each issue from the perspective of stakeholders and the Group using a scale of 1 to 5.

Developed the materiality matrix based on the scores of the surveys, set the threshold for materiality (i.e. at a score of 50th percentile) and
prioritised a list of sustainability issues.

HE1TA B it ERAREN A EE ZENERMETH D - FAOHE
BERAENEORISEMER - REE2UEMNRE (A150%H55) @ 3

Stage 3 Validation
PEERS : BREE

Management reviewed the materiality matrix and the threshold for materiality. ESG issues, with a score of 50th percentile or above from the
perspective of stakeholders and the Group, were prioritised as the most important sustainability issues for the Group to address and report

EEERNEEMERREENRE - EHNERAEENAELE - 59 /50%A EHIRE - 8 REGEERIIALE
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Materiality Matrix EEMERE
Based on the materiality assessment results, we believe the most pertinent ~ ERBEEBM4E[E - RPIRAZBBEN A HE
sustainability issues include the following: REBBENATSEIA

Staff occupational Anti-corruption training
P for management Business ethics Anti-discrimination

R and employees B R
ATEXRERZE W epEpEanRasEY

A G e Safety of projects/services Customer satisfaction

Employment practice I
AR IR D) e BB RHERNE BEREE
’T’DH‘G B2 }%?Iﬁiﬁ;f}ﬁ = HEE =y NSN3

Quality of projects/services Staff development Prohibition of child labour Customers’ privacy
y orproj and training and forced labour and confidentiality

BRI LR ATHERE FUETRBHST EFBALRREY
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Impact on the Stakeholder

Materiality Matrix
e Eic]

1 Air Emissions
RRBEL

2 Greenhouse gas ("“GHG") Emissions
RERE(DRERE ) K

3 Effluents management
BKE

4 Waste management
REYE TR

5 Energy efficiency
BEIR AR &

6  Water efficiency
PR R &

7 Use of raw and packaging materials
R R B R e

8 Environmental regulations
compliance
W FIBIEA

9 Land use, pollution and restoration
TR R R R

10 Climate change

FUREE
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Impact on the Group
HAREENTE

Employment practices

REEE B

Diversity and equal opportunities
bR TFERE

Anti-discrimination

AR

Staff occupational health and safety
BETIRFERRELS

Staff development and training

BT #ERE

Prohibition of child labour and forced labour
BEETR®BHIST

Responsible supply chain management
BEENHEHEERE

Environmental friendliness on products or
service purchased
REEMRENRER TN
Compliance with regulations on marketing,
product and service labelling
BIMBHE  EmMBRBEENER
Customers' privacy and confidentiality
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Customer satisfaction
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BHE/ RBEE

Business ethics

EEBE

Anti-corruption training for
management and employees
ERENEENRESEI
Contributions to the society
e ER

Communication and connection
with local community

HEEMA RSB MR



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BRI - HERELSRS

The Group recognises the construction industry generates significant
environmental impacts and uses a huge amount of resources. We aim to
reduce environmental impacts to the nature, as well as to play our part in
mitigating global warming. We also adapt and remain resilient to climate
change and impacts with respect to inevitable increases in extreme weather
events.

We, therefore, do our best to engage our stakeholders and the communities
together with our colleagues via many different approaches, such as
education, training and green volunteer services. Through holding
classes on environment, participating actively in local community events,
conducting environmental-related emergency drills, visiting advanced
green technology, installing new environmental devices, etc., green
concept of our colleagues are strengthened and know-how in regulations
compliance, energy savings both in workplace and at home, waste
reduction and separation, green shopping, enhancing awareness in caring
the community or public and helping in sustainable development are
acquired.

In order to achieving and securing a sustainable future, the Group also
advocates carbon reduction, and is committed to achieving sustainable
operations. We have set clear emission reduction targets compared with the
2019 baseline year and strive to achieve the following targets:

Reduction of air emission per thousand man-hours by 3% in 2025, 8%

in 2030 and 12% in 2035;

Reduction of energy consumption per ten thousand man-hours by 3%
in 2025, 8% in 2030 and 12% in 2035;

Reduce water consumption per thousand man-hours by 2% in 2025,
6% in 2030 and 10% in 2035; and

Reduce waste disposal per thousand man-hours by 5% in 2025, 10% in
2030 and 15% in 2035.
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Policies
. Environmental Policy

Our Environmental Policy sets out our commitment to controlling and
maintaining a high standard of environmental protection. Our goal
is to support environmental protection and to prevent pollution in
balance with socio-economic needs as well as to address the needs of
a broad range of interested parties.

. Waste Management Policy

Our Waste Management Policy sets out our commitment in reducing
our impact on the environment by managing waste efficiently and
sustainably.

. Greenhouse Gas Management Policy

Our Greenhouse Gas Management Policy outlines our management
approaches in reducing carbon dioxides and other greenhouse gas
emissions. The policy is aimed at reducing waste, increasing efficiency
and identifying savings whilst embedding good environmental
management into all of our activities.

. Climate Change Policy

Our Climate Change Policy outlines mitigation measures to minimise
climate-related impacts, so as to enhance our business operations and
development strategy to adapt to climate change.

. Energy Management Policy

Our Energy Management Policy outlines our dedication in improving
energy saving performance by creating a customer-focused and
continual improvement corporate culture through the adoption and
implementation of an Energy Management System.

. Environmental-related management systems

Our Environmental Management System, Energy Management
System and Verification of Greenhouse Gas ("GHG") Emissions have
been independently certified against ISO14001:2015, ISO50001: 2018
and ISO 14064:2018 respectively.

By integrating environmental protection and resource conservation into
our business development strategy, our environmental policy aligns
with the SDG 6, SDG 12 and SDG 13 which seeks to ensure availability
and sustainable management of water, responsible consumption and
production as well as taking urgent actions to combat climate change.
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RESPONSIBLE
CONSUMPTION
AND PRODUCTION

CLEAN WATER 1
AND SANITATION

1 CGLIMATE

ACTION

REEHR
REFEEOI LA HANHEBATASE
TREMRE  BRETRR :

Environmental Compliance

Our Projects are subject to certain environmental requirements pursuant to
the laws and regulations in Hong Kong, including but not limited to:

Air Pollution Control (Construction Dust) Regulation;
Air Pollution Control (Fuel Restriction) (Amendment) Regulation;

Air Pollution Control (Open Burning) Regulation;

Air Pollution Control (Non-Road Mobile Machinery) (Emission)
Regulation;

Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 311);

Building Ordinance (Application to the New Territories) Ordinance
(Cap. 121);

Building Ordinance (Cap. 123);

Dumping at Sea Ordinance (Cap. 466);

Environmental Impact Assessment Ordinance (Cap. 499);

Factories and Industrial Undertaking Ordinance (Cap. 59);

Merchant Shipping (Prevention of Oil Pollution) Regulations;

Noise Control Ordinance (Cap. 400);

Public Cleansing and Prevention of Nuisances (Regional Council)
By-Laws (Cap. 132);

Public Cleansing and Prevention of Nuisances (Urban Council) By-Laws
(Cap. 132BK);

Public Health and Municipal Services Ordinance (Cap. 132);

Summary Offences Ordinance (Cap. 228);

Waste Disposal (Charges for Disposal of Construction Waste)
Regulation;

Waste Disposal (Chemical Waste) (General) Regulation;

Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354);

Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 358);
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During the Reporting Period, to the best of our Directors’ knowledge, there
were seven confirmed conviction cases of non-compliance issues under
the Public Health and Municipal Services Ordinance (Cap. 132), resulting
in a total of conviction fine amounted to HK$72,500. Whilst there were six
convictions under the Public Health and Municipal Services Ordinance and
one conviction under environmental aspects, the conviction fine amounted
to HKS$79,200 in the previous Reporting Period. Looking ahead, the Group
will continue to closely monitor the compliance situation of the relevant
environmental laws and regulations.

Environmental Impacts from Our Operations and Mitigation
Measures

Owing to the wide variety of our Projects, each Project is required to
develop a Project-specific Environmental Management Plan (“EMP”),
overseen by the Project environmental management team. EMP details the
mitigation measures to manage and control different on-site environmental
impacts, including but not limited to air emission, noise, spillage or leakage,
energy and material uses and wastes. Besides, some of our Projects also
follow the requirements of the Building Environmental Assessment Method
(BEAM Plus) for New Building, which is a green building initiative introduced
by the Hong Kong Green Building Council, as well as requirements of
Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED). During the
Reporting Period, Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency (‘HKQAA") has
conducted regular surveillance checking and have confirmed that the
Environmental Management System continues to fulfil the certification
requirement of SO 14001:2015.

The Group is actively promoting the sense of environmental protection and
have adopted BEAM Plus to some of our Projects, which contributes to the
SDG 9 on industry, innovation and infrastructure.

INDUSTRY, INNOVATION
AND INFRASTRUCTURE
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Air Emissions

Dust is generated from construction activities and material transportation. &£
We implement various mitigation measures to control dust generated from
Projects and dark smoke from equipment or vehicles.

Dust Control for Projects

Activities
EE
Demolition of Building

IR ER

Scaffolding
iiES

Open Burning
BRRRE

Excavation or Resurfacing
Work
PRENEHTE

Site Entrance and Boundary

T AR KER

Drilling, Cutting & Polishing
B R R

Vehicles

E5

KRB

LR RV ERSELER - RFIERE
ZIRRBER - NEFIIEBEELEMER KRR
BRERELNRE -

HE BERES

Key Control Measures

EEEFEE

Spray water or dust suppression chemicals around the demolition works area

R G TR B EE KR E A

Enclose the structure being demolished with impervious dust screens or sheeting

FRF K B9 By BE 48 =X 48 A B IR B 0 F5 2 9

During the removal, wet the stockpile and its remaining dusty materials with water and clear
them away from roads and streets

WA HE Y R B T IR YR B R NOWR - SRR R ERER T8

Provide dust screens, sheeting or netting to enclose the scaffolding from the ground floor level
of the building up to the highest level of the building N
RHUPES  SHXEEHIBREEEYNEE-ERIRSE

Strictly prohibit open burning of wastes, tyres, and other refuse on the site

BREETHBERREREY - @Wia M E AR

Cover excavated or stockpile dusty materials with impervious sheeting or spray them with
water

B K48 IR E IR A SO BB IR R - SROKIEB R B YR

Remove, backfill or reinstate all dusty material within 24 hours after the excavation or
unloading

EERIEFERO24/NEARE - QEHEIBEME ERDH

Provide manual or automatic vehicle washing facilities at each designated vehicle exit point
EEEETHNERL D REFHNEBEERE

Pave the road from washing facility to exit point with concrete, bituminous or hard paving
materials

FIRBR L - BESEE HE M RIFARMEE H QM B

Hoardmg shall be erected along sites boundary

Iiﬁ %E‘i %EDDHT.Wi

Spray water or dust suppression chemicals during these processes

FzEBEPE K MER

Before leaving a construction site, every vehicle shall be immediately washed to remove any
dusty materials from its body and wheels

GEEWMNBERME T AT WEREES RER FERER

If a vehicle leaving a construction site is carrying a load of dusty materials, the load shall be
covered entirely by clean impervious sheeting to ensure that the dusty materials do not leak
from the vehicle

h%ﬁwllmmﬁﬁﬁﬁyE%ﬂ B ERMANT RN NECER T
CARERZEVR TSR

EERESETRARA 203FE®/R 73



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BRI - MERESHS

Dark Smoke Control for Equipment and Vehicles

We perform proper and scheduled maintenance for the equipment and
vehicles to ensure they are in good condition and no excessive emission of
dark smoke. Besides, equipment and vehicles which generate excessive dark
smoke shall be prohibited to use and be repaired immediately. Engines of
idling machines shall be switched off to prevent exhaust air emission.

We conduct regular dust impact monitoring and audit during the
construction period for specific Projects. The use of mobile vehicles is
another major source of air emission, the air pollutant emissions from
mobile vehicles are as follows:

Air Pollutant?

RERERREZES
BASRELRERETEE BATEINHERE
NEREMRARIFETGELE RSN BEH
e tsh BIEFEREELBZRENRE
KEH WIAEEBARRERER - B
BB - AT EEERBEDL -

WAAERE THE SIS TIEE ETEHMER
FEERAREZ - FRRBDEWSRNAIER
MNBE—EBRRFE - TEEANZTERSLEMEER
m

ZER5 >
Nitrogen oxides (NO)) kg 17318 180.17 113.04
BEALTINO) T
Sulphur oxides (SO)) kg 0.65 048 0.76
wmEE SO) T2
Particulate matter (PM) kg 14.19 14.55 8.88
FAR(PM) T
Total kg 188.02 195.20 122.68
#Et T
Intensity kg per thousand man-hours? 0.02 0.02 0.01
BE BFIRTR
Intensity kg per million HKS revenue* 0.04 0.03 0.02
BE FEgATkE TR
2 The data covers emissions from petrol and diesel mobile consumption only. It 2 HBRERE VAR R EREE LB o
is estimated based on "How to prepare an ESG Report? Appendix 2: Reporting HERBEE BB ATEMmE [ EERE
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” published by the Stock Exchange of Hong HERERMEME " - BIEEREDER
Kong. Relevant data for project in the United Kingdom covered in the reporting EmiESI I ETRH -RRERBEHER
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scope is not available as all the works are subcontracted to the supply chain
and emissions are not monitored by the Group.

The Group's total amount of man-hours for Projects included in the Reporting
Scope were approximately 10,062,320 hours in 2023, 9,751,507 hours in 2022
and 9,824,600 hours in 2021.

The Group's annual revenue was approximately HK$5,446 million in 2023,
HKS$6,409 million in 2022 (restated) and HK$4,890 million in 2021.

CR Construction Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023
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BRI - HERELSRS

Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Emissions

In response to the community’s gradual concern on GHG emissions, climate
changes and other related issues, the Group is committed to implementing
and maintaining a high standard of GHG management. The implementation
of ISO 14064:2018 GHG Accounting and Verification strengthens the
Group’s GHG emissions monitoring system. The GHG emissions® are as
follows:

GHG Emission Scope

BEREBIER
RERTEHREREBHEN RRELR

HHAEZENR @ AEERNE
MEEESEZEENEERESTIE - SO
14064 1 2018 ERES(LHEF B ASE
ERAEREERENRS - BEREHER
s

BEREHME
Scope 1° tonnes CO -equivalent 2,375.24 1,877.66 3,501.69
& Ee WS LREE
Scope 2’ tonnes CO -equivalent 1,512.62 1,456.08 1,526.89
& = Wi — S LREE
Total tonnes CO -equivalent 3,887.86 3,333.74 5,028.58
FCEy WE— A iR E 2
Intensity tonnes CO_-equivalent per
RE thousand man-hours? 040 034 0.50
BTFIRM_S{ciE S
Intensity tonnes CO_-equivalent per
RE million HKS revenue* 0.80 052 0.92
ESEER Y &
—&fbixE &
s The calculation of GHG emissions is made reference to the Guidelines to Account ~ * FEREREENIZERRENKETR

for and Report on GHG Emissions and Removals for Buildings (Commercial,
Residential or Institutional Purposes) in Hong Kong published by the Environmental
Protection Department and the Electrical and Mechanical Services Department,
and the 2021 Sustainability Report published by the CLP Power Hong Kong
Limited. Relevant data for Project in the United Kingdom covered in the reporting
scope is not available as all the works are subcontracted to the supply chain and
emissions are not monitored by the Group.

B Scope 1 are direct emission from the business operations owned or controlled
by the Group, such as emissions from diesel and petroleum burnt on site.

7 Scope 2: The “indirect energy” emissions from the internal purchased electricity
consumption by the Group.
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%) §R = RS BE R NOR R B R B R R 4R
SIVARPEENARA R T/ C2021 7 £
BERES) MBRENREEEANNER
HEME BRAEIESHS B THERE
RE BARETESHREETER - &K
I 4 E B B

¢ HBEIRAKREEANEMNNEBEEEL
BY B B R AR - AAFE TR S0 I B BT
EEPEIR o

T BE2: AKRBEAMBEEES NERELN[E
LR I HEAR -

FEREEHITRERAR - 203FFH /5



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BRI - MERESHS

Scope 1 emission arising from diesel and petroleum consumption in our
Projects contributed to around 70% of our total emissions, with a significant
emission increase in compare with FY2022 noted as the usage of generators
and company vehicles in our operation increased during the Reporting
Period, due to increased usage of contract cars, some construction
sites located in remote areas and a significant increase in plant used for
foundation works. The total GHG emissions had an increase of around
1,694.84 tonnes CO_-equivalent. The Group will continue to assess and
disclose GHG emissions data annually. We will continue to refine the data
collection system and develop reduction strategy if appropriate, based on
the projection of data in the coming years.

Climate Change

Climate Change is one of the biggest global challenges faced by the society
nowadays, and we must act now for our climate and our communities. In
recent years, extreme weather, such as strong winds and heavy rainfall,
as well as tides and floods, have become the focus of news. Logistics and
supply chains are particularly vulnerable. Heavy rainfall, rising tides, and
floods can cause serious damage to assets such as buildings, warehouses,
and goods in storage, resulting in financial losses. Although such incidents
are beyond everyone's control, the Group believes that all stakeholders
should work together to address climate change, which will be regarded as
one of the most significant risks to the world in the near future.

There are many new challenges this year, but it has not changed our
commitment to climate action. The pace of change has expedited around
the world, underscoring the importance for us to accelerate our transition to
a low-carbon economy.

The Group has further enhanced its disclosure in recent years. The
Group's business units have also strengthened analyses on the risks and
opportunities from climate change specific to their markets.

In response to the Paris Agreement, the Hong Kong Government issued
the "Hong Kong'’s Climate Action Plan”, and formulated various plans
and actions, setting out the vision of “Zero-carbon Emissions, Liveable
City, Sustainable Development”. The government was determined to set
medium-term goal as halving Hong Kong’s total carbon emissions from
2005 levels before 2035. The Group understands that climate change may
have significant impacts on our operations.
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The Group essentially plans to respond to local government initiatives
and follow local governments’ emission reduction requirements. We aim
to reduce GHG emissions by around 3% by 2025, 8% by 2030 and 15% by
2035 and ensure the Group’s GHG emissions will comply with the local
requirements in or before 2030. Our target is to achieve carbon neutrality
by 2050 in Hong Kong region and by 2060 in PRC. We are committed
to continuously improving our energy efficiency, applying professional
knowledge to improve on-site efficacy and maintain efficient management
support, in order to safeguard the Group's reputation. Our business strategy
aligns with SDG 13 by combating climate change.

1 3 CLIMATE
ACTION

3

To ensure continual improvement on our environmental performance
and our management on climate-related risks is in line with our strategy
and risk management process, the Group has selected the most relevant
performance metrics to address and assess climate-related risks and
opportunities, including the followings,

Total energy consumed, broken down by energy type;

Total energy intensity by revenue and man-hours of work;

Scope 1 and 2 GHG emissions; and

GHG emissions intensity based on revenue and man-hours of work

Over the years, we have been grasping different opportunities to expand
our business, accelerate the transformation and make the Group smarter,
more environmentally friendly, and safer for employees and users (such
as automation, and utilising digital platforms for online conference to
reduce carbon footprint in transportation). These measures have made our
facilities become more sustainable and fulfil our commitment to resource
management and environmental protection.

Action on climate change

Action on climate change is embedded in the Group's business strategy
and reflected in its governance and management processes. The
Group has been responding to climate issues annually. Adhering to
the recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-Related Financial
Disclosures (“TCFD"), the index table below outlines where to find the core
elements of how the Group responds to the climate change disclosure
requirements in this Report.
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Core element The Group’s response
AN E S AEE 2z EHEE
Governance . Setup ESG Working Group and regular meeting to report to the board on the progress of assessing
=P and managing climate-related issues
RUIRE @ kBRIENMEFRTHERAEFSRESTENERERIKEMZE
B R
Integrate ESG topics (including climate-related issues) in corporate decision making
BRE e RELREE (BRERGERRE) MARTIRE
Strategy . Understanding climate risks and identify risk and opportunities in low-carbon transition
R TERRIRRR - &RV E R g R B B
Risk Management . Compliance Department leading the Group to discuss about ESG risks
[ fg 38 SRITEEAEENRERER LG RERRAR
. Preparing for the transition to a low-carbon economy

RERBNEIR B

Preparing and setup measures to combat physical climate risks

1 TE M AR SL B B B B8 RUR E g BV

Metrics and Targets . Investing in transition enablers

EEEER BRENTEFLNRAER

Creating value in the low-carbon transition

EEBERFAIEEE

The Group understands that climate change may have significant impacts
on our operations. To adhere to the recommendations of TCFD and to
better understand the potential impacts of climate change on our business
operation, we have conducted climate scenario analysis® for two horizons
for 2030 and 2050, under the following Representative Concentration
pathways ("RCP"s):

(1) RCP2.6, Shared Socioeconomic Pathways (“SSP”) SSP1, and
International Energy Agency (“IEA") IEA Sustainable Development
Scenario (“SDS") supplemented by the Net-Zero Emissions by 2050
case

B The climate scenario analysis is conducted based on the “Guidance on Climate
Disclosures of Reporting on TCFD recommendations” published by the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange.
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RE -lERELIRSE

(2)

RCP8.5, SSP5, and IEA Stated Policies Scenario

Based on the Group's business nature, we have identified the
following parameters that are most relevant to our operations.

a)

Renewable energy — The proportion of renewable energy used
by the Group affects the amount of carbon offset required and
GHG emissions. The Group is currently utilising solar panels at
every Project sites in Hong Kong.

Electric vehicles (EV) — The cost required for replacing existing
fleets with EVs and the cost-savings brought by EVs.

Plant, machinery and equipment (PME) — The cost required for
purchasing and replacing existing PME which adhere to the
requirements of the environmental laws and regulations that
are getting stringent from time to time under the low carbon
economy and the cost-savings from fines and penalties due to
violation of related laws and regulations.

Extreme weather — The increase in the frequency of extreme
weather (e.g. heavy rainstorm signals and typhoons) may affect
the business operations of the Group and the future income.
Also, there are extra costs that the Group has to address such
as, the insurance fees of workers might be increased due to the
increase in the likelihood of extreme weather (e.g. heatwave
might increase the likelihood of heatstroke), the establishment
of facilities at construction sites to mitigate flooding risk, in
particular at low lying areas, etc.

In the low carbon emission scenario (global temperature rises by 1.5-2°C),
it is assumed that the carbon prices may reach in average USD75 to 100
per tonne and USD250 per tonne for advanced economies by 2030 and
2050 respectively. The Group will gradually increase the usage of renewable
energy and it is expected that EVs will dominate the global cars by 2060.
In the future, most of the private cars owned by the Group will be shifted
to EVs, new energy electric vehicle charging piles next to the gate of the
facilities will be installed by the Group and the Group will encourage
employees to use new energy electric vehicles for travelling.
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In the high emission scenario (global temperature rises by >4°Q), it is
assumed that there will be no carbon price or carbon tax established. The
higher average sea level and extreme weather will cause more frequent
flooding and the Group has assessed the risk of flooding in relation to the
property portfolio. It is also assumed that the frequency of extreme weather
will significantly increase in the future.

Embracing the recommendations of the TCFD, the Group has identified a
series of climate-related risks and opportunities relevant to our assets and
services which are significant to us. Identified transition and physical risks are
discussed in the sections below.

Short term
(0-1 year)
EHA(02=14F)

Medium term (5 years)

R (54F)

80

Risks

0

CR Construction Group Holdings Limited

Physical risks from extreme weather events
KEBHmRREFNEREAR

Securing the skills and capability required to
implement climate strategy

HEARTE A B b R % SR BS BT 75 B0 B9l K e
h

Transition risks — Implementation of
low-carbon policies for the operation

BIE R -2 E B2 EERBR
Transition risks — Supply and demand for
certain commodities, products and services
may change as climate related risks and
opportunities are increasingly taken into
account.
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Opportunities

#ia
New services to help communities
decarbonise
B BhE R AR 80 ¥ AR 7%
Technologies to enhance the performance of
operation and energy efficiency

1R 2 B R AL RALE # R

Transitioning to low carbon economy market
to meet government decarbonisation targets
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Opportunities arising from transition enablers
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Medium to long term
(5+ years)

R (5FA L)

Risks

[ B

Physical risks — workers are more likely to
suffer from heat stroke due to increase in
global temperature, insurance fees might
increase
ERRBR-—BREREREAS  TAR
%mmrﬁm R B B AT BE g AN
Transition risks — Potential new regulations
and policies

8% [ by — B R FE R REUGR
Transition risks — Development and use of
emerging technologies may increase the
operational costs, and reduce the Groups'
competitiveness

38 [ By — B BRI B R 2 M (s PR FT B
SIELKA - WREREFENHF
sl
Transition risks — the Group's reputation may
be impacted due to changing customer
or community perceptions of the Group's
contribution to or detraction from the
transition to a lower-carbon economy

BERR-AREFIEREREER
R BB R S E N B RSRBEN B
BERME AEENBEMAGRIY
% °
Transition risks — Increased stakeholder
concern or negative stakeholder feedback
BWERE RO EOBTIE MR E
B) /o fE B E

Opportunities

s

EERESETRARA

Provide better working environment to
workers and review their working hours, with
better working conditions to facilitate the
recruitment of workers
M TARHEENTIERR - RESMF
B TIERE - A o A9 TR RE T A
S
Transitioning to low carbon economy market
to meet government decarbonisation targets
A AR A B T 35 18 % LA B 3R BUR B9 B i B
=
Opportunities arising from transition enablers
fREEI A ZAE RS
To work as a pioneer in the industry and build
up the relevant reputations

BITRLE  ZUMABNBRE
To work as a pioneer in the industry to enhance
internal communication, Project progress
monitoring by utilising mobile application for
the establishment of communication platform
ERITRER  BBNABEEMAREAZ
SOBRT A MRAREBNAREREE
il
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Physical climate risks have the potential to damage the integrity of the
Group's assets or interrupt our service delivery directly. The Group has
already set up a number of measures in place to enhance its operation
resilience, including contingency plan for extreme weather or emergency
conditions that cover our Project sites.

Transition risks have the potential to increase the operational cost and
legal risk due to change of policy, technology development, digitalisation,
relevant risks affected by supply and demand, and reputation due to
public perceptions. The Group has already identified the relevant risks and
will continue to monitor the market and policy updates. The Group has
also planned to invest according to the market needs and take this as an
opportunity for long term development.

We categorise risk factors from the table above, namely physical risks from
extreme weather events, transition risks including change in supply and
demand for certain commaodities as climate related risks and opportunities
are increasingly taken into account, and potential new regulations and
policies as high-risk factors since they can potentially bring greatest
impacts to our operation. While the rest belong to medium and low-risk,
however, we believe that more risk factors are likely to become high-risk as
approaching 2050, which is the long term target year of carbon neutrality in
Hong Kong.

The Group has attached great importance to climate-related risks
management as its business nature is particularly vulnerable to such risks.
We have integrated the management of such risks in our daily operation by
establishing work safety guidelines under adverse weather conditions and
emergency response management policy, to ensure sufficient guidelines
and support are provided to our employees and workers to protect them
from occupational hazards under extreme weather conditions as well
as providing precautionary measures to mitigate the Group's property
damage as a result of severe weather.
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Over the years, as the Group is gradually adhering the recommendation of
the TCFD, a series of climate risk management measures are planning to be
or have been adopted to put in place along the Group’s value chain helping
the Group to be prepared for climate events. These measures are deployed
for different geographies, taking into account the asset types, locations and
relevancy. They are summarised in the table below:

Relevant part of the value chain  Relevant measures

ZER  AAKEZ S ERRIKAREMYBEE
EWETFANER $§‘EIEE‘+§‘JEA{ETE
BERRARCERA—RINERRREEER
NEAEERRIRE MR LR - 2 FHE
EHHETARBERMNE  EFERINEER
BB NMERE  ZFRER TR

BEEBENEEL HHEA i

Supply chain Diversify materials supplies from multiple suppliers, sources and countries
e g2 BEZEMERS  FORMBER - EMREESZ KL

Operation Monitor and inspect assets regularly

B EHEEMREEE

- Maintenance of a Contingency Plan for all Project sites’ facilities

FLPTA IR B B3R5 R 0 ) E e =

xat &l

To address extreme heat and increased temperature:

ﬁ*/j&/ﬂnﬁiﬂﬂfﬂﬂﬂﬁ]% .

Maintain cooling equipment in good conditions

R¥F 2 AlE

R RAFIRRE

- Review working hours of workers and provide better working environment to
negotiate for lower insurance rates
FERTANTERE  RETERE  HRERRENRREX

- Increase drinking fountains for employees and workers

REEMT ARHEE Z @ RKH

To address the risk of water shortage and drought:

FRORBRK N B R BB

To mamtam water tank(s) in facilities if possible

BEER I ECHEKAE

- Purchase drinking water with sufficient storage

BEXTEHRKAK
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Relevant part of the value chain

EEENEES

84

Relevant measures
HHEA 1B i

To address flooding risks:
iR A% LB

Build protectlon walls for facilities and run-off water storage if possible

BRI RE - B ER IR E R MR K T R B

Deploy anti-flooding measures suitable for the assets, including drainage systems,
flood gates and flood barriers, if necessary

M E - FEEEEMRCEAYEE N - SEFKEG - DR R FRE
Put in place additional coverage with tarps, grass planting and drainage works to avoid
soil erosion if possible

WARTRE - EABK BERFOKTIREMES  BRELRE

For assets that are downstream of dams, we have flood extractors in place to prevent
flooding in case of flood water entering the Project sites, we will continually control
and monitor river rate flow, and maintain regular communication with the local
authority on its flood discharge schedule and flowrate if necessary

MBE - HRARFETHOEE - BB IERKEATER fﬁ,% BT E HoKH
HX*%BEJJ://JK/BAm B AP+ BB 150 ) RN BSRDRNAR /KGR - I ph e AR f R AN OK
REM B RHRETHER

To enhance business continuity:

R EMEEN

Establish a typhoon response protocol and coordinating system, and conduct regular
drills and post-typhoon reviews to ensure smooth execution of contingency plans

i E Be =R T =AM A - E EETTIRRAM B R DR - RESTASR
JERER 1T

Utilise the emergency restoration system, enabling rapid construction of temporary
masts that can shorten the restoration of power supply

MAESMERS - AIAREEZRRERE  BEHERERE

Enhance the communication capacity of customer services, in particular post-incident
customer and stakeholder communication

RABFPRGRBERES BHRERNBEENEPRENHEER
Continue implementing certified ISO management system
BEBEEMECAENSOERRR
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Investing transition enablers

Investment in a broad range of transition enablers is required to transform
the business to low-carbon economy. The Group has introduced the
utilisation of solar panels at our Project sites and will consider if any
investments to low-carbon economy is applicable in future.

Our Path to 2050

The Group is prepared to address the threats climate change poses both to
our business and to the communities that we serve. We are determined to
deliver on our purpose to provide safe and reliable operations, and we are
fully aware that our environmental responsibility has never been greater.
The Group is ready to face this challenge and we will continually raise our
ambitions, wherever possible, strengthening our targets at least every five
years. Every one of us need to play our part and together we can speed up
the pace of low carbon transition and create a low-carbon world for our
future.

Waste Management

The Group acknowledges possible environmental impacts of waste
generated during operations such as site clearance, excavation works,
construction, demolition, foundation and fitting out works. The Group
is committed to reduce the environmental impacts by an efficient and
sustainable manner as stated in the Waste Management Policy. Each
member of the Group, as well as subcontractors, should take reasonable
steps to avoid any waste generation by well planning of the works. The
following hierarchy of options should be considered in waste management:

Reduce - Avoid generation of waste and discard materials in general;
Re-use — Pass on waste materials and equipment to others for
consideration of reusage before disposal;

Recycle — Segregate waste for recycling from the waste on-site; and
Disposal — Dispose of waste in compliance with statutory and
regulatory regulations.

Our waste management helps contribute to the SDG 15 on protecting
life on land by implementing effective waste management measures to
mitigate the impact of operations to the surroundings.
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Wastes generation from our operations are as follows: BMMELEENBEDOT

Handling Method

BEAN
General refuse Landfill tonnes 10,427.71 9,355.30 11,217.94
— g HE1R 108
Inert construction wastes Recycled or Reused,

then disposed tonnes 52,147.21 36,268.16 73,069.16
[CRES =3 Rk ERRESR 7]
Non-inert construction wastes Recycled tonnes 3,928.98 7,804.48 4,598.62
FEIBIE I L RE Y EE 7]
Paper Recycled tonnes 1291 19.28 11.21°
XK ER ]
Total tonnes 66,516.81 53,447.22 88,896.93
Bet 7]
Intensity tonnes per thousand man-hours’ 6.77 548 8.83
mE WS T TR
Intensity tonnes per million HKS revenue* 13.60 834 16.32
mE WEH 8B T lE

° Paper consumption data for London Head Office is also included. o R ERBRNRREFEEEUEINEIEER -
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To the best of our Directors’ knowledge, no significant amount of hazardous
wastes was generated in our Projects and offices. Total waste increased
by around two-thirds by the end of the Reporting Period in compare with
FY2022 owing to significant increase in foundation and excavation works,
an unexpected demolition period caused by a serious fire accident in one
of our Projects and increase in disposal of reused construction materials
during the Reporting Period. We will continue in implementing well
planning of works to prevent defects or removals, improved site tidiness
to avoid damage of construction materials as well as reusing construction
materials as much as possible and promote awareness of waste reduction to
all levels of employees. Looking ahead, the Group will continue refining its
wastes reduction measures and disclose relevant results where appropriate.
The Group has appropriate goals and objectives set throughout the
organisation and will seek continuous improvement in waste management
performance by refining our waste reduction measures and initiatives.
Adequate resources and appropriate facilities are provided to reduce waste
arising from its operations and to implement good waste management
practices, for instance the implementation of trip ticket system according
to the Waste Management Plan of individual Projects is in place for the
collection and monitoring of waste-related data of the Projects.

Wastewater Treatment

Wastewater is generated from surface runoff and construction activities,
such as boring, drilling, concreting, plastering, cleaning works and vehicles.
The Group takes appropriate measures to avoid contamination and
blockage of public drains and sewers. To control the surface runoff, we
implement the following mitigation measures:

Channels, earth bunds or sandbags are installed on-site to collect and
direct the wastewater to silt removal facilities properly;

Perimeter channels around the site boundary are constructed to
collect or intercept the storm to prevent the water with sand runoff
from the site to outside area;

The exposed soil as well as stockpile are covered (e.g. by tarpaulin) to
prevent run-off; and

Manholes are covered properly or temporary sealed to avoid silt,
construction materials or debris running into the drainage system.

To control the generation of wastewater, we tend to minimise our
water consumption whenever possible and reuse wastewater after
sedimentation. Wastewater is pumped out to designated collection
through sedimentation. To comply with the regulatory requirements,
wastewater treatment facilities, such as sedimentation tanks or silt traps,
are installed to handle general construction wastewater, while aerobic
treatment tank or mobile toilets are installed for other sewage.
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Wastewater monitoring and audit is carried out regularly, wastewater is
sampled and tested by the international accredited testing laboratory
to ensure the parameters comply with the requirements stipulated
in the wastewater discharge license. Our wastewater treatment helps
contribute to the SDG 6 on clean water and sanitation as well as SDG 14 on
conservation of marine and life below water by mitigating the impact of
operations to the marine environment.

CLEAN WATER

1 LIFE
AND SANITATION BELOW WATER

Noise Control

Noise is emanated from various construction activities, including but not
limited to formwork erection, concreting, steel handling works, breaking
works and operation of construction plant and equipment. Mitigating noise
impact is also an important part of environmental management since most
of our Projects are in urban areas. It may cause impacts and nuisances to
the nearby communities. We implement the following noise mitigation
measures in our Projects:

Noisy works can only be carried out during normal permitted hours
(07:00 to 19:00) and not on General Holiday or Sunday according to
Noise Control Ordinance unless construction noise permit is granted
by the Environmental Protection Department;

Quieter plant and equipment are used to carry out related
construction operations, such as the use of hand-held electric breaker,
instead of using pneumatic breaker; and

Movable noise barrier or enclosure are provided to screen off the
direct noise from the source.

We conduct noise monitoring at designated spot to review and monitor
the noise level to ensure the permissible Noise Level under each respective
situation will not be exceeded. Besides, we establish complaint handling
system and liaise with nearby communities closely in order to respond to
any special needs or complaints from them immediately.
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Energy Use and Efficiency BEREARRE

As stated in our Energy Management Policy, we aim to improve energy SEWZD?‘ZTH BROR B IBBR AT - B E TR
efficiency as a continuous improvement process. We strive for achieving the & BEJR xﬂlﬁnjﬂi BWZE - B TEBZBEEZ

target through the following measures in both office and Projects: BMBRENRAZMNIAERERETIIEE
provide training; - REEE
conduct inspections; . ETRE
conduct regular maintenance of plant; - THIMERERE
use energy-efficient equipment as much as practicable; - RAseEAE ﬁﬁ?&ﬁ g
communicate via meetings; - BRGRETER
conduct energy monitoring regularly; - THRBEREA
turn off equipment not in use; - BRATERAMERE
ensure lighting and air conditioning of rooms are turned off after use/ - HEIRAEE A,/ #1 A B BB = M iR
office hours; and Eﬂ &’H“ EEI
purchase energy-saving office equipment where possible. . BEERIEETRE M N RR A -
In 2023, diesel was the major source of our total energy consumption, while ~ R ZZE = =F - £ HMABEREENE
the rest of them were electricity and petroleum. ZRR - MERBAENRAM -
Energy Type
BEREE
Diesel Terajoules 33.88 26.89 50.01
ge0m NEH
Petroleum Terajoules 0.96 067 1.38
Vap:i NEH
Electricity Terajoules 13.96 1344 14.02
EW) NEH
Total Terajoules 48.80 41.00 65.41
st NEH
Intensity Terajoules per ten thousand man-hours® 0.05 0.04 0.07
BnE BE-BIRAEE
Intensity Terajoules per million HKS revenue* 0.01 0.01 0.01
BnE SEEBTKWBEAREE

EREEEEERARAR - 2035F%F 89 NN
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Water Use and Efficiency

Water is a precious resource. To reduce use of freshwater, the Group
encourages reusing and recycling wastewater at site Projects and Offices.
We ensure there are no leaking faucets and report for repair if problems
are found. We also reuse wastewater at Projects for water spraying or
wheel washing when practicable. Water is supplied by the Water Suppliers

AK R

KBEEEER - BRADPOKER  NEBE
BIETHIER M AT EHEKETERKE
W mRKBESE A ZIRIEN  EIIRHA
19 MBS RS o A 1TIBR TAHIEE E
KBERBA  AMEBE/KIOESESR 2 A o K

Department, therefore, there is no issue in sourcing water. TREKEERM - Bt - KR E I &
95 o

Water

Consumption

FKE

Total m? 97,176.50 96,290.51 113,449.64
Bat AV

Intensity m?3 per thousand man-hours® 9.89 9.87 11.27
®E BTIRIEX

Intensity m? per million HKS revenue* 19.87 15.02 20.83
mE BEEBBRTRET XK

There was an increase in water consumption by the end of the Reporting
Period in compare with FY2022 as there was an increase in concreting and
waterproof tests, as well as cleaning works to improve the hygiene standard
and more open areas where water spraying is required to prevent dust
from kicking up during the Reporting Period. Looking ahead, the Group
will continue refining measures and evaluate the related results achieved if
applicable.

The water conservation approach contributes to SDG 6 and SDG 12, which
seeks to ensure availability and sustainable management of water and
ensure sustainable consumption and production pattern.
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RESPONSIBLE
CONSUMPTION
AND PRODUCTION

CLEAN WATER 1
AND SANITATION

YD RLH
BREYEEREEIRENFE
HEMBRAEREBIA TEE :

Material Consumption

BPETH

To mitigate the environmental impacts of material consumption, we
implement the following practices in site Projects and Office:

Where possible, environmental friendly construction technology such EARRKRARRELREN  We2BEE
as metal washing formwork/scaffolding, precast components are BAR, %R TERBHSE - UREES
adopted to avoid waste generation; s

Strictly control the use and order of material, such as concrete, steel, BRI SRS MM AB - BRSE

solvent and paint to avoid surplus waste;

Use of double-sided photocopying and email to reduce the
consumption of paper; and

Used printer cartridges, electrical equipment (e.g. computer and
printer), where possible, are returned to an authorised collector for
reuse.

YRR AMIET - R NORE

FEREEZHNEEFHMF  UEDHR
HRE T R

BEERANITH#ESR ERRE (PIm
B RITEIH) - ERIITIBR TR ER
AREGEBERER -

Trees and Shrub Protection AR R EARRE
During our construction process, vegetation nearby may be damaged. We — fE R IR SE T2 rh - B} 3T MO FE 1% AT REE 5

B o BAIRIE T IA TRIARRERRERE -

develop practices for trees and shrub protection as follows:

Installation of protective fencing to the trees and shrub within
the construction site with the instruction of architect or contract
requirements;

Trees and shrub that may be damaged by mechanical equipment are
fenced with appropriate material, such as timber pallet, to protect the
trunk;

Chemical, grease and petroleum are kept away from the root spread
area and stored properly to prevent damage from accident spillage;
and

Tree crowns located at dusty area are cleaned with shower periodically
to allow normal plant’'s metabolism.

EERESETRARA

RIBZEMOETHEOER BT
153t A R R FE AR KB B R

oK B TR AR R RS 18 I O A AR R A R
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Our effort in recovery of vegetation and shrub protection helps contribute
to the SDG 15 on protecting life on land.

19 o

Our People

Talents are one of the critical success factors in our vision and ambition
to hold a leading and reputable position in the industry and society. The
quality of our staff is a determining factor for our success, and this holds true
for both technical and support staff of all levels.

We consider human resources the most important asset and we put staff
development on top of the list while fulfilling our Company’s sustainability
journey. To meet the needs of our sustainable growth and business
development, we regularly assess our colleague’s developmental needs to
ensure everyone, including the top management, have sufficient support to
achieve their top potential and self-actualisation.

Policies

Our Employee Handbook sets out the details on remuneration, benefits,
welfare, compensation, dismissal, recruitment, promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunities, diversity and anti-discrimination.

Our human resources policies contribute to SDG 5 which achieves gender
equality, SDG 8 which protects labour rights, SDG 10 which reduces
inequality and SDG 11 which promotes inclusive communities.

GENDER

DECENT WORK AND 1
EQUALITY

REDUCED 1
ECONOMIC GROWTH

INEQUALITIES

A
n
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Employment Management
Recruitment and Dismissal

The Group generally recruits our employees from the open market and by
referrals. We intend to use our best effort to attract and retain appropriate
and suitable personnel to work with us. We assess the availability of human
resources continuously and will determine whether additional personnel
are required to cope with our business development. The dismissal or
voluntary termination of employees’ contracts are enforced in accordance
with the employment laws and regulations in Hong Kong, Mainland China,
Malaysia and the United Kingdom.

Promotion

The Group recognises the importance of development and growth of
employees. The promotion of employees is based on their performance.
Performance appraisal is conducted regularly to evaluate employees’
performance regarding safety, work attitude, technical skills, interpersonal
skills, etc. For details, please refer to the section headed “Staff Development
and Training”.

Equal Opportunity, Diversity and Anti-discrimination

The Group is committed to providing a fair and equal working environment
for all employees, ensure employees are treated equally in every aspect
of their jobs. We are committed to provide a discrimination-free working
environment. We will never tolerate any form of discrimination or
harassment.

The Group recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diversified
Board and workforce to enhance the quality of its performance. Board
Diversity Policy is developed, and diversity is the value incorporated in the
recruitment practices. Our Board is comprised of 90% of male members and
10% of female members with 40% of them at the age of 30-50 years old and
60% at the age over 50 years old. During the Reporting Period, the Group
has set up board diversity targets to be achieved for three time frames.

Short-term target(s)
REBRR
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The Board consists of at least one female board member.

EEeRAEL —RBRMKE -

Average age of board members do not exceed 60.

EEXak B FHFER TEBIBOR °

Medium-term target(s)

Introduce at least one non-construction related board members

FEIR R s L —RIFREEENERTENE
Long-term target(s) Introduce at least two non-construction related board members
REIBEZ s OMEFREEENESTENE

We never tolerate any discrimination or harassment based on gender,
physical fitness, intelligence, race, age, sexual orientation, nationality,
religion, family status, etc. It applies to all aspects in employments, including
but not limited to recruitment, promotion, transfer, job assignment, rewards
and benefits, training and development, suspension, etc.
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Employment Profile EERR
Workforce 2T
As at 31 December' in head count HZ12A318"HAE
By Gender &Rl
Male B4 538 (73%) 542 (72%) 642 (71%)
Female pegis 202 (27%) 215 (28%) 264 (29%)
By Age Group RER
Below 30 30BRA T 156 (21%) 163 (22%)  212(23%)
30-50 30-508% 416 (56%) 430 (57%) 504 (56%)
Over 50 50B% A 168 (23%) 164 (21%) 190 (21%)
By Employment Type REBER
Permanent i 703 687 743
Contract &4 37 66 163
Expatriate HNEE 0 4 0
By Geographical Region R it 35
Hong Kong BE 685 638 665
The Mainland China AR A 0 0 126
Malaysia 5P i 55 88 80
The United Kingdom =4 N/AZT i FB 31 35
Total et 740 757 9206

There were a total of 338 new employees hired during the Reporting Period, — ¥R HAfE 1% 8 T H338 A - 1R EAKRE T
which accounted for approximately 37% of the total number of employees 48 81 4937% °
as at the end of the Reporting Period.

" Itincludes the employees of the Group only. Workers of the subcontractorsare  '©  EHE{EBEAEENEE  TEEIBEEHT
not included. A e
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The Group strictly abides by related laws and regulations, including but not
limited to:

Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57);

Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Cap. 282);

Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485);
Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 480);

Family Status Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 527);

Race Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 602);

Disability Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 487);

Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608);

The Employee’s Provident Fund Act (the EPF Act) of Malaysia;
The Employment Act 1955 ("Employment Act”) of Malaysia;

National Wages Consultative Council Act 2011 (Act 372), Minimum
Wages Order 2020 of Malaysia;

The Employment Act 2008 of the United Kingdom;

The National Minimum Wage Regulations 2015;

Regulations on Payment of Wages;

Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China;

Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China; and
Special rules on the Labour Protection of Female Employees.

During the Reporting Period, to the best of our Directors’ knowledge, the
Group was not aware of any significant non-compliance case in this regard.
For any harassment or discrimination cases discovered, the same complaint
handling channel and procedure will take place as mentioned in “Complaint
Handling” under the “Project and Service Quality” section.

Employee Retention
Welfare, Remuneration and Compensation

To attract and retain talents, the Group offers competitive remuneration
package with a variety of benefits, including performance-based bonus,
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes or Employee Provident Fund Schemes,
medical insurance, maternity allowance and staff care benefits for our
eligible full-time employees.

The chairperson of the Group'’s remuneration committee is an independent
director and the committee is composed mostly by independent directors
to ensure fairness and equality when designing the Group’s remuneration
policies.
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Rest Period and Working Hours

All'employees are entitled to Public or Statutory Holidays as announced
in The Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, Order of
the People’s Republic of China State Council, the Government of Malaysia
Gazette and the United Kingdom'’s bank holidays each year, as well as
reasonable working hours and rest periods. In addition to those Holidays,
employees are entitled to annual leave, sick leave, compensation leave,
maternity/paternity leave, marriage leave, compassionate leave, birthday
leave, etc. The total number of employees that were entitled to maternity
leave was 71 and paternity leave was 269; whilst 6 and 13 employees have
taken their maternity and paternity leave respectively during the Reporting
Period. There were 6 and 13 employees that returned to work during the
Reporting Period after their maternity and paternity leave respectively,
and there were 5 and 7 employees that returned to work after maternity
and paternity leave respectively that were still employed 12 months after
their return to work. The Return to Work Rate'" and Retention Rates'? of
employees that took maternity and paternity leave were 100% and 52%
respectively.

Employee Activities

To create a friendly and caring working environment to our employees, the
Group has launched different staff activities to cultivate self-confidence,
sense of belongings and cohesion of employees. Departmental gatherings
and events are also encouraged. All employee activities were conducted
face-to-face during the Reporting Period.

Chinese New Year Gathering
BHRE

B Return to work rate = (Total number of employees that did return to work after
maternity or paternity leave/Total number of employees expected to return to
work after taking maternity or paternity leave) x 100%.

12 Retention rate = (Total number of employees retained 12 months after
returning to work following a period of maternity or paternity leave/Total
number of employees returning from maternity or paternity leave in the prior
Reporting Period) x 100%.
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Employee Turnover

BERKLE

Turnover Rate™ Tk Hp g3
By Gender 21 Rl
Male B 199 (27.0%) 241 (30.8%) 258 (28.7%)
Female e 51 (20.2%) 66 (235%) 66 (20.0%)
By Age Group RER
Below 30 305 A T 72 (31.6%) 86 (34.5%) 80 (27.4%)
30-50 30-50%% 140 (252%) 166 (27.9%) 189 (27.3%)
Over 50 50B% A 38 (18.4%) 55(25.1%) 55 (22.4%)
By Geographical Region R it 45
Hong Kong aE 220 (243%) 241 (27.4%) 244 (26.8%)
The Mainland China B R 0.0% 0.0% 10 (7.4%)
Malaysia Bk 30 (35.3%) 51 (36.7%) 53 (39.8%)
The United Kingdom =3 N/A 3 A 15(326%) 17 (32.7%)
Overall F 250 (253%) 307 (289%) 324 (26.3%)

Amongst the fluctuations on the number of employees during the
Reporting Period, the Group considers that the turnover at the age group
of 30-50 as the most significant fluctuation and it occurred due to the
weakening of the Group's industry competitiveness on remuneration. The
turnover rate during the Reporting Period has slightly decreased compared
to the previous Reporting Period. Despite the fact that competing for
talents, especially for frontline and general staff in the market, poses big
challenges for manpower planning, we will strive to increase our industry
competitiveness by enhancing our employee retention practices in future.
The Group also conducts exit interviews to employees who are about
to leave the Group, to understand what the Group can improve on its
employment practices or other aspects.

& Turnover rate = Number of employees left the Group during the Reporting
Period/(Number of employees left the Group during the Reporting Period +
Number of employees as at the end of the Reporting Period). The Group had a
total of 324 employee turnover during the Reporting Period.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group has established targets for lowering ~ REREEAR » AEED ]V EEKEE Rk X

the employee turnover rate. HBEZ-
Short- Medium- Long-
Turnover Rate Target term KPI term KPI term KPI
RALZAE A A =H

By Employment Category ZIEEER

Senior management aRERRE 13% 12% 10%
Middle management hRERE 22% 20% 19%
General staff AEET 30% 29% 28%
Total #at 28% 26% 25%

To enable effective comparison with the turnover rate target with respectto  BAE XL B ZEBBERO KL EEEZ  ©
employment category, turnover rate by employment category during the — 3R&EHI AR EBBEBIN R KR BZHBELNT ¢
Reporting Period is disclosed as follows:

Turnover Rate

R ®

By Employment Category REFEER
Senior management SREEE 21.2%
Middle management FREERE 38.4%
General staff AEEBET 18.3%

Total et 26.3%
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Health and Safety

Health care of employees is always the top priority and one of the core
values of the Group. We hold a series of online and face-to-face training as
well as promotional activities on health and safety issues to increase the
flexibility of learning. Keen participation in these activities from our staff
Creates an encouraging environment to inspire top management from our
business partners to constantly review safety measures and to improve job
site safety.

In addition, we provide employees with a comprehensive wellness program
to promote and maintain health both in body and soul such as arranging
educational videos promoting hygiene and sharing safety information in
the site induction training. We also developed our own mobile application
to provide a platform for safety information sharing between Project sites.
Despite the normalisation around the globe after the pandemic, to help
prevent our employees from contracting COVID-19, we offer equipment
for health protection to our employees including masks, mask covers,
hand sanitiser, etc. reducing their financial burden on purchasing such
equipment and ensuring the sufficiency of equipment for anti-pandemic
measures in the long run.
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To enhance our image in the industry as well as bringing improvement
into a broader perspective, we support respective governmental
departments, trade unions and institutions by joining occupational health
and safety promotion campaigns and participate in various kinds of safety
competitions amongst other business counterparts. Our health and safety
management aligns with the SDG 3: Good Health and Well-being, SDG 8:
Decent Work and Economic Growth and SDG 11: Sustainable Cities and
Communities.

GOOD HEALTH
AND WELL-BEING

DECENT WORK AND 11 SUSTAINABLE CITIES
ECONOMIC GROWTH AND COMMUNITIES

Nk

Policies

The Group has established internal policies to monitor, audit and review
over safety and health performance.

1. Safety and Health Policy
Safety and Health (S&H) at work is the Group’s most important goal
to achieve. Our Safety and Health Policy sets out our commitments
and our safety performance goal. The policy, updated in the Reporting
Period, also proposes a target of achieving zero fatal accidents and
accident frequency rate not exceeding 8.0 per 1000 workers per year.

2. Occupational Health and Safety Management System
Our Occupational Health and Safety Management System has been
independently certified against 15045001:2018 and the Group strives
to pursue high health and safety standards to all employees and any
parties who are affected by our operations.
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3. SiteIncident Reporting Procedure

The Group has established the Site Incident Reporting Procedure
as guidance for frontline staff to respond to any site incidents
occurred. Under the procedure, site incidents are categorised into
safety incidents and incidents causing work-injuries and responsible
personnels, such as frontline management staff, designated site
emergency contact persons, Safety Officers, Project Managers, Project
Directors are involved in the reporting process of the incidents
occurred depending on the severity of the incidents.

4. Emergency Response Management Policy

The Group has formulated the Emergency Response Management
Policy to provide guidance and define responsibilities of different
responsible parties when emergency situations occur. When an
emergency situation occurs, frontline staff should report to the
Emergency Response Unit and the unit will conduct investigation at
site where the incident occurred, Site Supervisor then report to the
Project Manager. Evacuation of workers takes place in case if the work
situation is considered to have immediate danger.

Occupational Measures

Owing to the wide variety of our Projects, each Project is required
to develop the Project-specific Safety Plan to identify and mitigate
work-related hazards, overseen by the Project environmental management
team. It outlines the approaches to coordinate, manage and control the
works in order to protect the safety, health and welfare of all workers,
employees and the public engaged on the Project or affected by the
operations. This is established to ensure that all statutory and contractual
requirements are observed. In addition, Compliance Department will
organise monthly safety meeting to discuss safety incidents occurred
and determine if any corrective actions and improvement have to be
implemented to prevent similar cases from happening in future.
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Our Progress

I.

102 CRConstruction Group Holdings Limited

Enhancing our safety management system

In order to improve the Group's safety management level, enhance
the safety management system and meet the safety needs of
customers and related parties, we standardise safety management
activities and promote the awareness of production safety to
ensure the safety of employees and workers by striving to avoid
any accidents from happening. We have implemented the original
safety management system by taking actions, in accordance with the
ISO45001:2018 standard, as well as other applicable laws, regulations
and requirements. We also educate the frontline foremen and ensure
they have understood their safety responsibilities in accordance with
the Safety Management Operation Manual. During the Reporting
Period, the Group has reviewed and updated the Safety and Health
Policy and Site Incident Reporting Procedure. On the other hand, the
Group has established safety performance targets and pursued zero
work-related fatalities. The Group has implemented the “Site Safety
Management Evaluation System” by checking the document records,
arrangements and implementation of the Site Safety Management
System in order to make improvements to meet the requirements of
relevant contracts, legislations and 1ISO45001:2018. The management
of the Group had conducted safety and environmental protection
inspections on Projects under construction to identify potential
hazards, so as to achieve the project safety production and
environmental protection indicators.

Safety promotion activities

Proactively invite 30 of our Projects to conform and sign the
“Production Safety and Fire-fighting Target Management
Responsibility Agreement of 2023" ( 2023F E L2 £ EFE
TEBIZEEETE) ). Compliance Department has arranged a
series of safety training and review safety inspection records.
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Strengthening on-site inspections

The Group conducted recurring regular inspections, in particular
on working procedures identified with high potential occupational
safety hazards and kept monitoring the safety performance of
each Project site. During the Reporting Period, our staff in the
Compliance Department under 34 of our Projects has conducted
safety inspections on equipment and facilities used for work at height,
any equipment and facilities found failing our safety requirements
are being removed to prevent work-related incidents. We also
conducted safety inspection with our management in 35 of our
Project sites to facilitate communication between our frontline staff
and management on safety issues and identify any improvement
areas on safety performance. During the Reporting Period, the Group
has updated the Fire Prevention Procedure, setting out stringent
guidelines and checklist for fire safety inspection, as well as new
measures to prevent fire at construction sites.

Emergency response

In response to the increasingly frequent extreme weather condition,
the Compliance Department has strengthened our measures on
several kinds of emergency drills at our Projects sites such as fire
drill, typhoon and rainstorm drill. We have established emergency
response unit at each of our Projects and implemented more stringent
cessation of work standards than the local government requirement
to ensure our workers are protected under adverse weather condition.

Safety training and education

We offered safety training and encouraged our employees to
participate in various activities relating to health and safety. Our
employees participated in the "Safety Promotion Consultation Day”
(ZEEEFEFH) which provided a platform for safety information
and case sharing to enhance their safety awareness and knowledge.

Making use of technology

To enhance our communication with employees, we make use
of the online social platform. We frequently communicate various
safety activities and message through instant messaging software.
During the Reporting Period, we continue to utilise our safety mobile
applications of CR Construction for real time monitoring of our Project
sites and sending corrective instructions to our sub-contractors on any
safety issues for remediation purposes.
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7. Health care for workers
We highly concern about the safety and health of our frontline
workers. The Group provides medical insurance or health insurance
to all employees who passed their probation period assessment and
have been employed for over 3 months. All workers can get healthcare
information in induction training and from Safety Officer.

Safety Performance

Our Projects are subject to certain safety and health requirements pursuant
to the laws in Hong Kong, Mainland China, Malaysia and the United
Kingdom, including but not limited to:

The Factories and Industrial Undertakings Ordinance (Cap. 59);
The Dangerous Goods Ordinance (Section 6) (Cap. 295);

The Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509);

The Occupational Safety and Health Act 1994;

The Factories and Machinery Act 1967 of Malaysia; and

Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 of the United Kingdom
Labour Law of the People Republic of China

Regulations on Industrial Injury Insurance of China

During the Reporting Period, there were three confirmed cases of
non-compliance with the regulations under the Factories and Industrial
Undertakings Ordinance (Cap. 59). We will continue our efforts to raise
safety awareness amongst our stakeholders and to ensure that we learn
from these incidents to prevent reoccurrences.
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The details regarding our performance on health and safety are as follows:

BRARMMERELZE2RB[ZFENOT

2021

Number of recordable accidents EREHHE

Rate of recordable work-related AR TIE %
injuries'

Number of fatalities BT AE

Fatalities rate per 1,000 employeeand BT ZEER T A
workers' 19 3E T e

Rate of fatalities as a result of #£200,000/NBE T/EE T
work-related injury per 200,000 It &
hours worked'”

Number of high-consequence BEIGHEZR
work-related injuries (excluding (FEEXTHER)
fatalities)

Rate of high-consequence BEIGX(FEE
work-related injuries (excluding ETER)®
fatalities)'®

Lost days due to injuries EIGBAIEBEH

The main type of work-related injury was bruises resulted from bumping
and tripping over. The total number of hours worked were around
11,893,182.00 during the Reporting Period.

With regard to the one fatality case in the Reporting Period, two safety codes
have been implemented to prevent the re-occurrence of similar accidents,
focusing on the prevention of object or personnel from falling off.

It includes Projects that are significantly material to the Group.

Rate of recordable work-related injuries per 200,000 hours worked = (Number
of recordable work-related injuries/Number of hours worked) x 200,000.
Fatality rate per 1,000 employees and workers = (Number of fatality/Daily
average employees and workers) x 1,000.

Rate of fatalities as a result of work-related injury per 200,000 hours worked =
(Number of fatalities as a result of work-related injury/Number of hours worked)
x 200,000.

Rate of high-consequence work-related injuries (excluding fatalities) per
200,000 hours worked = (Number of high-consequence work-related injuries
(excluding fatalities))/Number of hours worked x 200,000.

N/A 3 Fi

1

0.2

N/A 3 FR

N/A 3 FR

N/A 3 Fi
8,361

33 25
0.58 0.42
0 1

0 0.25

0 0.02

0 8

0.0 0.13
9,294 3,922

TIEMEBER AR BRI A FER RS -
RBMEBAR - TIELREA11,893,182.00/)

R
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.
=
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5 200,000/ N TYEA] G2 8% A T8 &= (A iB £
W IEEE T IERFER) x 200,000 °

v FTREERIANETZR=LT AR/ &
AEHEERT AAZ)X1,000 -

7 4$200,000/NF TAEER T2k 3k b &= (A TBE
ANE T ERF ) x 200,000 ©
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Looking ahead, we strive to improve our safety management system. Our
plans are as follows:

1. Continue to review our Safety and Health Policy and our safety targets
regularly;

2. Continue to strengthen the Safety Incentive Scheme and enhance the
safety requirements for frontline management and workers;

3. Remediation and follow-up actions for the safety issues identified and
enhance our onsite management and site planning;

4. Launch a safety working experience scheme to invite frontline staff
to participate in safety works to enhance the communication and
understanding among departments;

5. For all high-risk work, we will conduct pre-work training and
strengthen risk assessments as well as our inspection during the work;

6.  Implementing of "Permit to Work” system;

7. Safety Alerts are made with citations of real occupational accident
cases together with safety precautionary measures and are distributed
to frontline staff or stuck on the safety bulletin board to raise the safety
awareness of our frontline staff; and

8. Encourage more colleagues to participate in safety competition and
other activities as well as using more vivid ways to raise the employees’
safety awareness.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has set up targets regarding
performance on occupational health and safety.

RERK BB OIRELE2EEHE - R
PIRETEILAT -

1. EEBETHmARMANT D EEREER R
22 AR

2. BEMBRZTREE - WiIRSHAR
ERERIANZEEN

3. HHEBRBENLTEHEBERERGRE R
BBITE - WHNSRFK PIH) T IR 15 B 12
KR &

4. HTLRE2ITELRFE BEIRET
S2MEr2 TV GENFHNER
TR

5 HRAEBESRRIE - KMAGETEA
ol - AR VR HARE hn s [ B 5T 1 Ko 3
=

6. EmlIIEFrZE]IHIE :

7. BEBEERESURIRLEER
MR ZRIRRAD BELATARE T RN
ZERNEWE URBIKEINE S
=X

8. HEEZRAFEZ2NL2HHFEREM
EE - TERAEABN IR UIERES
Eofdeab =t 2

RBEME  ARERBEBER LRI

Number of fatalities T A
Number of recordable accidents EREHHE
Lost days due to work injuries TEELXTIEAH

Medium- Long-

term KPI term KPI term KPI
EHBEZ RHRE REBE
0 0 0

-5% -10% -20%

-5% -10% -20%
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Staff Development and Training

To meet the needs of our sustainable growth and business development,
we regularly assess our colleagues’ developmental needs to ensure
everyone, including the top management, have sufficient support to
achieve their top potential and self-actualisation. We have held in-house
training hosted by senior members of staff and guest speakers to deliver
technical seminars tailored to suit our needs. We organise training
with external teaching and professional institutions on technical and
managerial skills, as well as pave career paths for the long-term professional
development of staff through implementing the following trainings to
various levels and disciplines of staff:

Project-based mentor scheme;

Graduate Development Programme;
Professional skills training and workshops; and
Latest construction technologies.

Besides the above core technical skills, focused training and support
scheme for graduates with related industry background, the Group provides
new employees with a series of activities such as site visits, one-on-one
mentorship, bonding activities and training to help facilitate their
adaptation to the Group’s working environment and culture.

BETHREREI
RMREERBERNEBERNTR - &
MeERFEREOERER  UERAE
ANBRERSEEEAB)OBIRAD R - U
HESGABNLERER HMABERBSR
BB REBRETRNAREEIN - ARHE
BRMABRORMBE - RARTHOHE
K BEMBABEN R EE R M -
WiEBEATZREFIRETEBENET
RETREURHEXRERMBERT

B BRA RS
EXLBRRAE
EEREFIEITHEY &
R RS

B bt keesh - ST ABRHEBTES R
MBEEENEPIFIMZ S AEETT
RMBTRHEMER  —H—1FE  BHX
BEMENIE RN EDEDNBMERLE
B TRRBEAE »
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Career Development BERR

We establish individual labour contracts with each of our employees in =~ RPIERIBERS T AEEEEEF VL EF
accordance with the applicable labour laws. The remuneration package &%) - HfiREERENFHEBEEFS
which we offer to employees includes salary, bonus and other cash ~ 7EAL & E IR 528k -

subsidies.

The performance of our employees is reviewed twice a year for numerous EREAER - FELABRMEEFE RS S
purposes such as promotion appraisals, salary adjustments and ZEBH » HFPIEFHE THRBBFTMR
determination of annual bonus. We intend to maintain our remuneration ~ IR EMHEIF EFF IOFHEE - AR 3
packages competitive to attract talented labour in the construction industry ~ EZEZEAA MBEFEBET -

and retain existing staff members.

Below are the details of employees who received a reqular performanceand ~ R EHIME T THERA MR ERERR 2

career development review during the Reporting Period. BIFENT :
Percentage of Employees who received a regular EZTEHEXRR
performance and career development review BEZERGENEIGI
By Gender 2 1 Bl
Male Eefd 82.4%
Female pegis 75.0%
By Employment Category REFEER
Manager or above &I 74.5%
Supervisor or above FES E 88.8%
Operator/Support Level BIEE 1RO IE 76.9%
Overall 2 80.2%

1 Percentage of employees who received a regular performance and career M&H%%%@WEZE SESH
development review = Total number of employees who received a regular MRS A R L SRR ERE Y
performance and career development review during the Reporting Period/ REEE ESBE -

Total number of employees.
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Learning and Development

We review the available human resources continuously and determine
whether additional personnel are proper to cope with our business
development. To keep our employees abreast of new knowledge and skills,
we organise training programmes for our employees, the programmes
including technical skills training such as BIM, safety and quality
management, as well as soft skills such as leadership, communication,
presentation and crisis management training, etc. We introduce an online
training platform to our departments for them to share their training
programme resources, such as videos and online guest talks. Staff can
attend the training at anytime and anywhere, while the Group can keep
monitoring the learning process and progress. We believe that the provision
of opportunities to continuous learning and advanced training can both
increase our staff member’s competence and work efficiency; as well as
enhance their job satisfaction and loyalty.

In order to allow our new employees to familiarise with their respective
job requirements and the relevant regulations and rules, they are required
to attend orientation workshop upon job commencement. Also, our
new employees are subject to a probation period of three months. Upon
completion of the probation period, relevant supervisors will decide if
permanent employment status will be granted to the new employees
based on their performance.

The Group attach great importance to the quality of our construction
management and sustainable development, we are also determined to
develop our young talents. Our commitment to SDG 4 on quality education
and SDG 8 on decent work and economic growth is demonstrated through
our promotion in development-oriented policies that support productive
activities and employee training.

DECENT WORK AND
ECONOMIC GROWTH

QUALITY
EDUCATION

EEREBR

BPBERSTBAMNANER XRERSE
FEREFIIABNRERMNEBER -
RTEREE THIAMELRE BMREE
ZHEIIE S S ERREGERER &
2EEEEERMKEEIIAREGRE
B RSB LR EIETHREEE - M
RETHOREFRIFEEEHPIUDIZR
EXR MR LLREBESHIGEER 8
TR A o] B ) R 3t B 2 B EE FI - i AN SR [
MEEESEERBRE - LWMAMEE - BH]
SERENEREINRERAI ARS8 T
REBEN R TEME  TetRE ITHEREER
BHE °

MBI WBAREABBRIEIN  REARAEH
THRERARMEEEAR LA - B - #iE
ERBB=-EANSRAE ARBEmR -
HHEIERREEBRBIRTRSES U
BEILEAER -

AEBEEERBEEEERAHERENY
= KM NEEESTSFEALHRL - HF5
SDG 4B E# B KSDG 8f8mE LIEM&HEIERK
MEAREBRERMUNEERER  REAE
EB R E THEINBESP -
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As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 675 employees received

K-B-=F+-A=+-8 AEEHSE

training and offered a total of 8525.36 training hours. The details are as te752 X FIEE - WIRME T & #£852536
follows: EFINNE - FBEWT -
2022
Percentage of Trained employees? ZIERER DL =F==F4
By Gender =5
Male B 71.7% 130.3% 77.4%
Female g 55.0% 101.4% 67.4%
By Employment Category REEER
Manager or above I A E 31.7% 539.4% 73.8%
Supervisor or above FESALE 65.1% 186.4% 71.9%
Operator/Support Level BIEE BB IE 70.6% 77.7% 76.3%
Overall e 67.2% 122.1% 74.5%

Composition of Employees Received

Training within Trained Employees

BIEEFZIESW

Population in Percentage?? H A o 2
By Gender =B
Male B4 77.7% 76.4% 73.6%
Female gegiid 22.3% 23.6% 26.4%
By Employment Category REBER
Manager or above IR A E 2.6% 19.3% 16.3%
Supervisor or above FESA L 22.5% 34.1% 30.4%
Operator/Support Level BIEE BB IE 74.9% 46.6% 53.3%
Overall e 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

20

21

110

Percentage of trained employees = Total number of employees received
training during the Reporting Period/Total number of employees.

The percentage of employees received training during FY2022 was over 100%
due to an update on data collection mechanism.

Composition of employees received training within trained employees
population in percentage = Total number of employees received training
during the Reporting Period by types/Total population of employees trained.

CR Construction Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023
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2021 2022 2023

hours/ hours/ hours/

employee employee employee

—EB-—f —E-=
Average Training Hours? I 35 £ 3| B 223 RHEES HEEE
By Gender &1 Rl

Male Eg 1.9 112 9.7

Female oy 16 86 8.6
By Employment Category RIERER

Manager or above KA 0.5 458 5.4

Supervisor or above F1EKUA E 17 188 7.3

Operator/Support Level BRIEE BB R 19 59 11.9

Overall i 1.8 105 9.4

During the Reporting Period, the Group has set up targets regarding staff
development and training.

ZilRE BN
T I I £

Percentage of employees trained
Average training hours

REHRE - AEBEHE TERLIEIEILT
iR

Short- Medium- Long-
term KPI term KPI term KPI
EHEZ BB E REBERE
60% 67% 74%

11 hours 13 hours 15 hours
11/ 137N 15/ N

As the global market is paying more attention to sustainability and its
governance, the Group will plan to arrange trainings to our board members
to advance the collective knowledge, skills, and experience on sustainable
development in future.

Prohibition of Child and Forced Labour

The Group prohibits any form of discrimination and forced labour as stated
in our CSR Policy. Human Resources and Administrative Officers inspect the
original of a candidate’s Hong Kong identity card and/or other documentary
evidence showing that the candidate is lawfully employable in Hong Kong,
Mainland China, Malaysia or the United Kingdom. The Group reviews its
employment practices regularly to avoid child and forced labour.

Despite that the Group has already established a set of procedures to
mitigate the risks of employing child labour or forced labour, we are also
committed to establishing contingency measures to counter any cases
of child labour or forced labour if such cases arise. Human Resources and
Administration Department will report to the management if any child or
forced labour cases are discovered, department head or responsible staff of
the Project will carry out investigation to identify the reasons of the cases.
Disciplinary actions will be taken according to the Group's policy if anyone is
found to be responsible for the cases.

» Average training hours = Total training hours during the Reporting Period/Total
number of employees.
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The Group strictly abides by the Employment Ordinance, Provisions on
the Prohibition of Using Child Labour of the People’s Republic of China,
the Employment Act 1955 of Malaysia and the Employment Act 2008 of
the United Kingdom. During the Reporting Period, to the best of Directors’
knowledge, the Group was not aware of any significant non-compliance
case relating to child labour and forced labour.

Responsible Supply Chain Management

The Group is committed to building lasting and constructive relationships
with partners in its supply chain. The Group’s Procurement Management
Manual alongside with Employee Handbook and other internal guidelines
specify our dedication to a fair, ethical, eco-conscious, transparent and
competitive procurement process which requires all employees to observe
the highest standards of business integrity and to comply with relevant laws
and regulations. As a responsible corporate citizen, one of our missions is to
integrate sustainability into our core business, which aligns with the SDG 12:
Responsible Consumption and Production.

1 RESPONSIBLE
CONSUMPTION
AND PRODUCTION

O

Supplier and Subcontractor Engagement

Supplier

The suppliers of the Group mainly include (i) construction materials;
(i) machinery rental service; and (iii) other construction site services.
The construction materials we purchased mainly included concrete
and steel reinforcement bars. We conduct supplier evaluation for our
new suppliers. Both potential and approved suppliers are shortlisted
and reviewed from time to time with reference to criteria including,
among others, (i) material conformance to specification; (i) quality
consistency on machinery or services provided; (iii) punctuality in
delivery; (iv) reputation; (v) environmental management, such as
environmentally friendly preferably materials/products supply and (vi)
safety management.
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Subcontractor

We subcontract our on-site works to nominated subcontractors or our
domestic subcontractors and are responsible for the site supervision,
management of subcontractors and overall Project management. In
relation to building construction works, we engage subcontractors by
contract basis, or by trades of work in the Projects such that normally
each subcontractor is only responsible for one trade of work and
can decide if further subcontracting is necessary. Thus, we have not
engaged any long-term agreements with our subcontractors. We
review and shortlist subcontractors from time to time with reference
to factors such as (i) recent performance of the subcontractor; (ii)
resources and skills of the subcontractor; (iii) standard and certification
of quality assurance systems implemented by the subcontractor; and
(iv) cooperativeness and scale of participation on promotion of safety
and environmental protection activities. It is our general practice
to select and engage subcontractors from the internally approved
list of subcontractors with reference to factors including specific
requirements for the Project and price quotations.

Supplier and Subcontractor Profile

As at 31 December 2023, we have a total of 742 suppliers and 4,024
subcontractors. They are mainly from Mainland China, Hong Kong, Malaysia
and the United Kingdom.

S EE
RPBHEB TR BRERED BEE
MRS EE TEEEMEES 5
PREEEREEHEEE -JREFEE
ITREME BMUEESBIRESR
BEREHNEAZESBERE  HNE2EHE
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FIEA X TS D BT A i
WP BEEEHERE (IDEENERK
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TREHERE N40248 D BHE FEEXTEX
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Number of
Subcontractors

TEEHE

Number of

Suppliers
HEBHE

Mainland China AR A Y 118 21
Malaysia BRA R 160 55
Hong Kong aBE 464 3,719
The United Kingdom % The UK office’s subcontractors’ also serve as the suppliers of 229
the office. Number of suppliers was not available.
REREEND OEMALZNEENHER -
HIER B E R ©
Total #5 742 4,024
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Supplier and Subcontractor Control and Monitoring

We monitor and review the performance of suppliers and subcontractors
on our approved list on an ongoing basis through site inspection and risk
assessment. We conduct performance appraisal for our approved suppliers
and subcontractors. If the appraisal result is unsatisfactory, revaluation
on suppliers and subcontractors’ performance are taken or suppliers and
subcontractors might be removed from the approved list. We confirmed
that the number of suppliers and subcontractors as stated are under our
supply chain management practices as disclosed in this section.

Project and Service Quality

Quality Policy

Our Quality Policy sets out our commitment in implementing and
maintaining a high-level quality management system with full compliance
of applicable statutory requirements and contractual obligations as
the minimum standards in each Project, ensuring that the specific
requirements, objectives and contractual needs of the Projects are
complied.

As a reputed main contractor in Hong Kong with over 55 years of
experience, the Group pays significant attention on construction quality
and has been complying with relevant regulations related to construction
work as well as construction material procurement. The Group obtains
certifications on the quality of certain construction materials from external
testing agencies, to assure the quality of construction materials. In case
of any suspected non-compliance, the Group would investigate in the
matter thoroughly and cooperate with relevant government authority’s
investigation if necessary.

Quality Management System

To maintain consistent quality and safety of services for customers, the
Group has established a formal quality management system which is
certified to be in compliance with the requirements of ISO 9001:2015.

Our Project Managers bear the responsibility to monitor the overall progress
and quality of works undertaken by us and our subcontractors in light of the
contract works delegated to them. It is the routine of our site supervisors
to discuss quality issues with our subcontractors and give instructions to
remedy any defects identified in their works. If any of our subcontractors
cannot comply with our quality handbook or instructions to our satisfaction,
we may issue a warning to them through site memo or even remove them
from our approved list of subcontractors.

In addition, we also value the involvement of our customers in the quality
control process. Prior to making payments, our customers inspect the
quality of our works and our Project management team take note of their
feedback and suggestions for improvements, hence, we can meet or
exceed their expectations and requirements in future Projects.
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Complaint Handling

We have our standard complaint handling procedures in place to provide
guidelines for our employees on complaint handling. The Group has
established Complaint Committee to monitor the follow-up actions of the
complaints received. Our complaint committee meetings are held quarterly
and the meeting minutes and details of the complaint cases are circulated
to all Independent Executive Directors.

During the Reporting Period, there were 75 complaints received from the
covered Projects, which generally includes mistreatment of wastewater,
misbehave of workers and facility malfunction causing nuisance to the
local and the surroundings, as well as excessive dust generation. Most
complaints are regarding the fire erupted at the Mariners’ Club, requesting
compensation and follow-up actions. Our team responded to the
complaints and follow-up actions were taken promptly such as arranging
Project Managers and frontline staff to communicate with the complainant
directly and take actions as required if the cases are found to be justified. The
Group has investigated and responded to all cases and have taken actions
and necessary measures to prevent reoccurrence of similar cases in future.

The Group has also received enquiries from external non-governmental
organisation, raising concern on the construction material quality in one
of the covered Projects. The Group emphasised in its statement that its
construction works have been complying with relevant regulations and
the Group always cooperate with government authority’s supervision and
inspection.

Intellectual Property, Marketing and Labelling

The Group's business does not involve research and development, product
packaging and labelling activities. Besides, the Group does not rely heavily
on marketing and advertising. To the best of Directors’ knowledge, the
Group was not aware of any significant impact relating to intellectual
property, advertising and labelling on its operations. We will closely monitor
the business environment to identify any significant risks in this area.

Customer Privacy and Corporate Information Protection

The Group strives to protect the privacy of its customers, business partners
and staff in the collection, processing and use of their business or personal
data. The Group ensures Company policies strictly follow Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance (Cap.486), Personal Data Protection Act 2010 and Data
Protection Act 2018.

. Employee Profile

The Employee Handbook has outlined the details of data collection
and the uses of data. The employee file is property of the Group
and should be used only when deemed necessary by the Human
Resources and Administration Department. Only authorised personnel
are permitted to access to the specific employee profile.
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. Company Information

Protection of confidential business information and trade secrets
is of paramount importance to the Group's interests and success.
The Group requires all employees to maintain the confidentiality of
company information. For all documents and information belonging
to the Group, every employee undertakes to return to the Group upon
termination of employment with the Group.

Failure by any employee to comply with any confidentiality obligation
may lead to disciplinary action, and in serious cases will be treated as gross
misconduct. Special care should also be taken in the use of any personal
data, including employees and customers’ data.

During the Reporting Period, to the best of our Directors’ knowledge, the
Group was not aware of any significant non-compliance cases in this regard.

The Group is committed to conducting its business with honesty and
integrity as well as applying the highest standards and establishment of a
corporate governance framework that will continue to disclose information
openly and transparently beyond legal requirements which helps
contribute to the SDG 16: Peace, Justice and Strong Institutions.

16 PEACE, JUSTICE
AND STRONG
INSTITUTIONS

(14
z3
&

v,

We have also implemented Anti-Collusion Policy, Anti-Fraud Policy,
Anti-Bribery Policy and Integrity Management Policy. To promote the
awareness of prevention on conflict of interest amongst the Group and
in compliance with the listing rules, the Chairman of the Board and the
affiliated board members will be required to abstain from voting if conflict of
interests are detected.

Policies and Preventative Measures

Our commitments and values are guided by the Employee Handbook and
supplemented by different policies and procedures. These policies and
procedures are regularly reviewed and updated to ensure appropriate
ethical business practices and behaviour as well as compliance with
corporate and regulatory requirements.
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BRI - HERELSRS

. Employee Handbook

Our Employee Handbook sets out principles for acting responsibly
in the daily operation, including issues related to business ethics,
conflicts of interest, bribery, environment, health and safety, and
respect in the workplace.

. Conflict of Interest Procedure

Itis established to prevent, detect or deter inappropriate activity. Also,
it regulates the Company's business activities and the professional
behaviour of serving employees, safeguarding the interests of the
Group and customers, and to maintain a good professional image and
professional ethics.

. Anti-Fraud and Grievance Procedure

It is established to encourage the employees to express their
concerns or suspicions that the Group has or may be involved in any
misconduct, fraud or irregularity. It is circulated to every employees
and outsider of the Group.

. Whistleblowing Policy

It is established to provide reporting channels and guidance on
reporting any possible misconduct, malpractice and irregularity within
the Group. The policy also assures whistleblowers that the Group will
offer protection against unfair disciplinary action or victimisation for
any genuine reports made.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has arranged anti-corruption
training for its directors and employees to enhance the awareness of
anti-corruption, such as inviting external party to provide relevant seminars
to us. The Group strictly abides by the laws and regulations relating to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering in Hong Kong, Mainland
China, Malaysia and the United Kingdom, including the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201), Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s
Republic of China, Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Malaysian Anti-Corruption Commission (Amendment) Act
2018 and the Bribery Act 2010. During the Reporting Period, to the best
of our Directors’ knowledge, the Group was not aware of any significant
non-compliance cases or corruption related litigation cases in this regard.
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Community Investment

The Group is committed to active participation and support of initiatives
that benefit the communities we are involved as stated in our CSR policy.
The Group has been developing rapidly in recent years, and we feel the urge
to take greater social responsibility.

Proactive community engagement

We actively support the communities in which we operate directly through
our volunteer team. Our motto and spirit in volunteerism is — “It is more
blessed to give than to receive”. Our volunteer team aims at promoting
social relationship and cohesion within the community, and to encourage
the participation of individuals to help address community challenges and
bring love and care to the needy. We encourage our employees and their
family members, as well as working partners, to participate in volunteering
services and contribute together.

Since the inception of the volunteer team, we have participated in a
wide variety of volunteering services such as health-related charities,
providing assistance to the elderly and those with disabilities, blood
donation, organised activities with NGOs, and more. These services receive
tremendous support from our colleagues and members of their families.
By organising and participating in these volunteering services, we learnt,
benefited from and achieved the following:

demonstrate good corporate citizenship;
contribute to a caring community;

care for the socially vulnerable groups;
increase employees’ morale;

cultivate team spirit;

respect others dignity; and

enhance family harmony.
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The Group contributes to the SDG1: No poverty, SDG3: Good health and AEEBBTRIMMLEDE - SAHEERE
well-being and SDG11: Sustainable cities and communities by having B 1Z1: BB ER - AJFH B8R B 1Z3: RIf
diverse community involvement. fR R EAAEAL 1 - AT R T A R A 'R o

NO
POVERTY

GOOD HEALTH

11 SUSTAINABLE CITIES
AND WELL-BEING

AND COMMUNITIES

Our contribution KMo E R
During the Reporting Period, the Group has contributed HKD286,000 in ~ RIREEAN - AEB D EZEEEH F 2 At
various areas, mainly on the concern of community needs. 1% 75 Sk 5 BA286,000/8 7T ©

Total volunteering hours (hours) ETRRFH (B 168 1,449 1,820.5
Total donation amount (HKD) BieE (BT) 517,900 341,000 286,000
Total number of staff volunteers ET 4 79 284 662

2023 Money Contribution by Focus Area (HKS)
—EC=FEFHESEECET)

Education
HE
21%

Community

Labour needs =
BIHEXK 65%
14%

S EBIRAR AT - 20238E®R 119 N
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Beach Cleaning activity organised by
Construction Industry Council

BEXFZRTIMDERREY

The Group's efforts have been recognised by a number of awards received
during the Reporting Period. The details are as follows:

Health and Safety
Project Leader Award 2023 - The Lighthouse Club Hong Kong

o  Chairman’s Award - Young Leader — “Recognizing Excellence in
Safety” — Tang Kai You

o  Highly Commended - “Recognizing Excellence in Safety” —
Wong Chung Yuen

Safe Project Team Award 2023 - The Lighthouse Club Hong Kong

o  Highly Commended - “Recognizing Excellence in Safety” - CR
Construction Co. Ltd.

The 21st Occupational Safety & Health Award - Hong Kong
Occupational Safety and Health Council

0 Merit Award — CR Construction Co. Ltd.

Occupational Health Award - Hong Kong Occupational Safety and
Health Council

o Joyful@Healthy Workplace Best Practice Award - CR
Construction Co. Ltd.
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Mid-Autumn Volunteerlng Activity
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Environmental Protection R1IR

Green Building Award 2023 - Hong Kong Green Building Council
Limited

o  Finalist = New Buildings Category — Completed Projects -
Commercial - CR Construction Co. Ltd.

Hong Kong Green Organisation Certification 2023 - Hong Kong
Environmental Campaign Committee

BREBEFEKRE2023 - FFMEZESS
BRI A]

o ABEEHB-¥MEREHEH-TEX
HE-BE-FELEEARAA

ERREEBIEEN2023-FEREES
ZEg

o Hong Kong Green Organisation — CR Construction Co. Ltd. o BEZEHEB-ELREARA
The AIB Professional Excellence in Building Awards (PEA 2023) BMNEEMBE023E X HMBEK
— AIB HK Australian Institute of Building — Hong Kong R-AMNEENES—BESE

o  Professional Excellent Award — Sustainability — CR Construction
Co. Ltd.

Top 10 “Green Ingenuity” Projects of Zhejiang International
Contracting Industry 2023 - Zhejiang International Contractors
Association

o  Top 10 “Green Ingenuity” Projects — One Hennessy — Zhejiang
Construction Investment Group Co., Ltd

The HKQAA Hong Kong Green and Sustainability Contribution
Awards 2023 - Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency

o  Outstanding Award for Contribution to Livable City Construction
- CR Construction Co. Ltd.

o  "Gold Seal for Contribution to Livable City Construction” for
promoting MiC adoption — Transitional Housing Project at
Hung Yuen Road, Hung Shui Kiu, Yuen Long & Design and Build
Contract for Transitional Housing Project at Luen Yan Street,
Tsuen Wan

HKCA Hong Kong Construction Environmental Awards 2022 -
Hong Kong Construction Association

o) Environmental Merit Award — CR Construction Co. Ltd.

0 ﬁ%iiﬁ QESE 9=
£BERRD

—EEE

2023 F EHNIEBEBRIEIZBELD
TERG - TEHARETERFS

o [#meRL]TERD- %ﬂt‘if%*
BT EERREEEERA

HKQAAﬁiﬁﬁé’z@%uTﬁﬁEEkkﬁ
2023 — &5 ip & (RiE /&

o %ﬁﬂ%%tmk**lﬁkﬁﬁ FE
BEBRA

o HMEBERAERSKERIEREM
MEEFR T E |- TTEAH KB H
TTRBEEEEER REEKCE
BEMREEER

BERREHNEEREERRAE2022-
BBREHE

EERRARA 2023FF®H 121



122 CRConstruction Group Holdings Limited

Quality & Management

Quality Building Award 2022 - Hong Kong Construction Association,
Hong Kong Institute of Architects, Hong Kong Institute of Construction
Managers, Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, Hong Kong Institute of
Housing, Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors, Hong Kong Quality Assurance
Agency, Hong Kong International Facility Management Association & Real
Estate Developers Association of Hong Kong

o  Finalist Award of “Quality Building Award - Hong Kong
Non-Residential (New Building — Non-Government, Institution of
Community) Award — CR Construction Co. Ltd.

The Excellent Building Award 2023 - Hong Kong Institution of
Engineers, Building Services Division

o  Grand Award (New Building) — Superstructure Main Contract
(Tower) for the Proposed Composite Development at NKLI 6514
Kwun Tong Centre (Development Areas 2 & 3)

o  Grand Award (Existing Building) — Conversion of Office to Full
Wet Laboratory in Building 6W for The Hong Kong Science and
Technology Parks Corporation

Quality Public Housing Construction and Maintenance Awards
2023 - Hong Kong Housing Authority

o Merit Award — New Works Project— Outstanding Contractor
(Fighting Epidemic at Sites) — CR Construction Co. Ltd.

o  Outstanding Site Foreman Award — New Works Projects — CR
Construction Co. Ltd.

6th Youth Innovation Competition (B £ <ES TAIH
AIRMARBE ZE=RI"SFEILUWERE) - Zhejiang Construction

Investment Group Co., Ltd

o) Gold Award — CR Construction Co. Ltd.

Annual Report 2023
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Zhejiang Province Construction Qianjiang Cup(2023 & E T
BERITREE TN - Zhejiang Provincial Department of Housing and
Urban-Rural Development (47T & & 1% /5 I3 £ i 5% B2)

Engineering Award — Superstructure Main Contract (Tower)
for the Proposed Composite Development at NKLI 6514 Kwun
Tong Centre (Development Areas 2 & 3), Main Contract Works
for Sheung Shing Street Campus Development at Fat Kwong
Street/Sheug Shing Street, Ho Man Tin for The Open University
of Hong Kong & Conversion of Office to Full Wet Laboratory in
Building 6W for The Hong Kong Science and Technology Parks
Corporation

The AIB Professional Excellence in Building Awards (PEA 2023)
— AIB HK Australian Institute of Building — Hong Kong

Professional Excellent Award — Other construction — Au Tau
International School Project

Professional Excellent Award — Project management — Tai Po
Food Factory Project

High Commendation Award - Project management — Second
Expansion of DHL Central Asia Hub (CAH)

Chapter Building Professional — Residential Construction —
Residential Development “Grand Central”

Chapter Building Professional — Commercial Construction -
Goodman Tsuen Wan West Data Center Development (Phase 1)

The Excellent Building Award 2023 - Hong Kong Institution of
Engineers, Building Services Division

6]

6]

Grand Award (New Building) — CR Construction Co. Ltd.

Grand Award (Existing Building) — CR Construction Co. Ltd.

BCl Asia Awards - 8C/ Asia

]

Top 10 Contractor Awards 2023 — CR Construction Co. Ltd.

Hong Kong Commercial Times Business Awards 2023 - Hong
Kong Commercial Times

6]

Most Outstanding Construction Engineering Service of the Year
- CR Construction Co. Ltd.
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TEMERME

Corporate Social Responsibility

124 CRConstruction Group Holdings Limited

Caring Company Scheme Nomination 2023/24 — The Hong Kong
Council of Social Service

o 5 Years Plus Caring Company Logo — China Zhejiang
Construction Group (H.K)) Ltd.

¢ 10 Years Plus Caring Company Logo — CR Construction Co. Ltd.

Young Lo Pan Award 2023 - Hong Kong Lo Pan Kwong Yuet Tong
o  Young Lo Pan Award - Alison Tang & Derek Yip

Good MPF Employer Award 2022-2023 - Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Authority

o  Good MPF Employer Award 5 Years Plus — CR Construction Co.
Ltd.

o) E-Contribution Award — CR Construction Co. Ltd.
o MPF Support Award 2022-2023 — CR Construction Co. Ltd.

Construction Industry Volunteer Award Scheme 2023 -
Construction Industry Council (CIC)

o  CISVP Annual Corporate Award for Activeness (Corporate
Category) — Merit Award — CR Construction Co. Ltd.

o  Excellent Construction Industry Volunteer — Merit Award by the
jury — Kit Hon

Happiness at Work Promotional Scheme 2023 - Promoting
Happiness Index Foundation

o Happy Company 5 Years Plus — CR Construction Co. Ltd. & China
Zhejiang Construction Group (H.K) Ltd.

Annual Report 2023
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Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting

Guide Index

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) (Note 1)

RIR- HEREARHEESIES

Section/Statement

IRHE  BE —REERBEEANEE (K1)

A. Environmental

A RIE

Aspect A1 Emissions
BEA1 BEBY

General Disclosure

—RiRE

KPIA1.1

BEENEEAL

KPIA1.2

BEENIEEAL2

KPIA1.3

BEENEEAS

KPIA1.4

BERENIEEZEAL4

Information on:

the policies; and

compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into
water and land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste.
BRBERIORERBHEN - MKk A
B BEREEEMNELSH  BORKES
HETABEAZENHBEERIRONE
o

The types of emissions and respective emissions
data.

BB R KRR BB

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2)
Greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

BE (BE) ReeREE (BE)AERE
B E (CAREEHE) RBE (NS B HNE
F&E) (WER) -

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)

and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
FESEEEDAE (UEGTE) REE
(e EAHME - Gk (WER) -

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
FESEEREDAEE (UHGTE) REE
(BEBAHNE  F&iE) (ER) -

g

Our Environment - Policies, Environmental Compliance

BARRE-BER  RIRAH

Our Environment — Environmental Impacts from Our
Operations and Mitigation Measures — Air Emissions
HAMRE-HMEEELENRREYENERE
e — RRHFEK

Our Environment — Environmental Impacts from Our
Operations and Mitigation Measures — Greenhouse Gas
(GHG) Emissions

RAOES-RALEELNBEVERER
it — B E R
No significant hazardous waste produced

VEELEANBEZEY

Our Environment — Environmental Impacts from
Our Operations and Mitigation Measures — Waste
Management
HANRE-RAZEELNRRTE RER
Bt — R E

ELEEEEIERARAR
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPls) (Note 1)
TEER - EEH —REEREREARER (M
KPIA1.5

BREMIEEALS

KPIA1.6

BREMIEIEALG

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.

B RENFHERERABEREL B FMEK
EREY 205 o

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes are handled, and a description of reduction
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

HlREAEREZENMNTTE - WHMRE
HUREE B IR R A B EL B ISR LR

Aspect A2 Uses of Resources

EBHEA2 &R 6B

General Disclosure

—RIEE

KPIA2.1

BREMIEEA2.1

KPIA2.2

BREMIEEA2.2

KP1A2.3

BREMIEEA2.3

KP1 A2.4

BRENIEEA2.4

126  CRConstruction Group Holdings Limited

Policies on efficient use of resources, including
energy, water and other raw materials.
BHERAER(BERIR  KREAMM R
HIIBR -

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type
(e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (KWh in “000s)
and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,

per facility).
RERBSNERER/JHEZER(WE R
som) @S (AT ETREAE) REE (10
BEMHENRE  BRHE)

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per
unit of production volume, per facility).

RIKERTE (MBEMNE - §RE) -

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set
and steps taken to achieve them.

R R ERNRREANG B R RAEDE
L B RPTEREREY T 5K

Description of whether there is any issue in
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

it SREGE A KR E R A EAREE - RENA
IKERES B R AREDE L B IRFEREE 5K o
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Section/Statement

BB

Our Environment

HARIRE

Our Environment — Environmental Impacts from
Our Operations and Mitigation Measures — Waste
Management

BB E- ML EEENREYE R ERE
M- R E I

Our Environment - Policies
IR IRIE — HUR

Our Environment — Environmental Impacts from Our
Operations and Mitigation Measures — Energy Use and
Efficiency

BARRE-HMEE
e — RE IR A R R s

EESHRIBTE REREE

Our Environment — Environmental Impacts from Our
Operations and Mitigation Measures — Water Use and
Efficiency
BRAMRE-HMEE
B — FA 7K R Bk g

EERRETENERE

Our Environment — Environmental Impacts from Our
Operations and Mitigation Measures — Energy Use and
Efficiency
BANRE-RMZEELNRRZERERER
He—BEIRBE A A as

Our Environment — Environmental Impacts from Our
Operations and Mitigation Measures — Water Use and
Efficiency

KBS R
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BRI - HERELSRS

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) (Note 1)

Section/Statement

IRER BE - REERBRANER (WE)
KPIA2.5

BRENIEIEA2.5

Total packaging material used for finished products
(in tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per
unit produced.

BN METR B EM B B2 (LANES
BiEs (ER) -

8w

Aspect A3 The Environment and Natural Resources

EBHAIRERAAER

General Disclosure

—RiE

KPI A3.1

BB R ENIEEA3

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant
impacts on the environment and natural resources.
HEBETAHRERRAEREKNEATE
HIBGR ©

Description of the significant impacts of activities
on the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them.

R EBEDERERRAERNEATE
REFREEBEBTYZMTE -

Aspect A4 Climate Change

EBHEA4 RIRE L

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI A4.1

MRENER4

Policies on identification and mitigation of
significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.
E&%EU&%%ﬁa%%&"]ﬁ‘@@%ﬁéﬁ/\éiw 4
MERRIREBEENBER

Description of the significant climate-related

issues which have impacted, and those which may
impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage
them.

B E R EEHBETAEEZENER
’ﬁﬂﬂﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂ KEHITE ©

BB

It is not relevant to the Group's business.

HARSEEEER -

Our Environment - Policies

BT RE —BR

Our Environment — Environmental Impacts from Our
Operations and Mitigation Measures

BARFE-RPIZE
i

EEHIRIBT E REREE

Our Environment — Environmental Impacts from Our
Operations and Mitigation Measures — Climate Change

MO - AP L BELHEAYERERE
- FIER L

Our Environment — Environmental Impacts from Our
Operations and Mitigation Measures — Climate Change

BAHRE - RPIZE
He—RAREAE
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BRI - MERESHS

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPls) (Note 1)

TRHER  EFE —REBEXRERENEE (K1)

Section/Statement

BB

B. Social

B.iE

Employment and Labour Practices

BREREIER

Aspect B1 Employment

[EHEB1 &

General Disclosure Information on:
the policies; and
compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer relating
to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other benefits and welfare.

—RIKE Bz MR E  BEREA  TERE R
B PERE St RIERUKEMEFS
KRN BRLETHETABEATE
RBERE RRTINER

KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age
group and geographical region.
BMEENESERI  RUR - BEEEER  FRER RS HE

g -

KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.

BAEEMESER.2 U5 FRAMN RIS NESREL
$ o

Aspect B2 Health and Safety

EEB2ERZE

General Disclosure Information on:
the policies; and
compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer relating
to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards.

—RIRE FRAREZ2IHEREIREEESEBME
HREEN: BRRREBTHETAGEATE
HIERER RROIHE R o
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Our People - Policies, Employment Management,
Employee Retention

BB T -BR  BREE  ATHE

Our People — Employment Management

KMWETI-EEERE

Our People — Employee Retention

KMHWEI-ATEE

Our People — Health and Safety

BfMET-—@FEERZE



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BE MgREIHRSE

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) (Note 1)

ITRHR  EFE —REEREEAIEE (HEE1)

Section/Statement

BB

KPI1B2.1

B R & M IEEB2.1
KPI B2.2
R EMIEEB2.2

KP1B2.3

BRAMIEEB2.3

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred
in each of the past three years including the
reporting year.

BE=ZF (AERSFE)SERITE@ERM
T AZ R o

Lost days due to work injury.

ATEEXTERR

Description of occupational health and safety
measures adopted, and how they are implemented
and monitored.
TR B R R R B e 2 e - DA KRR
BRI RERTE -

Aspect B3 Development and Training

[EEB3 % & K&l

General Disclosure

—REE

KPIB3.1
BRANIEEB3A
KP1B3.2

B AN IE5B3.2

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and
skills for discharging duties at work. Description of
training activities.
BEBRAEE BT TIERE M M RN
B o ft B IES o

The percentage of employees trained by gender
and employee category.

BRI R EEREMNEIDNZIEEBDL

The average training hours completed per
employee by gender and employee category.
EURILEEERE D  BRES TR
M -

Our People — Health and Safety

BRMMET-—REELZE

Our People — Health and Safety

BRfMET-REELZE

Our People — Health and Safety

BfMET-—REEZE

Our People - Staff Development and Training

HMWEI -8 I #HERE

Our People - Staff Development and Training

HMWEI -8 I #HERE

Our People - Staff Development and Training

HMWEI -8 I #HERE

ELEEEEIERARAR
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BE gRELHRE

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) (Note 1) Section/Statement

TEER - BEH - —REERBREERER (K1) =a: i)

Aspect B4 Labour Standards

[E B4 %5 T %R

General Disclosure Information on: Our People — Prohibition of Child and Forced Labour

the policies; and
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
preventing child and forced labour.
—RKE BB IEETS®ESTH : RPMEI-ZIETRAHST
BRRETHETABEAZENHEMER
KRB E L o

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment Our People - Prohibition of Child and Forced Labour
practices to avoid child and forced labour.
BAEENESEB HARIERESRNEEABRETREH HMANEI-ZIEETRRHSET

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such No case discovered.
practices when discovered.

MEAEXESB2 HMIEEREHABEABERERBERMAER  TEERBN -

H R o

Operating Practices

EEEN

Aspect B5 Supply Chain Management

[EEB5 e B2

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social Our Supply Chain - Responsible Supply Chain
risks of supply chain. Management

—REKE ERHEERNREREGRAREBER - B HEE-aEENHERER

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Our Supply Chain — Responsible Supply Chain

Management
BEENIESEB RIS HHEFEE - B HEE - EENHEREER
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BE MgREIHRSE

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) (Note 1)

ITRHR  EFE —REEREEAIEE (HEE1)

Section/Statement

BB

KP1B5.2

B 4E M5 1EB5.2

KPI1B5.3

BRENIEEBS.3

KPI B5.4

B EMIEEB5.4

Description of practices relating to engaging
suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices
are being implemented, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

MR BB RREENED  AERTER
BHHEEREE « URABENNHRITR

ERTE-

Description of practices used to identify
environmental and social risks along the supply
chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

ARSI HERSERSNRERL S
RREEH] - A RIBERITRERTTE -

Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferrable products and services
when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

R RRIE B2 (0 % AR IR A& m RS
BB - LARABRARRIT REEER 0% -

Aspect B6 Product Responsibility

[EHEBe EmMEE
General Disclosure

—REE

KP1 B6.1

B R &I 15B6.1

KP1 B6.2

B & M5 15B6.2

Information on:

the policies; and

compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy
matters relating to products and services provided
and methods of redress.
BRMRHEERMRENERERERZS - BE -
BERLEEEARERTED
BERNETHETABEAZENEMREE
KRG B HY -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.
EEXCEXEMEHETRZ 2 ERZEER
78 BB B L

Number of products and service related complaints
received and how they are dealt with.
BREBNERNREHORFEE AREY
FE e

Our Supply Chain - Responsible Supply Chain
Management

B ER - ENHERRER

Our Supply Chain - Responsible Supply Chain
Management

B EERE - ENHRERER

Our Supply Chain - Responsible Supply Chain
Management

B HER - R ENHRRERE

Our Customer - Project and Service Quality

BMNEFP-HBELRBEE

Not relevant to the Group's business

LR R (B R A5 4R A

Our Customer — Project and Service Quality — Complaint
Handling
HAMEFP-—HE RRBEE—RFEE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BE gRELHRE

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPls) (Note 1)

ITRER BO - REERBRANER (WE1)
KPI1B6.3

R EMIEEB6.3
KPI B6.4
BB N5 EB6.4

KP1B6.5

B A M5 FB6.5

Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.

Wl S R RE B EE BB

Description of quality assurance process and recall

procedures.
Mt EERTRERERBYIERF

Description of consumer data protection and
privacy policies, how they are implemented and
monitored.

B E BRI RALR R - A RIEE
MITRERTE -

Aspect B7 Anti-corruption

BHEB7 R &S5

General Disclosure

—RIE

KPIB7.1

B R I 5B7.1

KPIB7.2

R EMIEERT.2

KPIB7.3

BREMIEER7.3

132 CRConstruction Group Holdings Limited

Information on:

the policies; and

compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
BRI ILER - R - BEFRAREM -
BERRETHETABEAZENHEMER
KAR B E L o

Number of concluded legal cases regarding
corrupt practices brought against the issuer or its
employees during the Reporting Period and the
outcomes of the cases
RERBAHETASEESREIEELS
MBS FARMEE RFAER

Description of preventive measures and
whistle-blowing procedures, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

foi b & E e R BWAZT - ARAABEHITR
BERE-

Description of anti-corruption training provided to
directors and staff.

WRAEERE TRHENREE -

Annual Report 2023

Section/Statement

BB

Not material to the Group's business

BAEBEEBLTEX
Our Customer — Project and Service Quality
BN EFP-—HELRBEE

Our Customer — Customer Privacy and Corporate
Information Protection

BHNEP-EPLEREEERRE

Business Ethics

clat

[EE3CE;

No concluded case

izl ESES

Business Ethics

BEES

clat

Business Ethics

BEER



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BRI - HERELSRS

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPlIs) (Note 1) Section/Statement

ITRHR  EFE —REEREEAIEE (HEE1) BB

Community

HE

Aspect B8 Community Investment

EHEBSiLERE

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand ~ Our Society — Community Investment
the needs of the communities where the issuer
operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.

—REE BN RBERTREENEHLRT ﬂ BRIt e-—1HERE
MREEBTDGE B ENENEE

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, Our Society — Community Investment
environmental concerns, labour needs, health,
culture, sport).

BRENIEEBT FIEREE(WHE BRER BIF BRIt e-—HERE
KR Xt - 85) -

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the Our Society — Community Investment
focus area.

MEEREEs2 AR IHEMPHBER(NSELERE) BT E - HREE

Note 1: All general disclosures and KPIs under “Subject Area A. Environmental” and ~ Mat1 - [E EHBARR I M [T 2 &t & 1A

“Subject Area B. Social” are “comply or explain” provisions as set out in the THAE —MEERERENIEEERR
ESG Guide. e kERMEESIMEHN[HES
AR | 1R

ERELEEERARAR - 2035F%F 133 NN



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R -WERER

]E

GRI Content Index GRI A B £ 5|

Statement of use CR Construction Group Holdings Limited has reported B FELZEEEIER AR R AL EGCR
the information cited in this GRI content index for TP TR 8202391 A1H 20234
the period starting from 1 January 2023 to 31 12731 B AR GRINA 3| 5 A H
December 2023 with reference to the GRI Standards. 58 o

GRI 1 used GRI 1: Foundation 2021

GRI Disclosure

GRI &
GRI 1: General Disclosures 2021

Reporting Principles Accuracy

BERA RN

Balance

T

Clarity

R

Comparability

MREUE

GRITEA GRI1: 20214

Notes

Bt =E

The qualitative information is reported according to the available evidence of the

Group, the bases for calculations are adequately described which allow replicate

measurements and calculations with similar results

EMEHDREBEAEERBERRSE  CAOMAGEREE  RHREFE
Kt B HBEUL

Positive impacts are not overemphasised and information concerning negative
impacts are not omitted
WHEEHBRHABERTE TREFREHEETENER
The Report is presented in both English and Chinese with different sections
Tables of content and consolidated data tables are used which enable most readers to
gain easy access to specify sections of the Report

BEDTRIEHAPENZH
EREHELGEERNER  FAZEEELAERTRRENTERLD
The Report has presented information for the current Reporting Period and two
previous periods with accepted international metrics in consistent manner of

calculation and presentation of the information

Restatements have been disclosed accordingly, where applicable

BEFAARBEREERENFTERZ BT NRHENRE LS
EMEREHER

ErEEREEL (WER)
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BRI - HERELSRS

GRI Disclosure

GRIE &

Completeness

= 5k

Sustainability
context

ARBEEAR

Timeliness

Ko B 1%

Verifiability

el

Applicable GRI Sector Standard(s) N/A

Consistent Reporting Period is used

EA—BHEREH

EAMNGRITHEEZE TEHA

ELEEEEIERARAR

The Report has presented all its activities and impacts in accordance with the
Reporting Scope as stated in this Report

BECRBEARSAANRSBENBEMEEP R

s/ @

e

The Report has adopted objective information and authoritative measures on
sustainable development to report information about its impacts and report relevant
information in relation to sustainable development goals
RERBAIHEERZEEN RER A BT
BERAZEBENER

SEFEEN  WIRE LA

The information available is collected after the Reporting Period in a timely manner
and meets the requirements under the ESG Guide as set out in Appendix C2 to the
Listing Rules of Hong Kong Stock Exchange

WEPREFAIEGHER - 58T B AT LR A ERC2PT ERESGHE 3l

The decision-making process underlying the Group's sustainability reporting which
enables the examination of the key decision processes and reliable sources to support
calculations have been properly disclosed
REEAHBEERBEARFBEEHREFARRRBELEERES
STEE A SRR
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BE gRELHRE

GRI Disclosure

GRIE &

GRI 2: General Disclosures 2021

GRI2 : —fR#X & (20215F)
The Organisation and its
reporting practices

ABFAERN R ERED

Activities and workers

FEHREIA

136 CR Construction Group Holdings Limited

2-1

2-2

2-3

2-5

2-6

2-7

2-8

Organisational details

Entities included in the
organisation’s sustainability
reporting
ARERRHEZERRET
FrEsmELR

Reporting period, frequency
and contact point

WEH - BHREBSA

Restatements of information

External assurance

SRR 7

Activities, value chain and
other business relationships

AE) - EEEREMESE
B 1%

Employees

®’E

Workers who are not
employees

FEENTIEAER

Location/Notes

B M

Annual Report, About Us
FE®RE - FEREM

About this Report, Annual Report, Notes to Financial
Statements

BANARE - FERE - MHEHRRME

About this Report

No data has been restated

3 % B A (A7 BUR

The Group will consider seeking external assurance for the ESG
report in future

RE

Annual Report, About Us, Responsible Supply Chain
Management, Our Customer, The Group has 100 ongoing
projects during the reporting period

FERS  BARRM BEEOHEREE AN
BF - AEERBEHEE A EETHNIER

Employment Management, Employment Retention;
BIBEE AFTEIE:

The Group considers that over 5% of turnover as significant
fluctuation of employees

REERRMREEBBNNREEERNKRE
Not applicable

i
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BRI - HERELSRS

GRI Disclosure

GRIE &

Location/Notes

E M

Governance 2-9

PN
==

Governance structure and
composition

BB BB

Nomination and selection of
the highest governance body

REMBERSEAHE

Chair of the highest
governance body

REEARBNTIE

Role of the highest governance
body in overseeing the
management of impacts
REEARBEEEERE
FETHNAS

Delegation of responsibility for
managing impacts
BETEEZENRE

Role of the highest governance
body in sustainability reporting

R EARBE R AR
RBETFHNAG

Conflict of interest

FI 2

Annual Report, Directors and Senior Management, Corporate
Governance Report

FEHRS EERAATERE CEXEBARS

Corporate Governance Report
EEEARS

Business Ethics, Corporate Governance Report
BEER  CXEAWME

Governance Structure, Stakeholder Engagement, Materiality
Assessment

AR BHESR BT

Governance Structure

BIRRE

About this Report

RAN A S

Business Ethics, The Group is not aware of any conflict of
interest issues during the Reporting Period.

BRI ARERHRE AL T AR a5 E R

EERESETRARA
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BE gRELHRE

GRI Disclosure

GRIE &

2-20

2-21

138 (R Construction Group Holdings Limited

Communication of critical
concerns

FLERSE IR BB

Collective knowledge of the
highest governance body

BB RRENER AR
Evaluation of the performance
of the highest governance
body

BB RREBORENE

Remuneration policies

FrE R

Process to determine
remuneration

FoHlE iR

Annual total compensation
ratio

FEAHMLLD

Location/Notes

B M

Project and Service Quality, Business Ethics
REKRGEE - BXER

Staff Development and Training

B TR ME

Not applicable

i A

Management Discussion and Analysis (General policy
established without sign-on bonuses or recruitment incentive
payments, termination payments, clawback of Directors),
Employee Retention

EREMNRENN (ERILIERNES NI ER
T BEBAR EFLMH-REE) AT EE

Report of the Directors, Employee Retention
EEWRE  ATEME
Annual total compensation ratio by geographical region:

Hong Kong: 8.55
Mainland: 8.96
Malaysia: 11.40
United Kingdom: 4.10

i D /AR

& 855
f B A3 8.96
BRFDE - 1140
HE 410
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BRI - HERELSRS

GRI Disclosure Location/Notes
GRIEE LB, M
Strategy, policies and 2-22  Statement on sustainable Board Statement, Environmental Impacts from Our Operations
practices development strategy and Mitigation Measures, Community Investment, Awards and
Recognitions
K BRRER IS AR R R B EXEgBRH RMACEEENRETE NERER -
HERKRE - BIEREE
2-23  Policy commitments Stakeholder Engagement, Business Ethics, Our People
SR A HOHE2HE BHEER HRMNEL
2-24  Embedding policy The policies of the Group are circulated to all employees and
commitments related third parties. To facilitate transparency of our business,
we have made policies available on our official website
R ABUR Ah AEENBXROEBEELEBEE=778H - BIES
BAEBERE  BADERMNE BB ARS
THER
2-25  Processes to remediate Our Customer, Business Ethics

negative impacts

HRamEENRE BANER  BXER

2-26  Mechanisms for seeking advice  Our Customer, Business Ethics
and raising concerns

SREAMELRERN  HANEF BxRER

1 51
2-27  Compliance with laws and Environmental Compliance, Our People, Our Customer,
regulations Business Ethics
BFRBER REAHR HKMANEL  BMANEF BXBE
2-28  Membership associations Not applicable
Z8HE iE A
Stakeholder engagement 2-29  Approach to stakeholder Stakeholder Engagement
engagement
FHESH Fin&EL2ENTE FihE2H
2-30  Collective bargaining Not applicable
agreements
xﬁﬂu)\#”g%}?li N5 A
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BE gRELHRE

Material Topics

EXEE
GRI 3: Material Topics 2021

GRI3 : E A&EE2021

GRI 200 Economic topics
GRI 200 & HE
Anti-corruption
R&352016

GRI 205: Anti-corruption
2016

GRI 205 : X &’52016

140 CR Construction Group Holdings Limited

GRI Disclosure

GRIE &

3-1

3-2

33

205-1

205-2

205-3

Process to determine material
topics

BEEAZENBRE

List of material topics

EEHRBIIR

Management of material
topics

CREEDN -

Operations assessed for risks
related to corruption

EETTERE R HH
BEE

Communication and training
about anti-corruption policies
and procedures
FRRESBR NIRRT
& R

Confirmed incidents of
corruption and actions taken
EHERNERE M LRI
B1TH

Location/Notes

B M

Materiality Assessment;

BN

Issues with high materiality as reflected in Materiality
Assessment are selected as material topics to be further
disclosed, since high materiality issues are issues which both
stakeholders and the Group are concerned of.

REENFERRFENEEERG N EEZH

%)

ME:
RASEHEINER FAUZEFERABEEREEL
—SWENERNER

Materiality Assessment

BEW
Throughout the entire report

B WmE

The Group has engaged external third party to conduct risks
assessment which covered corruption risks for the Reporting
Period with the scope coverage of the whole Group, no
significant corruption risks identified
REBEDZBIINBE =T ETRR G RERSEH

NHNEBRR SREEZEEEE HEYEZFREX
BERRER

Business Ethics

mERER

Business Ethics

mEER

Annual Report 2023
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BRI - HERELSRS

GRI Disclosure Location/Notes

GRIKE B, M

GRI 300 Environmental topics

GRI 3003 E B &

Biodiversity

=X/ EZ-3xd

GRI 304: Biodiversity 2016  304-1 Operational sites owned, To the best of our Directors’ knowledge, the Group has no
leased, managed in, or operational site owned, leased, managed in, or adjacent to,
adjacent to, protected areas protected areas and areas of high biodiversity value outside
and areas of high biodiversity ~ protected areas during the Reporting Period.
value outside protected areas

GRI304 : £¥) % 142016 EEPER  MHE - E ?ft%%ﬁﬁ}“%ﬂ R¥EEE - AEEWEAES B
RSk AT MR FE R MR & R ALNRERTRERINEYZERMNE
BINEMEZEME E RS EEIEtJZ BHELE
EIRHE LR

304-2  Significant impacts of activities, Trees and Shrub Protection;
products and services on IR REARRE
biodiversity To the best of our Directors’ knowledge, the Group has no
significant direct and indirect impacts on biodiversity with
reference to construction or use of transport infrastructure,
pollution and habitat conversion during the Reporting Period

B EmMRBELEY BEEARM  RBEHRE AEERBERRE
SHEENEARE BRSER  SARESEE AT ER LY LS
HELERNEERERZE

304-3 Habitats protected or restored  Trees and Shrub Protection,
IR REARRE
To the best of our Directors’ knowledge, the Group has
no project that requires restoration and was approved by
independent external professionals during the Reporting
Period

RRESLEENEEM RESMRM  REMEHE AEEVESTZEEN

HE WEBEEIIIESEEATHER

304-4  IUCN Red List species and To the best of our Directors’” knowledge, there was no IUCN Red
national conservation list List species and national conservation list species with habitats
species with habitats in areas  in areas affected by our operations during the Reporting Period
affected by operations
REBEVERENESH REFRM REMEHE TEIRMANELTE
REWIIAIUCNAL B RS  [RIEEVEE B H 2 85I AIUCNAL & & 8% S B R AR & 4
MERRFREAMOYE  MHDE
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BE gRELHRE

Emissions

B
GRI 305: Emissions 2016

GRI 305 : $E142016

142 CRConstruction Group Holdings Limited

GRI Disclosure

GRIE &

305-1

305-2

305-3

305-4

305-5

305-6

305-7

Direct (Scope 1) GHG
emissions

HE (BB RERE
BEDR

Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG
emissions

ReREE (852) 2=
REBHEMR

Other indirect (Scope 3) GHG
emissions

H R (HE3))RER
BEHEK

GHG emissions intensity

BERBEHENEE

Reduction of GHG emissions
BEREBEE

Emissions of ozone-depleting
substances (ODS)
REVHFEY B (ODS) A

Nitrogen oxides (NOx), Sulphur
oxides (SOx), and other
significant air emissions
RALPNOX) - FHEALY
(SOX)FA HL th 2 K 5. B8 BE A

Location/Notes

B M

Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Emissions; breakdown of the data not
available, however the sources contributed to Direct GHG
emissions have been disclosed

BEREBHN : WEABBENRAMA  HEREER
BE R E £ AR

Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Emissions

BEREBHEN

Data not available

3 4% 4R B BUR

Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Emissions
BEREYMN

Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Emissions

BEREYMN
Data not available

3 4% 4R B BUR

Air Emissions; data on persistent organic pollutants, volatile
organic compounds, other hazardous air pollutants not
available

REBER : WERBNFAME#SLY BRI EH
feay REMBERNRGT RO EIE
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BE MgREIHRSE

GRI Disclosure Location/Notes
GRIE & LB, M
Effluents and Waste
JBE K F0 R
GRI 306: Effluents and Waste 306-1 Water discharge by quality and  Wastewater Treatment;
2016 destination FEKERIE

To the best of our Directors’ knowledge, there was no
significant effluents and waste generated from the upstream
and downstream of our operations which could lead to
potential waste-related impacts.

GRI306 : BE)5KFMEEHI2016 FOKERBEMB e El SEEFRM - HAIEEN LR T B EEHR

DHIBERUKE RN EERZ ENERBEKMEY
306-2  Waste by type and disposal To the best of our Directors’ knowledge, there was no
method significant hazardous waste generated during the Reporting
Period:;
REFINRENEE DR MEERA  REEHHE TEELSAEEEY:
& Waste Management
BB
306-3  Significant spills Not relevant to the Group’s business
BRERF EVANSE T3

306-4 Transport of hazardous waste  To the best of our Directors' knowledge, there was no
significant hazardous waste generated during the Reporting

Period
BEEYES MERAM RREHE WEELEEREFEZEEY

306-5 Water bodies affected by water  To the best of our Directors' knowledge, there was no water
discharges and/or runoff bodies and related habitats that are significantly affected by
water discharges and/or runoff caused by our operations
ZEKEER R, RS RERFURE - WA RIKEE RAERE S X BB M
ke MEEBBN SRR LS ERHERTE

RS EBRIRAR AT - 2023EE®R 143 N
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BE gRELHRE

GRI Disclosure Location/Notes
GRIE & B M
Waste
=227
GRI 306: Waste 2020 306-1 Waste generation and Waste Management;
significant waste-related BEMEIR
impacts To the best of our Directors’ knowledge, there was no
significant waste generated from the upstream and
downstream of our operations which could lead to potential
waste-related impacts
GRI 306 : EE#]2020 FEYEEREYRE  MEERM - BALEN LR TR EEEER
BEARE MRS EERMIBEAT ENEREY
306-2 Management of significant Waste Management

waste-related impacts

BEMHBEEAZENEER BEWER

306-3 Waste generated Waste Management
EEHEEY) Y E IR
306-4 Waste diverted from disposal  To the best of our Directors’ knowledge, there was no
HEEPEBREY significant hazardous waste generated during the Reporting
Period:;

MREFFRA  RREHE - WEELSAKAEZEY:

Waste Management

Y E IR
306-5 Waste directed to disposal Waste Management
EANREREY FEYE R
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BE MgREIHRSE

GRI Disclosure Location/Notes

GRIKE B, M

GRI 400 Social topics

GRI400#t & RE

Employment

=

GRI401: Employment 2016  401-1  New employee hires and Employee Retention
employee turnover

GRI 401 : {E{%82016 MEBIMBEIMAX AT EE

401-2  Benefits provided to full-time  Employee Retention, Health and Safety
employees that are not
provided to temporary or
part-time employees
REFEZBET(TEE ATEBE BREEZS
W BT SR E 1) 0948 A

401-3  Parental leave Employee Retention
BRR AT BE

Occupational Health and
Safety
BEREEZ2
GRI 403: Occupational 403-1  Occupational health and safety Health and Safety
Health and Safety 2018 management system
GRI403 : BEREHEZ 2 BEEEL2EERER @BEEZ2
2018

403-2 Hazard identification, risk Health and Safety

assessment and incident

investigation

fEEH A - B b AT A EERET S
E=HAEE

403-3  Occupational health services  Health and Safety

BRI RIRF RS 2

RS EBIRAR AT - 2023EE®R 145 N
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BE gRELHRE

GRI Disclosure Location/Notes

GRIEE B, M

403-4  Worker participation, Health and Safety
consultation, and
communication on
occupational health and safety
EHEBRELZE2HEZTIHE REHETSE
E2H - BEHEER

403-5 Worker training on Health and Safety
occupational health and safety

BHREZEHEEZIE RESEZE

EHilgR
403-6  Promotion of worker health The Group provides medical insurance or health insurance to
all employees who passed their probation period assessment
and have been employed for over 3 months. All workers can
get healthcare information in induction training and from
Safety Officer
TiEERERE AEBERMAEBERMEZY ABBB=AN

BTRHEBFERRIBERRE - 78 TAGAEAR
Bkt 2 TERFERRREM

403-7  Prevention and mitigation of ~ Not applicable
occupational health and safety
impacts directly linked by
business relationships
BHARBREREEE TER
HEAENBERERS

%

403-8 Workers covered by an Health and Safety, the Group has no workers who are not
occupational health and safety  employees but whose work and/or workplace is controlled by
management system the Group, who are covered by our occupational health and

safety system

BERRLT2EERR RBREZ2 A5EVETMAFEEMETER 5

EANIEE TS ASEEH N TEEERARMOBERE
LTEEIRER
403-9  Work-related injuries Health and Safety
I RS
403-10 Work-related ill health To the best of Directors’ knowledge, there was no work-related
fatalities due to work-related il health during the Reporting
Period

TYEMARAA i B MREEFTRAM  NEME - WERTERENEER
R EH TR T

W 146  CRConstruction Group Holdings Limited  +  Annual Report 2023



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BE MgREIHRSE

GRI Disclosure

GRIE &

Location/Notes

E M

Training and Education
EIEHE

GRI 404: Training and
Education 2016

GRI404 : $ZHIE K E2016

Diversity and Equal
Opportunity
ZRLETEHRE

GRI 405: Diversity and Equal
Opportunity 2016

GRI405 : ZTLETE
#&2016

404-1

404-2

404-3

405-1

405-2

Average hours of training per
year per employee
BREIFFRIEIIN
TR

Programs for upgrading
employee skills and transition
assistance programs
BIRERATRMEE
SEaVTES

Percentage of employees
receiving regular performance
and career development
reviews
R X EMMNBRER
EZRMEIASL

Diversity of governance bodies
and employees

ERAKBEETNZ T

Ratio of basic salary and
remuneration of women to
men

B ERTEMBEE
L1

Staff Development and Training

B T 3R K&EI

Staff Development and Training

B T#RR&EI

Staff Development and Training

B T#R&EI

Corporate Governance Report, Employment Management

ERERMS  EREERE

No data available

I % AR B BUR

ELEEEEIERARAR
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BE gRELHRE

GRI Disclosure

GRIE &

Location/Notes

B M

Non-discrimination

AR

GRI 406: Non-discrimination 406-1

2016
GRI 406 : X 1522016

Child Labour
BT

GRI 408: Child Labour 2016  408-1

GRI408 : £12016

Forced or Compulsory Labour

BmEREAE T
GRI 409: Forced or
Compulsory Labour 2016

GRI409 : MR EE T
2016

Customer Privacy
EFRA
GRI 418: Customer Privacy

2016

GRI418 : BF[EFL2016

Note:

Group's business.

148

409-1

CR Construction Group Holdings Limited

Incidents of discrimination and
corrective actions taken

AR E M R BRER VAL IE
118

Operations and suppliers at
significant risk for incidents of
child labour

EBBERETEMRARD
BEEHAMMEER

Operations and suppliers at
significant risk for incidents of
forced or compulsory labour

HEBmmlekomEs TE M
ERRERRH)E S MU E
]

Substantiated complaints
concerning breaches of
customer privacy and losses of
customer data
HELEFPEBALMERX
EPERBHANKEE
OEREI

Any sections of omission in the GRI standards are either considered as
not material to the Group and stakeholders or they are not relevant to the

To the best of our Directors’ knowledge, the Group has no
discrimination cases noted during the Reporting Period
HREFEFARA  RNBEHE - NEBW|ER R
=

Prohibition of Child and Forced Labour, Responsible Supply
Chain Management;

ZrEIREHSET  BEENHEEERE

To the best of Directors' knowledge, the Group was not aware
of any significant non-compliance case relating to child

labour on both ours and our suppliers’ operations during the
Reporting Period
HERPRM - NG HRE - AEEW T AERM KL
B EEENEEREMNE THANERNEREMN

Prohibition of Child and Forced Labour, Responsible Supply
Chain Management; to the best of Directors’ knowledge,

the Group was not aware of any significant non-compliance
case relating to forced labour on both ours and our suppliers’
operations during the Reporting Period
ZIETRAEGST BEENHEREE  HES
FRA - R B - AR B AP LI
HERNEEREMRHIS THENEREREN

To the best of Directors’ knowledge, the Group was not

aware of any substantiated complaints concerning breaches
of customer privacy and losses of customer data during the
Reporting Period
HREFPTRM > RMEHE - AEBL TABERME
BRILEFPERILEERAEFPEMNKEEBERF

Hiet © GRISZEREEREHIREREAEE L

FrinEM S LA EASEAREE R EE
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BRI - HERELSRS

TCFD content Index

TCFDA A Z 5l

TCFD’s core element Disclosure

RIREBEH K

BEROTE

Section(s) of the Report

BEEMH

Governance

=S N2N
B /A

Strategy

R

Describe the board's oversight of climate-related risks
and opportunities

HAEESHRIRABEER R BMNER

Describe management's role in assessing and
managing climate-related risks and opportunities
BB IR E A AT N B IR R MR AR R AL e
KETERENAE

Describe the climate-related risks and opportunities
the organisations have identified over the short,
medium, and long term

AR - P KRR HIER &Y H R R A R
[ B K 3

Describe the impact of climate-related risks and
opportunities on the organisations’ businesses,
strategy, and financial planning

1 BF 28 SR 1 4R E’J}—L MBS TS
RENTBREOTE

Describe the resilience of the organisations’ strategy,
taking into consideration different climate-related
scenarios, including a 2° C or lower scenario
FRABRRR A EE R - RNE S EER
BB TRIER  BEBERJEXERNER

EERESETRARA

Governance Structure
TEER

Governance Structure; Climate Change —
Action on Climate Change

EEER  RIRE(L
— BHREZLNITH

Climate Change - Action on Climate Change

AR —EHRRE(CHNTTE

Climate Change — Action on Climate Change

AR —EHRRE(CHNTTE

Climate Change - Action on Climate Change

AR —ERHRRE(CHNTTE
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BRI - MERESHS

TCFD’s core element Disclosure

RIREEEA

BRERLTE

Risk Management

Metrics and Targets

EERER

150 CR Construction Group Holdings Limited

(oY)
~

Describe the organisations' processes for identifying
and assessing climate-related risks

A% B MR 8 B % T B SRR AR L B B B A2
Describe the organisations’ processes for managing
climate-related risks
AEAREE R ERIREERR B

Describe how processes for identifying, assessing,
and managing climate-related risks are integrated
into the organisations’ overall risk management
SRR - AT R E IR MR R AR R B
HEE W AR BEREREIENTTA

Describe the metrics used by the organisations to
assess climate-related risks and opportunities in line
with its strategy and risk management process
AR IR E R B R R B IR - A AT
B SR {1 A B L P S e 3 ) R 4R

Disclose Scope 1, Scope 2, and, if appropriate, Scope
3 greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, and the related
risks

WEEEE - SE2REHE (1E
HERL - LA R AR R R B

BR)RERE

Describe the targets used by the organisations to
manage climate-related risks and opportunities and
performance against targets

SRS B LA B IR R R AE R R b R B
B ARZERIZHRER

Annual Report 2023

Section(s) of the Report

BEEMH

Climate Change — Action on Climate Change

RARE L — EHERIEREHTTE
Climate Change - Action on Climate Change
RARE L — EHERIREHTTE

Climate Change — Action on Climate Change

IR —ERERIRZ(LNITE

Climate Change

TARE L

Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Emissions, Climate
Change - Action on Climate Change

RERBHN - RIRE(L —
e RIREZ (LA TTE

Our Environment, Climate Change

BAHRE - RIRE(C
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BRI - HERELSRS

SDGs content Index
SDG Target

SDGs
AHERREER
No poverty
TER

1
POVERTY

TRHEAXRERER

End poverty in all its forms
everywhere

EEREFUER—1]
FAHER

SDGsA A Z 5

CR’s objectives

EEEENBRE

We aim to achieve and

maintain the following

objectives in serving our

community,

a. demonstrate good
corporate citizenship;

b. contribute to a caring
community;

c. care for the social
vulnerable groups

T B IR RIGALE
BIEH ,EJEIH'J—H«ATE
1z

a. RRREFHNEEARE

b, BRI B ES
¢ MRS

CR’s actions and progress
EEEENTDRER
The CR Construction motto and spirit in
volunteerism is — “It is more blessed to give
than to receive”. Our volunteer team aims at
promoting social relationship and cohesion
within the community, and to encourage
the participation of individuals in helping
community problems and improving the
quality of community life. Since the inception
of volunteer team, we have participated in a
number of volunteering services including
health-related charities, organised fund
raising activities, etc. As a socially responsible
employer, we have been accredited
and under constant review according to
International Standard of ISO26000 with
respect to social responsibility.
ELRERTERUEEXERRE]
REE - BEREELEANNLEBE
MRS - SEVEA S R BRRT R
HENMRESHEREZEE - AXTEK
KRALES ﬁﬁa%%ﬁTyE@@%
% BREEEEBES E8BTEY
%oﬁﬁﬁﬁ@ﬁMMﬁI HMER
Bﬂsozeooo REEHH S B EETRE
RIZERS o

FERESHIZTRERAR - 2023FFH 151
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SDGs

SDG Target

THERRER THERRERER

Good health and Ensure healthy lives and
well-being promote well-being for all
RITHEEEEEM  atall ages

GOOD HEALTH
AND WELL-BEING

4

HEREENEET

R B FIRBEARD
&AL

152  CRConstruction Group Holdings Limited

CR’s objectives
EEEENERE
Continue to uphold and
promote the awareness of
health and safety not just
amongst ourselves, but also
our business counterparts

MERENRESTUR
EBBHNBRENZ S

=z iy
B
N
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CR’s actions and progress
ELEBRENTERER

In order to enhance our image in the
industry as well as bringing improvement
into a broader perspective, we support
respective governmental departments,
trade unions and institutions in joining
occupational health and safety promotion
campaigns and participates various kinds
of safety competitions amongst other
business counterparts. In particular, we
promote and enhance safety awareness
at site workers level by having nominated
several of our partners’ workers to receive
the award of Zero Accident Ambassador .
Also, our Occupational Health and Safety
Management System has been accredited
and under constant review according to
International Standards 1ISO45001 to keep
abreast of the market.
RTRARFERERMETEROL
R HMABE2EBFEN - Te kil
BHBEXBRENT2ERELY WA
BRHETERELZRLHE -FHlZ &
fE@iERE TERBEHNTIARRIE
BONKGEE]  REREBAMETANE
EB N RANBERERLZ S
EIRRFE R 15045001 B R A2 E#E 7T
RERFEES  RIFEREE -
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SDGs SDG Target CR’s objectives CR’s actions and progress

ARERRAE TRERRARER EERENBER EEREENTDRER

Quality education  Ensure inclusive and Offering sufficient training The Group attaches great importance to its

BEHE equitable quality support to employees in training offered to employees, as we believe
education and promote fulfilling their job duties that only well-trained employees can fulfil

QUALITY lifelong learning their job duties in a quality, efficient and
EDUCATION opportunities for all safe manner. Please refer to the section
headed “Staff Development and Training”
for details. As a responsible corporate
citizen, we also cherish our opportunities
to nurture the growth of students, we have
arranged recruitment talks and have taken
part in the Information Day for Advanced
Diploma during the Reporting Period to
provide sponsorship to selected candidates
in completion of their academic courses.
In addition, we have taken part in Virtual
Career Fair as well as providing internship
opportunities to students to facilitate their
learning experience during the Reporting

Period.
WREAMATNEE BEIREFRIHIIMN REBREBRBIIREZMHE TS LI
HE FEREFEE IHHETIERE BE EREkEENAFAEBITEIER
= T EE+H2EREE TREMEI -

EEFHE BB ERKIEI]—
o tERBEENLEAR M2
EEEEERENHE  NREHR[D
ZHREBER2 IR R EREA
(Information Day for Advanced Diploma) -
RERBERNETFREARMED - 1t
Hh - R E BB B M2 T RS HE
& (Virtual Career Fair) * BE24 R MHE B #
g REMMNEEER -

S EBIAR AT - 2023&E®R 153 N
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BRI - MERESHS

SDGs SDG Target CR’s objectives CR’s actions and progress

URHERRER "THARRAEER EEEENERE EEEENTHRER

Gender equality Achieve gender equality ~ Continue to uphold and Our Employee Handbook stated that

MR and empower all women  maintain zero tolerance to discrimination in any form is strictly
and girls gender discrimination prohibited in our employment management

GENDER practices. We have achieved no gender
EQUALITY discrimination cases during the Reporting
Period.

ERMRIFE e BEBFEURNEEN RANEEFMITNR  ERMANERE
BREMZEBNEE TRBEE EERT  BEEAT AR - K&
SHIRE - AR ERTERIKAR

Clean water and Ensure availability and Ensure wastewater is Our Environmental Policy stated that we
sanitation sustainable management  properly treated before are committed to comply with all relevant
TBRFUKFEE of water and sanitation for - discharge and pursue zero environmental regulatory and statutory
B all non-compliance cases on requirements. We have complied with the

laws and regulations relating  requirements of the Water Pollution Control

CLEAN WATER to wastewater management  Ordinance (“WPCO") license to ensure
AND SANITATION proper treatment of wastewater before
any discharge is carried out. Also, we have
wastewater treatment facilities in place to
handle wastewater, wastewater monitoring
and sample tests are carried out regularly. We
have achieved zero non-compliance cases on
laws and regulations relating to wastewater
management during the Reporting Period.
Our Environmental Management System
has been accredited and under constant
review according to International Standards
1ISO14001 to keep abreast of the market.
%%ﬁA%T*ﬂﬁi HREKEBMAFEIZ BABRERBKETA  HABNETAR
RIBWEHETAIRE ZRE - WEBKERER AREEBEEETNEERAT HMAEE

=i RZRERTEERTE TOTREHIGRPDERORTE - R
R BEKFEHEMATS B ZRIE - 1O - ]

FI7rER ﬁ@miﬁ SHEABR I EEK - I
TEHE AT RE KBS R MAR AR S, - AR
HARS ﬁﬁa&@maﬁm@%&%ﬁ
FHERZTER RMNBRETERSR
2 RIEI1S014001 /T\T—rg.E 1TRE N IF S
BE - (RIFEEEE
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BE MgREIHRSE

SDGs SDG Target CR’s objectives CR’s actions and progress

ARERRAE TRERRARER EERENBER HEZENTHRER

Affordable and Ensure access to Utilise renewable energy Our Project sites are currently installed with

clean energy affordable, reliable, as much as possible in our solar panels and we will seek to gradually

LEBAREE  sustainable and modern  operation increase the proportion of the utilisation of

8ER energy for all renewable energy in our operation in future,
if possible.

BRAANEGSAZESE AERFMNZERRENA HMANEEHBENCSZELRGRE

B AISEMAIEEENE AT BARR R HRMESRER BN EERERT

HREER ER TEFIRS AT BAERRAAE -

Decent workand ~ Promote sustained, Pursue zero occupational We have established policies and a
economic growth  inclusive and sustainable  fatalities and achieve an series of occupational health and safety
BT T{EEAE  economic growth, fulland  accident rate not exceeding ~ measures are in place to provide sufficient
®x productive employment 8.0 per 1,000 workers per year support and guidance to maintain good
and decent work for all (equivalent to 0.22 reportable  occupational health and safety workplace.

DECENT WORK AND accidents per 100,000 Also, our Occupational Health and Safety
ECONOMIC GROWTH man-hours worked) Management System and Risk Management

System have been accredited and under
constant review according to International
Standards ISO45001 and ISO31000 to keep
abreast of the market.

REFA - BEMAF EXRTBERTCE BR RMACHEBRRE - RIBERZENZ
BRBEE (RERD FHETHBBEFE000 Z8HE UWREZONOIFNEE (R
MAEEEREMAAE BT AR (HERE R OB @ R TAES AT - ks

BREEmIIE 100000 LEF0.22 R AT ¥R HMWBERERLZE2EERRGURE
E#0) b & 12 245 2 AR 1815045001 515031000
BIZEETRELBERDS  RISHR

B -

S EBIAR AT - 2023EE®R 155 N
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SDGs SDG Target

THERRER THERRERER

Industry, Build resilient

innovation and infrastructure, promote
infrastructure inclusive and sustainable
E¥ - BI¥ME  industrialisation and foster
i innovation

INDUSTRY, INNOVATION
AND INFRASTRUCTURE

BEREERNOERR
i~ R B R E A A
M AL R BT

Reduced Reduce inequality within
inequalities and among countries

MRS

1 REDUCED
INEQUALITIES

A

(=)

v

OB ARMER 2
fEl B9 1

156 CR Construction Group Holdings Limited

CR’s objectives
EEEENERE

Adopt innovative
construction technologies
and to promote Projects with
application of BEAM Plus in
future

R BT R0 S Rl - I
EHERMIAR T HEEER
4% SZIRFT(BEAM Plus)

Ensure candidates from
disadvantage groups

have equal employment
opportunities and maintain
zero tolerance to any forms of
discrimination

IR IR IRIRIE A 1S
TEORERE - W
ARRBERRBEEER
B
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CR’s actions and progress
ELEBRENTERER

We will seek to increase the application of
BEAM Plus in future to our Projects. We have
achieved Green Building Certification for our
Projects.

BB HEBRERNIBETREZERAL
FEIRFF(BEAM Plus) » FME BLEFIMNIEER
B EEERE -

We have established a series of human
resources management policies to define
our employment practices, equality is one
of the key aspects that we attach with
great importance in terms of recruitment
and promotion. As a socially responsible
employer, we have been accredited
and under constant review according to
International Standard of I1SO26000 with
respect to social responsibility.

BMEHE—RINANEREBERE -
NAERMNEBSE  FERRMAE
BREMER AT AFETERNBERIAZ
— EFAHHEAENEE HMER
RISO26000 B IR LS 1t & B/ TRE
MIFERS -
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BRI - MERELSHSE

SDGs SDG Target CR’s objectives CR’s actions and progress

ARERRAE TRERRARER EERENBER HEZENTHRER

Sustainable cities Make cities and human Ensure sustainable living CR Construction has embraced sustainability

and communities settlements inclusive, safe, conditions by gradually as the fundamental of its business strategy

AIEE BRI T resilient and sustainable  cutting down the proportion  to enhance the value of the company and

ran'o) of waste amount generated  its business. Our management systems have
from Projects and to mitigate been accredited and under constant review

SUSTAINABLE CITIES the impacts caused to the according to relevant International Standards
11 AND COMMUNITIES environment 1SO45000, 1SO14001 and 1SO26000 to keep

abreast of the market.
Also, we have established waste
A — management policies to provide guidance
n E and standards on waste handling and
reducing the amount of waste at source.
In addition, we have implemented a series
of measures to mitigate the impact of our
operations to the surroundings. Please
refer to the section headed “Environmental
Impacts from Our Operations and Mitigation

Measures” for details.

BRABRAM T RBFSHEEENEY ZELREEAIFENMERHEEBEKLY
2 BERNNUFE ELE BRUFENE ER URARKARHEEBHNEE -

R T M AEERE EIRE  WREHIRERN  FIAEIE RS RIEIS045000 * 15014001
wE MISO26000 B PR IZ AT RE RIFEE

& REFEERE

gEoh - BMPIE S EEYERBUR - BEE

V)55 1B RO D TR SR BE ) 2 4R 45 ANiZ

Ko BHN BN E— RIEH - DA

BERMNEEHEABRRENTE -

57*5‘é|i 2RI éfziﬁ’ﬁai‘*,y
MR fRTE ] —&D o

ERELEEEERARAR - 2035F%F 157 NN
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BE gRELHRE

SDGs SDG Target

THERRER THERRERER

Responsible Ensure sustainable
consumptionand  consumption and
production production patterns
BEEHEMNE

=

1 RESPONSIBLE
CONSUMPTION
AND PRODUCTION

O

ERAFBEREEM
EEER

158 CR Construction Group Holdings Limited

CR’s objectives
EEEENERE
Gradually increase

the proportion of
environmentally friendly
materials purchased

B RBRARM RS
Le 15

Annual Report 2023

CR’s actions and progress
EEEENTHRER

We have set stringent requirements for our
suppliers and subcontractors to comply
with when delivering products to our
clients. Eco-consciousness is one of the
key criteria when considering the selection
of suppliers, subcontractors as well as
materials purchasing. Please refer to the
section headed “Responsible Supply Chain
Management” for details.

BPEHEHEBMOBRERNTPR
NEMEVABTHREHRE - HEE
HER D EBMMEREBR - £82
HERMERNBERITEZ — - EZF
B B2HIARENHERERE| & -
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SDGs

IHEERER

Cli

1

mate action
1R1TED

CLIMATE
ACTION

3 2

SDG Target
ARERRAEER
Take urgent action to
combat climate change
and its impacts

FELE 24T B HR
BIERAYE

CR’s objectives
EEEENARE

We are committed to the
followings when combating
climate change and its
impacts:

a.

Minimise greenhouse
gas emissions;

identify opportunities to
reduce carbon emissions
by making our activities
more efficient, greener
and cleaner

BERERIRE L R E
FERBBOIRN

a.
b.

AR EREBINE
NESM - FIRR - &
BEENTARREE -
EE R ree  CoY -

ELEEEEIERARAR

CR’s actions and progress
HEZENTHRER

To help us getting a clear progress on
combating climate change, we assess our
carbon footprint annually and to review
relevant targets and policy on a regular basis.
Also, through the application of Building
Information Modelling (BIM) managed by our
In-house BIM Team, significant achievements
have been noted on improved performance,
enhanced efficiency on our services which
we also consider as contribution to climate
action.

We will look at options to offset our
unavoidable emissions using sustainable
offsetting technologies in future. Also,
our Environmental Management System
has been accredited and under constant
review according to International Standards
1SO14001 to keep abreast of the market.
Please refer to the section headed “Climate
Change” for more actions we have taken and
plan to take to combat climate change and its
impacts.

7315 Bh 3 PI7E e 3 S| B b 75 E ERAF AR
WHERE  BMASFAEREH - I F H
EEHEMEFRMBE - bLoh - BB
B 2 5815 B R B BIM) B X $IBIMA) F&
A B E R RERBEUET
ERETEZKRR  HRETHELT
=
BMBHREBEMNBAFERER
M7 2R 85 3% P9 T AT 8t R A9 IR BE PR 7
ot BPINRRERERGEIRE
1SO14001 BB R EHETTRE RIFEES -
RIFEREE - BARMARYERIRE
fEREZEME K REHERREE Z1T
B Hm2HREREL]—F-
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SDGs SDG Target

IHERRER TRERREEER

Life below water Conserve and sustainably
IKTEY) use the oceans, seas and
marine resources for

LIFE sustainable development
1 BELOW WATER

REFM A FFEN R EF
G ¥ B IR AR #E 7T 4%
BRRE

160 CR Construction Group Holdings Limited

CR’s objectives
EERENEE

Avoid water pollution caused
by our operations to help
preserving the natural habitat
of the ocean

R AP B EER KT
2 AGEBIREE B
RERM

Annual Report 2023

CR’s actions and progress
ELEBRENTERER

Our Environmental Policy stated that we
are committed to prevent environmental
pollution including water resources. We
have complied with the requirements of the
Water Pollution Control Ordinance ("WPCO")
license which we consider as making
contribution to protect the marine life by
minimising the impact of wastewater to the
ocean. Also, our Environmental Management
System has been accredited and under
constant review according to International
Standards 1ISO14001 to keep abreast of the
market.

Please refer to the section headed
“Wastewater Treatment” for measures and
actions we have implemented to mitigate
the impact and risk of water pollution caused
by our operations.

BIORERBRETA > BABOH IR
Bn A (BREAKFHR) - B2 EFOK
75 3 SR R BR B AR TE - R RE K
HEENTE  RERESTEVELR
BRetbsh - MPNRFEEERRRERIE
1SO14001 BB R EHETTRE RIFHEES -
1R AR -
ERRMAREEEERNTERKT
FEb M EREREVIE b T8 - BB
IKEZIR | —& o
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BE MgREIHRSE

SDGs SDG Target CR’s objectives CR’s actions and progress
ARERRAE TRERRARER EERENBER EEREENTDRER
Life on land Protect, restore and Avoid land pollution caused ~ Our Environmental Policy has stated that we
BE b AE 4] promote sustainable by our operations to preserve are committed to prevent environmental
use of terrestrial natural habitat pollution including waste management
LIFE ecosystems, sustainably and noise pollution. We pay extra care in
15 ON LAND manage forests, combat our operation in avoiding generation of
desertification, and hazardous waste and minimise our noise
halt and reverse land as well as the generation of non-hazardous
degradation and halt waste by implementing a series of measures
biodiversity loss and initiatives. Also, our Environmental

Management System has been accredited
and under constant review according to
International Standards 1ISO14001 to keep
abreast of the market.
Please refer to the section headed “Noise
Control”, “Waste Management” and “Trees
and Shrub Protection” for measures and
actions we have implemented to mitigate
the impact and risk of noise and land
pollution caused by our operations as well
as measures and actions we have taken to
restore the growth of plants and vegetations
at areas affected by our operations
respectively.

RAE - MEFERERF BERMOEEEK T RAONRRBEKETHA KOBOH LR

BRAEMAERRLS - 53 RESAELSH BEA(BIEEDEEMBRESR) - K

AREESERMN A BB EE—RERMETE - 2@
FORAE - Bl meE - PEEEBERFELEFEEY WD
HiR{E - BFIEMZE REMEEEZEY - I BMAR
MR FE R BE RS D IRIEIS014001 BBIZ LT

RERFFEES - (REFEREE -
BRARMRREEEEXNNTEARR
B AL 55 2 R B T 2R ER B HE O S AT
8 URRMAS/MEXEEZER N
EMERERMRIOERRITE
B2HREES] - TEDERE | R[BAR
FOEARIRE | ZE

S EBIRAR AT - 2023EE®R 161 N



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BE gRELHRE

SDGs SDG Target

ARERREE URERRBEEER
Peace, justiceand  Promote peaceful and
strong institutions  inclusive societies for
AME - EEM sustainable development,
EAMETE provide access to justice
for all and build effective,
16 PEACE, JUSTICE accountable and inclusive

AND STRONG institutions at all levels
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CR’s objectives
EERENEE
Promote the sense of
anti-corruption in terms of
personal conduct as well
as business practices and
pursue zero occurrence of
corruption cases
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CR’s actions and progress
ELEBRENTERER

We have established stringent policies on
anti-corruption by providing definitions
of corruption behaviours to enhance the
awareness and knowledge of our employees
to understand the nature of corruption and
to mitigate the risk of any unintentional
offence. Please refer to the section headed
“Business Ethics” for details.
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Report of the Directors

EFERE

The Board of Directors is pleased to present this Directors’ report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Reporting Period.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 20 July 2017 as
an exempted company with limited liability under the laws of the Cayman
Islands.

The Company’s Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
on 16 October 2019.

Construction Operations

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group is a
long established main contractor principally engaged in the provision of (i)
building construction services and (ii) RMAA works in Hong Kong, Malaysia
and United Kingdom. An analysis of the principal activities of the Group
during the Reporting Period is set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report.

Environmental Operations

The Group completed the acquisition of ZCIEE in May 2023. ZCIEE is
primarily consist of environmental works for the construction, restoration,
and operation of wastewater and recycled water treatment plants, water
distribution plants and other environmental facilities and infrastructure, as
well as architectural services related to environmental improvement in the
PRC.

A fair review of the business of the Group as required pursuant to Schedule
5 to the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
including the description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group and an indication of likely future development in the Company's
business is set out in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 5 to 20 of this annual
report. These discussions form part of Directors’ report. Moreover, the details
of the financial risk management of the Group are disclosed in Note 32 to
the financial statements.

The Group is committed to supporting environmental protection to ensure
business development and sustainability. Please refer to the section headed
"Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages 55 to 162 of this
annual report for the details of our environmental, social and governance
policies and performance during the Reporting Period.
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Report of the Directors

EFERE

Our Directors believe that it is essential for the Group to commit and
maintain high standard of environmental protection in order to support
environmental protection and to prevent pollution in balance with
socio— economic needs as well as to address the needs of a broad range
of interested parties. In the course of delivery of its services, the Group
(i) focused on prevention of pollution, waste minimisation and resource
conservation as critical considerations within our core management
process; (i) complied with applicable legal requirements and other
requirements which relate to its environment aspects; and (iii) established,
implemented and maintained the environmental management system and
strive for continual improvement in environmental performance.

The Group had maintained minimal number of environmental-related
non- compliance incidents. There were seven conviction cases in 2023 of
violating the relevant environmental laws and regulations. We will continue
to implement our environmental policy to avoid any violation of applicable
environmental-related laws or regulations.

Please refer to further disclosures on the environmental aspects in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report included in this annual
report.

The Group's profit for the Reporting Period and the Group’s financial
position as at that date are set out in the consolidated financial statements
on pages 206 to 355 of this annual report.

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK1.8 cents
(2022: HK1.8 cents) per ordinary Share, totaling approximately HK$9.0
million in respect of the year ended 31 December 2023, to Shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members at the close of business
on Wednesday, 3 July 2024. This proposed final dividend is subject to the
approval of the Company’s Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

There is no arrangement under which a Shareholder has waived or agreed
to waive any dividends.

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 356 of this annual report.
This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group.
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Report of the Directors

EFERE

The AGM of the Company for the Reporting Period is scheduled to be held
on Friday, 21 June 2024. A notice convening the AGM will be issued and
dispatched to the Shareholders in due course according to the applicable
laws, the Articles of Association and the Listing Rules.

(a)

(b)

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at
the AGM

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, 18 June 2024 to Friday, 21 June 2024, both days inclusive, in
order to determine the identity of the Shareholders who are entitled
to attend and vote at the AGM, during which period no transfers of
Shares shall be effected. In order to qualify for attending and voting
at the AGM to be held on Friday, 21 June 2024, all transfers of Shares,
accompanied by the relevant share certificates and transfer forms,
must be lodged for registration with Tricor Investor Services Limited
at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong no
later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 17 June 2024.

For determining the entitlement to the proposed final
dividend

The register of members of the Company will also be closed from
Friday, 28 June 2024 to Wednesday, 3 July 2024, both days inclusive,
in order to determine the entitlement of the Shareholders who are
entitled to receive the final dividend, during which period no transfers
of Shares shall be effected. In order to qualify for the entitlement of
final dividend, all transfer of Shares, accompanied by the relevant
share certificates and transfer forms, must be lodged for registration
with Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday,
27 June 2024.

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 1 to the
financial statements.

Charitable donation made by the Group during the Reporting Period
amounted to approximately HK$286,000 (2022: approximately HK$341,000).
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Report of the Directors

EFERE

Details of movements of the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in Note 14 to the financial statements.

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company for the Reporting
Period are set out in note 26 to the financial statements.

The Group did not issue any debenture during the Reporting Period (2022:
Nil).

Save as disclosed under the Share Option Scheme, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into or remained subsisting during the Reporting
Period or as of the end of the year (2022: Nil).

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during
the Reporting Period are set out in note 37 to the financial statements and
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

As at 31 December 2023, in the opinion of the Directors, the reserves of the
Company available for distribution to Shareholders under the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands amounted to approximately HK$369 million
(2022: approximately HK$399 million).

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
had purchased, sold, cancelled or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

Details of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2023
are set out in notes 24 and 32(b), to the financial statements, respectively.
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Report of the Directors

EFERE

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 20 November 2023,
the Company, as borrower, entered into a facility agreement with a bank,
as lender, pursuant to which the bank has agreed to grant a facility to the
Company in the amount up to RMB120,000,000. Pursuant to the said facility
agreement, the Company undertakes that, throughout the life of the said
facility shall, among others, remain as a controlling shareholder of the
Company. If a breach of such undertaking occurs, the lender may declare
all the advances under the said facility together with all interest accrued
thereon and all amounts outstanding thereunder to be immediately due
and payable.

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 14 December 2023,
the Company and CR Construction Company Limited (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company), as borrowers, entered into a facility letter
with a bank, as lender, pursuant to which the lender has agreed to grant a
facility to the Company in the amount up to HKD300,000,000. Pursuant to
the said facility letter, the Company undertakes that, throughout the life
of the said facility, Zhejiang Construction Investment Group Co., Ltd (4771
BRERLEEBR AR A E) shall, among others, remain as a single
largest shareholder of the Company; or maintain management control
over the Company. A breach of such undertaking shall trigger a mandatory
prepayment under the said facility letter.

For details of the above facility agreements, please refer to the Company’s
announcements dated 20 November 2023 and 14 December 2023
respectively.

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and the risks of non-compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations. During the Reporting Period, the Group in all material aspects
complied with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the business and operation of the Group. There was no material
breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by
the Group for the Reporting Period. The following table set out the relevant
laws and regulations and the compliance measures taken by the Group:

Primary regulations

Key Scope
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Compliance Measures

EERB

Construction Workers Registration
Ordinance (Chapter 583 of the Laws
of Hong Kong)

EREE

This Ordinance provides for
registration and regulation of
construction workers.

Gas% T AGTEDD AAEBIAR ER S T A&
(BBEANES83E) EEE

Factories and Industrial Undertakings
(Cap. 59 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

This Ordinance provides for the
safety and health protection
to workers in an industrial
undertakings.

RGEOIEETIERLS
e REERREHRE -

CImE TR RG]
(BBEDIE9E)

=0T AR

BREE

The Group complied with the Ordinance
by employing or allowing the registered
construction workers to carry out
construction work on the construction sites.

AEBEBEBRAFEIMEEETA
RS T TR TR A SPaZ 6 M o

The Group had certain systemic non-
compliance incidents of our Group in
connection with the Ordinances during the
Reporting Period.
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Report of the Directors

EFERE

Primary regulations

TERBH
Occupational Safety and Health

Ordinance (Cap. 509 of the Laws of

Hong Kong)

CBEL 2 REBIEN)
(BBEANE09 F)

Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap.

311 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

(ERTRE HIEG)
(BREPEINE)

Environmental Quality Act (EQA) of
1974 (Act 127) of Malaysia

HRER
(NEtOFERREEER)

Occupational Safety and Health Act
1994 of Malaysia

FHRE R

(CANEFRERZ ZEBEFIX)

Factories and Machinery Act 1967
of Malaysia

ey i

(CAREFIHEERES)
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Key Scope

BEEEE

This Ordinance provides for the
safety and health protection to
employee in workplaces.

RiEP REEE TR ER Mt %
2 RRERE -

This Ordinance control emission of
air pollutants and noxious odour
from construction, industrial and
commercial activities and other
polluting sources.

RIGPIEDEE TEREE
EBEENERSRY K
BERBHMR  AREMTR
KR »

This Act relates to the prevention,
abatement, control of pollution
and enhancement of the
environment from construction,
industrial and commercial
activities and other polluting
sources.

TERPRBE TEREE
TEBNA R EAMS R IRAI LE
WA ERIIRIR S R RIRIR
HE o

This Act provides for the safety and
health protection to employee in
workplaces.

ZEB AR B TIFH B IRt %
2 R FRIRFE

This Act provides for the control of
factories with respect to matters
relating to the safety, health
and welfare of person therein,
the registration and inspection
of machinery and for matters
connected therewith.

FEPIREEBIHBAEL R -
REREMER HBIELR
WMEIANEZ EENEENE
EERRE ©
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Compliance Measures

BREE

The Group complied with the Ordinances by
providing safety and health protection to
employee in workplace during the Reporting
Period.

RmEE AEEFBRESETIE
B 22 5 N 2 FRARRE LAE <Pz 16D

The Group complied with the Ordinance
by devising and arranging methods of
working and carry out the works in such a
manner so to minimize dust impacts on the
surrounding environment and provide the
suitable training to ensure the methods are
implemented by the experienced personnel.

REBEBBHTE LRI EET
ZIED) - RIAKSEREHIIRENTE
fRERENFEETIR WRMEE
BlARZEREE CHALRNHET

Bt

The Group complied with the Act by devising
and arranging methods of working and
carry out the works in such a manner so to
minimize dust impacts on the surrounding
environment and provide the suitable
training to ensure the methods are
implemented by the experienced personnel.

REBEEBHIE R L TR RET
ZOERD - RIABBERAIDGIRENZE
fFEKENTEETIR WRHEES
BIIARZEEE SHAKLRNET

it

The Group complied with the Act by providing
safety and health protection to employee

in workplace during the Reporting Period.

RBREHE AEEEEREERELE
B R 22 B R A FRIRE LA SFOAD -

The Group complied with the Act by having
adequate control to inspect the machinery
on the construction sites.
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Report of the Directors

EFERE

Primary regulations

FERB

Key Scope
EEH

Compliance Measures

BREKE

The Control of Pollution Act 1974 of UK

RE—NEmEFRERE)

The Health and Safety at Work Act 1974

of UK

R

(CMEEFTHERERZZ2E)

Environmental Protection Law of the
PRC

i
(b2 A\ RFEFIE B R EE)

Law of the PRC on the Prevention and

Control of Water Pollution

B
(hE AR KMBIKFREAE)

Law of the PRC on the Prevention and

Control of Atmospheric Pollution

B

(hEARLMBEARSEDIEE)

This Act provides for the prevention
and control of water pollution,
and for the maintaining or
restoring of wholesomeness of
water in the country.

AORE T KSR TER K
2] DA R M SRR X B K
2R -

This Act provides the legal
framework to promote, stimulate
and encourage high standards
of health and safety in places of
work. It protects employees and
the public from work activities.

ZOERET R - B R EE
TESMeRERRRZZH
ERER - AREBTIRAR
RXITIERHHTE -

This Law establishes an
environmental protection
liability system and requires the
implementation of effective
measures to prevent pollution
and harm to the environment.

TERRERIRIBRES T
[Z - W/ALREVE BUE SN 1%
RFERESREMESE -

This Law controls the discharge of
wastewater and monitors the
quality of water environments to
protect aquatic ecosystems and
ensure drinking water safety.

AERENTKEEN - KIRFEE
EITERE - REKERNSA
K E °

This Law provides for regulation
of the emission of pollutants
such as exhaust gases and
greenhouse gases to protect and
improve the living and ecological
environment.

RERERBERIAEREES
FHER - AREMZE 4R

IRIEMAERRIRI -

ELEEEEIERARAR

The Group complied with the Act by maintain
adequate control to minimize dust impacts
on the surrounding environment and
provide the suitable training to ensure
the methods are implemented by the
experienced personnel.

REBETRE  BIFEENEGINEE
A ESEERROTE - WRH
BENEIIAERBELROAEER
ZETTE -

The Group complied with the Act by providing
general guidances to employers to ensure,
so far as is reasonably practicable, the health,
safety and welfare at work of employees.

AEBRBE MR EE - RIEESI 8T
&% NWESEATTHHEBEANRERES
TERMRE R EEF -

The Group complied with the Law by devising
and arranging methods of working and carry
out the works in such a manner that minimise
the impact of pollution and harm to the
surrounding environment.

AEBBBHERLH TETEBETRE
Bl ASORBR E R D ST R IR 5
RMEE -

The Group complied with the Law by
implementing monitoring systems and
processes for wastewater treatment, aiming
to minimize pollution and harm to the
surrounding environment.

6 BE B B RE BRI I /E - RIS KR IR
BIRTFAIER - AR KR Z o b
MIRBASRAMESE -

The Group complied with the Law by devising
and arranging methods of working and carry
out the works in such a manner that minimise
the impact of pollution and harm to the
surrounding environment.
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Compliance Measures

BREE

The Group complied with the Law by devising
and arranging methods of working and carry
out the works in such a manner that minimise

Primary regulations

Key Scope

BEEEE

This Law provides for the prevention
and control of environmental
pollution by solid wastes.

EERB

Law of the People’s Republic of
China on Prevention and Control
of Environment Pollution by Solid

Waste the impact of solid pollution and harm to the
surrounding environment.
H REREEBEDNN LR AEEBBHITERCBETERNEETLE
(rREgE AR HMEE R REYS AR RIEHNEERTE ° Il DA R BR & 3t ek 2> [E] 88 & ¥ 63 B 3
BaE) RIEH)GRMES -

Labour Law of the People’s Republic of  This Law provides for the safety and ~ The Group complied with the Law by providing

China health protection to employees safety and health protection to employee
in workplaces, protecting their in workplace during the Reporting Period.
legitimate rights and interests.
[ NERB/EEEIENRERMART RERSHE AEEZA/ESEIIEM

(GEIN-FLI: L)
A -

Important Relationship with Major Stakeholders
The Group’s primary stakeholder groups include its customers,
subcontractors, suppliers, and employees.

Customers

The Group maintains active relationship with its customers to explore new
business opportunities and is highly committed to delivering superior
quality of services to its customers on time.

Subcontractors and Suppliers

The Group maintains a list of approved subcontractors (based on their
track records, skills, present work load, price quotations and historical work
quality) and suppliers (based on their prices, quality, past performance and
capacity) and strives to establish long-term business relationship with them.

Employees

The Group recognised employees as valuable assets of the Group. The
Group remunerated competitively, and provide training and development
opportunities to employees which they can deliver the superior
performance and achieve the corporate goal of the Group.

During the Reporting Period, there was no material dispute or argument
between the Group and its customers, subcontractors, suppliers and
employees.
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Report of the Directors

EFERE

For the Reporting Period, the Group's five largest customers in aggregate
accounted for approximately 46.9% (2022: approximately 47.6%) of the total
revenue of the Group and the largest customer of the Group accounted
for approximately 12.3% (2022: approximately 13.3%) of the Group’s total
revenue.

For the Reporting Period, the Group's five largest subcontractors in
aggregate accounted for approximately 17.3% (2022: approximately 21.1%)
of the total subcontracting cost of the Group and the largest subcontractor
of the Group accounted for approximately 5.19% (2022: approximately 5.6%)
of the Group’s total subcontracting cost.

For the Reporting Period, the Group’s five largest suppliers in aggregate
accounted for approximately 36.5% (2022: approximately 27.6%) of the total
purchases of construction materials of the Group and the largest supplier of
the Group accounted for approximately 13.5% (2022: approximately 6.4%)
of the Group's total purchases of construction materials.

None of the Directors of the Company or any of their associates or any
Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in
the Group's five largest customers, suppliers and subcontractors during the
Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or any of their close
associates (as defined under the Listing Rules) has any interest in a business
which competed or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the business of the Group.

Zhejiang State-owned Capital Operation Company Limited, Zhejiang
Construction Investment Group Co,, Ltd., Zhejiang Construction Group (H.K)
Holdings Limited, China Zhejiang Construction Group (H.K.) Limited and CR
Construction Investments Limited (the “Controlling Shareholders”) had
entered into the deed of non-competition in favour of the Company on 17
September 2019 (the “Deed of Non-competition”). Details of the Deed of
Non-competition are set out in the section headed “Relationship with our
Controlling Shareholders” in the Prospectus.

The Company has received the annual confirmation from the Controlling
Shareholders in respect of their compliance during the Reporting
Period with the non-competition undertakings under the Deed of Non-
competition issued to the Company in 2023.
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The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the compliance of
each of the Controlling Shareholders with the undertakings in the Deed of
Non-competition based on data and the confirmation provided or given by
the Controlling Shareholders and as far as the independent non- executive
Directors can ascertain, there has been no breach of the aforementioned
undertakings during the Reporting Period.

The Directors who held office for the Reporting Period and up to the date of
this annual report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. GUAN Manyu (Chairman)

Mr. LI Kar Yin

Ms. CHU Ping (resigned on 28 March 2023)

Mr. LAW Ming Kin (resigned on 28 March 2023)
Mr. CHAN Tak Yiu

Non-executive Directors

Mr. YANG Haojiang
Ms. DING Shaojian (appointed on 28 March 2023)

Mr. FAN Jingbo (appointed on 28 March 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

The Honourable TSE Wai Chun Paul JP

Mr. HO Man Yiu Ivan

Mr. LAU Pak Shing

Mr. LAl Yuk Fai Stephen JP (appointed on 28 March 2023)

There was no change in the Directors’ information required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules for the Reporting Period and
up to the date of this annual report.

The Company has received written annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee of the Company has
duly reviewed the independence of each of these Directors. The Company
considered that all independent non-executive Directors are independent
for the Reporting Period.
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and EERESITHAE EA ig15 -
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Sharesand BRI REEZBPRHNESRIAE
Debentures

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors R _-T-_=F+-A=+—HB EEKAEAR
and chief executives of the Company in the ordinary Shares, underlying ~ Bl& T A B R AR A s B AR A 488X 2
Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (€ % R 58 7 K B & (& 01 X VED) &9 & m AL -
(as defined in Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified tothe ~ HHEARR M R EREFEARBEESF LB K
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV 1 %XV*B%7&8A* ARE AN R MR
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken BV MOR B (BHERIEE 5 M BB &0 8
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or were required, Eigrflmjiﬁ—r?&“‘ VES AR R B HE 2 T
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred &) * HIRBEFHFLHE 1|X1§|J %352{' EEF

to therein, or were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock XX &P B R M AR = KX B - SRR
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, are set out as follows: EAESFAIZERME AR R KR Fﬁ B 2 MK
BEIIWT
Number of Approximate
ordinary percentage of
Shares/ shareholding in
underlying Long/short the Company?
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares position (%)
EAR R B R AE
TERHE BHAE Dk
EEsE B, Rt E RO EE KA (%)
Mr. GUAN Manyu Beneficial owner 2,500,000 L 0.50
EmTF L EnEEA
Mr. LI Kar Yin Beneficial owner 1,000,000 L 0.20
FRBEAE EnEEA
Ms. CHU Ping Beneficial owner 300,000 L 0.06
KE+ EnEEA
Mr. LAW Ming Kin Beneficial owner 500,000 L 0.10
ERRETE EnEEA
Mr. CHAN Tak Yiu Beneficial owner 100,000 L 0.02
PR L4 EnEEA
Mr. YANG Haojiang Beneficial owner 500,000 L 0.10
BEIILE EnEEA
Notes: K&t -
(1) The Letter "L" denotes the entity/person’s long position in the Shares. (1) FEILIEZETE  ATRBRONEFAE -

(2)  Asat 31 December 2023, the number of issued Shares of the Company was ~ (2) RIZZTZ=F+Z_A=+—H ' AQA8HE
500,000,000 Shares. 17 %17 8 B /3500,000,0000% °
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors
or chief executives of the Company had any interests or short positions in
the Shares or underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (as defined in Part XV of the SFO) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO), or were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures
Save for the Share Option Scheme, no arrangement has been made by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries for any Director to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the Company or any
other body corporate, and no rights to any share capital or debt securities of
the Company or any other body corporate were granted to any Director or
their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, nor were any such
rights exercised during or at the end of the Reporting Period.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interest and Short
Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares

As at 31 December 2023, to the knowledge of the Directors, the following
persons (other than the Director or chief executive of the Company) had
an interest or a short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of the
Company which were required to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and recorded in the
register of the Company maintained under Section 336 of the SFO:

Capacity/

Name of Shareholder Nature of Interest

B0 HERME

REEMH

Zhejiang State-owned Capital Operation
Company Limited

MIHABEBEERNELERRAF

Interest in a controlled
corporation®
ZPEHEE R

Interest in a controlled
corporation®
S Pk S0

Zhejiang Construction Investment Group
Co,, Ltd.
MTHRRRESERNER QA
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HA B 6 SEXVER) B B 10 3 AR B i 1 S (B 42
EHHEATARIEESLKBEGRDIEXVEE
7R8m BB A A& AN 1 A N Bk 32 P O B 2 SOK
B EEREESMBEHRINZFHRXH
EWEFEIRA/REENEDELIXR) » AR
BRES MG RO E352R BT DR ZIGH
B MAMNERIORR - HARIFFESTR
ARG ARRNE LB THERIORR

ESRERMHEREENER
BB AR RIS - AR A S A W I 2 A
PR o AR RS MR R B AT SLAE R
B8 1) 3 3 7 6 08 B AR A B A B
ABERG K EEE TS - B S
ERBEREZEBRISHAT 0T LEE
FAE B A A RIB A A R AT o o A A
BOEMRAREHES  RETEEAR
SHF -

FERRMRGREERREG T
EXRKR
R-B-=F+-A=+—0 REEFL -
THAL (AFEERAAFANSSTHAR)
RAAFRGRAEERD P HEREZER
HR 5 {6 ) BB XVER 552 %35 BB I ST/ A A 7
WEUCBDRARABIESE LR D EEG
E36EE S RMA 2 ERIAA

Approximate
percentage of

Number of shareholding
Shares/ in the
underlying Long/short Company®
Shares position® (%)
fE2A D B RER

B 13, 1HE KEZ W
BROEE FRE® (%)
361,150,000 L 7223
361,150,000 L 7223
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Name of Shareholder

RERERE

Zhejiang Construction Group (H.K)
Holdings Limited
MIERRERMEBDERBERAAA

Capacity/
Nature of Interest

510,/ EEME

Interest in a controlled
corporation®

S 42 < B 2

- NC]

China Zhejiang Construction Group (H.K.)
Limited
BN REE(EE)BR A A

CR Construction Investments Limited

EERERERRAF

Ning Shing (Holdings) Company Limited
BHEHEBGR QA

Notes:

m

@

®3)

)

Interest in a controlled
corporation®

S 42 B

Beneficial owner®

EmEAAY

Beneficial owner?
EmMER AR

CR Construction Investments Limited directly holds 361,150,000 Shares
in the Company. CR Construction Investments Limited is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of China Zhejiang Construction Group (H.K)) Limited, which is
in turn a wholly-owned subsidiary of Zhejiang Construction Group (H.K.)
Holdings Limited. Zhejiang Construction Group (H.K.) Holdings Limited is
a wholly- owned subsidiary of Zhejiang Construction Investment Group
Co,, Ltd. (formerly known as Dohia Group Co., Ltd.). Zhejiang State-owned
Capital Operation Company Limited holds 37.90% interests in Zhejiang
Construction Investment Group Co., Ltd. By virtue of the SFO, each of China
Zhejiang Construction Group (H.K.) Limited, Zhejiang Construction Group
(H.K) Holdings Limited, Zhejiang Construction Investment Group Co.,, Ltd., and
Zhejiang State-owned Capital Operation Company Limited is deemed to have
an interest in the Shares held by CR Construction Investments Limited.

Ning Shing (Holdings) Company Limited (“Ning Shing") directly holds
25,000,000 Shares of the Company. Ning Shing is a state-owned company
wholly owned by the Ningbo Municipal Government established in Hong
Kong in May 1995.

The Letter “L" denotes the entity/person’s long position in the Shares.

As at 31 December 2023, the number of issued Shares of the Company was
500,000,000 Shares.

m

©)

ELEEEEIERARAR

Approximate
percentage of
Number of shareholding
Shares/ in the
underlying Long/short (T T ET
Shares position® (%)
E2A D B R ERE
1, M e HE D
BROEBE FKES (%)
361,150,000 L 72.23
361,150,000 L 72.23
361,150,000 L 72.23
25,000,000 L 5.00
Bt

ELRREREERANEERBEARAN
361,150,0000% A& 10 - FEEHEEIZEFBR QA
ARBENIZRER (BB ERAANE
EWBAR MPBMNMIZREER (FF)
ERABANILEESE®E (FH) LRE
RAGIME2ENBRGF - IMIEAERES (F
BIERERAAANTIEAEZRREEER
MERAB(MBAZEEEERGKGERA
AME2EMBAR - MIEAREERES
BRARBEHEENILCEXIREEER D
HIR A A H37.90% ° RIBEEFH &S K -
FEUNIERER (F8) ARAE T
LEXREE(FE)ERERAR - MIE
ERBRELREARDERABRINIEES
ERELARAASARERNELEE
BEBRAABFBENROPHER R

EE(EE)ARAR(BRADEEFAAR
A & #925,000,000/K & 7 « BN — LN E
FRANTEKY A~ REERFALHE
RTARBNEZEHES °
FRILIEZER ATRBRONIETR

RIB-=F+-"A=+—08  x2aH2
1T 5 # B A500,000,0008% °
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Directors have not
been aware of any person (other than the Directors or chief executives
of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the Shares or
underlying Shares of the Company which would be required to be disclosed
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or to be
recorded in the register maintained under Section 336 of the SFO.

Save as disclosed herein, each of the Directors has entered into, an
appointment letter with the Company for a term of three years from 16
October 2022, and are subject to termination in accordance with their
respective terms. The term of the service contracts/appointment letters
may be renewed in accordance with the Articles of Association and the
applicable rules of the Listing Rules.

Ms. Ding Shaojian, non-executive Director, has entered into an appointment
letter with the Company for an initial term of three years from 28 March
2023.

Mr. Fan Jingbo, non-executive Director, has entered into an appointment
letter with the Company for an initial term of three years from 28 March
2023.

Mr. Lau Pak Shing, an independent non-executive Director, has entered
into an appointment letter with the Company for a second term of 2 years
commencing from 2 July 2023.

Mr. Ho Man Yiu Ivan, an independent non-executive Director, has entered
into an appointment letter with the Company for a third term of 2 years
commencing from 16 October 2023.

The Honourable TSE Wai Chun Paul JP, an independent non-executive
Director, has entered into an appointment letter with the Company for a
third term of 2 years commencing from 16 October 2023.

Mr. LAl Yuk Fai Stephen JP, an independent non-executive Director, has
entered into an appointment letter with the Company for a initial term of 2
years commencing from 28 March 2023.

All the Directors and the Company are required to give three months’
notice in writing to the other party for termination of the service contract/
appointment letter. All the Directors are appointed for a specific term and
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company in accordance with the Articles of Association.
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Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the business of
the Group to which the Company, or any of its holding companies, its
subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or
his connected entities had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the financial year or at any time during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries entered into any contracts of significance with the Controlling
Shareholder(s) or any of its subsidiaries, nor was there any contracts of
significance between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the
Controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries in relation to provision of
services for the Reporting Period.

During the Reporting period, the remuneration policy for employees of
the Group is determined based on their responsibilities, qualifications,
performance, experience and seniority which are reviewed periodically.

The Group’s emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the
Directors and senior management of the Group are reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee, approved by the Board and authorised by the
Shareholders at the AGM of the Company, which is based on the Group’s
performance, the executives’ respective contributions to the Group and
comparable market practices.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in Notes 9 and
10 to the financial statements.

Biographical details of Directors and senior management of the Company
are set out in the section headed "Directors and Senior Management” on
pages 21 to 30 of this annual report.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 17 September 2019
to reward the participants defined thereunder for their contribution to the
Group's success and to provide them with incentives to further contribute
to the Group.
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The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share Option
Scheme:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

178 CRConstruction Group Holdings Limited

Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain
the best available personnel, to provide additional incentive to
employees (full-time and part-time), directors, consultants, advisers,
distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business
partners or service providers of the Group and to promote the success
of the business of the Group.

Who may join

On and subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme and the
requirements of the Listing Rules, the Board shall be entitled to, at
its absolute discretion and on such terms as it deems fit, grant any
employee (full-time or part-time), director, consultant or adviser
of the Group, or any substantial shareholder of the Group, or any
distributor, contractor, supplier, agent, customer, business partner or
service provider of the Group, options to subscribe for such number
of Shares as the Board may determine in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme.

Maximum number of Shares and total number of shares
available for issue subject to options

The Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and other share option
schemes of our Company (and to which the provisions of Chapter 17
of the Listing Rules are applicable) shall not exceed 50,000,000 Shares
(representing 10% of the aggregate of the Shares in issue on the date
the Shares commence trading on the Stock Exchange and on the
date of this report). The overall limit on the number of Shares which
shall be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted, and
yet to be exercised, under the Share Option Scheme, and other share
option schemes of our Company (and to which the provisions of
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules are applicable), shall not exceed 30%
of the Shares in issue from time to time. As at 1 January 2023 and 31
December 2023, no share option had been granted and the number
of share options available for grant by the Company was 50,000,000.

Limit for each participant

The total number of Shares issued, and to be issued, upon exercise
of the options granted to each participant (including both exercised,
cancelled and outstanding options) in any twelve (12)-month period
shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue.
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(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Option period

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may
determine which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant
subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.

Minimum period

There is no minimum period for which an option granted must be
held before it can be exercised unless otherwise imposed by the
Directors.

Payment on acceptance of option offer

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven days
inclusive of the day on which such offer was made, upon payment of
HKS1.

(viii) Subscription price

(ix)

The subscription price shall be such price determined by the Board
at its absolute discretion and notified to a participant in the offer at
the time of the offer, and shall be at least the higher of: (a) the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet issued by
the Stock Exchange on the date of grant of the relevant option, which
shall be a business day; (b) the average closing price of the Shares as
stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant
of the relevant option (provided that, in the event that any option
is proposed to be granted within a period of less than five Business
Days after the trading of the Shares first commences on the Stock
Exchange, the new issue price of the Shares shall be used as the
closing price for any business day falling within the period before
listing of the Shares on the Stock Exchange); and (c) the nominal value
of a Share on the date of grant of the relevant option.

Present status of the Share Option Scheme

No share option has been granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed
under the Share Option Scheme since its adoption and up to the date
of this annual report. As at 31 December 2023, the Company had no
outstanding share option under the Share Option Scheme. As at 31
December 2023, the remaining life of the Share Option Scheme is
approximately seven years. The Share Option Scheme will expire at
the close of business on the business day immediately preceding the
tenth anniversary of its adoption date.

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)
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The Group operates a defined contribution mandatory provident fund
retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
and the occupational retirement scheme (the “ORSO Scheme”) under the
Occupational Retirement Scheme Ordinance (Cap. 426 of the Laws of Hong
Kong). The Group and its employees in Hong Kong are each required to
make contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income and capped at HK$1,500 per month. On the other hand, the Group
and its employees in Hong Kong are each required to make contributions to
the ORSO Scheme at 10% of the employees’ relevant income without cap.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the Group
has joined defined contribution retirement schemes for the employees
arranged by local government labour and security authorities (the
“PRC Retirement Schemes”). According to the relevant regulations,
contributions that should be borne by the companies within the Group
are principally determined based on percentages of the basic salaries of
employees, subject to certain ceilings imposed. The applicable percentages
for the PRC Retirement Schemes for the year and previous year are listed
below:

Pension insurance BEZ2RR
Medical insurance BERRE
Unemployment insurance KERRE
workmen'’s compensation insurance BT HERR
Maternity Insurance EBRE
Housing fund FEAES

The Group also operates a defined contribution employees’ provident
Fund scheme (the "EPF Scheme”) under the Employees Provident Fund
Ordinance 1951 in Malaysia. The Group and its employees in Malaysia are
each required to make contributions to the EPF Scheme at 12.5% of the
employees' relevant income without cap.

The Group also operates a defined contribution group pension (GPP)
scheme (the “Group Pension Scheme”) under the UK Pensions Act 2008 in
the United Kingdom. The Group and its employees in United Kingdom are
each required to make contributions to the Group Pension at 12.5% of the
employees' relevant income without cap.
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Report of the Directors

EFERE

The total retirement benefit scheme contributions made by the Group
amounted to approximately HK$25.7 million for the Reporting Period (2022:
approximately HK$21.8 million).

The Group's contributions to the MPF Scheme, the PRC Retirement Scheme,
the EPF Scheme, and the Group Pension Scheme vest fully and immediately
with the employees. During the year and previous Year, there were neither
contribution forfeited by the Group nor had there been any utilisation
of such forfeited contributions to reduce future contributions. As at 31
December 2023 and 2022, there were no forfeited contributions which
were available for utilisation by the Group to reduce the existing level of
contributions to the MPF Scheme, the PRC Retirement Scheme, the EPF
Scheme, and the Group Pension Scheme.

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the Reporting Period.

Details of connected transactions are set out in the section headed
“Connected Transactions” of this Annual Report of the Company.

Details of the related party transactions carried out in the normal course
of business are set out in note 32 to the financial statements. Save as
disclosed above, these related party transactions either (i) do not constitute
a connected transaction or continuing connected transaction as defined
under the Listing Rules; or (i) were fully exempt from shareholder’s approval,
annual review and all disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. In relation to those related party transactions which constitute
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction as defined
under the Listing Rules, the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance practices. Principal corporate governance practices adopted
by our Company are set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” on pages 31 to 54 of this annual report.
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Report of the Directors

EFERE

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total
issued Shares, being the minimum percentage of public float as prescribed
by the Stock Exchange and under the Listing Rules, was held by the public at
all times during the Reporting Period and as at the date of this annual report.

Pursuant to article 164(1) of the Articles of Association and subject to
the applicable laws and regulations, every Director or other officer of
the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them may
incur or sustain in or about the execution of their duty in their offices. Such
permitted indemnity provision has been in force during the Reporting
Period.

The Company has taken out and maintained appropriate directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance to provide appropriate coverage for the Directors
and other officers of the Group for the Reporting Period.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Reporting Period.
There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee
regarding the accounting treatment adopted by the Company.

Ernst & Young was appointed as the Auditor for the Reporting Period. Ernst
& Young shall retire at the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, will offer
itself for re-appointment. A resolution will be proposed at the AGM for
the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as the independent auditor of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Guan Manyu
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong,
21 March 2024
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Connected Transactions
RREE 5

Acquisition of entire equity interest in Zhejiang
Construction Investment Environment Engineering
Company Limited

On 31 January 2023, the Company and China Zhejiang Construction
Group (H.K) Limited (the “Seller”), one of the controlling shareholders
of the Company, entered into the share purchase agreement (the
“Share Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to which the Company has
conditionally agreed to acquire and the Seller has conditionally
agreed to sell to the Company the entire equity interest in
ZCIEE (together with its subsidiaries, the “Target Group”) at the
consideration of RMB201,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$228,409,090) (the “Acquisition”). ZCIEE is principally engaged in
construction, rehabilitation and operation of sewage and reclaimed
water treatment plants as well as water distribution plants and
other environmental related facilities and infrastructure in the PRC.
The Acquisition constituted a major transaction and connected
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14 and Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

For further details of the Acquisition, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 31 January 2023 and 10
February 2023, respectively and the circular of the Company dated
31 March 2023. The resolution of the Acquisition was duly passed
at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 28
April 2023. All the conditions precedent under the Share Purchase
Agreement have been fulfilled, the completion took place on 8
May 2023 and ZCIEE has become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company and the financial results of ZCIEE and its subsidiaries has
been consolidated into the consolidated financial statements of the
Company based on the principles of merger accounting.
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Connected Transactions
RAEX 5

B.1 Continuing Connected Transactions resulting

from the Acquisition of Zhejiang Construction
Investment Environment Engineering Company
Limited

Prior to the completion of the Acquisition, the Target Group
and Zhejiang Construction Investment Group Co., Ltd.
(together with its subsidiaries but excluding the Group and
the Target Group) (the “ Remaining Group”) entered into
the following continuing transactions, which constituted
continuing connected transactions of the Company upon
completion of the Acquisition pursuant to the Listing Rules.

B.1.ARemaining Group as a service and construction
materials provider/supplier/subcontractor

B.1

AlEIZRBERIREAR
RAMETHREARERS

RWBEEETKA - B REER
MIEEZRRESERODBERA
FAICEREMBAR - ETEEXR
SEREEEE) (8 T&E])
FIVIATHER S MEERXS
RUHE =R E R RE A5 Al
BRARANFEBRERS -

BAABRTEBEEARERESEM
RHEEE HEE, 28D

Paying
Name and date of agreement Party Receiving Party Main scope of agreement Term of agreement Consideration
BHEEBRAM EV 0] IEHEEE hEAER E
HK$'000
FET
1. Property Management ZCIEE Zhejiang Zhejian Provision of property management  Property management 128
Services Agreement Industrial Development  and public administration services  services: 16 November 2020 to
dated 8 February 2021 Co, Ltd, an indirect for the office of ZCIEE 31 December 2023
(as supplemented by wholly-owned subsidiary
Supplemental Agreement of Zhejiang Construction Public administration
dated 8 February 2021) Investment Group Co,, services: 1 January 2021 to 31
Ltd. (‘Zhejiang Zhejian”) December 2023
BSA-S-—F-AN FEBRR WIDFREXBRER RATERRONEERMVEE WEEERE: —T-TF 128
AR EE RS (5 RR(DHTHARD) - B BRAKTRRS +—RA+ BEZZ==%
ABAZS-—5ZAN MIARRREEER +=ZA=1+—8H
HOBRABHERER) HERAFNEERE
HEAR RATBRY : —T=—F
—A-RAZEZZ==%+4C
A=+-H
2. Construction Materials ZCIEE Zhejiang Zhejian Purchase of construction materials ~ From 30 June 2022 to 16,330
Purchase Agreement dated including denitrification filter the completion of the
30 June 2022 processing package, ultrafiltration  construction PPP Project
membrane processing package, of Phase Il of Cangshan
magnetic coagulation processing  Sewage Treatment Plant (the
package and Fenton processing "Cangshan Sewage Treatment
package for the Cangshan Sewage  Plant Construction”)
Treatment Plant Construction
BEA—S__%KXA FERR WD REANBWTKEERZRN B-_F-__F/A=THE 16330
ZTENRENHRES RECEETIZER BREIZ ZELSKERER(ZH)
A BHERIZENFEIZEE BHRPPPEE ([BIAKE
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Connected Transactions
RAEX %

Paying
Name and date of agreement Party Receiving Party Main scope of agreement Term of agreement Consideration
BEEERAH [EV:1 0] TEGHEREE HEHR E
HK$'000
TR
Construction Materials ZCIEE Zhejiang Zhejian Purchase of construction materials ~ From 15 July 2022 to the 4,466
Purchase Agreement dated including deodorization system completion of the Cangshan
15 July 2022 process package and sludge Sewage Treatment Plant
dewatering system process Construction
package for the Cangshan Sewage
Treatment Plant Construction
BRA—F__FtR FERRR MINRE RBERELTKERERERYN B-R-_FtATHAR 4466
TRANBENHRES BREZGIZRRSRMKER EELTKEERERET
A TEaNREM
Construction Materials ZCIEE Zhejiang Zhejian Purchase of construction materials ~ From July 2022 to the 322
Purchase Agreement dated including stencil and square wood  completion of Cangshan
July 2022 products for the Cangshan Sewage ~ Sewage Treatment Plant
Treatment Plant Construction Construction
HEERER MDA FRARELSKERRERN B-F-_FtAZELS 32
BREAAERNEZENH  KEERERRT
Steel Purchase Agreement  ZCIEE Zhejiang Jianshe Trading ~ Purchase of steel for the Cangshan  From 12 July 2022 to the 1117
dated 12 July 2022 &Logistics Co, Ltd, anon  Sewage Treatment Plant completion of Cangshan
wholly-owned subsidiary ~ Construction Sewage Treatment Plant
of Zhejiang Construction Construction
Investment Group Co,
Ltd.
BRA-ZF-_FtR OFBRER NIRRAEMRER REARASKEERERY BT _FtA+t-AR 1117
TZRNHEEREAR RE AINTEERR M ZEWSKEERERAT
EEBRHBRAAN
FLEMBAR
6. Sewage Treatment Plant ZCIEE Zhejiang Construction Provision of operation and From 20 October 2020 to 365
Operation and Maintenance Investment Group Co,  maintenance management and the expiry of the transitional
Management Consulting Ltd. consultancy services in respect operation and maintenance
Contract* (57K R IEE of Changxing Si'an Oasis Sewage ~ entrustment agreement in
HERHAAR) signed in Treatment Plant (RESIZ AN  relation to the Si'an Sewage
January 2021 757K BRI in Si'an, Changxing  Treatment Plant (the "First
County, Zhejiang Province, the PRC ~ Si'an Agreement”)
("Si'an Sewage Treatment Plant”)
RIB--F-A%TH FRRR NILERREEE HTPEMIEREEREDZS T-RETACTHR 365
KR ERERERENR B R MaKERE (DR%R5KER HKEERBEHAE
G B REERERREARE  SELHE (F-HDLH
H)EM

S EBIAR AT - 2023EE®R 185 NN



Connected Transactions

B E 3 5

B.1.B Target Group as a service provider/subcontractor/lender

Name and date of agreement

BEEERAM

186 CR Construction Group Holdings Limited

The Sewage treatment plant transitional
operation and maintenance entrustment
operation dated 13 October 2020

REAZ-TFTATZRNIRE
MakEEREESRTELGE

Membrane equipment procurement and
installation contract* (BXBRELZEAR)
signed in December 2020 (as supplemented
by a supplemental contract dated 14
December 2020)

REZ-ZE+ - ARITHRRGRE
RRAR(BRABA-R-FF1-A
TRANAZARMER)

A subcontract agreement in relation to
sewage standpipe reconstruction and
household connection project in zero direct
sewage discharge area on Damaiyu Street,
Yuhuan City BIRTAZELEFKTE
HRERTEEPCRARERE L ERE
REPIREXA DA dated 8 August
2019 (the "First Damaiyu Agreement”) (as
supplemented by a supplemental agreement
dated 10 July 2020)
BEAZZ-NFN\ANBEBERD
REREETKTEHERRIE(EPC 3
BAR)BRUEREREFIRERS X
BaRTE-HARERE))(ERHA
“ZTELATENBRBETER)

Receiving
Party
307

Paying Party
BEY:

Changxing Zhejian Town  ZCIEE
Construction Co, Ltd* a
wholly-owned subsidiary
of Zhejiang Construction
Investment Group Co,
Ltd.
REFRNHARRER
DA BIFTAERR
ERERNERAAN
TEMBRRE

HRRR

Zhejiang Construction ZCIEE
Investment Group Co,

Ltd.

MTARRREALER
HERLE

HRRR

Zhejiang Construction ZCIEE

Investment Transport

Foundation Infrastructure

Group Limited,

awholly-owned

subsidiary of Zhejiang

Construction Investment

Group Co, Ltd.

("Zhejiang Construction

Investment’)

HILRRRBEANE FRER
REBRBAR(DAT

Bl) - BFTEER
RESERGERAA
HEEMERR

- Annual Report 2023

BABEEEEEARKLEER,

Main scope of agreement

EE30E

Provision of operation and
maintenance services for sewage
water tubes and related equipments
in relation to the Si'an Sewage
Treatment Plant

SRR TKEEBATKE RAE
BRERIEEREERS

Purchase and installation of
membrane equipment for expansion
project of the Si'an Sewage Treatment
Plant

RESKRRERAAR FHR
EBRE

Reconstruction of sewage standpipe
and household connection project
in zero direct sewage discharge area,
which is located on Damaiyu Street,
Yuhuan City* (B3R AZ ),
Taizhou, Zhejiang Province, the PRC

BEPERIEAMNERTAK
BE K RERSRRAARS
KEBRRERSER

PBEERA

Term of agreement

R

From 20 October 2020 to
the expiry of the First Si'an
Agreement

“RETACTHE

BE-%
2E-WARBHERLL

From 20 October 2020 to 15
December 2020.

The parties to the agreement
have mutually agreed to extend
the term of this agreement

to the completion of the final
certification.
BE-E-FFTACTAE
“E-RES-ATEE-

B#IHEAEREREE
RAGRER - Umh &

RiE

From 15 July 2019 t0 14 July
2020

The parties to the agreement
have mutually agreed to extend
the term of the First Damaiyu
Agreement to the completion
of the final certification.

E-Z-NELATREAZR
325+ ATEA

BRTHRNCREHEE
RE-DREEGR AR

Consideration
RE
HK$'000
TER

6,274

6,274

nil

il



Connected Transactions
RAEX %

Receiving
Name and date of agreement Paying Party Party Main scope of agreement Term of agreement Consideration
BHEEBREA DEYA 30 IEHSEE R &
HK$'000
TER
4. A subcontract agreement in relation to Zhejiang Construction ZCIEE Provision of in-depth investigation ~ Within 15 calendar days after nil
in-depth investigation services in zero direct ~ Investment services in zero direct sewage the issue of the award notice of
sewage discharge area on Damaiyu Street, discharge area on Damaiyu Street,  tender
Yuhuan City* (ERTIAZH) TRMAZE Yuhuan City
B8 ST EHERS TIREPCak The parties to the agreement
B)RE HERBEAEAR dated 8 August have mutually agreed to
2019 (the "Second Damaiyu Agreement”) (as extend the term of the Second
supplemented by a supplemental agreement Damalyu Agreement to
dated 8 August 2019) the completion of the final
certification.
REA-Z-NF/\A\BEBERT MHIRE FRER  REIRTAZAGENTER REHTRENEISEER &
REREESATEHRRR IR (EC BKEHROREHERE 7
EAR)REHERBABRR(E )
REERE]) (EREAZZ-NENR FANEFTEERREL
NESBRBERRER) RE_PAEBGEHR
AT BRERE o
5 Technical consultation contract for the Shaoxing Yuecheng 2CIEE Provision of consultancy service From 29 September 2020 to the nil
inspection of water and soil conservation Zhejian Construction inrelation to the assessment of completion of the inspection of
facilities (including water and soil Project Management water and soil conservation facilities  the water and soil conservation
conservation monitoring)* (kL AR# &% Limited Company, a (including water and soil conservation  facilities
TR REER) KiMlTEAAR)  non-wholly owned monitoring) of the Mashanzha
dated 29 September 2020 subsidiary of Zhejiang drainage and ancillary river project
Construction Investment (Yuecheng area) in Shaoxing City,
Group Co, Ltd. Zhejiang Province, the PRC
BRA-Z-RFAACTARMKE AEGHARFZER FRER  AIETENIZAETELE A-Z-EREAACTAA &
RS (BKLRIER) RiTE HEERARAR A HAKREETEER (BEE)K BREIRERBRARY
ARRE MIERFRASER TRERE(BEKLEEER)
HERDENFELER RE AR
BAA
6. Subcontracts for greening, paving and Zhejiang Construction ZCIEE Provision of greening, paving and From 4 May 2021 to 31 August nil
landscape in Yuehu District and Binjiang Investment Group Co, landscape services in Yuehu District -~ 2021
Avenue F-G District of Yuehu Cuihu Ltd. and Binjiang Avenue F-G District
Ecological Corridor Construction Project in of Yuehu Cuihu Ecological Corridor ~ The parties to the agreement
Longgang City* (B2 A MBME B Construction ProjectinLonggang ~ have mutually agreed to extend
EERIEER AME - BIAERG City the term of agreement and the
BH&E Bk SBIEEHEERA) expected completion date is 30
dated 1June 2021 (as supplemented by a June 2024.
supplemental agreement dated 30 August
2021)
BRA-T--F/A-BMEAETA MI4RRARESAR FRER NEATARRHLRREER B8-2-_-FRARAZE- &
HEREEBERRIREEANE . HERLA IREARMERBIAE -GBE E--F\A=T-H
BIKEF-CRNGRL  #% 5B R BRRSZERE
EXN0AR(ERRAZE--ENA hEaH 8N EREHEL
=TRNERBERER) RBHAR - MAERIA

HAT-MERA=TA

SUEEEEERERAR - 20236F%F 187 N



Name and date of agreement

BREEREA

Subcontract Agreement in relation to
upgrading and renovation project for

rural domestic sewage in 25 villages in the
secondary protection zone of Changtan
Reservoir* (R Bk E — U RiER25(E

B REESKRABETREPCT
BUeRpERIERIEE 04

[f]) dated 1 July 2018 (as supplemented
by a supplemental agreement dated 19
November 2018)
ABA_S-\FtA-BOREKE
ZRRERSEMNRAEES KRN
ETR(PCIIEAR) BRTRIETE
200RR(ERER-F-\FT-A
TABRHBERBHEIER)

Subcontract agreement dated 1 July 2018in
relation to upgrading and renovation project
of rural domestic sewage in 25 villages in
the secondary protection zone of Changtan
Resenvoir* (RBKE Z R {RER2SER
BREES IR TRECTR
BREOBRTEEIZENDAR) (s
supplemented by a supplemental agreement
dated 28 December 2020)
BHAZE-\FLA-BHREKE
ZRRERSEMNRAEES KRN
ETR(PPCIREAR) BRTRIEIE
200AR(BEHA-S-2F TR
ZTARSERBHERER)
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Connected Transactions
RER 5

Receiving
Paying Party Party
By 0]

Zhejiang Construction ZCIEE
Investment

IRE HRRR

Zhejiang Construction ZCIEE

Investment

IRE HRRR

- Annual Report 2023

Main scope of agreement

IEHAEE

Procurement, transportation,
installation, commissioning, trial
operation of terminal equipment

RERERE B 2K B9

RFET

Provision of management and
maintenance services for the period
between the completion of the
inspection of the project (whole or
partial) and 31 December 2020.

REBRREHAHD THEE
CECEEFCAST-HIES
RREEERELRE -

Term of agreement

e i

From 20 June 2018 to 20
November 2018,

The parties to the agreement
have mutually agreed to extend
the term of the subcontract
agreement to the completion of
the project.

EZZ-\ERAZtHE
“F-\ft-A=tR-

hATHNRACREHELE
EABREARNTRAE
g e

From 30 December 2018 to 30
December 2020

The parties to the agreement
have mutually agreed to extend
the term of the subcontract
agreement to the completion of
the final certification.

“T\FHZAZTHEE
“TCTETCASTR

hRTHNEACERRER
AehROARER AT

T
FERAE

Consideration
&
HK$'000
TER

nil

nil



Connected Transactions
RAEX %

Receiving
Name and date of agreement Paying Party Party Main scope of agreement Term of agreement Consideration
BHEEBREA DEYA 30 IEHSEE R &
HK$'000
TER
9. Subcontract agreement dated 20 June 2018 Zhejiang Construction ZCIEE Excavation, backfilling and concrete  From 20 June 2018 to 20 nil
in relation to upgrading and renovation Investment pouring of new roads; demolition and  November 2018
project of rural domestic sewage in 25 repair of original roads; pipeline laying
villages in the secondary protection zone of and backfilling, new roads; terminal - The parties to the agreement
Changtan Reservoir* (RE7KE —H{RER civil works under the upgradingand  have mutually agreed to extend
25{ER B WS KR A S THREPC renovation project of rural domestic  the term of the subcontract
Tiie) BRIBHIES HB4 sewage. agreement to the completion of
[f]) (as supplemented by a supplemental the final certification.
agreement dated 19 November 2018)
BHAZT-\FRAZTEHREK HIRE WRERR  RRNEEIKRASEIRGH —F-N\FRAZTHEC &
B RRERSEN BN EES KR MEREE WE EFEREL: T \FT-A-tH
WETHE (PCTi2ifAE) BRIERT FRREERAER  EEHR
EXNRAR(EREAZE-\FT— OHE - HER  RRIATR .  BEITOSAEEERER
ATNBOBEGHARER) HBHENARER TR
REARE
10, The Loan Agreement Zhejiang Jianshe ZCIEE ZCIEE provided an entrusted From 22 September 2022 to 21 27
Decoration Group Co, loan in the principal amount of September 2023
Ltd, a non-wholly owned RMB29,500,000 at an interest rate
subsidiary of Zhejiang 0f 6:0% per annum to Zhejiang
Construction Investment Jianshe Decoration through Zhejiang
Group Co, Ltd. (‘Zhejiang Construction Investment Group Co,
Jianshe Decoration”) Ltd, being capital injection for a
special purpose vehicle set up by the
Remaining Group in Chumen Town,
Yuhuan City* (EER MR FIE), the
PRC.
ERiBE WIAEREHEE FRRR  FRRREBNILERREAR 207
ARRE(RIRER BRHABRARMMIRRES
#]) BT ERER B FHEREAEEAARY
EEERNERATN 2950000THEFEER Bk
¥2ENBAR TEERPEERHEMERY
BRREMARLE -

S EBIRAR AT - 2023EE®R 189 NN



Connected Transactions
RRE3E %

Receiving
Name and date of agreement Paying Party Party Main scope of agreement Term of agreement Consideration
BHEERREA BEYA 000 TEHEEE R K&
HK$'000
TER
11, Asubcontract agreement for paving and Zhejiang Province Yijian  ZCIEE Provision of paving and landscape ~ From the project 23478
landscape of future rural construction project  Construction Group services of future rural construction  commencement notice issued
(Paint Jiangnan) in Lupu Town, Longgang ~ Co, Ltd, a non-wholly project (Paint Jiangnan) in Lupu by Zhejiang Province Yijian
City, the PRC* (BEB T "B BT BBARR  owned subsidiary of Town, Longgang City, the PRC Construction (which is dated
BNERIRBESREREEASBAE  Zhejang Construction 6 February 2023) to the date
[f]) dated 6 February 2023 Investment Group Co, of completion and passing of
Ltd. ('Zhejiang Province inspection of the subcontract
Yijian Construction’) work.
BHA-T-=E-A/ANEETIZ FI4-2RR5EE FERR N EEETERIEIERR ANIE-ERRRLES 23478
RIBERARBHERIRAERE ROA(DNIZ-BR RENZRTRERRHSHE PIRN(AHR-Z_=F
BREXHBAR D) BFTERRER BREXRHS ZRARR)RERARERR
REERHERATN BHeIREH
HEENBAR
B.1.C The Construction Agreement dated 17 August BA.CH IXRAMBERRKEER
2022 entered into between Zhejiang Tiantai ARENBERRIZBHH
Construction Environment Technology Company “EZFENATEEHNE
Limited and ZCIEE EdiE
Receiving
Name and date of agreement Paying Party Party Key scope of agreement Term of agreement Consideration
VL EY:] 300 IEGHEREE BEER R
Construction Agreement dated 17 August ~ Zhejiang Tiantai ZCIEE Provision of construction and From 15 June 2022 to 11 April 2023, nil
2022 (as supplemented by a supplemental - Construction installation services for an expansion
agreement dated 30 December 2022) Environment Technology of the Cangshan Sewage Treatment  The parties to the agreement have
Company Limited Plant Construction and procurement  mutually agreed to extend the
of relevant sewage construction agreement to the completion of the
materials and technological systems.  expansion of the Cangshan Sewage
Treatment Plant Construction.
FNATLANRER MIRGFEREHE FRER  AEUSKBERERBEARE —T--FXATRAZE-T-=fF E
E BAR-Z-__F+-A=tHE BR2A BREZERBARRERDS BAt-H-
RRABEAHELR) KEENHRRITRS o

BTN ERERERHAERE
BUSKERERERERRT -
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Connected Transactions

FRER 5

B.1.D Cash Pooling Cooperation Agreements B.1.DE&MEEE

Maximum daily balance of the
deposits paid
by the Target Group
for the period
from 8 May 2023
to 31 August 2023 with
Nature and ABC Bank, BOC Bank
date of Agreements Parties involved Main scope of agreement and ICBC Bank
BEEEER-Z-=F1ANA
E-BCCZENAZ+-REH

REXRT  RERTRIER
HEEERAH BEA TEHELE TEBREFRNEEESHR
1. Cash pooling Zhejiang Construction Participation in the cash pool RMB80.3 million (equivalent to
cooperation Investment Group Co, established by Zhejiang Construction  approximately HK$90.2 million)
agreement dated Ltd., ZCIEE, Changshan Investment Group Co,, Ltd. with
1 September 2021 Construction Investment  Agricultural Bank of China Limited,
Water Company Hangzhou Jiefang Road Sub-branch*

Limitedand Changxing (P EIZ ZR1TIROBERA AN ER

Construction Investment  JRE& 3 17) (‘ABC Bank’)

Water Company Limited
BEHAZT- 5/ MIZEXRESERD /Amﬁléﬁ LREASERNE ARBIEET(AERE
A—AmESHAalE BRAR  FRER F BRODETEEERIROHERE 02HERTL)
i WERKBERARRE ﬂﬁW%W%iﬁU%%ﬁﬁD%

FEREKBERAR  UNERH

2. (Cash pooling Zhejiang Construction Participation in the cash pool
cooperation Investment Group Co, Ltd.  established by Zhejiang Construction
agreement dated and ZCIEE Investment Group Co, Ltd. with Bank
4 October 2021 of Communications Co, Ltd, Hangzhou

Qiutao Road Sub-branch* (@ R1TIR
PERDFAMMERS1T) ('BOC
Bank’)
RPA-S_—F+ MIZEXREERRN 28mMI4ERRESERNE
ANBRESHAE BRARRFERR RAREIBRIROHERAFN

l5E MR A7 ([RBRIT]) RILE
éﬁ i/ﬂl
3. Cash pooling Zhejiang Construction Participation in the cash pool
cooperation Investment Group Co, Ltd.  established by Zhejiang Construction
agreement dated and ZCIEE Investment Group Co, Ltd. with
4 October 2021 Industrial and Commercial Bank of

China Limited, Zhejiang Province

branch* (FBI LA RITAR M AR A

HTITE £17)('1CBC Bank’)
BAZT—5+ MIZERRESERD /Aﬁﬁiéﬁ REEERNAE

AMBMESBAE BRARMIERE AREPEIFRTROARA
[iE: ﬂﬁi%ﬁﬁ@lﬁﬁﬁD R
At
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Connected Transactions
RRE3E %

Nature and
date of Agreements Parties involved
hEMER B =1ba
Cash pooling Zhejiang Construction
cooperation Investment Group
agreement dated Co, Ltd.and Zhejiang
3 January 2023 Tiantai Construction
Environmental Technology
Company Limited
BRAR-Z-=F— MIABXREEERH
A=RMEHAE BRARRNIRAME
ik RRHZAR A
Cash pooling Zhejiang Construction
cooperation Investment Group Co,,
agreement dated Ltd. and Zhejiang Tiantai
3 January 2023 Construction Investment
Water Co, Ltd
BEAR-Z_=F— MI4RRXREEERNR
A=RMESHAE BRARRMNIKGER
ik KBERRATF

For details of the above continuing connected
transactions, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 31 January 2023, 10 February 2023, 17
November 2023 and 14 December 2023 respectively.

192 CR Construction Group Holdings Limited

Maximum daily balance of the
deposits paid

by the Target Group

for the period

from 8 May 2023

to 31 August 2023 with

ABC Bank, BOC Bank

and ICBC Bank
BERKER-_2-=FRANH
EZE-=FNA=+-HHH
REXBT  RBRTRIBR
TERERNEERSER

Main scope of agreement

IEHBER

Participation in the cash pool
established by Zhejiang Construction
Investment Group Co,, Ltd. with ICBC
Bank

2R

PN
Z

i3

N

BRI ERRRESERNE
ARETHRTRINED S

Participation in the cash pool
established by Zhejiang Construction
Investment Group Co, Ltd. with ICBC
Bank

SEMMTIEERRESERNE
BAREIRRTRINES S

EBLlFEFRERIN
H15 - B2HARRBHA
—TZ=F—A=t+t—H"
—E-=F-"A+H =%
= +—A++tBR=-F
=+ _ATHBAMRE -
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Connected Transactions
RREE 5

B.2 Continuing Connected Transaction in relationtothe B.2 EEENIZKREEMILHEER

Mutual Products and Services Supply Framework
Agreement with Zhejiang Construction Group

On 13 July 2023, the Company entered into a mutual products and
services supply framework agreement (the “Framework Agreement”)
with Zhejiang Construction Investment Group Co., Ltd. with a term
commencing from the effective date of the Framework Agreement
and ending on 31 December 2025. Pursuant to the Framework
Agreement, the Company and Zhejiang Construction Investment
Group Co,, Ltd. has conditionally agreed that (i) the Group will supply
certain products and services to the Remaining Group with the
annual caps for each of the years ending 31 December 2023, 2024
and 2025 of HK$55,000,000, HK$110,000,000 and HK$110,000,000
respectively; and (ii) the Remaining Group will supply certain
products and services to the Group with the annual caps for
each of the years ending 31 December 2023, 2024 and 2025 of
HK$52,500,000, HK$ 105,000,000 and HK$ 105,000,000 respectively.

The Framework Agreement constitutes a continuing connected
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For further details of the Framework Agreement, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 13 July 2023 and the circular
of the Company dated 18 September 2023. The resolution of the
Framework Agreement was duly passed at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on 5 October 2023.

The recorded amount of sales transactions for the period
commencing from the effective date of the Framework Agreement
and ended on 31 December 2023 is in aggregate amount of
approximately HK$251,000 and the aggregate amount has not
exceeded the annual cap of HK$55,000,000. All of the aforementioned
transactions fall within the scope of the Framework Agreement.

ELEEEEIERARAR

FREHEEERHBZENEFEBER
=
RZE-_=ZF+tA+=0 AR 7H
MIERBRRESEERMDBR AT
VHEEEmMREHEERGZ (T1E
izl FHHEZRBZEEKRBE
BRE_ZE_AFT+HA=+—Hi-
BEEEHRZ  AQRENTEER
HEEBRODARAFBGEERZENOA
SEMBTEEHES TEMERY
ARz _=F - —T_NFRK
—E_RAFt+ A=+ HILFES
FHFE LR 5 5 &55000,0007% 7T
110,000,0007% 7T }&.110,000,0007%8 7T + K (ii)
BRTEERASEHES TERER
BoERBE-_Z-_=4#. . T _O4F
—E-_AF+_A=+t—HLEE
ZFERNFE LR DB A52,500000%8 7T
105,000,000/ 7T 5.105,000,0007%8 TT °

RELEHRBE14AT - A
ARBNFHERERZS -

THI

2015 5 1

EHERBZENE LB F2H
AAFRAMA-E-_=F+A+=8
MAERARARBHA-_ZT-_=ZFh
AT+ N NBMEK - BEAEZRBZRR
HEODR - -_=F+ARBETYN
AAFIREEFNAE FEERBS -

BEXHGZEXRBPRE-_ST -_=F
+Z A=+ —RHILHBEAEARMNEE
R G BEEHL) 251,000 70 T A @R
KA A 7k 8 855,000,000/ ST F E EBR o
T BERSHEBRIER B ENEE -

20234 193 S
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Connected Transactions
RRE3E %

The recorded amount of procurement transactions for the period
commencing from the effective date of the Framework Agreement
and ended on 31 December 2023 is in aggregate amount of
approximately HK$26,978,000 and the aggregate amount has not
exceeded the annual cap of HK$52,500,000. All of the aforementioned
transactions fall within the scope of the Framework Agreement.

The Directors confirm that the Framework Agreement had been
entered into in the ordinary and usual course of the business of our
Group and was based on normal commercial terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of our Company and our Shareholders
as a whole.

Reviewing of Continuing Connected Transaction

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
in respect of the connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions the Company conducted in the year 2023.

The Company’s external auditor was engaged to report on the
Group's continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31
December 2023 in respect of the Continuing Connected transactions
with consideration amounts during the period as listed in section
B.1.A, B.1.B and B.2 under “Connected Transactions” to the annual
report. The work was performed in accordance with the Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised)
Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

The auditors of the Group have reviewed the continuing connected
transactions of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 in
respect of the Continuing Connected transactions with consideration
amounts during the period as listed in section B.1.A, B.1.B and B.2
under “Connected Transactions” to the annual report and have
confirmed to the Board that nothing has come to their attention
that causes them to believe that the relevant continuing connected
transactions:

(1) have not been approved by the Company's board of directors;
(2)  werenot, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing

policies of the Group for transactions involving the provision of
goods or services by the Group;

Annual Report 2023
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Connected Transactions

BRE 3 5

(3)  were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance (3) Eﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬁlfﬂ 75\ /Eféﬁ
with the relevant agreements governing such transactions; B S5R A nEE

and

(4)  have exceeded the annual caps as set by the Company. (4) BEARAREZENFEEELR-
The Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company have ARaBIFNTESTE R ME
confirmed that all continuing connected transactions for the year REE-ZE-_=F+=-A=+—HI1
ended 31 December 2023 to which the Group was a party: FEBAAREETNETHRIERERS
(1) had been entered into, and the agreements governing those (1 HHEAEEEATR—REBKB
transactions were entered into, by the Group in the ordinary ﬁ‘i RET MBEBEZEXZ0W0
and usual course of business; FNBEAEEREAER —MBED
MBIEHRETN
(2)  had been entered into either: (2 HIER:
(i) onnormal commercial terms or better; or () [EHEEERRLEEGERKET
AVAREE-I)

(i) if there are not sufficient comparable transactions to iy (WLEZHHATLRR S
judge whether they are on normal commercial terms, PK;HJ MERERER GEI
on terms no less favourable to the Company than those RHETT) HARQR M E T ik
available to or (if applicable) from independent third REBILE=F A4 Tk (40
parties; and BA)URBLE=-FES

R FETT - &
(3) had been entered into in accordance with the relevant () BRBREZZEXIZINHE@EHZ
agreements governing those transactions on terms that are fair A HEZRBAVEEBEFSE
and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the ARG RREREH = -

Company as a whole.

The Independent Non-Executive Directors have further confirmed BVEMITE RO E — PR

that:

The continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31 AEBEEBFEATREZE S -_=
December 2023 entered into between the Group and its connected FT+ZRA=T—HIEFEHETHNFE
persons which are subject to annual caps have not exceeded their MEXSXFELBRMAMAR MZE
respective annual caps. RHGURBHEENFE LR -

Details of the related party transactions carried out in the normal course EE%A%?%ZEEEP EITH R A R 5 84
of business are set out in note 32 to the financial statements. Save as & & Eﬁﬁﬁk#ﬁﬁ Bt sE32FR 51 i o BR £ SCPRT

disclosed above, these related party transactions either (i) do not constitute ~ # B8 & S - ZF R 5 R S ()T K LT R
a connected transaction or continuing connected transaction as defined Jﬁﬁgﬂim ) E‘%LS& SRIFBAER S ¢ (i)

under the Listing Rules; or (ii) were fully exempt from shareholder's approval, % 2 H % %8 57 £ M A B 14AE THI R R
annual review and all disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the #t/fE - FEBEZRMBEERTE - Bz SH
Listing Rules. In relation to those related party transactions which constitute B _E 743 BIFT R E MY B2 R 5 Sk IF B RAE R
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction as defined ZHBEB IR IS - A AR B ET EHHR
under the Listing Rules, the Company has complied with the disclosure B 14AZ BV R E ©

requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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Ernst & Young LXK EETEI S #Fhr Tel B3E: +852 2846 9888
EY 27/F, One Taikoo Place &HEHIAHEEEI799, Fax B HE: +852 2868 4432
577( 979 King's Road Ao —BE2712 ey.com

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

To the shareholders of CR Construction Group Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CR
Construction Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”’) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 206 to 355, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BIURBERE 2

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

BAREZFEESREEENERNE - RRY
AHGAMBRRZBEREREEZER -
ZESHEEHRAMBRRERETER
YHKBEENER TETREN FFTY
ZEERRHEBNER -BMATRERER
ME > BFRXPHMLE S 2 FZOAEIE
ZEE -

BEEBITARE P RBE L EZR AW R
KNWBEE-HMzERE BREEZFER

fEE Bt EZEEROERITERERE
HESHEEVBMREANERRMRER 2
TECREF BEBEREFCER BEA
RIBATEEMBIT T  RESHEN
REMBHRERCEZERREER -
FEEREECEIERERA 20235 F 3R
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

WA ERE 2

Key audit matters

HEELER

Revenue recognition for building construction
works and repair, maintenance, addition and
alteration (“RMAA”) works from construction
operations
REBEXEBNEFEEIEREL  RE
HERME (TRMAA]) TRHKZER

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
recognised revenue from construction operations
business amounting to HK$5,231,681,000.
ERE_T_=F+_A=+—BILFE - B
£ B FE R IR B EE X 15 ) U 555,231,681,0008
T o

The Group's revenue from building construction
works and RMAA works from construction
operations is recognised over time, because the
Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created
or enhanced.
EEERABEEBNBFREETIZ RRVMAA
IRNMRESEEEMER  REE &%
B EAEESIERM EEN LR AIER LR
R & P o

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BELETERRIMNEERRELEER

Our audit procedures to assess revenue recognition for building
construction works and RMAA works from construction operations
included the following:
EERAEREREXBNBFTRETRE RRVAAT IR K
BAMANEZREFEENTRIE

evaluating, on a sampling basis, the significant judgements
made by management, through an examination of project
documentation, contracts and variation orders;
FRMEBREBEAXG aHOREES  RAGEEEMR
1) B A I

discussing, on a sampling basis, of the status of projects
under construction with management, finance, and technical
personnel of the Group, in relation to significant judgements
that impact the estimated total revenue and estimated total
costs arising from variations to the original contracts;

B OEEENERE MBERMAEMEKA®RERER
B - B R BT R E RR AN BCE £G4
B 7S B9 B8 K H T

testing, on a sampling basis, the controls of the Group over its
processes to record contract revenue and contract costs;
MEASH BEEEBESANKGEREHKANCRTIZM
B el
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BIURBERE 2

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEELEE EEETERRNMEEERERSER

The revenue recognition involves the use - testing, on a sampling basis, the contract costs incurred

of significant judgements and estimation by checking to payment certificates issued by the Group
uncertainty, including estimating the progress to subcontractors, invoices from suppliers, and payment
towards completion of the services, scope of certificates issued by the architects employed by contract
services required, total contract costs incurred, customers; and

forecasting the costs to complete a contract, - ®R&E BESEMIBEHELOMNRER  HE[MZELHE
valuing contract variations, and estimating the ZRELNTFFTIE B EEAE L /Y5 3R B LA i A%0R1 BT
most likely claims. EENELOKE &

W MR N {8 AR B K 2 B R fh st D REE M -

BEERENTREE FTERENSEE - - checking, on a sampling basis, the estimated total costs

FrEs £ R A HIRKA « TRRISEAN & A RIBR AN - for satisfaction of the contracts to the subcontractors and
AEENNEE KRG XAIGERRESE - suppliers’ quotations, and comparing the actual costs

incurred with the estimated total costs for satisfaction of the
construction works and RMAA works to assess the completion

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3.4, 4 status of the contracts.
and 6 to the consolidated financial statements. - HMERERTKAOMENETAKRAES BEm KRR
HEEESNGEE Y ERERMIE34 - 486 ° HRE WHERTEREE TR MRVMAALREREEANER

BN BB AR SHA RS - LARTAE & KBV SERGIRR
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

WA ERE 2

Key audit matters

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HEELER BEEETERRNIEEFARERSR

Impairment assessment on trade receivables

and contract assets from construction

operations

REEEXEBNERESRERGNEENH

BT

As at 31 December 2023, the Group recorded Our audit procedures in relation to impairment assessment on
gross trade receivables of HK$814,301,000 before  trade receivables and contract assets from construction operations
impairment of HK$14,912,000, and gross contract included the following:

assets of HK$2,512,699,000 before impairment of FEEHFHKBEREXBKNEWE HHIERENEENRE A
HK$10,399,000 from construction operations. MEZEFBFEATEE
RZTZ=F+-A=+—H8 ' E£EHBE

REBEEBHEKE 5 IE R %ES14,301,000
BT (RINBR R E £ 814,912,000 L) ~ K&
%98 = #EFE2,512,699,00078 7T (RHNBRBE S 28
10,399,000/87T) °

The measurement on the Group's trade
receivables and contract assets from construction
operations under the expected credit losses
("ECL") approach was estimated by management
through the application of judgements and
use of highly subjective assumptions, such
as management’s industrial knowledge and
experience. The impact of current economic
factors and forward-looking factors were also
considered in management’s assessment of the
likelihood of recovery from customers.
EREERERABRSEEHNRR (NE
BENTEMBELLR) A RBEEREES
BAMGEERR]) Y ESEKREREX
BHEKESIHRBERGNEENE - BIRE
HWEEFREXRENFETZRE T BRKHE
RAEUARAEEREZNZE -

I 200 CRConstruction Group Holdings Limited

assessing and testing, on a sampling basis, the Group's
processes and controls relating to the monitoring of trade
receivables and contract assets;

MEFHERAS EEEEERESRERGNEEERE
MR B AR SRR I FE B

evaluating the methodologies, inputs and assumptions
used by management in their impairment assessment and
their calculation of the impairment allowance under the ECL
approach;

FEEREEERSNBRENETEANTE  BABENR
BRARBBEREEBEBREATORERS

understanding and discussing with management for their
judgements, historical loss pattern and basis of judgements
used on such data under the ECL approach and understanding
management’s assessment about the overdue receivables or
amounts in dispute;

THRITHEBENREENHE BEERRARRER
HEEBRIUZSREBEEANABRER THREREEY
BB BEYSIARFEF RS BN
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BIURBERE 2

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEELEE EEETERRNMEEERERSER

Relevant disclosures are included in notes -« assessing the impairment allowance as at the end of the

3.4, 4, 18 and 19 to the consolidated financial reporting period, taking into account factors such as the
statements. repayment history, the subsequent settlements of the trade
HEEESH NGV BERMERMAE34 4 18% receivables and the subsequent transfers of contract assets
19 ° to trade receivables, and other relevant information, on a

sampling basis; and

MR AR EAROBERE SR RFONERESL -
KRB GRERBEERANEERRBEZEEESIR
B -UREMHEBAEREEERZ &

evaluating the historical default rates and assumptions
made for current economic conditions and forward-looking

information.

AT 1 R SE BT 18 2R DA K B B BT AR AIOR R AR ME B AV IR AR ©
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BIURREESE 2

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the
Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and

our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

Annual Report 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BIURBERE 2

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of

internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BIRBERE 2

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BIURBERE 2

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ip Hing Lam.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

21 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
eEaR

Year ended 31 December 2023 # 2 — &

ZFFTZHA=1—HIFE

2022
=B
(Restated)
(&)
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHxT FATT
REVENUE Uk 2% 6 5,445,560 6,409,429
Contract costs B XA (5,139,569) (6,152,931)
Gross profit EF 305,991 256,498
Other income HAb A 6 13,226 8,897
Administrative expenses THHAX (173,038) (150,424)
Other operating expenses, net H b s 2 S F 5 (8,629) (12,832)
Finance costs B B A 8 (52,649) (20,263)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX R B4 A% R 7 84,901 81,876
Income tax expense Frig®i X2 17 (12,676) (8,936)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FREF 72,225 72,940
Attributable to: AT &5 ek -
Owners of the Company ViN/NECIE =N 71,887 72,106
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR A 2R 338 834
72,225 72,940
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE ZAAFEEREZIZEA
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF EEEsRER
THE COMPANY
Basic and diluted HAK#E 13 HK14.38 HK14.42
centsiE L cents/B Il
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

FeRMZERRR

Yearended 31 December 2023 B ZE —EFE - =F+ _H=+—HIFFZE

2022
T
(Restated)
(&E5)
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FE T FAT
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRER 72,225 72,940
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS Hih 2 HEEE
Other comprehensive loss that may be REZBERGEERSEE
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent BammEMEEESRE :
periods:
Exchange differences on translation of MEBINEFEENER =8
foreign operations (10,140) (35,533)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FREMZEEE  NKRHE
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (10,140) (35,533)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FRE2HEKBREE
FOR THE YEAR 62,085 37,407
Attributable to; AR %5 B4
Owners of the Company PINNETEZ =N 61,975 38,272
Non-controlling interests FE 2 AR A 2 110 (865)
62,085 37,407
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
FReMBKAER

31 December2023 —FE=-=#+=-H=+—H

2022
(Restated)
(E7)
HK$’000 HKS$'000
THET FATT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y B &R 14 27,031 28,935
Right-of-use assets FHREEE 15(a) 37,348 48,578
Operating concession rights &ER TR 16(a) 32,980 34,855
Receivables and contract assets under RS ETEE TR
service concession arrangements WK R AL EE 16(b) 240,471 149,184
Other intangible assets HthfEpEE 17 291 307
Prepayments and deposits R RERES 20 8,165 9,169
Deferred tax assets RIETRIBEE 25 7,407 3,665
Total non-current assets ERBEERE 353,693 274,693
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Receivables and contract assets under RIS AR RELHET Y
service concession arrangements EURIERENEE 16(b) 7,098 6,326
Contract assets EHEE 18 2,564,727 2,114,130
Trade receivables & W B 5 FRIE 19 816,354 873,426
Prepayments, deposits and other TBRHIE - Re REM
receivables FEUW R IE 20 99,754 53,758
Amounts due from an intermediate JfE W — FE1 A RT3 A A &)
holding company E 32(b) 6,744 15,000
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries NGO 32(b) 45,288 40,546
Loan to a fellow subsidiary LT —RRRKBRAN
=& 32(b) - 33,025
Tax recoverable AU [0 7% 18 1,726 5,754
Restricted bank balance PR B R 1T 45 R 21 = 168
Cash and cash equivalents BeMREZEEY 21 235,971 158,153
Total current assets mEEEEE 3,777,662 3,300,286
CURRENT LIABILITIES nREBEE
Trade and retention payables BB S RREBENIA 22 1,534,292 1,514,497
Other payables, accruals and provision H fth A FE -
FEET B R KB E 23 1,192,425 930,584
Interest-bearing bank borrowings T EIRITER 24 344,984 172,239
Amounts due to an intermediate holding & — & #F R 1ZE AR A A
company IR 32(b) 9,143 4,187
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries AN E I EENGIE ¢ 32(b) 15,824 17,266
Loans from an intermediate holding ®E—E P EIZER A FA
company B 32(b) 274,143 18,988
Lease liabilities HEAR 15(b) 21,856 18,765
Tax payable JEE 1~ B 1R 10,534 5,080
Total current liabilities mEBEESE 3,403,201 2,681,606
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 374,461 618,680
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

ReMBRAR 2

31 December 2023 —FE=—=#+=-H=+—H

2022
—_F-—
(GESEIE.))
(&=31)
HK$’000 HKS'000
FH&T BT
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT REERRDAR
LIABILITIES 728,154 893,373
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEMF
Provision B 23 5,700 5,700
Lease liabilities HEBRE 15(b) 16,043 28,953
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTERITER 24 70,599 24,965
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBAE 25 963 =
Total non-current liabilities Bl =R g t-c) 93,305 59,618
Net assets FEE 634,849 833,755
EQUITY Ex
Equity attributable to equity holders ZAATEZEFF A
of the Company Bz
Share capital % < 26 5,000 5,000
Reserves HE 27 614,388 811,315
619,388 816,315
Non-controlling interests SR AR A 2 15,461 17,440
Total equity AR 634,849 833,755
ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD
REESE RERESS
Li Kar Yin Guan Manyu
5B EWF
Director Director
EZE EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FeERERE

Year ended 31 December 2023 # =

— = —

= __

ZFFTZHA=1—HIFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

L] SN
Asset  Exchange Non-
Share ~ Share  Merger  Capital Statutory revaluation fluctuation Retained controlling
capital premium’  reserve’ reserve’ reserve’  reserve’  reserve’ profits’ Total interests
EE  E%
Ba ROER REGE ERGE GERE ERRE 298F REENT 4% FBRER
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKY'000  HKY'000  HK'000
Thn TEn TEr THEn TEn TEr TEr  TEn  TAr  TEn
At Janvary 003, as previowsly  R=E-=#-A-8-
teported (audited) REHER (@R 5000 416757 (169985) 1207 1 13 (15466) 320,690 569,092 - 569,092
Deemed distibution aisng fom ~ WEERK £ F# 3
acquistion of subsidaries under ~ FYBA RFTELR
common corol BN 1 - - mm - 396 - (M0 3259 W3 1740 264663
At1 January 2003 (estted) NE-=F-F-H
(@) 5000 416757 51,731 120N 3,998 13 (26480) 353219 816315 17440 833755
Proft forthe year ERigil - - = = = = - N Ty B s
Other comprehensive loss EMENREEE:
for the year:
Bichange dffrences on transition - HESA ERE LA
of foreln operation EiZE - - - - - - 991 - 9912 28 (10140)
Total comprehensive income/(oss) ~ EM2ENE/ (5E)
forthe year et - - - - - - 991 TEeT 61975 10 62085
Final 2022 dhvidend “RoCERERE ) - (9,000) - - - - - - (9000 - (5000
Iterim 2023 dvdend “RocERERE 1 - (150) - - - - - - (150) - (150
Deemed distibution aisng fom BB £ F# 3
acquistion o sbsdiaries under B ARHELH
common contrl RERK - - (42469) - - - - - (242,469) - (42,469)
Acquistionof on-contolling. W ZEIRER
interets without change ERsEER
in control - - - 67 - - - - 67 (2089  (2022)
Transfer o Statutory reserve E\tRRE - - - - 18 - - ) - - -
At31 December 2023 O
t-A=1-A 5000 400257 (190732 12,138 5,849 13 (36392) 423255 619388 15461 634,849
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)

ReEREBRZ

Year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ _—E —=F+ _HA=+—HIFZF

Attrbutable to equity holders of the Company
A N

Share

capital

Share

premium’

Merge

Asset

revaluation

Retained
profts*

Non-
controlling

interests

Total
equity

Al January 00, aspreviously  R-E-ZE-R-R-
reported (audted) REHER(EER) 5000 49257 (16078Y) 1200 12 13 (2559) 23158 556,67 - 5667
Deerned disrbution arsng fom R 2k 88
acquiston of subsidiries under —~ FYBAREL#
common conrol BFAK 1 - - 18496 SK ! =993 1930 2636 1%8 2B
At 1 January 2022 restated] \Z3-—E-F-f
(@e3) 5000 429257 U179 1201 23 13 1354 290488 772683 1968 774651
Proft or the year Ef T = = = = = - - 706 72106 B T
Other comprehensive EMENZEEE:
loss for the year:
Exchange diferences on ranslation  BE BN EREAHY
of foreign operation EiEE - - - - = - (38 - BB 089 (5%
Total comprehensive income/(loss]  ERZENE/ ()
for the year %E - - - - - - (33834) 72,06 3827 (865) 37407
Final 2021 dvidend “Ro-ERERS 2 - - - - - - - o o) - m
Interim 2022 dhidend ZRoCEnBRE 2 - (250 - - - - - (12500 - (150
ksueof newshares oformer —— Z7HRG FaIk
controling shareholders i - - %8 - - - - - 3758 - %%
Diidend to fomercontroling.~ EHRE FAERRE
shareholders - - - - - - - (69) (69) - (69)
Contrbuton from non-controling R EFEERRRHE
shareholders - - - - - = = = -l 1637
Deemed distrbution arsng fom B4 EENER LR
acquisiion of subsidiaries under R RBIHEAR
common contolnthe prioryears  FEEEVE(ER R - - b - - - - B0 - )
Transfer to statutory eserve Ny - - - - - S ) - - -
At31 December 2022 (estated) ~ W-E- %
T-B=t-R(&E])) 5000 416,757 51137 1201 399 13 (20480) 3329 816315 17440 83375
# These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * ZERBRE BREGAVBAR AR ANH
HK$614,388,000 (31 December 2022 (restated): HK$811,315,000) in the 4R A 155614,3880008 0 (= = =
consolidated statement of financial position. +=-A=1+—8B(&&E5) : 811,315,000
WIT) °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FeBeRER

Year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ —E —=F+ -_HA=+—HIFZF

(GESEYEe))
(&eE75)
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FATT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETBFABRERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax B &1 B & 84,901 81,876
Adjustments for: FE
Finance costs Bl & B AR 8 52,649 20,263
Bank interest income RITFEUA 6 (1,088) (837)
Interest income from a loan to a fellow e S IE B =N
subsidiary B 24 A 6 (844) (1,966)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of HEME - BE K&ER
property, plant and equipment, net BZEE(YzR) F5E 7 (607) 76
Loss on modification of leases HEEREE 7 39 -
Depreciation of property, plant and M- BERZETE
equipment 7 9,647 11,406
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 7 22,377 21,295
Amortisation of operating concession EIE TR
rights 7 1,385 1,449
Amortisation of other intangible assets H b 2 B 7 8 7 82 208
Impairment of receivables and AR 75 RE AT e e HE T B FE UK
contract assets under service HERGHEERE
concession arrangements 7 - 12
Impairment of trade receivables FEWE 5 ZIERE 7 2,945 8,707
Impairment of contract assets EHEERE 7 3,802 3,655
Provision for rectification works and B TR MR RA B
claims 23 15,275 =
190,563 146,144
Increase in receivables and contract assets PR TG 45F 5F#E 22 HE T H JE U 71
under service concession arrangements 18 & & #) & EE 1 N (94,853) (36,340)
Increase in contract assets BHEERN (461,969) (326,034)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables  JEUE 5 RIE R L~ (3L 0) 49,709 (191,554)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and AR ~ e RHM
other receivables FE U SRIBIE AN (45,017) (18,211)
Increase in trade and retention payables — [EfT & 5 MR EE & mRIE1E 0 20,945 373,628
Increase in other payables, accruals and ~ EM B FE « [BETE R K
provision P (10 247,535 105,710
Movement in balances with intermediate B R R IR A B B9 45 68
holding companies ) 28al(ii) 16,887 (13,529)
Movement in balances with fellow B [E ZH B A 7 8 A
subsidiaries #H) (6,556) 17,912
Cash generated from/(used in) operations #E 4 F118,/ (FTF) IR& (82,756) 57,726
Interest element on lease liabilities HEBENFEH (1,168) (988)
Interest paid B AF & (8,507) (6,627)
Hong Kong profits tax paid ENEBNIEH (2,878) (16,396)
Overseas taxes paid BEAEINEIE (3,397) (2,098)
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating & & BT,/ (FT )
activities REeEMEFH (98,706) 31,617
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

ﬁéﬁﬁ%ii%

Year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ _—E —=F+ _HA=+—HIFZF

HK$°000
TET

2022
— = —

R S —

(GESEIE.))

(REZ)
HK$'000
TET

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZHFERERE

ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received B U ER1T A B 1,088 837
Additions of other intangible assets mﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ/ﬁF 17 (70) (256)
Purchases of items of property, plantand BB - BE &

equipment HEIEE 14 (8,246) (12,117)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEME BB &

property, plant and equipment X EIE A ISR 1,067 9
Interest received from a loan to a fellow 4 F— IR R B A FA

subsidiary EREE YH B 844 1,966
Repayment of a loan to a fellow subsidiary %5 ¥ — & H%M‘JE NG

BEFEN 32,751 -

Decrease in restricted bank balance PR ISR 1T 4 BR R A 167 130
Net cash flows from/(used in) WREESRE, (FFA)BEE

investing activities M= TR 27,601 (9,431)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METBFERERE

ACTIVITIES
Deemed distribution arising from U B <2 LR 42 1) | BT B

acquisition of subsidiaries under FREEMRIED IR

common control (242,469) (9,200)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests W BE FEE R M 2 (2,022) -
Proceeds from capital injection from former 38 B B #5 A% A% 3R A9+ & Fr 15

controlling shareholders A = 36,758
Capital contributions from non-controlling 2R & JE#5 i% I SR A H &

shareholders - 16,337
New loans from an intermediate holding 3k B —&E I A & A9 3T

company B 28(b) 957,141 -
Repayment of loans from an intermediate {38 5K E — Al e 4%

holding company CON=EAN 28(b) (702,420) -
New bank borrowings FiERITER 28(b) 1,976,256 1,280,000
Repayment of bank borrowings BBBITER 28(b) (1,757,207) (1,244,299)
Principal portion of lease payments HENKOEEH D 28(b) (21,010) (18,676)
Interest paid =ENEN ,Eg'\ (42,974) (12,648)
Dividend paid BT E 12 (16,500) (21,500)
Dividend paid to former controlling AT R B é‘ T AT B AR R

shareholders - (698)
Net cash flows from financing activities BRI EIREREFE 148,795 26,074
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

FeERERER~Z

Year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ —E —=F+ -_HA=+—HIFZF

HK$°000
TAT

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH ReRRSEEYWEMFEE

2022
— = —

R S —

(Restated)

(REH)
HK$'000
THET

EQUIVALENTS 77,690 48,260
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FHIRERIREEEY

of year 158,153 116,351
Effect on foreign exchange rate changes,  SMEFE R a2 2 %58

net 128 (6,458)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT REeERBESEEYEHRDIN

END OF YEAR 235,971 158,153
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH FRRERREEZEY

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents BHe MREEBY 21 235,971 158,153
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Notes to Financial Statements

M ¥R

31 December2023 —ZE_-_=F+_-_H=+—H

CR Construction Group Holdings Limited (the “Company’) is a
limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with its shares listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange’). The registered
office address of the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
PO. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The
principal place of business of the Company is located at Unit Nos.
3-16, Level 32, Standard Chartered Tower of Millennium City 1,
No. 388 Kwun Tong Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) are the construction operations which
comprised of the provision of building construction works and
repair, maintenance, addition and alteration (“RMAA") works
in Hong Kong, Malaysia and the United Kingdom and the
environmental operations in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC").

CR Construction Investments Limited (“CR Investments’), a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI"),
is the immediate holding company of the Company. In the
opinion of the Directors, Zhejiang State-owned Capital Operation
Company Limited, a company established in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"), is the ultimate holding company of
the Company.

ELEEEEITERARAR
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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1. Corporate and group information (Continued) 1. EREBEEHR 2
Information about subsidiaries EENBARMNFESE
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows: RAGBRRIMFFENAT

Place of Issued Percentage of equity
incorporation/ ordinary/ attributable to the
registration and registered Company
business share capital KAREHLERFEAL  Principal
EmEL/ BRTER/ Direct Indirect  activities
BEREX S Ef R E# B FEXK
CR Construction (Building) Company Macau MOP25,000 - 100 Building construction services
ZERE(ET)ARAT 2 250008 7T BFRERB
(R Construction Company Limited Hong Kong HK$319,500,000 - 100 Building construction services
and investment holding
EEREARAA R 319,500,000 7 BFRERBRRZERR
(R Construction (UK) Company Limited UK (GBP80,000 - 100 Building construction services
FERE(RE)ARAT EE 80,000 BTRERE
(R Construction Development Limited BVI US$1 100 - Investment holding
EEREERARDA ABRAES 3 REER
(R Construction (UK) Investments BVI Us$1 100 - Investment holding
Company Limited REREAHE (E REER
(R Construction Technology Investment ~ BVI HKS$100 100 - Investment holding
Limited RERKES 1008 7T RARK
CR Engineering Company Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Building construction services
EEREERTRARAR &k 10,0007 7T BTRERK
(R Engineering Investment Limited BVI HK$100 100 - Investment holding
RERKES 1008 7T REZR
(R Sea (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia RM1,000,000 - 100 Building construction services
SRAE 10000002 % BTRERK
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1.

Corporate and group information (Continued)

CRTECH Company Limited
ELRENRARAA

Changshan Construction Investment
Water Company Limited™®

BLBRKBERAA e

Changxing Construction Investment
Water Company Limited*@

RERRKBRRA A

Changxing Construction Investment
Environmental Technology Company

Limited*e

RERRRRHBARAF

Mount Land Limited

BLARAF

Triumph Success Developments Limited

Zhejiang Construction Investment
Environment Engineering Company
Limited (“ZCIEE")**e

MIRRRERIRERAT
(DHRRR])

Fiace of

incorporation/

registration and

business
HREL/
BARE£HE

Hong Kong
&R

PRC/Chinese Mainland

RE/PEAL

PRC/Chinese Mainland

hE/PEAL

PRC/Chinese Mainland

hE/PEAL

Hong Kong

i

BVI
EBEIES

PRC/Chinese Mainland

hE/rEAL

Issued
ordinary/
registered
share capital
BRTEE/
Ef R

HK$10,000
10,0007 70

RMB300,000

AR E300,0007

RMB1,000,000

AR 1,000,007

RMB10,000,000

AR 10,000,000

HK$52

58T

HK$20,000,000
20,000,000 7T

RMB200,000,000
(2022:
RMB181,000,000)

A #200,000,000
T(ZEZZF:A
R #181,000,0007C)

1. EEREEEH )

Percentage of equity
attributable to the
Company
RARAEEREED L
Direct Indirect

E& 3

100 =

ELEEEEITERARAR

Principal
activities

TERHK

Building construction services

BTRERY

Sewage and reclaimed water treatment

services

AKRBEKRERS

Sewage and reclaimed water treatment

services

KRBEKRE RS

Environmental improvement related
construction services, sewage and
reclaimed water treatment services,
and water distribution services

RENERBNRERS  AkRE
EKEERS -« DA REKRE

Building construction services and
investment holding

BYRERYREARK

Investment holding

REER

Construction, rehabilitation and
operation of sewage and reclaimed
water treatment service and
investment holding

R BEREEAKRBEKRRE
TR A R R B Rk
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

M¥BHmRMeE 2

31 December2023 —FE=-=#+=-H=+—H

1. &EREEEH @)

1. Corporate and group information (o

Information about subsidiaries (Continued) EBEMBRARNES (&)
Place of Issued Percentage of equity
incorporation/ ordinary/ attributable to the
registration and registered Company
business share capital KAREKLEZEAL  Principal
EmEY/ BRTEE/ Direct Indirect activities
BRREXBE EfRE Ef B TEXEK
Zhejiang Tiantai Construction PRC/Chinese Mainland  RMB44,170,000 = 70 Sewage and reclaimed water treatment
Environment Technology Company service
Limited™®
MIRGFRRRURARARe DB/ HEARY AR 844,1700007 BKRBEKRERS
Zhejiang Tiantai Construction Investment  PRC/Chinese Mainland  RMB12,000,000 - 80  Sewage and reclaimed water treatment
Water Company Limited**® services
MIXBREKBERAF hE/ERL AR 120000007 AkRBEKRERS
# Unofficial translation
* Registered under the laws of the PRC as a limited liability company * BiIERR RS AEREEAT
@ During the year, the Group acquired Zhejiang Construction e FER > AEBWEINTEIBRETIES
Investment Environment Engineering Company Limited and its BAGIREKBAT - 5REUEHNE—
subsidiaries. Further details of the acquisition are included in note SEE SN R RERN D o

2 to the financial statements.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in LR B TEERAY AN EESEEESE
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for BB EKNANEBRZTEETEILS
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the BB AT - BE=245  7|XEMKE
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion NEIMBR B EeEHEIERE -

of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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31 December2023 —ZE_-_=F+_-_H=+—H

On 31 January 2023, the Company entered into a share
purchase agreement (the “Share Purchase Agreement’) with
China Zhejiang Construction Group (H.K.) Limited (“CZH"),
an intermediate holding company of the Company, pursuant
to which the Company agreed to purchase the entire issued
share capital of ZCIEE, a company incorporated in the PRC (the
"Acquisition”).

The consideration payable under the Share Purchase Agreement
for the Acquisition was RMB201,000,000 (approximately
HK$228,409,090). Further details of the Acquisition are set
out in the Circular of the Company dated 31 March 2023. The
consideration paid was approximately HK$227,876,000 and the
Acquisition was completed on 8 May 2023.

The Company, CZH and ZCIEE were under the common control
of Zhejiang Construction Investment Group Company Limited
("ZCI"), an intermediate holding company of the Company,
before and after the Acquisition. The Acquisition has been
accounted for based on the principles of merger accounting as
if the Acquisition had occurred on the date when the combining
entities first came under the common control of ZCl. Accordingly,
the related consolidated statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022
include the results and cash flows of ZCIEE and its subsidiaries
(the “"ZCIEE Group”) from the earliest date presented or since
the date when the subsidiaries and/or business first came under
the common control of ZCl, where this is a shorter period. The
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2022 have been restated to include the carrying amounts of the
assets and liabilities of the ZCIEE Group.

ELEEEEITERARAR
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B85 AR%201,000,0007T (BBERH
228,409,090/ 7T.) © B B UL E FIE 8 #
—FSHBERARRAPAE-_T—_=F
ZA=T—HMBH - EXNRENAR
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“=FRANHTEK -
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WMIEERIEEEERMDARDF ([
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December2023 —FE=-=#+=-H=+—H

HEZEHTHWEEE @)
AEBPHHREOLBSED TET
ABERRRREBNMBRERESR -
Ui S 5 TR A PO B DA TR R A b e
BRREFINER BRI T -

2. Acquisition under common control (Continued) 2,
The comparative amounts of the financial statements of the
Group have been restated to include the financial statement
items of the ZCIEE Group. The effect of the Acquisition on
and, hence, the items so restated in the comparative financial
statements are summarised below:

HEE_F-__F+-A=+—H

Effect on the consolidated statement of profit or loss

for the year ended 31 December 2022

HEENGFEBERNTE

Acquisition
As previously  of the ZCIEE  Consolidation
reported Group adjustment As restated
i

REFZH HERREE REaNRE FE ]

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

T THT T T

REVENUE & 6,266,589 142,840 = 6,409,429

Contract costs A AR (6,046,024) (106,907) = (6,152,931)

Gross profit E7 220,565 35,933 = 256,498

Other income A 3,905 4,992 - 8,897

Administrative expenses TRAX (128937) (21,487) - (150,424)

Other operating expenses, net Hi R &SR8 (12,677) (155) = (12,832)

Finance costs REKA (18579) (1684) - (20,263)

PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRBE AT R R 64,277 17,599 = 81,876

Income tax expense HiRCEER (7,745) (1,191 = (8,936)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FREN 56,532 16408 - 72,940
Attributable to: WTERER :

Owners of the Company ZNUNGIE T Z= DN 56,532 15,574 - 72,106

Non-controlling interests R - 834 - 834

56,532 16,408 = 72,940
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2. Acquisition under common control (ontinves) 2. HEEHITHOWREBEIE 2
Effect on the consolidated statement of HEBE_FE_—_F+-HA=+—8H
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 LEENGRELZEHBRRNTE
December 2022

Acquisition
As previously  of the ZCIEE Consolidation
reported Group adjustment As restated
kg
REAMZHR HERREE REWE RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ERERF 56,532 16,408 - 72,940
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS Hit2EEE
Other comprehensive loss that may REZ R aeE 3
be reclassified to profit or loss in NEEBRHENEMD
subsequent periods: ZEEE
Exchange difference on translation of ~ HE BN EBELH
foreign operations EHZE (12,907) (22,626) - (35,533)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVELOSSFOR SR H 2 HEHE -
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX MERBR (12,907) (22,626) - (35,533)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/  FR2HEWE / (F8)
(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR okl 43,625 (6,218) = 37,407
Attributable to: UTE R
Owners of the Company NG YN 43,625 (5,353) = 38,272
Non-controlling interests R & = (865) = (865)
43,625 (6218) - 37,407
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2. Acquisition under common control Continves) 2. FHEIEHEI THUWESEIE 2)
Effect on the consolidated statement of financial H_EBE_—_F+-_A=+—HHH
position as at 31 December 2022 EMBERRRNEE

Acquisition
At previously  of the ZCIEE Consolidation
reported Group adjustment As restated
B8
REAMZR HERREE RERE KRE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THBT FTET BT AT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBDEE
Property, plant and equipment mE - BEREE 25,998 2937 = 28935
Right-of-use assets FREEE 48322 256 - 48578
Operating concession rights LERITE - 34,855 - 34,855
Receivables and contract assets under R FHELZHTH
service concession arrangements EWFIERANEE - 149,184 - 149,184
Other intangible assets EthEREE = 307 = 307
Prepayments and deposits BRRERES 9,169 - = 9,169
Deferred tax assets ELERBEE 3,500 165 - 3,665
Total non-current assets FRBEELE 86,989 187,704 - 274,693
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Receivables and contract assets under  FRISHFFFEZHTH
service concession arrangements ERFEREHEE - 6,326 - 6,326
Contract assets ANBE 2,064,030 50,100 = 2,114,130
Trade receivables [EW B 5 B 861,294 12,132 - 873,426
Prepayments, deposits and other BRRE ke RkEM
receivables fEW B 49,010 4,748 = 53,758
Amounts due from an intermediate JE e — A R R A )
holding company FHE - 15,000 - 15,000
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries  JEURE Z K B A 7B = 40,546 = 40,546
Loan to a fellow subsidiary LY -RRZMBAR
B - 33,025 - 33,025
Tax recoverable ER k] 5,754 = = 5,754
Restricted bank balance X HIRTEE R = 168 = 168
Cash and cash equivalents BeRRELEED 93,278 64,875 - 158,153
Total current assets M EELE 3,073,366 226,920 - 3,300,286
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HEZEHHTHWEBEE @)
WS- —_F+=-A=+—BH&
BUBRRERNTE (&)

2. Acquisition under common control (Continued) 2.

Effect on the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2022 (Continued)

Acquisition
Atpreviously  of the ZCIEE Consolidation
reported Group adjustment As restated
e
REBZH HERREE RARE RE
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
TET THT FHT TAT
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade and retention payables ENBERREETIE 1,491,780 22717 = 1,514,497
Other payables, accruals and provision — E B ZIE « fE5T
ERRERB 848,985 81,599 - 930,584
Interest-bearing bank borrowings ERTER 170,000 2239 = 172,239
Amounts due to an intermediate L YNEIE
holding company B 4,187 - - 4,187
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries e 2B AR FIB = 17,266 = 17,266
Loans from an intermediate holding KE—BPEERD A6
company 6N 18,988 - - 18,988
Lease liabilities HEERE 18,765 - = 18,765
Tax payable ERHIE 3,905 1,175 = 5,080
Total current liabilities EICRET Ck 2,556,610 124,99 = 2,681,606
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 516,756 101,924 = 618,680
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBER
LIABILITIES 603,745 289,628 - 893,373
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES b=
Provision BB 5,700 = = 5,700
Lease liabilities HEERE 28953 - - 28953
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTRRITER - 24,965 - 24,965
Total non-current liabilities FnBaELR 34,653 24,965 2 59,618
Net assets BEE 569,092 264,663 - 833,755
EQUITY ’i
Share capital N 5,000 212,134 (212,134) 5,000
Reserves & 564,092 35,089 212,134 811,315
569,092 247223 - 816,315
Non-controlling interests A e 17,440 = 17,440
Total equity BmAE 569,092 264,663 - 833,755
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HE#ZEH THWBEIE2)
H_E_—_F—-—H—HAWNGEEWK

2. Acquisition under common control (Continued) 2.

Effect on the consolidated statement of financial

position as at 1 January 2022

AR R B R

&

Acquisition
As previously  of the ZCIEE  Consolidation
reported Group adjustment As restated
B8
REAMZR HERREE RERE KRE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THBT FTET BT AT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBDEE
Property, plant and equipment mE - BEREE 24,468 4238 = 28,706
Right-of-use assets FREEE 62,717 457 - 63,174
Operating concession rights LERITE - 39,606 - 39,606
Receivables and contract assets under — FRFHEFiE 2 T B9 IR
service concession arrangements FERBHEE = 126,827 = 126,827
Other intangible assets HuEREE - 284 - 284
Prepayments and deposits BRRERES 8,261 - - 8,261
Deferred tax assets EERBEE 428 693 = 1,121
Total non-current assets FRPAERE 95,874 172,105 - 267979
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Receivables and contract assets under  FRF 4 5 i 20 8E T K FE IR
service concession arrangements HERENEE - 4811 - 4811
Contract assets ENEBE 1,745,968 58,665 = 1,804,633
Trade receivables EUWE 5 IE 707,195 14,169 - 721,364
Prepayments, deposits and other BARE ke REME
receivables WA 29390 7,808 - 37,198
Amounts due from an intermediate el — B R ER A AR
holding company 1B - 8,779 - 8,779
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries & U 7 Z W B A B ZIE - 49,205 - 49,205
Amount due from a related party e — % @R 50E - 211 - 21
Loan to a fellow subsidiary LT -RRZMNE AR
B - 36,081 - 36,081
Tax recoverable AU E B 336 - = 336
Restricted bank balance X HIRITHEH = 320 = 320
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBAEEEY 69,137 47,214 - 116,351
Total current assets mEBEERE 2,552,026 227,263 - 2,779,289
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HEZEHTHWEBEE2)
H_ZE__—_F—-—H—HBWNGEEMK
MRROSE (E)

2. Acquisition under common control (Continued) 2.

Effect on the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 1 January 2022 (Continued)

Acquisition
As previously  of the ZCIEE Consolidation
reported Group adjustment As restated
e
REBZH HERREE REWE "REG|
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT FHT TAT
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade and retention payables ENBHRREZET 1,116,519 31,338 = 1,147,857
Other payables, accruals and provision — E4h A » E;T & F
LB 724,785 109,282 - 834,067
Interest-bearing bank borrowings SFRRTER 130,000 2446 = 132,446
Amounts due to an intermediate holding [ - — & A f 12 AR 2\ Al 3¢
company 1B 28,058 - - 28,058
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries e R 2K B AR ZUE - 4,904 - 4,904
Loans from an intermediate holding wE— R BERATN
company BER 20,089 - - 20,089
Lease liabilities HEAR 21,288 - - 21,288
Tax payable [ERTIR 5610 1113 = 6,723
Total current liabilities EICRET Ck 2,046,349 149,083 = 2195432
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 505,677 78,180 = 583,857
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBAR
LIABILITIES 601,551 250,285 - 851,836
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES b=
Provision BB 7,000 = = 7,000
Lease liabilities HEERE 38,384 - - 38384
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTRRITER - 31,801 - 31,801
Total non-current liabilities FnBaELR 45384 31,801 2 77,185
Net assets BEE 556,167 218,484 - 774,651
EQUITY ’i
Share capital N 5,000 175,377 (175,377) 5,000
Reserves & 551,167 41,139 175377 767,683
556,167 216,516 - 772,683
Non-controlling interests RS - 1,968 - 1,968
Total equity gt 556,167 218484 L 774,651
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2.

Acquisition under common control (Conti

Effect on the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2022

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

As previously
reported

REAMZH
HK$'000
TET

CEZBHERERE

HEZEHTHRBEE®)

WRE-B-—F+=-A=+—8
LEENEARSRRRNYS

Acquisition
of the ZCIEE
Group

ks
HERREE
HK$'000
THET

Consolidation

adjustment As restated

RaRE
HKS$000
TAT

)
HKS000
TRT

Profit before tax R 254 A 71 64,277 17,599 - 81,876
Adjustments for: HE
Finance costs B & A 18,579 1,684 = 20,263
Bank interest income RITHIBIA (225) (612) - (837)
Interest income from a loan to a fellow %5 F — A X B A A
subsidiary WERMEBLA - (1,966) - (1,966)
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEME  BERRE
plant and equipment, net HEZEREE 76 - - 76
Depreciation on property, plant and ME BERRERE
equipment 10,250 1,156 = 11,406
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRELERE 21,127 168 - 21,295
Amortisation of operating concession 4 B A 15
rights - 1,449 - 449
Amortisation of other intangible assets ~ E At & &= & 84 = 208 = 208
Impairment of receivables and RIS R R T8
contract assets under service ERFERANEE
concession arrangements AL = 12 = 12
Impairment of trade receivables JEWE 5 SR A 8,398 309 - 8,707
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) AWEERE/
of contract assets (RE#ED) 3,888 (233) = 3,655
126,370 19,774 - 146,144
Increase in receivables and contract PRE L HE T M B
assets under service concession TBERAENEELMN
arrangements - (36,340) - (36,340)
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets A KVEER D/ (3En) (329,992) 3,958 = (326,034)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables  [EWE 5 ZIBR D/
(&) (192,114) 560 - (191,554)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, BRHE R REM
deposits and other receivables MR ZIBR A/ (3E10) (20,833) 2622 = (18,211)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and ENBHRREETIE
retention payables i,/ GBi) 379,817 (6,189) - 373,628
Increase/(decrease) in other payables, —~ HAsERFIE - Ext B
accruals and provision REELEN i) 124,838 (19,128) = 105,710
Movement in balances with EﬁiﬁF AR 22 A6 4 2
intermediate holding companies EE) (4,668) (8,861) - (13,529
Movement in balances with fellow BF RN AR & gk
subsidiaries EE) - 17,912 - 17,912
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HEBE_FE_—_F+-HA=+—8H
LTEENGERERERNTE (£)

Effect on the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (Continued)

Cash generated from/(used in)

g2mE/ (MARE

As previously
reported

REMNZH
HK$000
TRET

Acquisition
of the ZCIEE
Group

kg
HREREE
HK$'000
TAT

Consolidation
adjustment

GaRE
HK$000
TAT

As restated

255
HK$'000
T

operations 83,418 (25,692) - 57,726
Interest element on lease liabilities HERENMNEHS (988) = = (988)
Interest paid BRFIE (6,627) = = (6,627)
Hong Kong profits tax paid ERNERFEHR (16,39) = = (16,396)
Overseas taxes paid EAEINIIR (1,571) (527) = (2,098)
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating & & EB)FT 15,/ (FTF)

activities ReREFHE 57,836 (26,219) = 31,617
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REEBFERERE

ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received BIERTTH 8 225 612 - 837
Additions of other intangible assets NEEMWENBE - (256) - (256)
Purchases of items of property, plantand & B %% - HiE R &R E

equipment EH (11,940) (177) = (12117)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEYE  BEKR

property, plant and equipment BEMREHE 9 - - 9
Interest received from a loan to afellow 4 F— &l A Z Mt B 2 A &)

subsidiary BERmMEKF 2 = 1,966 - 1,966
Decrease in restricted bank balance XBFIBITEBR D - 130 - 130
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing 3% & EZENFT1E,/ (FiF)

activities HEeREFHE (11,706) 2,275 - (9,431)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METDAERERE

ACTIVITIES
Deemed distribution arising from W B8 52 L R 5 A

acquisition of subsidiaries under Pt B 2 B AT A 9

common control RIEDIK (9,200) = = (9,200)
Proceeds from capital injection from REREREEDN

former controlling shareholders AEFMEHE - 36,758 = 36,758
Capital contributions from non- REFZRBRMN T E

controlling shareholders - 16,337 - 16,337
New bank borrowings FERITER 1,280,000 = - 1,280,000
Repayment of bank borrowings ERBFITER (1,240,000) (4,299) = (1,244,299)
Principal portion of lease payments HENFKNRLH D (18,676) = = (18,676)
Interest paid ERFIE (10963) (1,685) = (12,648)
Dividend paid ENRE (21,500 - - (21,500)
Dividend paid to former controlling MEAT AR B T AR AR AR 3R

shareholders - (698) - (698)
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing ~ B & BT,/ (FiF)

activities REREFSE (20,339) 46,413 = 26,074

EERESETRARA
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2. Acquisition under common control (oniinved) 2. HEIZEHI THUWEEEIE &)
Effect on the consolidated statement of cash flows HEBEZE—_FT-_—_F+=-HA=+—H
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (Continued) LHFEENSRERERERNTE (&)

Acquisition
As previously  of the ZCIEE Consolidation
reported Group adjustment As restated

I

RENZH WRAREE 408 i )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FiET T

NET INCREASE INCASHAND CASH  RE&RFELEEBYEM

EQUIVALENTS BE 25,791 22,469 - 48,260
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning  FH1H € REELZEY

of year 69,137 47214 - 116,351
Effect of foreign exchange rates changes, SME[E R ZE) )& 2%

net (1,650) (4,808) - (6,458)
CASH AND CASHEQUIVALENTSAT  E£XREE KBS EEY

END OF YEAR 93,278 64,875 - 158,153
ANALYSIS OF BALANCESOF CASH R RRESENE

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ki
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBAEEEY 93,278 64,875 - 158,153
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Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") (which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

These financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention and are presented in Hong Kong
dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e,, existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

3.1
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Basis of preparation (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the
date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Annual Report 2023
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3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any
non-controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation
reserve; and recognises the fair value of any investment
retained and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss.
The Group's share of components previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis
as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities.

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

The Group has adopted the following new and revised
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial

statements.

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from Single Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform - Pillar Two Model Rules
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3.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
(Continued)

The nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs
that are applicable to the Group are described below:

(@)  Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose
their material accounting policy information
rather than their significant accounting policies.
Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included
in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably
be expected to influence decisions that the primary
users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements.
Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making
Materiality Judgements provide non-mandatory
guidance on how to apply the concept of
materiality to accounting policy disclosures. The
Group has disclosed the material accounting policy
information in note 3 to the financial statements.
The amendments did not have any impact on the
measurement, recognition or presentation of any
items in the Group’s financial statements.

(b)  Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction
between changes in accounting estimates and
changes in accounting policies. Accounting
estimates are defined as monetary amounts in
financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how
entities use measurement techniques and inputs
to develop accounting estimates. Since the Group's
approach and policy align with the amendments, the
amendments had no impact on the Group’s financial

statements.
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3.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
(Continued)

The nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs

that are applicable to the Group are described below:
(Continued)

(0)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction
narrow the scope of the initial recognition
exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies
to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are
required to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided
that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a
deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising
from these transactions.

Since the Group has no transactions that give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences
in which the Group applied the initial recognition
exception in HKAS 12, the amendments did not
have any material impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.
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3.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
(Continued)

The nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs
that are applicable to the Group are described below:
(Continued)

(d)  Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform
— Pillar Two Model Rules introduce a mandatory
temporary exception from the recognition and
disclosure of deferred taxes arising from the
implementation of the Pillar Two model rules
published by the Organisation for Economic
Co-operation and Development. The amendments
also introduce disclosure requirements for the
affected entities to help users of the financial
statements better understand the entities’ exposure
to Pillar Two income taxes, including the disclosure
of current tax related to Pillar Two income taxes
separately in the periods when Pillar Two legislation
is effective and the disclosure of known or
reasonably estimable information of their exposure
to Pillar Two income taxes in periods in which the
legislation is enacted or substantively enacted
but not yet in effect. The Group has applied the
amendments retrospectively. Since the Group did
not fall within the scope of the Pillar Two model
rules, the amendments did not have any impact to
the Group.

W 234 CRConstruction Group Holdings Limited +  Annual Report 2023

32 B HERREKESE (@)

ERRAEENHE REERTRR
M mEENNEE RFEFAN
T (&)

(d) FAEGFERE125 (EFT
) B RN E — =
EHAHERBEREEAE
BRRABRMHOIME R
048 R 2 A RO IR SE R IR A
FE AR R 4 BB 5| A58 1) e B 31
MBI R FIEFT AMB R
TEBRBIIAREER MU
EOMEmREREE i
TRERMERANE M
EHER  SFERIE-T
VR AR BB B B B S A
— SRR R BN BT IR
ARECDHEMEIEL LB
i SLOEAB 8 AR A R A A 8 4
BEZEERATE RN T
“HeNRREBENE MK
AEEGFTONER - AKE
EBEPEAZEETA - A
RARBTBRXE &
HRAMEEE  ZFEBFTAY
REES BEMPE -



Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBHmRME 2

31 December 2023 —FE=—=#+=-H=+—H

3.3

Issued but not yet effective hong kong financial
reporting standards

The Group has not applied the following revised HKFRSs,

that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these

financial statements. The Group intends to apply these

revised HKFRSs, if applicable, when they become effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor

and its Associate or Joint Venture®

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback’

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current (the 2020 Amendments’)"

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the 2022 Amendments')"*

Supplier Finance Arrangements'

Lack of Exchangeability?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025

E No mandatory effective date yet determined but available

for adoption

4 As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022

Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation Presentation of

Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term

Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was

revised to align the corresponding wording with no change

in conclusion
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3.3

I 236 CRConstruction Group Holdings Limited

Issued but not yet effective hong kong financial
reporting standards (Continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10
and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a
gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when
the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a business.
For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute
a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments
to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA.

However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in
a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee
does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that
relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale
and leaseback transactions entered into after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019).
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group's
financial statements.
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3.3

Issued but not yet effective hong kong financial
reporting standards (Continued)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including
what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that a
right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled
in its own equity instruments, and that only if a conversion
option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as an
equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact
its classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify
that, among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply
on or before the reporting date affect the classification
of that liability as current or non-current. Additional
disclosures are required for non-current liabilities that are
subject to the entity complying with future covenants
within 12 months after the reporting period. The
amendments shall be applied retrospectively with early
application permitted. An entity that applies the 2020
Amendments early is required to apply simultaneously the
2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is currently
assessing the impact of the amendments and whether
existing loan agreements may require revision. Based on a
preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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Issued but not yet effective hong kong financial
reporting standards (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and
require additional disclosure of such arrangements. The
disclosure requirements in the amendments are intended
to assist users of financial statements in understanding
the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an
entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk.
Earlier application of the amendments is permitted. The
amendments provide certain transition reliefs regarding
comparative information, quantitative information as at
the beginning of the annual reporting period and interim
disclosures. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall
assess whether a currency is exchangeable into another
currency and how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at
a measurement date when exchangeability is lacking. The
amendments require disclosures of information that enable
users of financial statements to understand the impact
of a currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application
is permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity
cannot restate comparative information. Any cumulative
effect of initially applying the amendments shall be
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained profits or to the cumulative amount of translation
differences accumulated in a separate component of
equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.
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34 EXBBRRME

3.4. Material accounting policies

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the
sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the
acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets includes an
input and a substantive process that together significantly

contribute to the ability to create outputs.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or
liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.
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3.4. Material accounting policies (Continued)

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible
by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.
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34 EXEHBRBESE)

3.4. Material accounting policies (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based

DNV EE(E)

P ARFERMBHREKRT BRI
BEMBEENAE EREHEER
FEAEMS BEANZEESHA

i WATHRTFESFHESE

on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

F1 — ENHEREEXRER
AETISHRE CRE
HE)

Fo — ENYRAFEAEME
BEAWAEBR (A%
HAEE) RIEEHAK

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable,

either directly or indirectly BREESE
Level3 - based on valuation techniques for which E3h — ERBEAFEFEME
the lowest level input that is significant to BE AN B RKE
the fair value measurement is unobservable [ 8 A BB EESE
For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial BURAC R 1 E AP B T 3Rk T AR A

BERAEMS AEEEZARE
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the WMEMRETESEER (B
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the HEBATEFEME BEANK
REGAZR) UEETREZERZ
MREEEEE -

statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines

lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.
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3.4. Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other
than contract assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of
the asset’s or cash-generating unit's value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a
portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g,,
a headquarters building) is allocated to an individual
cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of
cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in
which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.
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34 EXEHBRBESE)

3.4. Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment
loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which it
arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that

person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group;

or
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3.4. Material accounting policies (Continued)
Related parties (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.
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34 EXEHBRBESE)

3.4. Material accounting policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss
in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for
a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount
of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of

the lease terms and 20%

Plant and machinery 10% to 20%
Furniture and fixtures 10% to 20%
Computers and software 14% to 32%
Motor vehicles 10% to 33%
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3.4. Material accounting policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately.

Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between
the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Service concession arrangements

A service concession arrangement refers to a contractual
service arrangement granted by a government authority
in Chinese Mainland (the “Grantor”) to allow the Group to
operate an infrastructure to provide service to the public.
Such arrangement involves the Group to develop, finance,
operate, and maintain the public-service infrastructure for
a specified period of time for a service fee. At the end of
the service period, the Group is obliged to hand over the
infrastructure to the Grantor in a specified condition for
little or no incremental consideration.

Such service concession arrangement is governed by a
contract between the Group and the relevant Grantor
which sets out, inter alia, performance standards, the
mechanism for service fee adjustment, specific obligations
of the Group for the maintenance of the infrastructure and
arrangement for arbitrating disputes.
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34 EXEHBRBESE)

3.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Service concession arrangements (Continued)
Consideration given by the Grantor

A financial asset (receivable under a service concession
arrangement) is recognised to the extent that (a) the
Group has an unconditional right to receive cash or
another financial asset from or at the direction of the
Grantor for the construction services rendered and/or the
consideration paid and payable by the Group for the right
to charge users of the public service; and (b) the Grantor
has little, if any, discretion to avoid payment, usually
because the agreement is enforceable by law. The Group
has an unconditional right to receive cash if the Grantor
contractually guarantees to pay the Group (a) specified or
determinable amounts or (b) the shortfall, if any, between
amounts received from users of the public service and
specified or determinable amounts, even if the payment is
contingent on the Group ensuring that the infrastructure
meets the specified quality of efficiency requirements.
The financial asset (receivable under a service concession
arrangement) is accounted for in accordance with the

policy set out for “Investments and other financial assets”

below.

An intangible asset (operating concession) is recognised to
the extent that the Group receives a right to charge users
of the public service, which is not an unconditional right to
receive cash because the amounts are contingent on the
extent that the public uses the service. The intangible asset
(operating concession) is accounted for in accordance with
the policy set out for “Intangible assets” below.

If the Group is paid partly by a financial asset and partly by
an intangible asset, each component of the consideration
is accounted for separately and the consideration received
or receivable for both components shall be recognised
initially at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable.
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3.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Service concession arrangements (Continued)
Construction and rehabilitation services

Revenue and costs relating to construction and
rehabilitation services are accounted for in accordance
with the policy set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

Sewage and reclaimed water treatment services

Revenue relating to sewage and reclaimed water treatment
services is accounted for in accordance with the policy for
“Revenue recognition” below and the costs for the services
are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

Contractual obligations to restore the infrastructure to
a specified level of serviceability

The Group has contractual obligations which it must
fulfil as a condition of its licence, that is (a) to maintain
the infrastructures it operates to a specified level of
serviceability and/or (b) to restore the infrastructures to
a specified condition before they are handed over to the
Grantor at the end of the service concession arrangement.
These contractual obligations to maintain or restore
the infrastructures, except for any upgrade element, are
recognised and measured in accordance with the policy
set out for “Provisions” below.

Intangible asset (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a
finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year
end.
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34 EXEHBRBESE)

3.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Intangible asset (other than goodwill) (Continued)

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected from its use
or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in profit or loss in the period the intangible
asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
intangible asset.

Operating concessions

Operating concessions representing the rights to operate
sewage and reclaimed water treatment and water
distribution plants are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation is provided on the straight-line basis over the
respective periods of the operating concessions granted to
the Group of 30 years.

Computer software

Purchased computer software licence is stated at cost less
any impairment losses and is amortised on the straight-line
basis over its estimated useful life of 2 to 5 years.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.
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3.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases. The
Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments
and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.

(a)  Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before
the commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Where applicable, the cost of a right-of-use
asset also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site on which it is located.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Buildings 2 to 5 years
Plant and machinery 2 to 3 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful
life of the asset.
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3.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The
lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date because the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
After the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments made.
In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities
is remeasured if there is a modification, a change
in the lease term, a change in lease payments
(e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying

asset.

34 EXREMBRBE @)
HE(#E)
FEBEBEBA (E)

)

ELEEEEITERARAR

HERE

HERBENHEERKE AR
MEAELNBAENFRE
TUHER - HENKEHEE
ENR(BEEEEE MR
IR EEEEES  BUR
RE—fE#e L Regr] &£ 7H
ENFARRRHREERE
TEHXMOERE HEM
RN BIEF & B HEE KB AR
SETENBERNITERE
K R #& E TR T 32 A 89 & 3R
(HAMRRARESTTERL
IEEER) - WA #HEE
A FEEURN K — Bk bt
E S IR T E )
T AT SR 3 R ) B
R/ -

Rt BHE M RERER
FHETARENNELS
e AAKEREERS
BHEREEBKAE - R
FiaEHR  HERGBENS
AN B eI b 4 o0 -
I 74 B 1E A9 E N RIE
R o b5 - tnF BBk -
Hisk® - HENZES (NE
R—ERA L EREFHMEN
ARRBENFE)) KEENA
MEEEEROFMANE
ARERENREESEN

e

2023FFxH 251



3.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)
(c)  Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option). Lease
payments on short-term leases are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its
leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each component on
a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income
is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease
terms and is included in revenue in profit or loss due to its
operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease
term on the same basis as rental income.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee are accounted for as finance leases.
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3.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset
at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI")
on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at
fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model.
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3.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group's business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are
held within a business model with the objective to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to
collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business
models are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.
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3.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group's

consolidated statement of financial position) when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without
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transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of EHEEZEENRBRHE S

the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group's continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an
associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.
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3.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are

integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit
losses that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those
credit exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of
the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information. The Group considers that
there has been a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual payments are more than 365 days past due.
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3.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 730 days past due. The Group
has rebutted the 90 days past due presumption of default
based on reasonable and supportable information,
including the Group’s credit risk control practices and
the historical recovery rate of financial assets over 90
days past due. However, the Group may also consider a
financial asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking
into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.
A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable

expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement of
ECLs except for trade receivables and contract assets which

apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial assets
and for which the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs
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3.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables, receivables and contract assets under
service concession arrangements and contract assets that
do not contain a significant financing component or when
the Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under
the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors

specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables, receivables and contract assets under
service concession arrangements and contract assets that
contain a significant financing component, the Group
chooses as its accounting policy to adopt the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs with policies as described
above.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
loans and borrowings and payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net
of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and retention
payables, financial liabilities included in other payables,
accruals and provision, interest-bearing bank borrowings,
amounts due to an intermediate holding company and
fellow subsidiaries and loans from an intermediate holding
company.
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3.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 3 EXABSHEEME#)
Financial liabilities (Continued) cHeE#E)
Subsequent measurement -3 L
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities PRABENEREFERTUTHE
depends on their classification as follows: il €
Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other BEBELLTENLHEE (EK
payables, and borrowings) EZREMME  UAREF)
After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and RYPHERE - BRE S RHMEK
interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently measured 18 - AKGTEERBERAERAE
at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method IR AT E - IR E
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, DNERX - MAELER T ARK AT
in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses iR - BEABERIEBRSRERNE
are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are EEITH R - R REER
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate BB -

amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any BHERCR TSt R B S E A £ (7]
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs TEXHEBEREBERNE—EHH
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The BRNKANERTE - BRFIRAS
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance HEF ABRANHNPTFEER -

costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities RIEBEIAEMEE

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation EAREE NREDRRIEVEE
under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. W RIETEREBAE -

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another M—IERBEHBEHKRER T
from the same lender on substantially different terms, BABRIBABERTRN S —EE
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially BB EAEA - SIRE B EAIRK
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a ARSI - BIFZIE R RSB MR
derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of BEIFTERRBEWRERIIEEE
a new liability, and the difference between the respective BIE - REBREEEZENERE
carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss. R e
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3.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial
position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and
short-term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of
generally within three months that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value and held for the purpose of meeting
short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, and short-term deposits as defined above,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be
reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate
asset, but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.
The expense relating to a provision is presented in the
statement of profit or loss net of any reimbursement.
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34 EXEHBRBESE)

3.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Provisions (Continued)

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

The Group provides for warranties in relation to the
provision of construction services for general repairs of
defects occurring during the warranty period. Provisions
for these assurance-type warranties granted by the Group
are initially recognised based on sales volume and past
experience of the level of repairs and returns, discounted
to their present values as appropriate. The warranty-related
cost is revised annually.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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3.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and
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3.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.
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3.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grants relates to an expenses
item, it is recognized as income on a systematic basis
over the period that the costs, for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released to
profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant
asset by equal annual instalments or deducted from the
carrying amount of the asset and released to profit or loss
by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated
to which the Group will be entitled in exchange for
transferring the goods or services to the customer. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract inception
and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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34 EXEHBRBESE)

3.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at
the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and
the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group
with a significant financial benefit for more than one
year, revenue recognised under the contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability under
the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the
transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or
less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.

(a)  Building construction works and RMAA works

Revenue from building construction works and
RMAA works are recognised when or as the
control of the asset is transferred to the customer.
Depending on the terms of the contracts and the
laws that apply to the contract, control of the asset
may transfer over time or at a point in time. Control
of the asset is transferred over time if the Group's
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3.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
(a)  Building construction works and RMAA works (Continued)

(i) provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer; or

(i)  creates and enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs; or

(i) does not create an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue
is recognised over the period of the contract
by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the asset.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation of a construction contract
is measured based on one of the following methods
that best depicts the Group’'s performance in
satisfying the performance obligation:

(i) direct measurements of the value transferred
by the Group to the customer; or

(i) the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction

of the performance obligation relative to the
total expected efforts or inputs.
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3.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(a)

Building construction works and RMAA works (Continued)

For building construction works contracts and
RMAA works contracts, the Group’s performance
creates or enhances an asset or work in progress
that the customer controls as the asset is created
or enhanced and thus the Group satisfies a
performance obligation and recognises revenue over

time.

Claims to customers are amounts that the
Group seeks to collect from the customers as
reimbursement of costs and margins for scope
of works not included in the original building
construction works contracts and RMAA works
contracts. Claims are accounted for as variable
consideration and constrained until it is highly
probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not
occur when the associated uncertainty with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
The Group uses the most likely amount method to
estimate the amounts of claims because this method
best predicts the amount of variable consideration to
which the Group will be entitled.
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3.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(b)  Construction and rehabilitation services for environmental
related facilities

For construction and rehabilitation services, the
Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
or work in progress that the customer controls as
the asset is created or enhanced and thus the Group
satisfies a performance obligation and recognises

revenue over time.

Revenue from construction and rehabilitation
services under a service concession arrangement is
estimated on a cost plus basis with reference to a
prevailing market rate of gross margin at the date of
the agreement applicable to similar construction and
rehabilitation services rendered.

(c)  Sewage and reclaimed water treatment services

Revenue is recognised over the service period when
the customers simultaneously receive and consume
the benefits over the period of the services rendered
by the Group.

(d)  Water distribution services

The Group recognises revenue from water
distribution services at the point in time when
control of the water is transferred to the customer,
generally when the customer obtains the physical
possession or the legal title of the water and the
Group has a present right to payment and the
collection of the consideration is probable.
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3.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued) mE W= (E)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) HEFWE A W ()
Revenue from other sources H il R B A

Finance income from service concession arrangements is
recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest
method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate,
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.

Consultancy services income is recognised over the
scheduled period on a straight-line basis because the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group.
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Contract assets EHEE
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a customer before being unconditionally entitled to the WA ER S E MR FEET

consideration under the contract terms, a contract asset is
recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional.
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Contract assets are subject to impairment assessment, BENE  FEIREHEEREE
details of which are included in the accounting policies for BENEFTECR o & IREUKERET
impairment of financial assets. They are reclassified to trade BPRERHR  GRBEENENS

receivables when the right to the consideration becomes
unconditional.
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3.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from
a customer before the Group transfers the related goods
or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers
control of the related goods or services to the customer).

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories,
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs
incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are capitalised
as an asset if all of the following criteria are met:

(@) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the entity can specifically
identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the
entity that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing
to satisfy) performance obligations in the future.

(c)  The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged
to profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with
the transfer to the customer of the goods or services to
which the assets relates. Other contract costs are expensed

as incurred.
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3.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the "MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for certain of its employees. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group's employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiary which operates
in Chinese Mainland are required to participate in
a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. Contributions are made based
on the requirements of the respective local municipal
government. The contributions are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Defined benefit plan

The Group’s statutory obligation to pay long service
payment is a defined benefit plan. The cost of providing
benefits relating to long service payment is determined
using the projected unit credit method. The liability
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position in respect of long service payment is the net
obligation, representing the present value of the future
long service payment benefits reduced by entitlements
from accrued benefits arising from MPF contributions
made by the Group.
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3.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’'s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority to
declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each
entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group
are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of
monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.
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3.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the
end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of
these entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rate prevailing at the end of the reporting period
and their statements of profit or loss is translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates that approximate
to those prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the
differences are attributable to non-controlling interests. On
disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount in
the reserve relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the
dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of
overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average
exchange rate for the year.
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The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group has applied the following judgements that
significantly affect the determination of the amount and timing
of revenue from contracts with customers:

(a) Determining the progress of building construction
works contracts and RMAA works contracts

Revenue from building construction works contracts and
RMAA works contracts is measured in accordance with
progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligations. The progress is determined based on direct
measurements of the value of units delivered or surveys
of work performed or based on the proportion of the
actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total
costs for satisfaction of the building construction works
contracts and RMAA works contracts. This involves the use
of management judgements and estimation uncertainty,
including estimating the progress towards completion
of the services, scope of services required, total contract
costs incurred, direct measurements of the value of units
delivered or surveys of work performed, valuing contract
variations, claims and potential liquidated damages and
forecasts in relation to costs to complete.
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Judgements (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(b)

Determining the method to estimate variable
consideration and assessing the constraint for building
construction works contracts and RMAA works
contracts

The Group seeks to collect claims from the customers as
reimbursement of costs and margins for scope of works
not included in the original building construction works
contracts and RMAA works contracts, which give rise to
variable consideration. The Group has determined that the
most likely amount method is the appropriate method to
be used in estimating the variable consideration for claims
in building construction works contracts and RMAA works
contracts, given there is a wide range of possible outcomes
which are subject to negotiations with third parties.

Before including any amount of variable consideration in
the transaction price, the Group considers whether the
amount of variable consideration is constrained. The Group
determined that the estimates of variable consideration
are not constrained based on its historical experience,
current negotiations with customers, profitability of the
head contracts of the customers and the current economic
conditions.
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Judgements (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(c)

B 276 CRConstruction Group Holdings Limited

Determination of fair value of contract revenue in
respect of the construction and rehabilitation services
for environmental related facilities under service
concessions arrangements

Revenue from the construction and rehabilitation of
sewage and reclaimed water treatment plants under
service concession arrangement includes Build-Operate-
Transfer ("BOT") and Rehabilitation-Operate-Transfer
("ROT") contracts is estimated on a cost-plus basis with
reference to a prevailing market rate of gross margin at
the date of agreement applicable to similar construction
services rendered in a similar location, and is recognised
on the percentage-of-completion method, measured
by reference to the proportion of costs incurred to date
to the estimated total cost of the relevant contract. The
construction and rehabilitation margin is determined
based on the gross profit margins of market comparables
by identifying relevant peer groups, which are listed on
various stock exchanges in the world. Criteria for selection
include:

(i) the peer firm must be in the field of the construction
and rehabilitation of infrastructure, majoring in
sewage and reclaimed water treatment facilities in
the PRC; and

(i) information of the peer firm must be available and
from a reliable source.
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Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
and contract assets from construction operations

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables and contract assets. The provision rates are based on
days past due for groupings of various customer segments that
have similar loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e.,
gross domestic product) are expected to deteriorate over the
next year which can lead to an increased number of defaults in
the construction sector, the historical default rates are adjusted.
At each reporting date, the historical observed default rates
are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group's
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic
conditions may also not be representative of a customer’s actual
default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the
Group's trade receivables and contract assets is disclosed in
notes 19 and 18 to the financial statements, respectively.
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I 278 CRConstruction Group Holdings Limited

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Variable considerations for claims to customers

The Group estimates variable considerations for claims to be
included in the transaction price for the building construction
works contracts and RMAA works contracts.

The Group estimates the most likely claims amount by using
the historical claims data including historical experiences with
the same or current customer of a similar profile, historical
experience for claims of a similar nature, profitability of the head
contracts of the customers and economic conditions. The most
likely claims amounts are applied to determine the variable
considerations included in the transaction price. Any significant
changes in experience as compared to the historical successful
claims pattern will impact the most likely claims amounts
estimated by the Group.

The Group updates its assessment of most likely claims every two
months. Estimates of most likely claims are sensitive to changes
in circumstances and the Group's past experience regarding
negotiation of claims may not be representative of the actual
outcome in the future.
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For management purposes, the Group is organised into ABEREE AEBEREEESRMRSE
business units based on their products and services and has two BDEBEMN  WHNLTMETZHLE
reportable operating segments as follows: EHEp

(i)

The construction operations segment engages in contract

BEXRGHE - £FE - FRA:

—
=

works as a main contractor primarily in respect of building REBEEREBEARZERESNT
construction works and RMAA works in Hong Kong, B EESRIEFEERRMAAL
Malaysia and the United Kingdom. e

(i)  The environmental operations segment engages in
construction, rehabilitation and operation of sewage
and reclaimed water treatment plants as well as water
distribution plants and other environmental related

facilities and infrastructure in the PRC.

Management monitors the results of the Group's operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax. The
adjusted profit/loss is measured consistently with the Group's
profit before tax except that interest income, corporate and other
unallocated expenses, finance costs (other than interest on lease
liabilities and discounted amounts of retention payables arising
from the passage of time) are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude balances/loans with related parties, tax
recoverable and deferred tax assets, as these assets are managed

RIREE DI - EPREYBER
B8 RIB & 57K B A 7K BE R IR A
Ko R 7K R L 3R 35 AR B % e I =
i

(ii)

EREEHASEREIHNEEETE
BERE  WERERD K RRBRTHE
HORE - D ESRIBRIE R 2 R D 2
S IBEETRE - I AE AR B AGS
R, IR0 —H 8% o LT
SBREAEERBAEN NG ERE
—H HENBWA  EEREMKRDER
X BEXAN(TEEHERABENE
kRABEERMELNENRE ST
CHEONB)TEBREENEZA -

IHMEETERREBABINER B
F o REHAEEHRBEE - RE

on a group basis. RREEEDNEERERETER
Segment liabilities exclude balances/loans with related parties, DEBBETRIEEBHSNER B
interest-bearing bank borrowings, tax payable and deferred tax Fo FFERITER Eﬁﬁfﬂﬁ&mifﬂ
liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group basis. BEE REARZZABRNIUERARE

There were no material intersegmental sales and transfers during

the reporting period.
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5. BRESBEN

5. Operating segment information (Continued

Construction Environmental
Year ended 31 December operations operations
BET-R=1-HLEE [ E RREH
2023 2002 2023
Z§-= ~ZZ —§-=
(Restated)
(& E35]) \ )
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 K HK$'000
TR T TR T THR AL
Segment revenue (note 6) PBIRE (s)
Sales to external customers HEFIIEP 5231681 6066589 213,879 142840 5445560 6409429
Segment results ABRE 130,791 95,447 19,110 16705 149,901 112,152
Reconciliation: -
Interest income FERA 1932 2803
Corporate and other unallocated expenses TEREGRARRS (23,958) (20431)

Finance costs (other than interest on lease BERA(TREREERFER
liabilties and discounted amounts of retention BB EEBAELNENRE S

payables arising from passage of time) EREEMHE) (42,974) (12649)
Profit before tax BRAEF 84,901 81,876
Income tax expense FEREY (12,676) (8936)
Profit for the year EfgT 72,225 72,940
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5.

R —

Operating segment information (Contin

—Ff+-—H=1+—H

led) 5.

REDWBEH 4

Construction Environmental
As at 31 December operations operations
RtZA=1-A BEXH RREH
2023 20 2023 2022
—E-= “E-= Z--
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(&=3)) (fE5)) i)
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
THR AL T#En Tt TER T
Segment assets PHEE 3576967 3,151,099 493223 35890 4,070,190 3476989
Reconciliation: -
Amounts due from an intermediate El-HeHEERAFATE
holding company 6,744 15,000
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries ERAZNEARZE 45,288 40,546
Loan to a fellow subsidiary RT-HRAZHBARHER - 33005
Tax recoverable nhEHE 1,726 5,754
Deferred tax assets ERHEEE 7407 3665
Total assets aeE 4131355 3574979
Segment liabilities k=t | 2598618 2394181 171,698 104318 2,770316 2498499
Reconciliation: Bk
Amounts due to an intermediate N —fRmEERAAGE
holding company 9,143 4187
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries ENRZNBARZE 15,824 17,66
Loans from an intermediate holding company R E—RRFERAAHE 274,143 18988
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FERTER 415,583 197,204
Tex payable EftHA 10,534 5080
Deferred tax liabilites ELHERE 963 -
Total liabilites ek 3,496,506 274124
ELREEETRARA 20235 F# 281
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5. Operating segment information (Con

Year ended 31 December

BET-A=T-HLEE

Other segment information

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Amortisation of operating concession rights

Amortisation of other intangible assets

Impairment of trade receivables

Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of
contract assets

Impairment of receivables and contract assets
under service concession arrangements

Capital expenditure

I 282  CRConstruction Group Holdings Limited

ed) 5.

Rtyn HEH

hx BERRENE
FREAENE
HENTRER

BN AERS
EUERNEEE
AHEERE/ (EERD)

REELH T HENTER
ANAERE
EARX

Construction
operations
BEXR
2023
—EBC=

(Restated)
HK$'000 HKS'000
TH TR
8,754 10,250
22,216 2,127
1,968 8398
2,316 3888
7,941 11,940
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Environmental
operations
RREH

2023 202
—E-= —E-oCF

(Restated)

HK$'000
TEn
893 115
161 168
1,385 1449
82 208
977 309
1,486 (233)
- 12
375 433

HKS'000
TEL

9,647
2311
1,385
82
2,945

3,802

8,316
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5. Operating segment information (Continued) 5. BREFHWER 2
Geographical information ith 2 & R
(a) Revenue from external customers (a) RENFEE WK
2022
(Restated)
(&=&=5)
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET AT
Hong Kong 58 4,513,815 5,807,707
Chinese Mainland A B A 213,879 142,840
Malaysia BRI 168,877 203,610
United Kingdom HE 548,989 255,272
Total revenue FlogeS 5,445,560 6,409,429
The revenue information above is based on the locations of i E R T ERE A2
the customers. Hl| o
(b) Non-current assets (b) EREBEE
2022
(Restated)
(&=5)
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET AT
Hong Kong BB 59,638 71,780
Chinese Mainland AR B A 3 35,675 38,355
Malaysia BRI 1,791 2,691
United Kingdom £ ] 3,603 2,900
Total non-current assets ERBEERE 100,707 115,726
The non-current asset information of above is based on the e B BEEE R I EREERN
locations of the assets and excludes financial instruments EE5 c ETeRERTAKE
and deferred tax assets. EFRIBEE °
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5. BRESBEN

5. Operating segment information (Continuec

Information about major customers EREXEEFHNER

Revenue from each major customer which accounted for 10% or REREHE  REGEEAEEKE10%
more of the Group's revenue for each reporting period is set out I ENBTETEZFPHREET T -
below:

2022

(GESEIEe))

(&=351)

HKS$'000 HKS$'000

FE T FATT

Customer A ZEA ® 855,393

Customer B Z 5B 671,898 689,388

Customer C ZEC 547,492 *
@ Nil or less than 10% of the Group's revenue 2 e AREEWE D R10%

6. Revenue and other income 6. WERHMUA
An analysis of revenue is as follows: W Htran T :

2022

—E-_F

(Restated)

(&&E=3)

HKS$'000 HK$'000

FH& T T 7T

Revenue from contracts with customers B A AIBI 7 5,436,917 6,403,358

Revenue from other source H i R B 7
Finance income from service RERBIFFELEE®
concession arrangements BE W A 8,643 6,071
Total st 5,445,560 6,409,429
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Revenue from contracts with customers EFEHH WS
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (a) ZIKmEFR
2022
(Restated)
(&=&=5)
HK$’000 HKS'000
FE T AT
(A) Types of goods or services (A ERSREER
Construction operations segment BEEBHS
Building construction works BFESETRE 4,703,000 4,995,343
RMAA works RMAAL 2 528,681 1,271,246
5,231,681 6,266,589
Environmental operations segment RREBD S
Construction and rehabilitation RIBIBERENEER
services for environmental related BAE RS
facilities 128,874 65,119
Sewage and reclaimed water SEAKEBEKERERE
treatment services 68,717 63,323
Water distribution services fid 7K AR 75 7,645 8,327
205,236 136,769
Total revenue from contracts with EFEE B4
customers 5,436,917 6,403,358
Revenue from other sources H i )5 79 7
Finance income from service R B BRI 7 i 2 BE
concession arrangements B E WA 8,643 6,071
Total revenue el 5,445,560 6,409,429

S EBIRAR AT - 2023EE®R 285 NN
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Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) EFEHNHWE &)
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (@) DIKREER (&)
2022
(Restated)
(&E5)
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FA7T
(B) Geographical markets (B) it 32 i1 35
Hong Kong a5
Construction operations segment BEEBK D 4,513,815 5,807,707
Chinese Mainland HF B A
Environmental operations segment RREBDH 205,236 136,769
Malaysia BRI
Construction operations segment BEEB DL 168,877 203,610
United Kingdom =
Construction operations segment BEER DI 548,989 255,272
Total revenue from contracts with Y=y olor b sy
customers 5,436,917 6,403,358
Revenue from other sources H fih R 89 W 7
Finance income from service R B A A B AR 75
concession arrangements BTN RE
from Chinese Mainland WA 8,643 6,071
Total revenue B 5,445,560 6,409,429
(C) Timing of revenue recognition (C) #e 38 Uk 25 1Y I Bh
Goods transferred at a point in time RE—BEEENE R
Environmental operations segment RREBDH 7,645 8,327
Services transferred over time N—EBERAEZLY
Bk #
Construction operations segment BREEE DI 5,231,681 6,266,589
Environmental operations segment RIRFET 5 B 197,591 128,442
5,429,272 6,395,031
Total revenue from contracts with EFE & LRI 7
customers 5,436,917 6,403,358
Revenue from other sources H Ath 3R B e 2=
Finance income from service KB REEFFELZHER
concession arrangements BB WA 8,643 6,071
Total revenue B 5,445,560 6,409,429
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6. Revenue and other income (Continued) 6.
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of
the reporting period and recognised from performance
obligations satisfied in previous periods:

Uz B ELAt U A ()

BEFENH WS (&)

(@) DIWFHEHR (&)
TREFIR AR S HE B BT
EERBEOE EMERLNIRE B
PEABHAENKESE

2023

HK$'000
FER

Revenue recognised that was included in AR E I A SN BERN

contract liabilities at the beginning of B R E
the reporting period:

Building construction works and RMAA 12 F 2 5E T 72 MRMAA T 2

works

59,114

2022
e —

R —

HK$'000
TAET

17,663

2023
—E—=

HK$'000
FTERT

Revenue recognised from performance BB 7E BAfE &K B 4

obligations satisfied in previous BEMERE K
periods:

Building construction works and RMAA 3@ 7F B R & TE 5 Z R 4
works previously not recognised i A 58 )18 F R 4L
due to constraints on variable T2 RRMAAT?E

consideration

134,118

2022
e

R —

HK$'000
THET

87,661

ELEEEEITERARAR
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Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(b)

I 288  CRConstruction Group Holdings Limited

Performance obligations

Information about the Group'’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Building construction works and RMAA works

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due within
14 to 45 days from the date of billing. A certain percentage
of payment is retained by customers until the end of the
retention period as the Group's entitlement to the final
payment is conditional on the satisfaction of the service
quality by the customers over a certain period as stipulated
in the contracts.

Construction and rehabilitation services for
environmental related facilities

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is due 60 days to 180

days from the date of billing.

Sewage and reclaimed water treatment services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is due 60 days to 180
days from completion of the services.

Water distribution services

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of
water and payment is generally due 60 days to 180 days
from the date of billing.
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Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(b)

Performance obligations (Continued)

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially

unsatisfied) as at 31 December are as follows:

EFEHNWE (&)

(b) BREEE)
RT-A=+—H2BREHRTED
BEECRERITRE S REETT)
MR ZERESEEAT

2022

—ETE - —F

(Restated)

(&=:75)

HK$’000 HKS'000

FET FHET

Amounts expected to be recognised as  FTEERMER AR 2 £ ¢

revenue:

Within one year —F R 6,891,254 4,945,408

After one year —F1& 10,656,232 9,475,946

17,547,486 14,421,354

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligations which are expected
to be recognised as revenue after one year is related
to building construction works and RMAA works and
construction and rehabilitation services for environmental
related facilities of which the performance obligations are
to be satisfied within four years. All the other amounts of
transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance
obligations are expected to be recognised as revenue
within one year. The amounts disclosed above do not
include variable consideration which is constrained.

PEESRTBOERM (BN —F
BERABNR) 2R HERS TR
BFEETIENMRMAAT 2 A KR
B AERA AR b M R RSB RIS AR
W BB TR EFEARNRET -
PHRERTENEEZFAEEMI
SERSBEETER —FANERE
Wz o EXBEBRNSETEEZE
HIRE AT R AE -
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6. Revenue and other income (Continued) 6. W=mREMUA @)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) EFEHHWE (&)
2022
(Restated)
(&E7)
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FHET
Other income Hl A
Bank interest income RITFE WA 1,088 837
Interest income from a loan to a fellow BT —HRRKBRRN
subsidiary ERFE WA 844 1,966
Consultancy services income EE N - 1,944
Insurance compensation R EEE 7,700 -
Government grants (note) BT Bh (A7 22) 1,322 1,763
Others Hits 2,272 2,387
Total other income HE U A 458 13,226 8,897
Note: Being wage subsidies provided by the Government of Hong Hii - b ABEARFRTTHREBS ([& B4 5
Kong Special Administrative Region (the "HKSAR Government’) THREBRF]) BRBEREETE (TRH]
under the Employment Support Scheme (“ESS’) and subsidies EEDRHENTEFBARNIE
for the incurred operating expenses arising from research and ARBB A EBMELENDEL
development activities provided by The People’s Government EHRTIRMAOEE c XS/ EME
of Zhejiang Province. There are no unfilled conditions or B2 RERK IR AEIA -

contingencies related to these subsidies.
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AEBBRB AR T EME, 7 (GEA) A

The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

(crediting): TEIBEELN
2022
(Restated)
(E5)
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FiE T
Contract costs BRI 5,139,569 6,152,931
Depreciation of property, plant and M- HEREZHBITE
equipment 9,647 11,406
Less: Amount included in contract costs D W= 0] BN i (2,262) (5,522)
Amount included in administrative expenses =+ AT B SZ B & %8 7,385 5,884
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEENE 22,377 21,295
Less: Amount included in contract costs BT AR HK AN SR (6,870) (2,241)
Amount included in administrative expenses st AfTE X & %8 15,507 19,054
Amortisation of operating concession rights T AG KR AN & B A AT R
included in contract costs 5 1,385 1,449
Amortisation of other intangible assets H & 82 208
Less: Amount included in contract costs 5}556 CETAB KK AR SR (3) (114)
Amount included in administrative expenses s AT FA W& 58 79 94
Lease payments not included in the WEFAGEREARZ
measurement of lease liabilities HEMK 52,961 52,640
Less: Amount included in contract costs D W= 0] BN (51,499) (49,599)
Amount included in administrative expenses st AT X & 58 1,462 3,041
Employee benefit expense (including directors’ B B @AM X (BEEFH
remuneration): B -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e RBEREMRET 449,303 410,115
Pension scheme contributions RORET I K 25,717 21,767
475,020 431,882
Less: Amount included in contract costs W ET AR RN R (375,286) (345,456)
Amount included in administrative expenses st ATTHFSZ & 58 99,734 86,426
HEUFSCEERERA 202343 291
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7. Profit before tax (Continued)

The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/
(crediting): (Continued)

7. BR¥AEF ()

AEBBRB AT A LR (GEA) IR

TEEGER : (F)

2022
(Restated)
(&=E75)
HK$'000 HKS'000
FET FAT
Auditor’s remuneration 1% B4R % B 4,831 4,690
Impairment of trade receivables* FEUE 5 FIE BB 2,945 8,707
Impairment of contract assets* &R EERE" 3,802 3,655
Impairment of receivables and PR AT RE L HE T /Y
contract assets under service FEWGRIA K & 40 & BER B
concession arrangements* - 12
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of property, H&E¥E - WE&ZFEEB
plant and equipment, net* B8 (W as) F5E (607) 76
Loss on modification of leases* 1B E 2 BB 39 -
Foreign exchange differences, net* HNEE [ 5, 7= BEF RR 1,937 (36)
Research and development expenses** it 3% fA S 17,510 10,379
o These items are included in “Other operating expenses, net” on the 4 ZEBAINGEEBREP O HMamL

face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

x> Research and development expenses are included in **

“administrative expenses” on the face of the consolidated

statement of profit or loss.

8. Finance costs
An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

BRISOFHE] o

MEBEHDNAZEBRRT W 1TEH
X e

8. MIEMA
BERAHHHMT :

2022

(Restated)

(&)

HK$'000 HKS$'000

THET FA7T

Interest on bank loans IRITEZRF B 30,598 12,648
Interest on a loan from an intermediate FE—MEPEIZERARINER

holding company T & 12,376 -
Interest in discounted amounts of retention RREHEZmMEENEMNRS

payables arising from the passage of time £ B{IR & ZEAYFI & 8,507 6,627

Interest on lease liabilities HEBEFE 1,168 988

Total st 52,649 20,263
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MBHmRME 2

31 December 2023 —FE=—=#+=-H=+—H

9. Directors’ and chief executive’s 9. EEREETHAESEHM
remuneration
Directors' remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the BIE EMRA - BB QENEMA383(1)()
Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong b) s QOROIERAR (BEEEFNEE
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of B GBI 28 R AFEE S H I
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows: T

2023 2022
—=E=-= —EF-
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FTET FHET
Fees e 1,428 1,200
Other emoluments: His -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind He R EEMETR 6,468 8,762
Performance related bonuses EABRETEAL 2,048 2,430
Pension scheme contributions BARFTEI R 366 483
Subtotal N 8,882 11,675
Total BEt 10,310 12,875
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BIUFHITESE
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors REEAN - BENBUIERTESZ
during the year were as follows: e
2023 2022
—=E-= T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FETT
The Honourable Tse Wai Chun Paul Jp HEELE
(MLEEHE) xFot) 300 300
Mr. Ho Man Yiu Ivan ] XFESE AL 300 300
Mr. Lau Pak Shing EE e 300 300
Mr. Lai Yuk Fai Stephen Jp (note) FBIB¥B R (kF) (MTiE) 228 -
Total #Et 1,128 900
Note: Mr. Lai Yuk Fai Stephen Jp was appointed as an independent Hiat - BB E (KEHLT) RN =

T=EFE=A-TNAEZER
RRBVEIIFHNTES -

non-executive director of the Company on 28 March 2023.

There were no other emoluments payable to the REFZA - W EEH th fERT B 7 FEH
independent non-executive directors during the year TEEZMNE(ZEZ_F &)
(2022: Nil).
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M¥BHmRMeE 2

31 December2023 —FE=-=#+=-H=+—H

9. Directors’ and chief executive’s 9. EENEBSITBRAEEHM =
remuneration (Continued)
(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors (b) MITEERIHITES

Salaries,
allowances  Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme
in kind bonuses  contributions Total

o RER &% B
i ENEN RERA sTEBRK )
HK$'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TR TER TR TR

2023 bt St 3
Executive directors: HITEE -
Mr. Guan Manyu EWFLE - 668 683 70 1,421
Mr. Li Kar Yin FRERE - 2,857 1,065 213 4,135
Ms. Chu Ping (note (a) KERT (W) - 165 = 5 170
Mr. Law Ming Kin (note (a)) BRRLEWHEE) - 4n - = an
Mr. Chan Tak Yiu REBLE - 2,307 300 78 2,685
Subtotal NG - 6,468 2,048 366 8,882
Non-executive directors: EHTEE
Mr. Yang Haojiang BEILE 300 - - - 300
Ms. Ding Shaojian (note (b)) Toslxt(Wze) = = - - -
Mr. Fan Jingbo (note (b)) BRREEHF) - = S - -
Subtotal NG 300 = S = 300
Total @it 300 6,468 2,048 366 9,182
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MBHmRME 2

31 December 2023 —FE=—=#+=-H=+—H

9.

Directors’ and chief executive’s

9. EERGRITTHRASHMH =)

remuneration (
(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors (b) MITEERIHITES (&)
(Continued)
Salaries,
allowances Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme
Fees in kind bonuses contributions Total
e 28R & BIR
e EnE TREEA FTEIfR T @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAT TER TET
2022 —EC-CE
Executive directors: HiTEZ !
Mr. Guan Manyu ERTEE - 645 676 141 1462
Mr. Li Kar Yin FEERE - 2953 754 246 3953
Ms. Chu Ping RELL = 703 280 18 1,001
Mr. Law Ming Kin ERREE - 2,206 40 - 2626
Mr. Chan Tak Yiu BEE L s - 2255 300 78 2633
Subtotal et - 8,762 2430 483 11,675
Non-executive director: FHITEE
Mr. Yang Haojiang BEILE 300 = = = 300
Total @it 300 8762 2430 483 11975
Notes: B

(a) Ms. Chu Ping and Mr. Law Ming Kin resigned as executive

directors of the Company on 28 March 2023.

(b)  Ms. Ding Shaojian and Mr. Fan Jingbo were appointed as

non-executive directors of the Company on 28 March 2023.

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any

remuneration during the year.

ELEEEEITERARAR

@ KFXLREAREEN_-FT
T=HF=A -+ N\BEBEARF
WITES -

)y TH

|2t RERREER -

“=F=ATN\HEZERA

/N

FIERAITES -

AEER  BBEEEIEHTERA
B E LR B REE T H M %

B
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

M¥BHmRMeE 2

31 December2023 —FE=-=#+=-H=+—H

10. Five highest paid employees 10. EB R EHMES
The five highest paid employees during the year included two REEAN hEREFHEEBRERE
directors (2022: three directors), details of whose remuneration EE(ZTT-_—F =£ZFF) Hfjl&
are set out in note 9 above. Details of the remuneration for the IR EXHIFE e KEEAN A =%
year of the remaining three (2022: two) non-director highest paid (ZEZZF - WB)FEZNE= T
employees for the year are as follows: EEMMeFBOT :
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAETT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e ZEREWET 7,139 5018
Performance related bonuses EMFRRAEAT 1,562 1,105
Pension scheme contributions RIRET B 145 170
Total st 8,846 6,293
The number of the non-director, highest paid employees whose e NRTFEE B IFE SN &S = o
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: EBEEMAHAT :

Number of employees

EE®E

2023 2022

HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,001 7T £ 3,000,000 7T 2 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,000,001 JT £4,000,0007% 7T - 1
HK$4,000,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,000,001/ 7T 25,000,000/ 7T 1 =
Total Bt 3 2
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31 December 2023 —FE=—=#+=-H=+—H

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands RERSHEREBRZHESHHAR
and the BVI, the Group is not subject to any income tax in the ER G ASEBARNAERERIEBRE
Cayman Islands and the BVI. Hong Kong profits tax has been RS HMNERPASET - BBMERTY
provided at the rate of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) on the estimated RIEZNFEAED B BREA A5 EER T
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year, except S AE165% (ZE = —F : 165%) fi X
for one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying entity under TR MRS E R — RN B A RRI
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The first HK$2,000,000 ZAE ATEE ARG ST RS E A
(2022: HK$2,000,000) of assessable profits of this subsidiary are HEE o ZIIEB AT E 2,000,000/ 7T (=
taxed at 8.25% (2022: 8.25%) and the remaining assessable profits T — Z £ : 2,000,000 7T ) A FE iR B
are taxed at 16.5% (2022: 16.5%). Taxes on profits assessable F328.25% (ZF = 4 : 825%) HyFL X
elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in B HepERBEF AIE165%(=ZF
the countries in which the Group operates. T 1 165%) BT REF o B E thith

77 B ERR T M B 2 R IR AR E
EGREMERARERNR KT -

2022
T

(GESEIEe))
(&E:5)
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FTET T T

Current — Hong Kong BNER— &S
Charge for the year FANZH 8,381 8,217
Underprovision in prior years BEFEREBETIR 1,517 184
Current — elsewhere BNEA — H b ih [& 5,714 3,143
Deferred (note 25) BRE (F1at25) (2,936) (2,608)
Total tax charge for the year FABIBZ LB 12,676 8,936
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31 December2023 —FE=-=#+=-H=+—H

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax
at the statutory tax rate for the jurisdiction where the operations
of the Group are substantially based to the tax expense at the
effective tax rate is as follows:

ARSI T BHEDEERNET
B 52 38 R OB 4 AT R R0 BB
% BUR RIS B S E B IERI S MR
m -

2022
T
(Restated)
(ge=51)
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET
Profit before tax W 75 81T Y8 84,901 81,876
Tax at the statutory tax rates REEREFTENHIE 14,009 16.5 13,509 16.5
Effect of different rates for REMBEREREEEDN
companies operating in other RAIFMETRHEL
jurisdictions 2 (717) (0.8) (772) (0.9)
Lower tax rate enacted by local 7 EEBAIBED
authority R R R (165) (0.2) (165) 0.2)
Adjustments in respect of current LB FEEEIF A
tax of previous years TEH R AR 1,517 1.8 184 02
Income not subject to tax BERTABA (5,936) (7.0) (1,597) (2.0)
Expenses not deductible for tax RO E T 5,669 6.6 3,118 38
Tax concession MIBER (1,631) (1.9) (1,196) (1.5)
Tax losses not recognised RAERHTIBER 92 0.1 47 0.1
Tax losses utilised EERAMNTIEEE (121) (0.1) (3,899) (4.8)
Others Hith (41) (0.1) (293) (0.3)
Tax charge at the Group's BRAEBERHEX
effective rate AT E B IAR X 12,676 14.9 8,936 109

The Group has estimated tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
approximately HK$4,132,000 (2022: HK$4,864,000) that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose. The Group also has tax losses
arising in Macau of approximately HK$1,206,000 (2022: HKS$1,307,000)
that will expire in three years for offsetting against future taxable
profits. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect
of these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been
loss-making for some time and, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the tax losses can be utilised.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBHmRME 2

12.

31 December 2023 —ZFE=—=#F+=-H=+—H
Dividend 12. BE
2023 2022
—E-=F —ET - F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FE T
Interim — HK1.5 cents (2022: HK2.5 cents) A% @ A% o HA AR &
per ordinary share —158 (===
2.57840) 7,500 12,500
Proposed final - HK1.8 cents BREAREZRERE
(2022: HK1.8 cents) per ordinary share —18B (===
1.8741l1) 9,000 9,000
16,500 21,500
The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the RFEEEZRBBREAFADAIBRER

13.

approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming

annual general meeting.

Earnings per share attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the company

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is
based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the Company of HK$71,887,000 (2022 (restated):
HKS$72,106,000), and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares of 500,000,000 (2022: 500,000,000) in issue during the year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December
2022.

13.

EERESETRARA

ERERRBEAREG LHERTATIK

ARCIEERESE ARG
FREHN

SREFANZ SEHRRAADN LR
B 2555 A FEAL 4 PO F171,887,000%8

T (ZEZ=F (FFF) : 72,106,000/
T0) A R A B B AT AR I T 1 )

500,000,0000% (== —%F: 500,000,000
f%) st &

BE_FT_-—"F+_A=+—H8Bk=

ZZE+ZA=t+—BLEEE" $$@
TEEBEBENERITEER -
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M¥BHmRMeE 2

31 December2023 —FE=-=#+=-H=+—H

14. Property, plant and equipment 14. Y% - MENRRE

Leasehold Plant and Furniture Computers Motor
improvements machinery  andfixtures  and software vehicles Total

BENEEE  BERME  BARKE  SKREH he it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TR TER TER TER TER TER

31 December 2023 ZECCEfCR=t-H

At 31 December 2022 and RZE-—F+-A=+-BkK

1 January 203 “f-=%-R-R:

Cost Ak 14,818 30,601 7823 297 10,307 86,520
Accumulated depreciation 2HNE (7,020) (22,357) (4,611) (15,362) (8,235) (57,585)
Net carrying amount EEFE 7,798 8,244 3212 7,609 2072 28,935
At 1 January 2023, net of R-E-=F-fA-H

accumulated depreciation TR24TE 7,798 8,244 3212 7,609 2,072 28,935
Additions TE 646 1423 536 1,289 4352 8,246
Disposal i - (316) (144) - - (460)
Depreciation provided RERGHRITE

during the year (note 7 (Hi7) (1,897) (2,024) (686) (3,193) (1,847) (9,647)
Exchange realignment EiA% (13) (13) (8) 11 (20) a3)
At 31 Decernber 2023, net of R-ZB-=£+-f=1-R"

accumulated depreciation NBEFHE 6,534 7314 2910 5716 4,557 27,031
At 31 December 2023; A—E-=E+-R=1-H:

Cost A 15,169 30,104 8,007 24,277 14,457 92,014
Accumulated depreciation ZithE (8,635) (22,790) (5,097) (18,561) (9,900) (64,983)
Net carrying amount BHSE 6,534 7314 2910 5716 4,557 27,031
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31 December 2023 —FE-—=#+—-H=+—H

14. Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Leasehold Plant and Furniture Computers Motor
improvements machinery and fixtures — and software vehicles Total

BENZEE  HERBE  SAR nE g3t
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 (9 HKS'000 HKS'000
TF'E*E %’ET %'ETE iﬁﬁ ﬁ%i ?%fE

31December 2022 (restated) —F-—E+-fA=1-H

(BE5)

At T January 2022: R-E-—F-f—-H:

Cost A 13,59 30710 7,356 20773 10,659 83,002

Accumulated depreciation ZitiE (13,226) (17,225) (4573) (123%) (6,964) (54,386)

Net carrying amount REE 368 13485 2783 8375 3695 28,706
At 1 January 2022, net of R-B-"E-F-H"

accumulated depreciation Nh2:nE 368 13485 2783 8375 3,69 28,706
Additions NE 8352 101 1292 2372 = 12117
Disposal ik - - (8 B) - (83)
Depreciation provided RERGHRITE

during the year (note 7) W) (891) (5241) (74) (3073) (1459) (11406)
Exchange realignment BiA% B31) (101) (39) 62) (164 (397)
At31 December 202, netof  RZE-=#+-fA=t-H"

accumulated depreciation TI]IS?-\ 2itHE 7798 8,44 3212 7609 207 28935
At 31 December 2022 \-B-—F+-R=1-8H:

Cost A 14818 30,601 7823 29 10,307 86520

Accumulated depreciation ZitiE (7,020) (22357) (4611) (15362) (8,235) (57,585)

Net carrying amount RESE 7798 8,044 3212 7609 2072 28,935
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31 December2023 —FE=-=#+=-H=+—H

15. Leases 15. #HE
The Group as a lessee rEBEREEA

AEEEENEXBERNET - BHE
KA REMRBEERANEESL -
BFOERBEN F2255  MEE R
B HBBEE N F2E3F - ARE
HEEEE R12E A AT &R E 5

The Group has lease contracts for buildings and plant and
machinery and other equipment used in its operations. Leases
for buildings generally have lease terms between 2 and 5 years
while plant and machinery generally have lease terms between
2 and 3 years. Other equipment generally has lease terms of 12

months or less and/or is individually of low value. BERIK -

(a) Right-of-use assets (a) FHAEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets AEEGAEEECREEHERFER
and the movements during the year are as follows: BET

Plant and
Buildings machinery Total
BF KRERBK:E st
HKS$’000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
BT FET FHET
At 1 January 2022 R-ZEBE-_—_F—HF—H 61,776 1,398 63,174
Additions NE 10,552 - 10,552
Depreciation charge (note 7) weERZ (Fa27) (20,066) (1,229) (21,295)
Modification of leases HEBK (3,603) = (3,603)
Exchange realignment e 5 38 B (206) (44) (250)
At 31 December 2022 (restated) MR- ZE-—&F+_H
and 1 January 2023 =+t—H#EY) &
—ZE-=%—H—H 48,453 125 48,578
Additions NE 13,085 - 13,085
Depreciation charge (note 7) wERX (Kit7) (22,255) (122) (22,377)
Modification of leases HEEBH (2,039) - (2,039)
Exchange realignment PE W 3R B 104 (3) 101
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=%F
+=ZRA=+—H 37,348 - 37,348
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31 December 2023 —FE=—=#+=-H=+—H

15. Leases (Continued) 15. & (&)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) FEBEREEAN(E)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEESE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements HEBBEZEREBEREFRNZEHN
during the year are as follows: K

2023 2022
—=E=-= —E-—

HK$’000 HKS'000

FET T T

Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZEEE 47,718 59,672

New leases FHEE 13,085 10,552

Modification of leases HEENR (2,000) (3,603)
Accretion of interest recognised FAHRERF S0

during the year 1,168 988

Payments B (22,178) (19,664)

Exchange realignment R 106 (227)

Carrying amount at 31 December R+ZA=+—HBZEKHEE 37,899 47,718

Analysed into: DA
Current portion mEE D 21,856 18,765
Non-current portion EMENE 16,043 28,953
(c) The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is as follows: () HEEBZIHIMUOT :

31 December 2023 31 December 2022
“E_=f+ZA=1+-H —E--F+-R=1—H
Effective Effective

interest interest
rate (%)  Maturity  HK$'000 rate (%) Maturity HK$'000
BRA= D)= TEx EBEERNX glpi)s THT
(%) (%)

Current B HS

Lease liabilities HEAE 1.8-5.8 2024 21,856 17-42 2023 18,765
Non-current FFENE

Lease liabilities HEERE 1.9-6.8 2025-2026 16,043 18-42  2024-2025 28,953

37,899 47,718
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31 December 2023 —ZF=—=#F+=-H=+—H
15. Leases (Continued) 15. fHE (&)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) FEBERAEAN (E)
(d) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (d REZEIREEEEBENSEN
leases are as follows: T

2022
(Restated)
(=)
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH&T T
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 1,168 988
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets {FAEEENER X
(included in administrative expenses) (FFATTERX) 15,507 19,054
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets {# & ETER X
(included in contract costs) GPONST I %) 6,870 2,235
Expense relating to short-term leases RHEERX
(included in administrative expenses) (FFATTEA ) 1,462 3,041
Expense relating to short-term leases EHEERX
(included in contract costs) GPNE D&Y 51,499 49,599
Loss on modification of leases HEEHR 2 EE 39 -
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RIBRERN LS5 76,545 74,917
(e) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 28(c) (e) THERIRST L ABTERN B 5K M
to the financial statements. FE28(Q)#E FR o
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31 December2023 —ZE_-_=F+_-_H=+—H

The Group has entered into several service concession
arrangements with certain governmental authorities in Zhejiang
Province, Chinese Mainland on a ROT, a BOT or a Transfer-
Operate-Transfer (“TOT") basis in respect of its sewage and
reclaimed water treatment as well as water distribution services.
These service concession arrangements generally involve the
Group as an operator in (i) rehabilitating or constructing sewage
and reclaimed water treatment plants and water distribution
facilities (collectively, the “Facilities”) for those arrangements
on a ROT and BOT basis; (ii) obtaining the Facilities for the
arrangements on a TOT basis; and (iii) operating and maintaining
the Facilities at a specified level of serviceability on behalf of the
relevant governmental authorities for periods ranging from 25
to 30 years (the “Service Concession Periods”), and the Group
will be paid for its services over the relevant periods of the
service concession arrangements at prices stipulated through
a pricing mechanism. The Group is generally entitled to use all
the property, plant and equipment of the Facilities, however,
the relevant governmental authorities as Grantors will control
and regulate the scope of services that the Group must provide
with the Facilities, and retain the beneficial entitlement to any
residual interest in the Facilities at the end of the terms of the
Service Concession Periods. Each of these service concession
arrangements is governed by a contract and, where applicable,
supplementary agreements entered into between the Group
and the relevant governmental authority in Zhejiang Province,
Chinese Mainland that set out, inter alia, performance standards,
mechanisms for adjusting prices for the services rendered by the
Group, specific obligations imposed on the Group to restore the
Facilities to a specified level of serviceability at the end of the
Service Concession Periods, and arrangements for arbitrating
disputes.

ELEEEEITERARAR

A& B E5 K R B A KEEE I KB K
AR -+ B3R B A b T /T & & T RS E6 P
SIS HAROTAR « BOTHR BB R — &
E-BR((ToT)) A XK ZERESHF
B  ZERBHFITETE—RIR
REBEREER - () E AROTRBOT
FREERBES KRB EKEERE
Fe/K R Me (578 [ ZERME ) 5 ()BT A
TOT/3 R EG 5% F 3% 06 ¢ (i) A  F25
230 2 A (RBESFHD N KB
B8 BT B0 P9 42 B R TE MO AR oK T - &
EREEZEERE  MASBERLER
RIS 4R B FTE] B M EA R M IR (80 AR
% REEHSIFTATERKRER - —
MmE  AEEEREAZEREANL
FiEME BERZE - Am - BEK
IEMPUERTZTA - BIEFIRAEARE
EpzEfm s EAREnREEE - I
RIS FFET B R (R B E s SR he
MR ERNEREAE  ZSRGEE
TSR AL R BRI E
BRABRTEPIEI LG R (WEA)
HABEMRE  EPFIAEPEE)
BRI RE  REBEFTRHERBHOERSA
B AR HEREEZSE
RIS =5 ] K R A & B e
MR EERT  ARMUDHIELHE -
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31 December2023 —FE=-=#+=-H=+—H

16. Service concession arrangements (Continued) 16. RIEISTFERHE @)
A summary of the major terms of the principal service RZBZ=F+-A=1+—HHFZMR
concession arrangements as at 31 December 2023 is as follows: BT ELHENENERBENDT -
Type of
Service Service
Name of company as concession concession
operator Name of plant Location Name of Grantor arrangement period
R et
EERAAER BEER fug RYAER ZHER FR% 45t
1 Changxing Construction Sewage Treatment Huzhou, Zhejiang Government of TOT on sewage 30 years from
[nvestment Environmental Plantin Province, PRC Meishan Town, treatment 2017 to 2047
Technology Company Meishan Town, Changxing County
Limited Changxing County
RERRBERMR REZHKILE REMIEMNT  REERLERF  ToTSAKEE 0%
BRRA BKRER (ZB—t%E
“EMLE)
2 Zhejiang Construction Sewage Treatment Huzhou, Zhejiang Government of BOT on sewage 30 years from
Investment Environment Plant Phase |l Province, PRC Meishan Town, treatment 2017 to 2047
Engineering Company in Meishan Town, Changxing County
Limited Changxing Country
MIERRRIE REZRLE MEMIEMMT  RESZRWLBRA BOTT /5K G2 30F
BRAA] AKEER-H (Z2—t&ZE
“EMtF)
3 Changxing Construction Water Plant in Huzhou, Zhejiang Government of ROT on water 30 years from
Investment Environmental ~ Meishan Town, Province, PRC Meishan Town, distribution 2017 to 2047
Technology Company Changxing County Changxing County
Limited
RERRRRHR REGHLEKER  FEMIZANT  REZELERS ROTA A ALK 30F
BRAR (2247
“TMtE)
4 Changxing Construction Water Plant Huzhou, Zhejiang Government of BOT on water 30 years from
[nvestment Environmental Phase Il in Meishan Province, PRC Meishan Town, distribution 2017 to 2047
Technology Company Town, Changxing Changxing County
Limited County
RERRBERMR REZHKILE mEMIEMNT  RESKILEARR BOT/A ALK 0%
BRRA KBE (Z2—t%7F
“EMLE)
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31 December 2023 —FE=—=#+=-H=+—H

16. Service concession arrangements (Co

A summary of the major terms of the principal service
concession arrangements as at 31 December 2023 is as follows:

(Continued)

Name of company as
operator

EEHARER

5 Zhejiang Construction
Investment Environment
Engineering Company
Limited

MIBRERIE
BRAR

el

6 Changxing Construction
Investment Water
Company Limited

RERRKBBRAA

7 Zhejiang Tiantai
Construction Investment
Water Company Limited
IR BRRKTH
BRARA

8 Zhejiang Tiantai

Construction Environment

Technology Company
Limited
TRBMERERE
BRRA

=R

Name of plant

BEEM

Reclaimed Water
Treatment Station in
Meishan Town,
Changxing County

REZHWLEE
KRR

Hemei Sewage
Treatment Plant in
Changxing County

REENZTKRER

Cangshan Sewage
Treatment Plant

BlAkRER

Cangshan Sewage
Treatment Plant
Phase Il

BILSKEER =4

Location

g

Huzhou, Zhejiang
Province, PRC

AT A M T

Huzhou, Zhejiang
Province, PRC

EIE M T

Taizhou, Zhejiang
Province, PRC

RENTIE AMNT

Taizhou, Zhejiang
Province, PRC

REIE AMT

16. BRIE455

R-T =

LB
=F+=A=t+-ANZE

RGEFELFNERGRBENOT

(#8)

Name of Grantor

SN !

Changxing Xinneng
Construction
Development
Company Limited

REZHERFE
BRAA

Government of
Heping Town,
Changxing County

REGENTHYE

State-Owned Assets
Affairs Center of
Tiantai County

REEAREE
SHRDL

State-Owned Assets
Affairs Center of
Tiantai County

RERERAE
ZHPL

ELEEEEITERARAR

Type of

Service Service
concession concession
arrangement period

R ETR
ZHER PR 4557 5
BOT on reclaimed 30 years from
water treatment 2019 to 2049
BOTA A E4KEHE 0F
(ZE-NFZ
“EMNE)
TOT on sewage 30 years from
treatment 2016 to 2046
TOTA RS KER 30F
(ZE—7%Z
“ZMRE)
BOT on sewage 30 years from
treatment 2017 to 2047
BOTH A A KEE 0%
(ZE—tFZE
ZEMEEF)
BOT on sewage 25 years from
treatment 2022 t0 2047
BOTA X AKERE 25E
(G =2y
“EMLE)
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31 December2023 —FE-—=#+-H=+—H

As at 31 December 2023 certain receivables under service
concession arrangements of the Group with aggregate carrying
amounts of approximately HK$174,593,000 (31 December 2022
(restated): HK$44,405,000) and the relevant future revenue
entitlement under the service concession arrangement were
pledged to secure certain bank loans granted to the Group with
the amount of approximately HK$73,163,000 (31 December 2022
(restated): HK$27,204,000) (note 24).

As further explained in the accounting policy for “Service
concession arrangements” set out in note 3.4 to the financial
statements, the consideration paid by the Group for a service
concession arrangement is accounted for as an intangible asset
(operating concession) or a financial asset (receivable under a
service concession arrangement) or a combination of both, as
appropriate. The following is the summarised information of the
intangible asset component (operating concessions) and the
financial asset component (receivables under service concession
arrangements) with respect to the Group's service concession

arrangements:

Annual Report 2023

RZEBE-_=F+=ZA=+—HB K
EERBEIETETEEAEY
174,593,008 T (ZE - ZF + = A
:+—EI (#ZEFI) : 44,405,000 7T ) K

ETERRERAREEFTEZET
WHEBRRKEZZE#EDE TEM - XA
1 7K & B 1R & BE#973,163,00078 7T (=
T__F+ZA=+—BEE?) :
27,204,0007% 7T) B9 & TR 1T & 5K (M &
24) °

AL TS R I EE3 48 [ RIS AT &
BEImE—HRE ARERRBH
BZHRNREDARRELEE (B
BRI REREE (RS FTELHE
T EYIR) XME LA AR RER
BERME) o TR A B AR5 45
MRERBEARMNETEERR (BER
g ke mEERB (RBFFFEL S
TRRYKIR) B
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31 December 2023 —FE=—=#+=-H=+—H

(a) Operating concessions rights

(a) EERTHE

HK$’000
FET

‘

31 December 2023
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023:

—E-=F#+-A=+—H
RZE-_—_F+-_A=+—8K

—E=F—H—H:

Cost AR 40,070

Accumulated amortisation RET#H (5,215)
Net carrying amount BREFE 34,855
At 1 January 2023, net of accumulated R—ZE—_=F—H—A8 "

amortisation B 2T E 34,855
Amortisation provided during the year FAFHREE (1,385)
Exchange realignment I 5, 58 & (490)
At 31 December 2023, net of accumulated RZEZ=%F+=ZHA=+—H"

amortisation kR 2T E 32,980
At 31 December 2023 RZE-_=F+-A=+—H:

Cost AR 39,497

Accumulated amortisation RETE#H (6,517)
Net carrying amount BREVHE 32,980

HK$'000

31 December 2022 (restated)
At 1 January 2022:

ZEF+ZRA=+—8(EE5))
R-EBE-_—F—HF—H8:

THETT

Cost [N 43,778

Accumulated amortisation RET#EH (4172)
Net carrying amount BREDFE 39,606
At 1 January 2022, net of accumulated R-—_E-_—_F#—HA—H "

amortisation Mk Retis 39,606
Amortisation provided during the year FNFHHRE (1,449)
Exchange realignment ME W, R B (3,302)
At 31 December 2022, net of accumulated R—EBE-_—_F+=-_A=+—8"

amortisation B RET 34,855
At 31 December 2022: RZE-_—_F+-_A=+—H:

Cost B AR 40,070

Accumulated amortisation RET#H (5,215)
Net carrying amount BREDE(E 34,855

EERESETRARA
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31 December2023 —FE=-=#+=-H=+—H

16. Service concession arrangements (Continued)

(b) Receivables and contract assets under service

concession arrangements

16. RIFISTFHEZHE &)
(b) FRBEFBIAEZHETHEKRIE
RENEE

2022
—E - F
(Restated)
(&&E3)
HK$'000 HKS'000
THET T 7T

Receivables and contract assets  ARIGISSFREZTBE T HY (i)

under service concession EWRBENENEE

arrangements 247,614 155,556
Impairment BB (i) (45) (46)
247,569 155,510
Portion classified as current assets %3 38 /& 7 B & & /9 6 (7,098) (6,326)
Non-current portion FERBNE D 240,471 149,184

As at 31 December 2023, contract assets which were
presented as receivables and contract assets under service
concession arrangements amounted to HK$128,150,000
(31 December 2022 (restated): HKS$35,588,000). The
remaining amounts of receivables and contract assets
under service concession arrangements at the end of
reporting period were due from the Grantors in respect
of the Group's construction and rehabilitation services for
environmental related facilities.

W 3710 CRConstruction Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023

RZEBEZ=%+=ZA=+—H8 "
AR 7% T R BE T 9 FE R IE K
ERNEEMIGNENEEREE
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31 December 2023 —FE=—=#+=-H=+—H

16. Service concession arrangements (Continued

(b)

Receivables and contract assets under service
concession arrangements (Continued)

Note:

(i) The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of

the Group's receivables and contract assets under service

concession arrangements are as follows:

16. RIFISFFERZHE #)
(b) BRBHFTAEZHETHERNRIE
RENEE ()
Bzt -

() ARERLEREFELYET O EK
HIERE NBRERIERBRE
HEBMT

2022

—E-
(Restated)
€ =7))
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FAT
At beginning of the year REH] 46 39
Impairment losses BB E 18 = 12
Exchange realignment ME 5 55 2 (1) (5)
At end of year RER 45 46

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using the probability of default approach to measure
expected credit losses. The probabilities of default rates are
estimated based on comparable companies with published
credit ratings. The calculation reflects the probability
weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available
at the reporting date about past events, current conditions

and forward-looking credit risk information.

RNEHEBRRBEORRLE
TREDH - Ut 2EHMEEE
B BOBMEDRIBABE QM
EEFRHNERRBEMLG - &
AAERREEMELER B
BERNEGEBRUTRSERBE
= BRI RATIEEEER
BRERNAERAISEER

FREESEIERARAA - 203FFH 311
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31 December2023 —FE=-=#+=-H=+—H

17. Other intangible assets 17. Ht B R EE
Software
31 December 2023 —A=+-— B4
HK$’000
FHET
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023: KRB ZF+ZA=+—HK
—E-=%—H—A8:
Cost BN 719
Accumulated amortisation ZET (412)
Net carrying amount REEE 307
At 1 January 2023, net of accumulated RZE-_=F—H—A8 "
amortisation bR ZETH#E 307
Addition NE 70
Amortisation provided during the year F NI E (82)
Exchange realignment PE 38 & (4)
At 31 December 2023, net of accumulated R-_E-_=%+—-_HA=+—8"
amortisation R RE#E 8y 291
At 31 December 2023: R-TE—_=F+=-A=+—8":
Cost BN 779
Accumulated amortisation RETHEH (488)
Net carrying amount FREFE 291
Software
1 December 2022 (restated) —E-—F+-_A=+—H8((KE5]) Bt
HKS$'000
FA T
At 1 January 2022: RZZEZ=ZF—H—8:
Cost B AR 515
Accumulated amortisation R (231)
Net carrying amount REEE 284
At 1 January 2022, net of accumulated R=ZZT-_=—F—HF—8
amortisation bR 2T H#E 284
Addition NE 256
Amortisation provided during the year F TR B (208)
Exchange realignment ME 58 B (25)
At 31 December 2022, net of accumulated RZZFEZZF+=ZHA=+—8 "
amortisation bR RETHE 307
At 31 December 2022: RZBEZ_—_F+HA=+—8:
Cost [N 719
Accumulated amortisation RET# i (412)
Net carrying amount REEE 307

B 3712 CRConstruction Group Holdings Limited +  Annual Report 2023



Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBHmRME 2

31 December 2023 —FE=—=#+=-H=+—H

18. Contract assets 18. BB E
31 December 31 December 1 January
2023 2022
—E-= T_ —F
+=ZA=+—H —H—H
(Restated) (Restated)
(¢=27l)) (ZE3)
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
TER FHT AT

Contract assets arising from: BHMEERS

Construction operations BEEHK (a) 1,679,113 1,242,059 1,029,221
Environmental operations RIRER (b) 64,232 50,433 59,265
Retention receivables EWRB & ZIB (c) 833,586 830,276 721,293

Total @t 2,576,931 2,122,768 1,809,779

Impairment A (12,204) (8,638) (5,146)

Net carrying amount EHFE 2,564,727 2,114,130 1,804,633

Notes: HaT -

(a) Contract assets consist of the Group’s rights to consideration for (@) EHNEEPREAEEREFREETE
works completed but unbilled amounts resulting from building S A RRMAATIRE HELENE THKIB
construction works contracts and RMAA works contracts. The MABFETREKERARENEN - 448
contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when the rights BENEBENK BEEEE(—BE
become unconditional, which is generally within one year. The —FRN)EETEREFIRIE  —_ T =
increase in contract assets in 2023 and 2022 was the result of the FER B —EFEANBERNEMIH
increase in the provision of construction services at the end of the MNERBERG LG I -
years.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract assets, R+t-ZA=+—H8 KEIKLEHZEE
net of loss allowances, arising from construction operations as at EWELE 2 ANEE HIKREBEE)
31 December is as follows: RTEHRREAT

2023 2022
—E2-= T

—_—

HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi#T FET

Within one year —&F R 1,671,108 1,236,116

S EBRARAT - 2023FE®R 313 N
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31 December2023 —FE=-=#+=-H=+—H

18. Contract assets (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

I 3714 CRConstruction Group Holdings Limited

Contract assets mainly consist of Group's rights to consideration
for works completed and services provided but unbilled amounts
resulting from construction and rehabilitation contracts for
environmental related facilities as well as sewage and reclaimed
water treatment services. The contract assets are transferred to
trade receivables when the rights become unconditional which is
generally within one year. The increase in contract assets in 2023
was the result of the increase in the provision of environmental
services, whilst the decrease in contract assets in 2022 was the

result of faster certification from customers.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract assets,
net of loss allowances, arising from environmental operations as at

31 December is as follows:

Within one year —FR

18. @& E ©)

Hiat : ()

b) BHEETIREBRAKERELH
RIENZEERBESDARIGKER
ERKBRERBEENHAFREERT
AR T2 % B SR AR U ER (L B VAR
BREERE BEMNKRBEGNE (—
BRE-—FRN)BERKESIFA - —F
ZEERNEEMBITYERIRER
BEEEN M —FE0AE
B DRI RN E P IR AT R AE

R+ RA=+—0  KRESEZRRF
EBEECZANEE (HBRBERE)
e IR AR T

2022
—E - F

(GESEIE.)

(R&E75)
HK$'000
THERT FHETT

HK$’000

62,427 50,100
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31 December 2023 —FE=—=#+=-H=+—H

18. Contract assets (Continued) 18. BB E &)

Notes: (Continued) Hiat - (&)

(c)  Retention receivables held by contract customers arising from the (0 AHNEFHENERRBESFIEELR
Group's construction operations for building construction works AEBEEEKNEFEEIRENET
and certain RMAA works are settled within a period ranging from RMAATRE @ ZXEIREFELETRES
one year to two years after the completion of the construction K BRRMAAT R G RIFTARE RN BRETIE
work and acceptance by customers, as stipulated in the building TILWAHEFBKE —EMFRNLES °

construction works contracts and RMAA works contracts.

The due date for settlement of the Group’s retention receivables, Rt+-—A=+—8 ' #EREERERR
net of loss allowances, as at 31 December is as follows: BEHIE (MBREERE) HIHBm
T
2023
—E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFE T FET
Due within one year R—F A2 H 522,022 499,471
Due after one year R—F &35 309,170 328,443
831,192 827914

S EBIARAT - 2023FE®R 315 N
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, HK$3,802,000 (2022
(restated): HK$3,655,000) was recognised as an allowance for
expected credit losses on contract assets. The Group's trading
terms and credit policy with customers are disclosed in note 19
to the financial statements.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of contract

assets are as follows:

BHE-_ZE-_=F+-A=+—HI*F
€ 38020008 T (ZTE=Z_F (K=&
) : 3,655,000 7C) R AEHNEER
BHEEEBREE T~EEETFHNE

PIER KB BER R I SRR M ah1 938

= o

EHMEEREBRRENESHNT

2022

—E - F

(Restated)

(=:751)

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FET T

At beginning of year F ) 8,638 5,147
Impairment losses (note 7) WIEEE (Kat7) 3,802 3,655
Exchange realignment ME 5 8B (236) (164)
At end of year FR 12,204 8,638

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The
provision rates for the measurement of the expected credit losses
of the contract assets are based on those of the trade receivables
as the contract assets and the trade receivables are from the
same customer bases. The provision rates of contract assets
are based on days past due of trade receivables for groupings
of various customer segments with similar loss patterns. The
calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time
value of money and reasonable and supportable information
that is available at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group's contract assets using a provision matrix:

Annual Report 2023
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18. Contract assets (Continued)
As at 31 December 2023

Construction operations:
Expected credit loss rate

Gross carrying amount (HKS$'000)
Expected credit losses (HKS'000)

Environmental operations:
Expected credit loss rate

Gross carrying amount (HK$'000)
Expected credit losses (HK$'000)

Total expected credit losses

18. SNNBE (#

R-Z2_=Z%+=A=1+—H

BEEK:

FEHEEEEX 0.414%
BREARE(FET) 2,512,699
FEHEEEE (T5rT) 10,399
RIRET :

FEHEEEEX 2.810%
EEmEAE(FET) 64,232
FEHEEEE(FErT) 1,805
FEEEESERRE 12,204

2022

(GESEIE.))
(&E:5))

0.401%
2,072,335
8,305

0.660%
50,433
333

8,638

19. Trade receivables

19. BIRE 5 RE

2022

(Restated)

(&=751)

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTET T T

Trade receivables FEWE 5 5 IE 832,747 887,241
Impairment VERIE] (16,393) (13,815)
Net carrying amount AREF(AE 816,354 873,426

The Group's trading terms with its customers are on credit. The
Group's credit period with customers range from 14 to 180 days.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade

receivables are non-interest-bearing.

HHRBTER °

ELEEEEITERARAR

AEEBRETFNE SRR NIZEER
Yoo ARBERTEFPNERBMN F14E
180K 7N 5% B % 1% 42 Il R 4575 B W3R
HeafisnrasfEEEEHES -
REEE N\ H B E 5 R RE BRI A
EAERRREMERETY - BEER
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19. Trade receivables (Continued) 19. B & 5 FIE (&)
An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the RBERR  HREERBENEKES

reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss HIBERBEZHHERNRESITIT

allowance, is as follows:

2022

—ET - F

(Restated)

(F &%)

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET THET

Within 1 month & A A 527,255 580,154
1 to 2 months 12218 A 87,964 155,930
2 to 3 months 2&3AA 30,569 22,762
3 to 12 months 3E12{E A 110,944 63,298
1to 2 years 1825 59,359 51,282
Over 2 years 2F M 263 =
816,354 873,426
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade JEWE SR IR BB ERENEB AT

receivables are as follows:

2022

(Restated)

(&E=75)

HK$’000 HK$'000

FE T AT

At beginning of year F 1) 13,815 5,349
Impairment losses (note 7) WIEEE (Kat7) 2,945 8,707
Exchange realignment PE H % (367) (241)
At end of year FR 16,393 13,815
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date BERE A RFERAREEEETRED
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. T At ETEHEEEIE - BEXRHE
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings REEHUEEBEXNSERZ,ESA
of various customer segments with similar loss patterns. The RBHR RSN E © T & B R =N
calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time BER  BEERBERRSRESAATER
value of money and reasonable and supportable information BRBESEE B AR MR R IK

that is available at the reporting date about past events, current HFERNEIE LA SEER -

conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure FRBEEETEAEENEREZE SR
on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix: HRZERRLT :
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19. Trade receivables (continued) 19. EWRE S FIE (&

As at 31 December 2023 R-EBE-_=F+=-A=+—H

Past due

g

1 year to
As at 31 December 2023 2 years

15226
Construction operations: B
Expected credit loss rate BHEEBEE 0.567% 8.821%  95.287% 1.831%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) EHBE(TEL 746,496 62,373 5,432 814,301
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) HHEEER (THT) 4,234 5,502 5,176 14,912
Environmental operations: RIREK
Expected credit loss rate BHEEEEX 2.977%  24.369%  97.107% 8.029%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) EHEE(TET) 14,913 3,291 242 18,446
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) BHEEEBE(FAT) 444 802 235 1,481
Total expected credit losses FHEERRASE

(HK$"000) (F#Ex) 16,393

S EBIRAR AT - 20238E®R 319 NN
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19. Trade receivables (Continued)
As at 31 December 2022 (restated)

19. EWRE 5718 (#)
R-B-_ZHF+-A=+—H(KE
%)

Past due
Less than Tto 3 months Over
As at 31 December 2022 Current 1 month 3 months to 1 year 1 year
il IBMAR EREIF BT
Construction operations: BEEH:
Expected credit loss rate BHEEEEX 0.257% 1.024% 2749% 7.237% 9.111% 1521%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) REAE(TAL) 577,082 157,527 21913 61873 56,197 874,592
Expected credit losses (HKS'000) BACEER(TATL) 1484 1614 602 4478 5,120 13,298
Environmental operations: RRER:
Expected credit loss rate BHRERRX o o = 7.940% 17.886% 4,087%
Gross carrying amount (HK$000) REAE(THETL) 5,002 - 1444 5957 246 12,649
Expected credit losses (HKS'000) HHEEER(TEL) - - - 473 44 517
Total expected credit losses BHEEFELE
(HK$'000) (TH) 13815

The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9 which permits
the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade
receivables.
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31 December 2023 —FE=—=#+=-H=+—H

20. Prepayments, deposits and other

20. FAMTRUIE ~ BEREAEURK

receivables 15

2022
—EF_—
(Restated)
(&E5)
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET T T
Prepayments A FRIE 53,509 23,574
Deposits and other receivables & & HE R EIE 54,410 39,353
107,919 62,927
Less: Non-current prepayments and B FERNERTE N FRIB RIS

deposits (8,165) (9,169)
99,754 53,758

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date.
The expected credit losses are estimated by applying a loss rate
approach with reference to the historical loss record of the Group
and is adjusted to reflect the current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions, as appropriate.

The financial assets included in the above balances relate to
receivables for which there was no recent history of default and
past due amounts. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the loss
allowance was assessed to be minimal.

ELEEEEITERARAR

BEFREBRHETRESI T - AEH
K2EZRTEBREEREAEEXZE
HETEEEEEE  WHZEESEED
BEFAE - DURBRIE RSN & E BRI R R
KBEER -

FuiER TR SR & EET Y R
Rtk @S ENRUGRESR - ©
ZE =R ZFFT A=+
H BEBEIEAK) -
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31 December2023 —FE=-=#+=-H=+—H

21. Cash and cash equivalents and restricted
bank balance

21. BERREE/BYMURZIRE
RITEBR

2022
—_=E_—
(Restated)
(ZEF)
HK$’000 HK$'000
THExT F&TT
Cash and bank balances Re RIRITER 235,971 158,321
Less: Restricted bank balance (note) B LR HISRITAE R (A ) - (168)
Cash and cash equivalents BERRESEEY 235,971 158,153

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances
of the Group denominated in Renminbi (‘RMB”") amounted to
HK$115,278,000 (2022 (restated): HKS$65,043,000). The RMB is
not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Chinese Mainland’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulation and
Administration of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy
banks with no recent history of default.

Note: Restricted bank balance as at 31 December 2022 were pledged to
banks for the issuance of guarantees to secure certain projects and

power supply.
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31 December 2023 —FE-—=#+—-H=+—H

22. Trade and retention payables

22. BEHESZRAREEMIE

2022

—E-F

(GESEIEe))

(#E5)

Notes HK$’000 HKS'000

izt FE T TH&T

Trade payables EfHE 5 (a) 848,529 836,361

Retention payables FERHREB & 0E (b) 685,763 678,136

Total FEE 1,534,292 1,514,497
Notes: Hiat -

() An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the

reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

@ RBESHKR BENEZHRAEREER

BEERMBRE DTN T -

2022

— T

(GESEIE.)

(&)

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTERT T

Within 1 month MEAR 15,181 88,101
1 to 2 months 12218 A 110,293 198,711
2 to 3 months 2E31EAR 176,712 234,621
Over 3 months 3ME A £ 546,343 314,928
Total HEr 848,529 836,361

The average credit period on trade payables is 30 to 180 days. The
Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure

that all payables are paid within the credit time-frame.

(b) Retention payables held by the Group arose from the Group's
building construction works and RMAA works and are normally
settled to subcontractors within a period ranging from one year
to two years after the completion of the contract work by the

subcontractors, as stipulated in the subcontracting contracts.

EaRE

EANEZRIENFEHEERBAI0RE
180K ° A% EE ) E B 15 R bR B E K
K UBRREAEANEEMEEN
FKIH ©

b)) AEEREHNENRBEREEELR
REERIEFEETIE RRMAALR -
BAERRIBEARERSBETKA
HAIRE—ZEMFNESBEEE -
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31 December2023 —FE=-=#+=-H=+—H

23. Other payables, accruals and provision

23. HitEARE - BrrERARE
&

2022

(Restated)

(ZEF)

HK$’000 HK$'000

FH& T F&TT

Contract liabilities EHNEaE (a) 248,010 59,114

Other payables H h & < ;IE 33,944 34,239

Accruals FEET &R 895,196 837,048

Provision for reinstatement BEREBEE (b) 5,700 5,883
Provision for rectification works and &8 T 72 Jz B &= K B8

claims (c) 15,275 =

Total st 1,198,125 936,284

Non-current portion ERBNE D (5,700) (5,700)

Current portion BN ER S 1,192,425 930,584

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and there are generally
no credit terms.

Notes:

(@) Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

Short-term advances received from WERE = 1y 52 B3 0
customers
Construction operations REE

31 December

t=A=t—-B t=-A=1—"H

HpENRBEAFEE—REFES -

Hist

@ AHEEMNFEDT:
31 December 1 January
2023 2022 2022
—E-= T —E--
—H—H
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
T i T

248,010 59,114 17,663

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to render
building construction works and RMAA works. The increase
in contract liabilities in 2023 and 2022 was mainly due to the
increase in short-term advances received from customers in
relation to the provision of services from construction operations

at the end of the years.
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31 December 2023 —FE-—=#+—-H=+—H

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

The movement in the provision for reinstatement during the year

is as follows:

(b)

Bz« (&)

FRERKEREZLSHNT

HK$'000
TR

At 1 January 2022 RZT—_=—F—HA—H 7,193
Utilised during the year FANEEA (1,300)
Exchange realignment bE A% (10)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 RZBEZ_F+-_A=1+—HEK

—E-_=F—HF—H 5,883
Exchange realignment HE 5, S B (183)
At 31 December 2023 R—E-_=F+=-F=+—H 5,700

Pursuant to the terms of the respective tenancy agreements
entered into by the Group, the Group is required to return its
leased properties to the conditions as stipulated in the tenancy
agreements at the expiration of the corresponding lease term as
appropriate. The provision for reinstatement costs was estimated
based on certain assumptions and estimates made by the Group's
management with reference to quoted prices and/or other
available information. The assumptions and estimates are reviewed

on an ongoing basis and revised as appropriate.

The movement in the provision for rectification works and claims

is as follows:

At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022
and 1 January 2023

R-ZE-——F—

A—H

IRIBANER BT S0 A BT & e (53K -
REBARERERE R (NER)
RHEE AR ENGITREREYE -
BREERABEBEIREAREEE
B2EHRERLHEMAREHAE
ETERREMGF MR - BRRER LA
e AREE R RERT (AER)

ERTREIAROBEZESHNT

HK$’000

FEx

B F+R
=+—BR=-Z2-=F—-H—H -

Addition NE 69,000
Utilised during the year FREEHA (53,725)
At 31 December 2023 RZE-_=F+-A=+—H 15,275
On 2 March 2023, a fire broke out at the construction site for the R-ZEBE-_=F=ZA_—H uUREBR

Main Contract Works for the Proposed Redevelopment of the
Mariners’ Club on 11 Middle Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong and
caused damage to the building structure. The amount of provision
for rectification works to restore damages and to compensate
claims was estimated by management and is reviewed on an
ongoing basis and revised where appropriate.

EaRE

EREITIRARA

ﬁﬂﬂqﬂfaﬁiﬁﬂﬁﬁi,\ﬁ@é%ﬁﬁ’ﬁéﬁi
BEEATZANTIREEMBEAN
K BREBTFREZBE -FHEMNES
EREBTIENRENEFESEIIR
EEEME  WEMRANETAEE
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31 December2023 —FE=-=#+=-H=+—H

24. Interest-bearing bank borrowings 24. ;T EBRITER
31 December 2023 31 December 2022
—E-_=f£+ZA=1+-H T -F+-A=1+—H
(Restated)
(& E5l)
Contractual Contractual
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$'000 rate (%) Maturity HK$'000
B HFE(%) FMA TET AHFE® ZH B THL
Current
&
Bank loans - unsecured Hong Kong  On demand 210,000 HIBOR+ On demand 170,000
Interbank 14%-1.7%
Offered Rate
(“HIBOR")+
1.4% - 1.6%
BITEHR - BEKE BBET REXR BRI REK
BERE RERE
(TEBRT +14-17%
RERE]
+1.4-1.6%
Bank loans - secured (note (b)) 3.9% 2024 132,420 =
BOIER-BEAR W Hb) g1 f -3
Bank loans - secured (note (c)) 3.8% 2024 357 =
BOIER-BER W Z0) —E-ME
Bank loans - secured (note (c)) China Loan 2024 2,207 LPR 2023 2,239
Prime Rate
(“LPR")
BOTER-BER HH0) FEER —E-ME ERmE T =F
miFRERNE BEF=
(TEX™HE
REFNE])
Total - current 344,984 172,239
Bt —
Non-current
R
Bank loans - secured (note (c)) 3.8% 2025-2032 48,198 =
BOER-BER W Z0) g -3
—E=CF
Bank loans - secured (note () LPR 2025-2034 22,401 LPR 2024-2034 24,965
BOIER-BER W) EXmE —Z-1EE ERmE —TZNEE
REMNZE Z—BE=NF HEFE —T=@EF
Total - non-current 70,599 24,965
it - %8
Total 415,583 197,204
@t
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBHmRME 2

31 December 2023 —ZFE=—=#F+=-H=+—H
24. Interest-bearing bank borrowings (Continved) 24, ;T RWITERC
2022
—ET - F
(Restated)
(#E5)
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FE T FAT
Analysed into: DHTA
Bank loans repayable: FEEBIRITER
Within one year or on demand —FRHIZEK 344,984 172,239
In the second year B _4F 5,163 2,239
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FEhF (BEEEMRST) 24,565 6,717
Beyond five years RAEFEUE 40,871 16,009
Total Bt 415,583 197,204
Notes: Kiat -
(@)  All bank borrowings were denominated in Hong Kong dollars and @  FTARITEFEUETRAREE -
Renminbi.
(b)  The bank borrowings are secured by the pledge of shares of ZCIEE by WRITEFRANERAEERENER
held by the Group. R 1EHE A -
() The bank borrowings are secured by the pledge of receivables (© SRITERAERETRGFTELH
and future revenue entitlement under certain service concession T B FE MR TE R R SR W e = A A (BTt
arrangements (note 16). 16) fEHEH -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

M =MeE 2

—E-=#+=A=+—F

31 December 2023

25. Deferred tax

==

The movements in deferred tax liabilities/(assets) during the year

are as follows:

At 1 January 2022 (restated)

Loss

available

for offsetting

against future
taxable profit

A (35 R K
& R B ) Y
ER

HK$'000
TR

RZE=-—=—F—H—H

25, IRZEHLIE
ELHIEE G, (BE) RENESH 0
—F o

Depreciation

allowance in

excess

Impairment of related
provision depreciation
ithgilc
TEEN
HERE
HK$'000

TR

WIERE
HK$'000
FET

5t
HK$'000
T

(RE7) (544) (896) 319 (1,121)
Deferred tax charged/ FAMBRE/(GTA)
(credited) to profit or loss B RVIEER B
during the year (note 11) (Bia11) 517 (3,859) 734 (2,608)
Exchange realignment IE 2 27 37 = 64
At 31 December 2022and  RZZT ==
1 January 2023 +=ZA=+-8k
—T_=F—HA—H - (4,718) 1,053 (3,665)
Deferred tax charged/ FRMBRE/ (GTA)
(credited) to profit or loss B FIEER B
during the year (note 11) (Hftn1) (1,234) (2,013) 311 (2,936)
Exchange realignment BE N 3 2 13 145 (1) 157
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F
+ZA=+—H (1,221) (6,586) 1,363 (6,444)
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBHmRME 2

31 December 2023 —FE-—=#+—-H=+—H

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and
liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial position.
The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the
Group for financial reporting purposes:

Net deferred tax assets recognised in the

BREEZY  ETELCHBEERARE
EEMBHRARTEE - TRALREY
S BB AN EBEEH B AT
TER AT -

2022
—_F_—

(GESEIE.))

(RE5)
HK$'000
TET

RERE BB IRL 3R P ER YR T

consolidated statement of financial MIBEE SR
position 7,407 3,665
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in RERE RS AR M 2% R iR AV IR
the consolidated statement of financial HIBAEFE
position (963) -
6,444 3,665

The Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed
by those subsidiaries established in Chinese Mainland in respect
of earnings generated from 1 January 2008. The applicable rate is
10% for the Group.

At 31 December 2023, no deferred tax has been recognised for
withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s
subsidiaries established in Chinese Mainland. In the opinion
of the directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries will
distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future. The aggregate
amount of temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland for which deferred tax liabilities
have not been recognised totalled approximately HK$48,788,000
at 31 December 2023 (2022 (restated): HK$32,690,000).

There are no income tax consequences attached to the payment
of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

HRERPBEAMRIAMNBERARE -
E)\i—ﬂ—ﬁt&dzﬁﬁ%&ﬂ IEE Y

KB AEEBERBENRK - A5H
m@%m 5100 ©

R-E-_=F+_"A=+—H KA&HE
I 48 5t KA P B A SR S I B TR B K
HY Bl B8 2 ) BO SR B H 8 V) P FE A R0 TR T

BRERELERIE - EEZRR - ZFH
NGV SEIBER SV SR i R -

MAK - RZTEZ=F+=-A=+—H
£ A B (3 T /BB A B3R B B A i () R T
RELCHBEEENEREZENREAR
48,788,000 7T (ZE = = F (&K &%) :
32,690,000 7T ) ©

AR A E SRR AT BB & A TS
BER -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

M¥BHmRMeE 2

31 December2023 —FE=-=#+=-H=+—H

2023 2022
—E-=H - F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT T
Authorised: ERE
10,000,000,000 (2022: 10,000,000,000) 10,000,000,0000% (=ZE ==
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each © 10,000,000,000/% ) & A& T
B0.01BTTHY & B AR 100,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: EBITRARE
500,000,000 (2022: 500,000,000) 500,000,000% (=& = =
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 500,000,0004% ) & A& E &
0.018 TTH) & AR 5,000 5,000
The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein AEBRAFERBAFE 2 FESSE
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated FEES IR ERERFE2I0E211EZ
statement of changes in equity on pages 210 to 211 of the HRERREHRAZT -

financial statements.

(a) Share premium (a) B0 &E
The share premium represents the difference between BHEEREETRNAEBENRESE
the par value of the shares issued and the deemed B BRMBETRBEFENRD
consideration for the reorganisation, capitalisation issue ZEMNRIEREZBENERE - KE
and share offer in prior years, less the distribution of R RARERE -

interim and final dividends paid.

(b) Merger reserve (b) EBtfEE

The balance of the merger reserve represents the E Pt RE SRS

following:

()  the difference between the paid-up share capital of ()  FEREEHITET N B A )
the subsidiaries acquired under common control and B 485 2 A 7S B it i B =5 T R
the consideration payable for acquisitions; and NREZENZERE: &

(i) the difference between the aggregate of the paid-up () FTUEEN B QARS8 RIRA
share capital of the subsidiaries acquired and the BYEANRIRBBTFE
nominal value of the share capital of the Company MEAFERBAOEETR
issued in exchange therefor pursuant to the REBREE 2 HRZ 5 ©

reorganisation in prior years.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBHmRME 2

31 December 2023

(c)

(a)

—E - =F+—_HA=+—H

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the contribution from

an intermediate holding company with respect to the

consideration for the acquisition of a subsidiary in prior

years.

Major non-cash transactions

0

(ii)

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
HK$13,085,000 and HK$13,085,000, respectively
(2022 (restated): HK$10,552,000 and HK$10,552,000),
in respect of lease arrangements for buildings
and non-cash lease modifications resulting in a
decrease in right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
of HK$2,039,000 and HK$2,000,000 (2022: decrease
of HK$3,603,000 and HK$3,603,000), respectively, in
respect of lease arrangements for buildings.

As part of the acquisition under common control
in the prior year, certain trade receivables of
HK$20,979,000 was assigned to an intermediate
holding company as full settlement of the current
account between the intermediate holding company
and the subsidiary acquired.

(c)

(a)

BEXRfHE
BARRBEENBEFE AP EE
MR BRI — R B R R B
MHE -

FEHFBRERS

0

(ii)

EERESETRARA

RAEE  REEREFH
HERHEEHEFERAESR
ERHEBENFERSF
E 7 Bl &13,085,0007% 7T &
13,0850008 L (ZE ==
(&£ &%) : 10,552,000 JT
$10,552,000% 7T) * BA K Bh
EFHEERHEASRFE
AEEERTHEEAED BIR
4>2,039,0007% 7T 2,000,000
BT(ZFTZZ2F @b
3,603,0007% 7T % 3,603,000
TL)RIERSAEBR -

ERBEFERHR H% &~
Wik — o 5B TEK
E 5 7 T820,979,00078 7T B &
ET—RHEPEERAA - E
R EER A R EFT U RS

MEBAREEREKE N2
BaEE o
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M¥BHmRMeE 2

31 December 2023

—E-=#+=A=+—F

28. Notes to the consolidated statement of cash
flows (Continued)

(b)

Changes in liabilities arising from financing

activities

28. GERERERME )

(b) BMEEFBRELENAELSE

Loans from an

intermediate Interest-
holding bearing bank Lease
company borrowings liabilities
RE-BHHE
ERAGMNER  HFERRTHER HEAR
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THT THIT
At 1 January 2022 (restated) R-Z-_—_%—-F—H
(&) 20,089 164,247 59,672
New bank borrowings MERITER - 1,280,000 -
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITER - (1,244,299) =
Changes from financing cash flows REREREEY - = (18,676)
New leases HME = = 10,552
Modification of leases HEEHR - = (3,603)
Interest expense FERE - - 988
Interest paid classified as NERREREREL
operating cash flows ERFIE - - (988)
Exchange realignment [E 5 % (1,101) (2,744) (227)
At 31 December 2022 (restated) and R-_E-—#+-HF=+—H
1 January 2023 (BEF)R=_T==%F
—A—H 18,988 197,204 47,718
New loans from an intermediate RE—EPBEERA B
holding company HEX 957,141 - -
Repayment of loans from ERRE—RREERD A8
an intermediate holding company =E N (702,420) - -
New bank borrowings MERITER - 1,976,256 =
Repayment of bank borrowings BEBITER - (1,757,207) =
Changes from financing cash flows REBREREEY - - (21,010)
New leases HHE - - 13,085
Modification of leases HEEXR - - (2,000)
Interest expense FSFAY - - 1,168
Interest paid classified as NERREREREL
operating cash flows BERFIE - - (1,168)
Exchange realignment B K 35 % 434 (670) 106
At 31 December 2023 RZZ-_=F+-A=+—-A 274,143 415,583 37,899
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MBHmRME 2

31 December 2023 —FE-—=#+—-H=+—H

(c)

Total cash outflow for leases (c) HEHRERHHEZE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement SFARESRERRZEAER SR
of cash flows is as follows: MELIOT
2022
—= ——E'E
(Restated)
Cc=270))
HKS$’000 HKS'000
FH T T T
Within operating activities N I 52,961 52,640
Within financing activities REEEHRN 21,010 18,676
Total REr 73,971 71,316

Details of the Group's assets pledged for certain of the Group’s

bank loans are included in note 24 to the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2023, performance bonds of
approximately HKS$1,800,060,000 (2022 (restated):
HKS1,51
Group's customers as security for the due performance and

7,984,000) were given by banks in favour of the

observance of the Group’s obligation under the contracts
entered into between the Group and their customers. If
the Group fails to provide satisfactory performance to their
customers to whom performance bonds have been given,
such customers may demand the banks to pay to them the
sum or sums stipulated in such demand. The Group will
then become liable to compensate such banks accordingly.
The performance bonds will be released upon completion
of the contract work.

At the end of the reporting period, the directors do not
consider it is probable that such claim will be made against
the Group.

EaRE

RAKEE TROTERMERNAEE
BEABHNMBHAM 24 -

EREITIRARA

RZBE-_=F+=-A=+—H8
TEELUAEERF AT EAN
B #IR7E » & BE4Y /1,800,060,000
BLT(ZEZZF (LE) :
1,517,984,00087T) * tEAREEZ
ERITRETASEEERP 2 fH
SN HENETHREHER o 4
AEEHERHBARENE S
BAORESESME  BAXSA
ERBITINEEMERNSE -
ﬁé$%@lﬁ¥@ﬁﬁ@ﬁﬁ¢
HEEE - BAORBNEHNIRT

s 1 T AR BR o

RBEMR  EER/AKETA
A BE 2R o

202343 333 I



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December2023 —FE=-=#+=-H=+—H

30. Contingent liabilities (continued) 30. IARBE @)

(b)  In the ordinary course of the Group's construction business, (b) EAREERN—BEEEKBES
the Group has been subject to a number of claims due to AEE-—EHERAEESAEEDE
personal injuries suffered by employees of the Group or HANEERXEMSIBREZE
of the Group's subcontractors in accidents arising out of HEZENEIINEXNATEEN
and in the course of their employment. At the end of the HEGEZHEERR -RWmEHR &5
reporting period, the directors are of the opinion that such RE - RERBEBNIRBA AR
claims are well covered by insurance and would not result B TEHARSERT BN E
in any material adverse impact on the financial position or BEREBENEMERTFZE -

results and operations of the Group.

31. Commitments 31. &1
The Group had the following contractual commitments at the REREHR - XEEB THIELFE:
end of each reporting period:

2022
—ET - F
(Restated)
(g=:751)
HK$’'000 HKS$'000
FET T
Contracted, but not provided for: DI A B R B -

Computers and software B R B 829 371

New service concession arrangement BOTE 2 M) 37 AR 75 R AT i 2 BF
on BOT basis 15,330 25,629
Total 4t 16,159 26,000
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MBHmRME 2

31 December 2023 —FE=—=#+=-H=+—H

RS BEE LB R

(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in (a)

these financial statements, the Group had the following

transactions with related parties during the year:

SN - MAFEE - N [E R
FTETUNTRS :

2022
—E——4F
(Restated)
(&=:751)
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FET
Intermediate holding companies FEZERA TR
Consultancy service fee ARG E 0] 375 5,896
Consultancy service income 5 7R AR 7 A (i) - 480
Interest expenses F B X (iif) 12,376 -
Expenses recharged B (iv) 2,122 1,138
Fellow subsidiaries ERAME AT
Purchase of materials and equipment  fREEM £ 2 2% 1 (v) 35,045 22,499
Sales of materials and equipment HEME R&E v) 7 =
Subcontracting service fee DEREE (vi) 15,832 -
Construction service income FEERE WA (vi) 25,531 3,636
Management fee EIEE (vii) 257 347
Sewage operation and maintenance TFE A
income (viii) 12,286 11,529
Interest income B WA (ix) 844 1,966
A related party — BB
Consultancy service income AR TS UL A (x) = 1,464

Notes:

(i) The consultancy service fee was charged in accordance

with the terms of the agreements entered into between the

Group and an intermediate holding company.

(ii) The consultancy service income from an intermediate

holding company were charged based on actual staff costs

plus 6% administration fee pursuant to the terms of the

consultancy agreement.

ELEEEEITERARAR

()  FAARBETREASEE—H
R Fr 2 A X B P RT SZ 1hh s O 1R K
Y ER @

(i) BT EZERRE RN A
R WA T AR AR 7 5 199 o 1R R
BB TR S N6%!T BB UK
B o
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

M5 58

31 December 2023

R 2

—F-=#+=A=+—H

(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in

these financial statements, the Group had the following
transactions with related parties during the year:
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

I 336 CRConstruction Group Holdings Limited

The interest expenses to an intermediate holding company
were charged at HIBOR plus 1.4%-1.6% per annum on
the loans from an intermediate holding company of
HK$254,721,000 (2022: Nil).

The expenses paid on behalf of the Group by an
intermediate holding company consisted of staff costs and
other administrative expenses. All administrative expenses

were determined based on actual costs incurred.

The sales and purchase of materials and equipment were
charged according to the prices and conditions as mutually

agreed between the parties.

The subcontracting service fee and construction service
income were charged in accordance with the terms of the

agreements entered into between the parties.

The management fee to a fellow subsidiary were charged
according to the prices and conditions as mutually agreed

between the parties.

The sewage operation and maintenance income from
fellow subsidiaries were charged according to the prices

and conditions as mutually agreed between the parties.

The interest income from a loan to a fellow subsidiary bore
interest at 6.0% (2022 (restated): 6.0%) per annum.

The consultancy services income from a related party, being
the unincorporated joint venture owned as to 51% by CZH,
were charged based on actual staff costs incurred pursuant

to the terms of the consultancy agreement.
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(ii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(x)
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32. Related party transactions (Continued 32. Bl A XX & (@)
(b) Outstanding balances with related parties: (b) HEHIHREELEH
2022
—ET——
(Restated)
(#E7)
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FHET
Amounts due from an FE U — A B AR
intermediate holding company A RIFIA (i) 6,744 15,000
Amounts due from fellow FE UL [B) R B B A R 5RIA
subsidiaries (i) 45,288 40,546
Loan to a fellow subsidiary ST —ERRMHE AR
HE = (ii) - 33,025

Amounts due to an intermediate  FEft — B & RIEAR A 7

holding company FIH (i) 9,143 4,187

Amounts due to fellow FEA R R B A R 5RIA

subsidiaries (i) 15,824 17,266

Loans from an intermediate R B — A EEK A F]

holding company HE R (iif) 274,143 18,988

Notes: Hiat -

0) The balances with intermediate holding companies 0) EA R R AR A B K R A B A &l
and fellow subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and NS AEIEE R RAERE
repayable on demand. KIEE -

(i)  The loan to a fellow subsidiary was unsecured, (i) BT HRRENBRARNERAE
interest-bearing at 6.0% per annum and was repayable on HIRF ~ LFFE6.0%:T 5 BHAE
21 September 2023. The loan was repaid during the current R-ZZE-_=FNLA=-+—HE
year. B ZERERAFEER -

S EBIAR AT - 2023EE®R 337 N
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(b)

(c)

(d)

I 338 CRConstruction Group Holdings Limited

Outstanding balances with related parties: (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i) The terms of the loans from an intermediate holding

company were as follows:

- The loan from an intermediate holding company of
approximately HK$19,422,000 (2022: HK$18,988,000)
is unsecured, interest-free and repayable subject
to the terms and repayment conditions set out
in the deed of assignment and settlement for the
acquisition of a subsidiary under common control in

the prior years.

- The loan from an intermediate holding company
of approximately HK$254,721,000 (2022: Nil) is
unsecured, interest-bearing at HIBOR plus 1.4%-1.6%

per annum and repayable on demand.

Compensation of key management personnel of
the Group

The compensation of key management personnel of the
Group for the year represented the directors’ emoluments
as disclosed in note 9 to the financial statements.

Commitment with related parties

The Group entered into several construction materials
purchase agreements with several fellow subsidiaries for
the construction of a facility under a service concession
arrangement on BOT basis. The amounts of purchases
from the fellow subsidiaries are included in note 32(a)
to the financial statements. The Group expects total
purchases from the fellow subsidiaries to be approximately
HK$6,490,000 on or before 31 December 2024.
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33. Financial instruments by category 33. BERE S 2EMTIA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial REEER - SEem I A ZREEAE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: wm
Financial assets TREE

Financial assets

at amortised cost
RBHERATENSREE

2023 2022
—E-= —=E-=

(Restated)

(#e&E51)

HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT T

Receivables and contract assets under BRFISHFRF L BE T B U ERTE &

service concession arrangements EHNEE 119,419 119,922
Trade receivables F’éﬂﬂl‘féf%m 816,354 873,426
Financial assets included in prepayments, 5t AFEfIZRIE - 324 R EH M fE Uk

deposits and other receivables HIEHE R—ﬁﬁ@ 54,410 39,353
Amounts due from an intermediate holding f& Y — & /1 R 3% AR & =] 5018

company 6,744 15,000
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries I EE NN R 45,288 40,546
Loan to a fellow subsidiary LT —HRERWER ﬂ BB - 33,025
Restricted bank balance PR HI$R 17 45 2 = 168
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBEEEEY 235,971 158,153
Total o 1,278,186 1,279,593

ERRLEEEERARAR - 2035F%F 339 NN
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33. Financial instruments by category (Continued) 33. RERINS 22T H @)
Financial liabilities THEE

Financial liabilities

at amortised cost

RBHERAFENESREAE

2023 2022
—E=-= T

(Restated)

(F&E5)

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FTET FHET

Trade and retention payables B E S MIREBE&FIA 1,534,292 1,514,497

Financial liabilities included in other FTAEMENTIE B ERR

payables, accruals and provision BENTRAE 850,088 793,238

Interest-bearing bank borrowings sHBERITER 415,583 197,204
Amounts due to an intermediate holding  J& st — &l AP A1 #2 A% A B Y FUE

company 9,143 4187

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries NI E S NG B 15,824 17,266
Loans from an intermediate holding ke — MR EERARNER

company 274,143 18,988

Lease liabilities HEBE 37,899 47,718

Total HEt 3,136,972 2,593,098
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34. Fair value and fair value hierarchy of 34,

financial instruments
The carrying amounts and fair value of the Group’s financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that

reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

R

REAEABHEATERENSRT
AEESRIANEEERAT

BN
B

EMIANQAFERATFES
4

Carrying amounts Fair values
RREE NFE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E=f —E-—& ZEZZ= T —F
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$’000 HKS$'000
TET TERT THT FHERT
Financial liabilities THREE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings &t B R AT {E 5K 415,583 197,204 415,583 197,204
Fair value hierarchy DR EER
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: EFRBELFEMNEE -
2023 —E-=

Quoted
prices

in active
markets
(Level 1)
ERMIEN
HE
(B-8)
HK$’000
TR

Financial liabilities

EHAR

Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTESRITIER -

Fair value measurement using

ERATEENAVEE

Significant
observable
inputs
(Level 2)
EATEHE
BARE
(B=4)
HK$'000
TR

415,583

Significant
unobservable
input

(Level 3)
EXTABR
BARE
(B=8)
HK$’000
TR

EH
HK$'000
TR

= 415,583

ELEEEEITERARAR
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34. Fair value and fair value hierarchy of 34.

financial instruments (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed (Continued):

2022

Financial liabilities SREE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTERTE

Quoted
prices

in active
NELES
(Level 1)

R BT I5 H)
R{E
(B—8&)
HK$'000
THT

h
A -

EMITANIFERAFES
%& (&)
AFEEHR (E)

ERFLFENEE: (B)

—EF-=

Fair value measurement using

RN TRENAFENE

Significant Significant

observable  unobservable

inputs input

(Level 2) (Level 3)

BERABR EATAHE

BAHE BARR
(B=H) (=) @t
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
TH7 TH TH7R

197,204 = 197,204

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value

measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into

or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial liabilities

(2022: Nil).

Management has assessed that the fair values of trade

receivables, financial assets included in prepayments, deposits

and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, restricted

bank balance, trade and retention payables, financial liabilities

included in other payables, accruals and provision, and balances/

loans with related parties approximate to their carrying amounts

largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

W 342 CRConstruction Group Holdings Limited
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The Group's finance department headed by the finance manager
is responsible for determining the policies and procedures for
the fair value measurement of financial instruments. The finance
manager reports directly to the chief financial officer and the
audit committee. At each reporting date, the finance department
analyses the movements in the values of financial instruments
and determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The
valuation is reviewed and approved by the Chief Financial Officer.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged
in a current transaction between willing parties, other than
in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and
assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of non-current portion of deposits, non-current
portion of retention payables, receivables and contract assets
under service concession arrangements, and interest-bearing
bank borrowings have been calculated by discounting the
expected future cash flows using rates currently available
for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities, and approximated to their carrying amounts.
The changes in fair value as a result of the Group’s own non
performance risk for interest-bearing bank borrowings as at 31
December 2023 and 2022 were assessed to be insignificant.

The Group's principal financial instruments compromise
interest-bearing bank borrowings, loans from an intermediate
holding company and cash and cash equivalents. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the
Group's operations. The Group has various other financial assets
and liabilities such as receivables and contract assets under
service concession arrangements, trade receivables and trade
and retention payables, which arise directly from its operations.

ELEEEEITERARAR
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The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity
risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s long term debt obligations
with a floating interest rate.

The following sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming
that change in interest rates had occurred at the year end date
and had been applied to the exposure to interest rates for
financial instruments in existence at that date. A 1% increase
or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally
to key management personnel and represents management’s

assessment of the reasonable possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 1% higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group's profit for the year ended 31
December 2023 would decrease/increase and the retained
profits as of 31 December 2023 would decrease/increase by
HK$4,065,000 (2022 (restated): HK$872,000). This is mainly
attributed to the Group's exposure to interest rates on its variable

rate borrowings.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. These
exposures arise from sales or purchases and loans from an
intermediate holding company denominated in currencies
other than the Group’s functional currency. The Group currently
has no particular hedging vehicles to hedge its exposure to
foreign exchange risk. It is the Group's policy to monitor foreign
exchange exposure and to make use of appropriate hedging

measures when required.
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policies (Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The following tables demonstrate the sensitivity at the end of the
reporting period to reasonably possible changes in the Renminbi
("RMB”), Malaysian Ringgit (“RM") and Great Britain Pounds
("GBP") exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, of
the Group's profit after tax (due to changes in the fair value of

35. Financial risk management objectives and

monetary assets and liabilities) and the Group’s equity.

2023
If Hong Kong dollar weakens against RMB
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against RMB

If Hong Kong dollar weakens against RM
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against RM

If Hong Kong dollar weakens against GBP
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against GBP

2022 (Restated)
If Hong Kong dollar weakens against RMB
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against RMB

If Hong Kong dollar weakens against RM
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against RM

If Hong Kong dollar weakens against GBP
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against GBP

* Excluding retained profits

—EBE-=F

BT ARERE
BT ARETHE

BT ERE
BT S ETHE

BT RER(E
fis78 75 R THE

—E-CE(RED)
WETAARBEE
WETHEAREHE

1h/%7EE7 EZTE
WELRSEAE

78 T R R (B
A5 R ETHE
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35. 2R EREBERBE =

SMEE LB ()

TRINTRMERRR - AEBRBER
FMHEREEEERBEHNA %E“@J)
FAEEEZLARE((ARE]) - F
%EEE/—\*(FA*J)&**%(F%%J)E
EHEAENEymMmEHEMESH
BIENGURE DN -

Increase/

Increase/ Increase/

(decrease) in

(decrease) in (decrease) in

exchangerate  profit after tax equity*
Ext#/ BRBi % a A B
(T #Bi/(8P) &M/ (HD)*
% HK$’000 HK$'000
TR

5 909 -

(5) (909) -

5 (704) -

(5) 704 -

5 714 -

(5) (714) -

5 779 =

(%) (779) -

5 (44) =

(5) 44 =

5 265 -

(5) (265) -

* N EIERE & A
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35. 2MEAREEEREREBR #)

I 346 CRConstruction Group Holdings Limited

35. Financial risk management objectives and

policies (co
Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that only well-established
customers will be considered for open account terms and the
approval of credit terms is subject to stringent credit check
procedures. In addition, trade receivables balances are monitored
on an ongoing basis and the Group's exposure to bad debts is
not significant.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets arises from
default of the counterparties, with a maximum exposure equal to
the carrying amounts of these instruments.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties, there is no requirement for collateral. The Group
had certain concentrations of credit risk as the trade receivables
in terms of the following percentages were due from the Group's
largest external customer and the Group’s five largest external
customers out of the Group’s total trade receivables:

Due from the Group's largest external

customer

FERR
AEEEEERTREERINE=
TETRS - AERENBRBRAEER
EMRENEFPRALRERS - RMEE
FERELEBETERNEEERER -
AN REEFEEREKE 5 HAE
7 Rt ASEY EEXRRER

AEEEBEREENEERRKEY
FHEN ZARBAEERZEIA
MRREE -

HRAEEERERTREERITNE
=TETRS Rt BARKERY -
TERARBEEAEEZAINEETP R
AEBRRIMBEFPRIE ZHBHER
SEHEWESFREBENA L - Bt
AEEEBETEERTER

2022
— = —

R S —

(Restated)
(E=75)
)

e AR BE R ARINEDE P FRIA

10 16

Due from the Group's five largest external ~ FEUL AR &£ B 7L KNSR R B 038

customers

44 50
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Credit risk (Continued)

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 19
to the financial statements.

The Group has applied the simplified approach to providing for
impairment for ECLs prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the
use of the lifetime expected loss provision for impairment of
trade receivables. To measure the ECLs, trade receivables have
been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and
the days past due. The ECLs also incorporates forward-looking
information.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy, which
is mainly based on past due information unless other information
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 December. The amounts presented are
gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

ELEEEEITERARAR
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EERKE)

ERASEASZREEKESRIEEE
BB E - T2BERERTBRE
BifsE19 °

AR 1B R A AR B T s X R SR OSR A
RN AR B REEBRELR
BB - ZHREARFHREKE S HIAR
AE2HNERERERE - RFTER
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RARRBERERFRER
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35. Financial risk management objectives and 35. e RiE M EEREERBEK @)

policies (co
Credit risk (Continued) BEERR (&)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued) BAEBAERERBE (&)
As at 31 December 2023 R-B-_=5+=HA=+—H
Lifetime
ECLs
2HEH
FEER
12-month Simplified
ECLs approach Total
1218 A 78 48
FEER ISR [P #at
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THERT TERT
Receivables and contract assets under MR R TR HE T i FEUL
service concession arrangements* FBERANEE - 247,614 247,614
Contract assets* BREE" - 2,576,931 2,576,931
Trade receivables* FEW B 5 R8> - 832,747 832,747
Financial assets included in prepayments, st ATERT B » R K
deposits, and other receivables HihE RN S REE
— Normal** —IEE* 54,410 - 54,410
Amounts due from an intermediate holding &4k — sl #b 512 A% 2 71
company B 6,744 - 6,744
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries JE USR] Z [T /8 A R ZUE 45,288 - 45,288
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY
- Not yet past due — WA 235,971 = 235,971

342,413 3,657,292 3,999,705
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35. Financial risk management objectives and 35. 2REREERERBE @)

policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued) FERK (&)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued) BAEBAERERBE (&)

As at 31 December 2022 (restated) RZB__F+ZA=+—8B (&)

Lifetime
ECLs

12-month Simplified

ECLs approach Total
1218 A 78 23
EEEE BlLrm%E st
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FHBT FHT FHT
Receivables and contract assets under AR TSR RTRE 2 HE T MO FE IURR
service concession arrangements* BHREAHNEE = 155,556 155,556
Contract assets* AHEE - 2,122,768 2,122,768
Trade receivables® e E 5 FhoEx - 887,241 887,241
Financial assets included in prepayments, st ATERTZIE - RE K
deposits, and other receivables Hit R FIEN S RMEE
- Normal** = JEm** 39,353 - 39,353
Amounts due from an intermediate holding &4 — sl #p 512 A% 2 7]
company FIE 15,000 = 15,000
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries L EES =PGRS 40,546 = 40,546
Loan to a fellow subsidiary ©Y—RR R B E 0
EE 33,025 - 33,025
Restricted bank balance XBRHIRITE B
- Not yet past due — & R 8 Hf 168 - 168
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBEEEED
~ Not yet past due — i A sa 158,153 - 158,153

286,245 3,165,565 3,451,810
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Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

* For receivables and contract assets under service concession
arrangements, trade receivables and contract assets to which the
Group applies the simplified approach for impairment, information

based on the provision matrix is disclosed in notes 16, 19 and 18

to the financial statements, respectively.

** The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables is considered to be “normal” when
they are not past due and there is no information indicating that

the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since

initial recognition.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a
recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity
of both its financial instruments and financial assets and

projected cash flows from operations.

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of funds

generated from operations.
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Liquidity risk (Continued)

The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

RBESEE &)

RBERR  AEEEHMBEERED

REEBRNROBEBERMT -

Less than More than

On demand 1 year 1 year Total
DPR—F —FHE #t
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT TERT TERT TERT
As at 31 December 2023 R=ZB-=5+=A
Er=[
Trade and retention payables ENE 5 RIREBEHIE - 1,105,091 453,932 1,559,023
Financial liabilities included in other &+ A H fth J& {+ 738 ~
payables, accruals and provision &R R B ER
TRERE 12,770 837,318 - 850,088
Interest-bearing bank borrowings &+ BERTTIE R 210,519 142,524 81,626 434,669
Amounts due to an intermediate  JEft—El 5P AR A &)
holding company A 9,143 - - 9,143
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries  F&{5t R Z B B X B 7K A 15,824 - - 15,824
Loans from an intermediate holding 28 B — [ 1 S 1= i A &)
company HER 254,721 19,422 - 274,143
Lease liabilities HERE - 25,158 17,933 43,091
502,977 2,129,513 553,491 3,185,981
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35. Financial risk management objectives and 35. 2REMREEEERBR &

policies (
Liquidity risk (Continued)

On demand

RER
HK$'000
T

RBESRE &)

Less than More than
1 year 1 year Total
PR —F —FAE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAET FET

As at 31 December 2022 (restated) RZ-ZZE=-—F+=A#

=+—HB(E=E5)
Trade and retention payables ENE 5 RIREEHIE - 1,040,525 482,957 1,523,482
Financial liabilities included in other &+ A E fth f& {5 7078
payables, accruals and provision FEEtE A R BER
EREE 15,764 777474 - 793,238
Interest-bearing bank borrowings &t BERTTIE K 170,877 3,396 30,417 204,690
Amounts due to an intermediate  JE{t — R R HEAR A A)
holding company EQE] 4,187 = = 4,187
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries &t [E Z M B A B FIE 17,266 = = 17,266
Loans from an intermediate holding & B — R R A E
company BB R = 18,988 = 18,988
Lease liabilities HEEE - 19,246 29,672 48918
208,094 1,859,629 543,046 2,610,769
Capital management BEXREE

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business

and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new
shares. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements. No changes were made in the objectives, policies
or processes for managing capital during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 31 December 2022.
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Capital management (Continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net
debt divided by the equity attributable to the equity holders of
the Company plus net debt. Net debt includes interest-bearing
bank borrowings and loans from an intermediate holding
company, less cash and cash equivalents and restricted bank
balance. Capital represents equity attributable to equity holders
of the Company. The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting

periods were as follows:

EREE(E)
rEERAEERBLLREZRELR A
BALL R TS AE RS F B R AR R Bl s 45
BARGHEDINESFEFESH - &
BEBRERE SRTEREKE —HP
RERARNENR  REELAEEE
YRR EIRITAER - BRI QB
mIFAARGER RREHRZEE
BELEERHFIMT

2022

—T-—4F

(Restated)

(& =E5)

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHTT

Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTEIRITER 415,583 197,204

Loans from an intermediate holding e —EAREERARNER

company 274,143 18,988
Less: Cash and cash equivalents and B ReRBE2FEMUAR

restricted bank balance PR ISR 1T 45 R (235,971) (158,321)

Net debt B %R 453,755 57,871
Equity attributable to equity holders of RARERFEE AEGERS

the Company 619,388 816,315

Capital and net debt BARRIERFE 1,073,143 874,186

Gearing ratio BEAFELX 42% 7%

As further explained in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, certain comparative amounts have been restated as
a result of the adoption of merger accounting for the common
control combination taking place during the year.
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Information about the statement of financial position of the

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

ARARBERRARAMBRREZE
B

2023 2022
—=E_= —E__F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THExT T 7T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Investments in subsidiaries R B ARMNKRE 587,902 339,485
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Prepayments TE IR 358 382
Amounts due from subsidiaries NGRS 453,478 398,365
Cash at banks RITH S 1,820 753
Total current assets MENEERE 455,656 399,500
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Other payables and accruals H e 5IE R ST B A 1,276 2,041
Interest-bearing bank borrowings sHBERITHER 212,420 130,000
Amounts due to an intermediate holding & fxt — & A1 Rl #5 iR A &) 738
company 6,137 -
Amounts due to a subsidiary FE — R BB A R FUA 194,661 202,646
Loan from an intermediate holding RKE—MEREIERARNE R
company 254,721 =
Total current liabilities mEBERRE 669,215 334,687
NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)  RB¥E (&) FE (213,559) 64813
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRDAER
LIABILITIES 374,343 404,298
NET ASSETS FEE 374,343 404,298
EQUITY R
Share capital % < 5,000 5,000
Reserves (note) (A aE) 369,343 399,298
Total equity T 4B R 374,343 404,298
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37. Statement of financial position of the 37. AR BARR T (2
company (Cc d)
Note: it -
A summary of the Company'’s reserves is as follows: RARREBE AR T -

Share Accumulated
premium losses Total
B3R E REtER Mgt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBT TET FTHET
At 1 January 2022 R-—E-_—#—HF—H 429,257 (9,054) 420,203
Profit for the year and total comprehensive 4 R F & 4 A 2/ W A\ 4258
income for the year - 595 595
Final 2021 dividend - -FREKRE - (9,000) (9,000)
Interim 2022 dividend —E-—FRHKRE (12,500) - (12,500)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 HR-Z-_—F+-A=+—HBRk
—T-_=%—-A—H 416,757 (17,459) 399,298
Loss for the year and total FABERFAZEBRAEE
comprehensive loss for the year - (13,455) (13,455)
Final 2022 dividend - FRBRE (9,000) = (9,000)
Interim 2023 dividend —T=FHHRE (7,500) - (7,500)
At 31 December 2023 R-ZB_=%+-H=+—H 400,257 (30,914) 369,343
38. Approval of the financial statements 38. it EBEEHR
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue MERERBEFER_E-_NF=A
by the board of directors on 21 March 2024. “t+—H#tERERET o
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Five Year Financial Summary

AFMEERE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group WA TAAEEBAE A BT RFENELEIUAR
for the last five financial years are set out below: BERBENHBZEE

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+-HLEE

2022 2020
—T-—F —E-TF
(Note)
GEY
(GENEIE)]
(=5)
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAT THBIT TET THET
Revenue g 5,445,560 6,409,429 4,890,141 4,646,407 4,833,853
Gross profit EF 305,991 256,498 177,797 211,160 211,978
PROFIT BEFORE TAX B 7% A& A 84,901 81,876 60,979 100,835 71,754
Income tax expense FeHimAX 12,676 8,936 12,416 11,694 13,236
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FE N A 72,225 72,940 48,563 89,141 58,518
Attributable to: AT & 75 FEfh
Owners of the Company RRARBEE A 71,887 72,106 48,563 89,141 58,518
Non-controlling interests FEPERR M A 338 834 = = =
72,225 72,940 48,563 89,141 58,518
Assets and Liabilities BEENARE
As at 31 December
W+=—A=+-—-H
2022
—F-—
(Note)
GEY
(Restated)
(E5)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FERT FHET TET THET
Total assets BEE 4,131,355 3,574,979 2,647,900 2,585,120 2,203,901
Total liabilities BEE 3,496,506 2,741,224 2,091,733 2,026,532 1,678,263
Note: The financial information for the year ended 31 December 2022  ffs - B2 —_E_-_—_F+_A=+—BIt=&E
has been restated to reflect the effect of adoption of merger EH Eﬂ‘%ﬁﬂa FEY - AR E
accounting for common control acquisition during the year E-E =+ -_A=+—BHIFEE
ended 31 December 2023. The financial information for the E‘JE Al r“ %IJM&E%%K)%{Z,\@\:F HERIEW
three years ended 31 December 2021, 2020 and 2019 has not %g& HE_ZE-—_—F T _-FF
been adjusted. T hE+-A=+ =1

E
REOM B AL s -
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